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The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular. To the best of the
knowledge and belief of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the
information contained in this Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything
likely to affect the import of such information. The Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms
that this Offering Circular contains or incorporates by reference all information which is material in the
context of the Notes, that the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular is
in all material respects true and accurate and not misleading, that the opinions and intentions expressed in
this Offering Circular are honestly held and that there are no other facts the omission of which would make
this Offering Circular or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions
misleading. The Issuer accepts responsibility accordingly.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those
contained in this document in connection with the offering of the Notes and, if given or made, such
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or the
Managers (as defined under “Subscription and Sale” below). Neither the delivery of this document nor any
sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation or create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Group since the date hereof. This document does
not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by, or on behalf of, the Issuer or the Managers to subscribe for, or
purchase, any of the Notes. This document does not constitute an offer, and may not be used for the purpose
of an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such an offer
or solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful.

Neither the Managers nor J. P. Morgan Corporate Trustee Services Limited (the Trustee) have separately
verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express
or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Managers, the Trustee or any of them
as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering Circular or any other
information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Notes or their distribution.

This Offering Circular is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not
be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Managers or the Trustee that any recipient of this
Offering Circular should purchase any of the Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing Notes should
make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the
creditworthiness, of the Issuer.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, (the Securities Act) and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions,
the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a further
description of certain restrictions on the offering and sale of the Notes and on distribution of this document,
see “Subscription and Sale” below.

All references in this document to euro and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage
of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community, as
amended.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF THE NOTES, UBS LIMITED OR ANY PERSON
ACTING FOR HIM MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO
SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT
WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL FOR A LIMITED PERIOD AFTER THE CLOSING
DATE. HOWEVER THERE MAY BE NO OBLIGATION ON UBS LIMITED OR ANY AGENT OF
UBS LIMITED TO DO THIS. SUCH STABILISING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED
AT ANY TIME AND MUST BE BROUGHT TO AN END AFTER A LIMITED PERIOD.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The Annual Reports of the Issuer for the years ended 31st December, 2002 and 2003 and the unaudited
interim non-consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at, and for the six month period ended, 30th
June, 2004 are incorporated by reference and form part of this Offering Circular.

Copies of these financial statements and Annual Reports are available, free of charge, at the specified office
of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg as described in “General Information” below, for as long as any of the
Notes remain outstanding.

Any statement contained herein or in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein
shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Offering Circular to the extent that a
statement contained in any such subsequent document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference
herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any
statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute
a part of this Offering Circular.



CONDITIONS OF THE A NOTES

The following is the text of the Conditions of the A Notes which will be endorsed on each Note in definitive
SJorm (if issued):

The €800,000,000 4.90 per cent. Notes due 2024 (the Notes, which expression shall in these Conditions,
unless the context otherwise requires, include any further notes issued pursuant to Condition 15 and forming
a single series with the Notes) of T.E.R.NA. — Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. (the Issuer)
are constituted by a Trust Deed dated 28th October, 2004 (the Trust Deed) made between the Issuer and
J. P. Morgan Corporate Trustee Services Limited (the Trustee, which expression shall include its
successor(s)) as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the Noteholders) and the holders of the interest coupons
appertaining to the Notes (the Couponholders and the Coupons respectively).

The statements in these Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of and
definitions in the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement dated 28th October, 2004
(the Agency Agreement) made between the Issuer, the initial paying agents named therein (together with
any successor or additional paying agent, the Paying Agents) and the Trustee are available for inspection
during normal business hours at the registered office for the time being of the Trustee, being at the date of
issue of the Notes at Trinity Tower, 9 Thomas More Street, London EIW 1YT and at the specified office of
each of the Paying Agents. The Noteholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound
by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement
applicable to them.

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE
1.1 Form and Denomination

The Notes are in bearer form, serially numbered, in the denomination of €50,000 and integral
multiples of €1,000 above €50,000, each with Coupons attached on issue. In the event that definitive
Notes are issued and the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Issuer will advise
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange of the denominations in which they are issued.

1.2 Title

Title to the Notes and to the Coupons will pass by delivery.

1.3 Holder Absolute Owner

The Issuer, any Paying Agent and the Trustee may (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable laws)
deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the absolute owner for all purposes (whether or
not the Note or Coupon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing on
the Note or Coupon or any notice of previous loss or theft of the Note or Coupon or of any trust or
interest therein) and shall not be required to obtain any proof thereof or as to the identity of such
bearer.

2. STATUS

The Notes and the Coupons are direct, unconditional and (subject to the provisions of Condition 3)
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and (subject as provided above) rank and will rank pari passu,
without any preference among themselves, with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Issuer, present and future (save for such obligations as may be preferred by
mandatory provisions of law) but, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by
applicable laws relating to creditors’ rights.



NEGATIVE PLEDGE

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), the Issuer will not,
and will ensure that none of its Material Subsidiaries will, create or permit to subsist any Security
upon the whole or any part of its assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any Indebtedness,
except for Permitted Encumbrances, unless:

(a)  the same Security shall forthwith be extended equally and rateably to the Notes and the
Coupons to the satisfaction of the Trustee; or

(b)  such other Security or guarantee (or other arrangement) as (i) the Trustee in its absolute
discretion deems not materially less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders or (ii) shall
be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, shall previously have been or
shall forthwith be extended equally and rateably to the Notes and the Coupons.

As used herein:
Group means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries;

Indebtedness means any present or future indebtedness for borrowed money which is in the form of,
or represented by, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities and which is or are intended to be
quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt in on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or regulated securities
market;

Material Subsidiary means any consolidated Subsidiary of the Issuer:

(a)  whose total assets (consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries)
represent not less than 10 per cent. of the consolidated total assets of the Issuer and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, as calculated respectively by reference to the then latest audited
accounts (consolidated or, as the case may be, unconsolidated) of the Subsidiary and the then
latest audited consolidated accounts of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, or

(b)  to which is transferred the whole or substantially the whole of the undertaking and assets of a
Subsidiary of the Issuer which immediately before the transfer is a Material Subsidiary of the
Issuer.

A report by two Directors of the Issuer whether or not addressed to the Trustee that in their opinion a
Subsidiary of the Issuer is or is not or was or was not at any particular time or throughout any
specified period a Material Subsidiary may be relied upon by the Trustee without further enquiry or
evidence and, if relied upon by the Trustee, shall, in the absence of manifest or (to the satisfaction of
the Trustee) proven error, be conclusive and binding on all parties;

Permitted Encumbrances means:

(a)  any Security arising pursuant to any mandatory provision of law other than as a result of any
action taken by the Issuer; or

(b)  any Security in existence as at the date of issuance of the Notes; or

(c)  inthe case of any entity which becomes a Subsidiary of any member of the Group after the date
of issuance of the Notes, any Security existing over such entity’s assets at the time it becomes
such a Subsidiary, provided that the Security was not created in contemplation of, or in
connection with, it becoming a Subsidiary and the amounts secured have not been increased in
contemplation of, or in connection with, such acquisitions; or

(d)  any Security securing Project Finance Indebtedness; or

(e) any Security which is created in connection with, or pursuant to, a limited-recourse financing,
securitisation or other like arrangement where the payment obligations in respect of the
indebtedness secured by the relevant Security are to be discharged solely from the revenues



generated by the assets over which such Security is created (including, without limitation,
receivables) provided that the aggregate book value of the assets over which such Security is
created shall not exceed €400,000,000 or, if greater, 10 per cent. of the consolidated net worth
of the Group; or

(f)  any Security created after the date of issue of the Notes on any asset acquired by the person
creating the Security and securing only Indebtedness incurred for the sole purpose of financing
or re-financing that acquisition provided that the principal amount of such Indebtedness so
secured does not exceed the overall cost of that acquisition.

Person means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association,
organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal
personality;

Project Finance Indebtedness means any present or future Indebtedness incurred in financing the
ownership, acquisition, construction, development, leasing, maintenance and/or operation of an asset
or assets, whether or not an asset of a member of the Group:

(a)  which is incurred by a Project Finance Subsidiary; or

(b)  in respect of which the Person or Persons to whom any such Indebtedness is or may be owed
by the relevant borrower (whether or not a member of the Group) has or have no recourse
whatsoever to any member of the Group (other than a Project Finance Subsidiary) for the
repayment thereof other than:

(1) recourse for amounts limited to the cash flow or the net cash flow (other than historic
cash flow or historic net cash flow) from such asset or assets or the income or other
proceeds deriving therefrom; and/or

(ii))  recourse for the purpose only of enabling amounts to be claimed in respect of such
Indebtedness in an enforcement of any Security given by such borrower over such asset
or assets or the income, cash flow or other proceeds, deriving therefrom (or given by any
shareholder or the like in the borrower over its shares or the like in the capital of the
borrower) to secure such Indebtedness,

provided that (a) the extent of such recourse is limited solely to the amount of any recoveries made
on any such enforcement, and (b) such Person or Persons is/are not entitled, by virtue of any right or
claim arising out of or in connection with such Indebtedness, to commence any proceedings of
whatever nature against any member of the Group (other than a Project Finance Subsidiary).

Project Finance Subsidiary means any Subsidiary of the Issuer either:

(@ @ which is a single purpose company whose principal assets and business are constituted
by the ownership, acquisition, construction, development, leasing, maintenance and/or
operation of an asset or assets; and

(ii))  none of whose Indebtedness in respect of the financing of such ownership, acquisition,
construction, development, leasing, maintenance and/or operation of an asset or assets
is subject to any recourse whatsoever to any member of the Group (other than such
Subsidiary or another Project Finance Subsidiary) in respect of the repayment thereof,
except as expressly referred to in sub-paragraph (ii) of the definition of Project Finance
Indebtedness; or

(b)  atleast 70 per cent. in principal amount of whose Indebtedness is Project Finance Indebtedness.
Security means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge or other security interest;

Subsidiary means, in respect of any Person (the first Person) at any particular time, any other Person
(the second Person):
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(i)  whose majority of votes in ordinary shareholders’ meetings of the second Person is held by the
first Person; or

(i)  in which the first Person holds a sufficient number of votes giving the first Person a dominant
influence in ordinary shareholders’ meetings of the second Person; or

(iii)  whose accounts are required to be consolidated with those of the First Person pursuant to article
26 of Law 127 of 1991;

(in the case of (i) and (ii) pursuant to the provisions of Article 2359, first paragraph, no. 1 and no. 2,
of the Italian Civil Code).

INTEREST
Interest Rate and Interest Payment Dates

The Notes bear interest from and including 28th October, 2004 at the rate of 4.90 per cent. per annum,
payable annually in arrear on 28th October (each an Interest Payment Date). The first payment
(representing a full year’s interest) and amounting to €49 per €1,000 principal amount of Notes) shall
be made on 28th October, 2005.

Interest Accrual

Each Note will cease to bear interest from and including its due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment of the principal in respect of the Note is improperly withheld or refused or
unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment, in which event interest shall continue to
accrue as provided in the Trust Deed.

Calculation of Broken Interest

When interest is required to be calculated in respect of a period of less than a full year, it shall be
calculated on the basis of (a) the actual number of days in the period from and including the date from
which interest begins to accrue (the Accrual Date) to but excluding the date on which it falls due
divided by (b) the actual number of days from and including the Accrual Date to but excluding the
next following Interest Payment Date.

PAYMENTS
Payments in respect of Notes

Payments of principal and interest in respect of each Note will be made against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the Note, except that payments of
interest due on an Interest Payment Date will be made against presentation and surrender (or, in the
case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Coupon, in each case at the specified office
outside the United States of any of the Paying Agents.

Method of Payment

Payments will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro
may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by euro cheque.

Missing Unmatured Coupons

Each Note should be presented for payment together with all relative unmatured Coupons, failing
which the full amount of any relative missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being
made in full, that proportion of the full amount of the missing unmatured Coupon which the amount
so paid bears to the total amount due) will be deducted from the amount due for payment. Each
amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against presentation and surrender
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(or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relative missing Coupon at any time before
the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) in respect of the relevant
Note (whether or not the Coupon would otherwise have become void pursuant to Condition 8) but not
thereafter.

Payments subject to Applicable Laws

Payments in respect of principal and interest on the Notes are subject in all cases to any fiscal or other
laws and regulations applicable in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of
Condition 7.

Payment only on a Presentation Date

A holder shall be entitled to present a Note or Coupon for payment only on a Presentation Date and
shall not, except as provided in Condition 4, be entitled to any further interest or other payment if a
Presentation Date is after the due date.

Presentation Date means a day which (subject to Condition 8):
(a) s or falls after the relevant due date;

(b)  is a Business Day in the place of the specified office of the Paying Agent at which the Note or
Coupon is presented for payment; and

(c)  in the case of payment by credit or transfer to a euro account as referred to above, is a TARGET
Settlement Day.

In this Condition, Business Day means, in relation to any place, a day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in
foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in that place and TARGET Settlement Day means
any day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET) system is open.

Initial Paying Agents

The names of the initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out at the end of these
Conditions. The Issuer reserves the right, subject to the prior written approval of the Trustee, at any
time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and to appoint additional or other
Paying Agents provided that:

(a)  there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent;

(b)  there will at all times be at least one Paying Agent (which may be the Principal Paying Agent)
having its specified office in a European city outside the Republic of Italy (Italy) which so long
as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange shall be Luxembourg; and

(c)  the Issuer undertakes that it will ensure that it maintains a Paying Agent in a Member State of
the European Union that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council
Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN
Council meeting of 26th-27th November, 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or
introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes in specified offices will be given to the
Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 11.
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REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE
Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, the Issuer will redeem the
Notes at their principal amount on 28th October, 2024.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons
If the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of the notice referred to below that:

(a)  asaresult of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction
(as defined in Condition 7), or any change in the application or official interpretation of the
laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction, which change or amendment becomes effective
after 26th October, 2004, on the next Interest Payment Date the Issuer would be required to pay
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7; and

(b)  the requirement cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

the Issuer may at its option, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all the
Notes, but not some only, at any time at their principal amount together with interest accrued to but
excluding the date of redemption, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier
than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be required to pay such additional
amounts, were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of
redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by
two Authorised Officers (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer stating that the requirement
referred to in (a) above will apply on the next Interest Payment Date and cannot be avoided by the
Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and an opinion of independent legal advisers of
recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become required to pay such additional
amounts as a result of the change or amendment and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such
certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out
above, in which event they shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the
Couponholders.

Purchases

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (as defined above) may at any time purchase Notes (provided that
all unmatured Coupons appertaining to the Notes are purchased with the Notes) in any manner and at
any price. If purchases are made by tender, tenders must be available to all Noteholders alike.

Cancellations

All Notes which are (a) redeemed or (b) purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its
Subsidiaries will forthwith be cancelled, together with all relative unmatured Coupons attached to the
Notes or surrendered with the Notes, and accordingly may not be held, reissued or resold.

Notices Final

Upon the expiry of any notice as is referred to in paragraph 6.2 above the Issuer shall be bound to
redeem the Notes to which the notice refers in accordance with the terms of such paragraph.

TAXATION
Payment without Withholding

All payments in respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made without withholding
or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
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7.2

charges of whatever nature (Taxes) imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Relevant Jurisdiction,
unless the withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay
such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the
Noteholders and Couponholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts
which would have been receivable in respect of the Notes or, as the case may be, Coupons in the
absence of the withholding or deduction; except that no additional amounts shall be payable in
relation to any payment in respect of any Note or Coupon:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who is liable for such Taxes in respect of
the Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Relevant Jurisdiction
other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who would be able to avoid such
withholding or deduction by making a declaration or any other statement, including but not
limited to a declaration of residence or non-residence, but fails to do so; or

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who would be able to avoid such
withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note and/or Coupon to another Paying
Agent in a Member State of the European Union, but fails to do so; or

presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to
the extent that a holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting
the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day to have been a Presentation Date
(as defined in Condition 5); or

where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual resident outside
Italy and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th-27th
November, 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying
with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

on account of imposta sostitutiva pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1st April,
1996 (Legislative Decree No. 239) and any related implementing regulations as in force on the
date of the issue of the Notes in all circumstances in which the procedures set forth in
Legislative Decree No. 239 have not been met or complied with, except where such procedures
have not been met or complied with due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer or its agents;
or

in the event of payment to a non-Italian resident legal entity or a non-Italian resident individual,
to the extent that interest or other amounts are paid to a non-Italian resident legal entity or a
non-Italian resident individual which is resident in a country which does not allow for a
satisfactory exchange of information with Italy.

Interpretation

In these Conditions:

(a)

(b)

Relevant Date means the date on which the payment first becomes due but, if the full amount
of the money payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee on or
before the due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of the money having been so
received, notice to that effect has been duly given to the Noteholders by the Issuer in
accordance with Condition 12; and

Relevant Jurisdiction means Italy or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect
of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes and Coupons.
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7.3

Additional Amounts

Any reference in these Conditions to any amounts in respect of the Notes shall be deemed also to refer
to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition or under any undertakings
given in addition to, or in substitution for, this Condition pursuant to the Trust Deed.

PRESCRIPTION

Claims for payment in respect of a Note or Coupon will become void unless presentation for payment
is made within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest)
from the Relevant Date in respect of the Notes or, as the case may be, the Coupon, subject to the
provisions of Condition 5.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in
principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Noteholders shall (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction), (but,
in the case of the happening of any of the events described in subparagraphs (c) and (e) to (h)
inclusive, only if the Trustee shall have certified in writing to the Issuer that such event is, in its
opinion, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders) give notice to the Issuer that the
Notes are, and they shall accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at their
principal amount, together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed, in any of the following
events (Events of Default):

(a)  if default is made for a period of 10 days or more in the payment of principal of or any interest
in respect of the Notes or any of them after the due date thereof; or

(b)  if the Issuer shall be adjudicated or becomes insolvent or shall stop payment or announce that
it shall stop payment or shall be found unable to pay all or substantially all of its debts, or any
order shall be made by any competent court or other competent body for, or any resolution shall
be passed by the Issuer for judicial composition proceedings with its creditors or for the
appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver or trustee or other similar official in
insolvency proceedings in relation to the Issuer; or

(c)  if the Issuer fails to pay a final judgment (sentenza passata in giudicato, in the case of a
judgment issued by an Italian court) of a court of competent jurisdiction within 60 days from
the receipt of a notice that a final judgment in excess of an amount equal to the value of a
substantial part of the assets or property of the Issuer has been entered against it or an execution
is levied, enforced upon or sued out against any substantial part of the assets or property of the
Issuer pursuant to any such judgment; or

(d) if the Issuer shall be wound up or dissolved (otherwise than for the purpose of a solvent
amalgamation, merger, de-merger or reconstruction (a Solvent Reorganisation) (i) to be
adopted or implemented pursuant to any mandatory provisions of law or (ii) on terms approved
in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, and (in the case
of (i) and (i1)) under which the assets and liabilities of the Issuer are assumed by the entity
resulting from such Solvent Reorganisation and such entity assumes all the obligations of the
Issuer in respect of the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed and an opinion of an
independent legal adviser of recognised standing in Italy has been delivered to the Trustee
confirming the same prior to the effective date of such Solvent Reorganisation); or

(e)  if the Issuer shall cease or announce that it shall cease to carry on all or substantially all of its
business or shall dispose of all or substantially all of its assets (in each case otherwise than for
the purpose of a Solvent Reorganisation (i) to be adopted or implemented pursuant to any
mandatory provisions of law or (ii) on terms approved in writing by the Trustee or by an
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, and (in the case of (i) and (ii)) under which the
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10.
10.1

10.2

assets and liabilities of the Issuer are assumed by the entity resulting from such Solvent
Reorganisation and such entity assumes all the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes,
the Coupons and the Trust Deed and an opinion of an independent legal adviser of recognised
standing in Italy has been delivered to the Trustee confirming the same prior to the effective
date of such Solvent Reorganisation); or

(f)  if any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the Issuer becomes due and repayable prematurely
by reason of an event of default (however described), or the Issuer fails to make any payment
in respect of any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money on the due date for payment (as extended
by any originally applicable grace period) or default is made by the Issuer in making any
payment due under any guarantee and/or indemnity given by it in relation to any Indebtedness
for Borrowed Money of any other person (as extended by any originally applicable grace
period), provided that no such event shall constitute an Event of Default so long as and to the
extent that the Issuer is contesting, in good faith, in a competent court in a recognised
jurisdiction or before a competent arbitration panel that the relevant Indebtedness for Borrowed
Money or any such guarantee and/or indemnity shall be due or enforceable, as appropriate, and
provided further that no such event shall constitute an Event of Default unless the aggregate
Indebtedness for Borrowed Money relating to all such events which shall have occurred and be
continuing shall exceed €20,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency); or

(g)  any Security (other than any Security securing Project Finance Indebtedness), present or future,
created or assumed on or against all or a material part of the property, assets or revenues of the
Issuer, becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of
possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person), which is not
discharged within 30 days of such enforcement; or

(h)  if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under these Conditions or
the Trust Deed and (except in any case where the Trustee considers the failure to be incapable
of remedy, when no continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the
failure continues for the period of 30 days (or such longer period as the Trustee may permit)
following the service by the Trustee on the Issuer of notice requiring the same to be remedied.

For the purposes of this Condition:

Indebtedness for Borrowed Money means any present or future indebtedness (whether being
principal, premium, interest or other amounts) for or in respect of (i) money borrowed, (ii) liabilities
under or in respect of any acceptance or acceptance credit or (iii) any notes, bonds, debentures,
debenture stock, loan stock or other securities offered, issued or distributed whether by way of public
offer, private placing, acquisition consideration or otherwise and whether issued for cash or in whole
or in part for a consideration other than cash.

ENFORCEMENT
Enforcement by the Trustee

The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, take such proceedings against the
Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons, but
it shall not be bound to take any such proceedings or any other action in relation to the Trust Deed,
the Notes or the Coupons unless (a) it has been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Noteholders or so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of the
Notes then outstanding and (b) it has been indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction.

Enforcement by the Noteholders

No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the
Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails so to do within a reasonable period and the failure
shall be continuing.
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11.

12.

13.

13.1

REPLACEMENT OF NOTES AND COUPONS

Should any Note or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the
specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or the Paying Agent in Luxembourg upon payment by
the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with the replacement and on such terms as to
evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons
must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

NOTICES

All notices to the Noteholders will be valid if published in a leading English language daily newspaper
published in London or such other English language daily newspaper with general circulation in
Europe as the Trustee may approve and, so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, in one leading newspaper of general circulation
in Luxembourg. It is expected that publication will normally be made in the Financial Times and the
Luxemburger Wort or the Tageblatt. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a
manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant
authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed. Any such notice will be deemed to have
been given on the date of the first publication or, where required to be published in more than one
newspaper, on the date of the first publication in all required newspapers. If publication as provided
above is not practicable, notice will be given in such other manner, and shall be deemed to have been
given on such date, as the Trustee may approve. Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to
have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Noteholders in accordance with this paragraph.

MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, MODIFICATION, WAIVER, AUTHORISATION AND
DETERMINATION

Meetings of Noteholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter
affecting their interests, including the modification or abrogation by Extraordinary Resolution of any
of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed. The directors of the Issuer and/or the
Noteholders’ Representative (as defined below) at their discretion may, and if so requested in writing
by the holders of at least 5 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding
shall, convene a meeting. To be validly held, each such meeting must be quorate which shall mean (i)
in the case of a first meeting, there are one or more persons present being or representing Noteholders
holding at least one half in aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding,
(i) in the case of an adjourned meeting, there are one or more persons present being or representing
Noteholders holding more than one third in aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being
outstanding and (iii) in the case of a further adjourned meeting, there are one or more persons present
being or representing Noteholders holding at least one fifth in aggregate principal amount of the Notes
for the time being outstanding. The majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution at any
meeting (including any adjourned meeting) will be one or more persons holding or representing at
least two thirds in aggregate principal amount of the Notes represented at the meeting; provided,
however, that certain proposals, as set out in Article 2415 of the Italian Civil Code (including any
proposal to modify the maturity of the Notes or the dates on which interest is payable on them; to
reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or interest on, the Notes; or to change the currency of
payment of the Notes) may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of
Noteholders (including any adjourned meeting) by one or more persons holding or representing not
less than one half in aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any
Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders,
whether present or not and on all Couponholders.
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Noteholders’ Representative

A representative of the Noteholders (rappresentante comune) (the Noteholders’ Representative)
(who might, subject to the mandatory provisions of Italian law, also be the same legal entity as the
Trustee) may be appointed pursuant to Article 2417 of the Italian Civil Code in order to represent the
Noteholders’ interests under these Conditions and to give effect to resolutions passed at a meeting of
the Noteholders. If the Noteholders’ Representative is not appointed by a meeting of such
Noteholders, the Noteholders’ Representative shall be appointed by a decree of the President of the
Court where the Issuer has its registered office at the request of one or more Noteholders or at the
request of the directors of the Issuer. The Noteholders’ Representative shall remain appointed for a
maximum period of three years but may be re-appointed again thereafter.

Modification, Waiver, Authorisation and Determination

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to any modification
of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of these Conditions or
any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, or determine, without any such consent as aforesaid, that any
Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall not be treated as
such (provided that, in any such case, it is not, in the opinion of the Trustee, materially prejudicial to
the interests of the Noteholders or may agree, without any such consent as aforesaid, to any
modification which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a manifest or (to the
satisfaction of the Trustee) proven error.

Trustee to have Regard to Interests of Noteholders as a Class

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its trusts, powers, authorities and discretions (including,
without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation or determination), the Trustee shall have
regard to the general interests of the Noteholders as a class but shall not have regard to any interests
arising from circumstances particular to individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their
number) and, in particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of any
such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their number) resulting from
their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the
jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and the Trustee shall not
be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer,
the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of
any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders except to the extent already
provided for in Condition 7 and/or any undertaking given in addition to, or in substitution for,
Condition 7 pursuant to the Trust Deed.

Notification to the Noteholders

Any modification, abrogation, waiver, authorisation or determination shall be binding on the
Noteholders and the Couponholders and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, any modification or
substitution shall be notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter in
accordance with Condition 12.

INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TRUSTEE AND ITS CONTRACTING WITH THE ISSUER
Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking action unless indemnified and/or secured
to its satisfaction.

15



14.2

15.

16.
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16.3

17.

Trustee Contracting with the Issuer

The Trust Deed also contains provisions pursuant to which the Trustee is entitled, inter alia, (a) to
enter into business transactions with the Issuer and/or any of the Issuer’s Subsidiaries and to act as
trustee for the holders of any other securities issued or guaranteed by, or relating to, the Issuer and/or
any of the Issuer’s Subsidiaries, (b) to exercise and enforce its rights, comply with its obligations and
perform its duties under or in relation to any such transactions or, as the case may be, any such
trusteeship without regard to the interests of, or consequences for, the Noteholders or Couponholders,
and (c) to retain and not be liable to account for any profit made or any other amount or benefit
received thereby or in connection therewith.

FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time (but subject always to the provisions of these
Conditions and the Trust Deed) without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders to create
and issue further notes ranking pari passu in all respects (or in all respects save for the issue price and
the first payment of interest thereon), and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single
series, with the Notes.

GOVERNING LAW AND SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION
Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with
English law.

Jurisdiction of English Courts

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably agreed for the benefit of the Trustee, the Noteholders
and the Couponholders that the courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes or the Coupons and
accordingly has submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts. The Issuer has, in the
Trust Deed, waived any objection to the courts of England on the grounds that they are an
inconvenient or inappropriate forum.

The Trustee, the Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceeding arising
out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes or the Coupons respectively (together referred
to as Proceedings) against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent
Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably and unconditionally appointed Fleetside Legal
Representative Services Limited of 9 Cheapside, London EC2V 6AD as its agent for service of
process in England in respect of any Proceedings and has undertaken that in the event of such agent
ceasing so to act it will appoint such other person as the Trustee may approve as its agent for that

purpose.

RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to
enforce any term of this Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists
or is available apart from that Act.
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CONDITIONS OF THE B NOTES

The following is the text of the Conditions of the B Notes which will be endorsed on each Note in definitive
Sform (if issued):

The €600,000,000 4.25 per cent. Notes due 2014 (the Notes, which expression shall in these Conditions,
unless the context otherwise requires, include any further notes issued pursuant to Condition 15 and forming
a single series with the Notes) of T.E.R.NA. — Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. (the Issuer)
are constituted by a Trust Deed dated 28th October, 2004 (the Trust Deed) made between the Issuer and
J. P. Morgan Corporate Trustee Services Limited (the Trustee, which expression shall include its
successor(s)) as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the Noteholders) and the holders of the interest coupons
appertaining to the Notes (the Couponholders and the Coupons respectively).

The statements in these Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of and
definitions in the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement dated 28th October, 2004
(the Agency Agreement) made between the Issuer, the initial paying agents named therein (together with
any successor or additional paying agent, the Paying Agents) and the Trustee are available for inspection
during normal business hours at the registered office for the time being of the Trustee, being at the date of
issue of the Notes at Trinity Tower, 9 Thomas More Street, London EIW 1YT and at the specified office of
each of the Paying Agents. The Noteholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound
by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement
applicable to them.

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE
1.1 Form and Denomination

The Notes are in bearer form, serially numbered, in the denomination of €50,000 and integral
multiples of €1,000 above €50,000, each with Coupons attached on issue. In the event that definitive
Notes are issued and the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Issuer will advise
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange of the denominations in which they are issued.

1.2 Title

Title to the Notes and to the Coupons will pass by delivery.

1.3 Holder Absolute Owner

The Issuer, any Paying Agent and the Trustee may (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable laws)
deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the absolute owner for all purposes (whether or
not the Note or Coupon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing on
the Note or Coupon or any notice of previous loss or theft of the Note or Coupon or of any trust or
interest therein) and shall not be required to obtain any proof thereof or as to the identity of such
bearer.

2. STATUS

The Notes and the Coupons are direct, unconditional and (subject to the provisions of Condition 3)
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and (subject as provided above) rank and will rank pari passu,
without any preference among themselves, with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Issuer, present and future (save for such obligations as may be preferred by
mandatory provisions of law) but, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by
applicable laws relating to creditors’ rights.
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NEGATIVE PLEDGE

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), the Issuer will not,
and will ensure that none of its Material Subsidiaries will, create or permit to subsist any Security
upon the whole or any part of its assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any Indebtedness,
except for Permitted Encumbrances, unless:

(a)  the same Security shall forthwith be extended equally and rateably to the Notes and the
Coupons to the satisfaction of the Trustee; or

(b)  such other Security or guarantee (or other arrangement) as (i) the Trustee in its absolute
discretion deems not materially less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders or (ii) shall
be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, shall previously have been or
shall forthwith be extended equally and rateably to the Notes and the Coupons.

As used herein:
Group means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries;

Indebtedness means any present or future indebtedness for borrowed money which is in the form of,
or represented by, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities and which is or are intended to be
quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt in on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or regulated securities
market;

Material Subsidiary means any consolidated Subsidiary of the Issuer:

(a)  whose total assets (consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries)
represent not less than 10 per cent. of the consolidated total assets of the Issuer and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, as calculated respectively by reference to the then latest audited
accounts (consolidated or, as the case may be, unconsolidated) of the Subsidiary and the then
latest audited consolidated accounts of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, or

(b)  to which is transferred the whole or substantially the whole of the undertaking and assets of a
Subsidiary of the Issuer which immediately before the transfer is a Material Subsidiary of the
Issuer.

A report by two Directors of the Issuer whether or not addressed to the Trustee that in their opinion a
Subsidiary of the Issuer is or is not or was or was not at any particular time or throughout any
specified period a Material Subsidiary may be relied upon by the Trustee without further enquiry or
evidence and, if relied upon by the Trustee, shall, in the absence of manifest or (to the satisfaction of
the Trustee) proven error, be conclusive and binding on all parties;

Permitted Encumbrances means:

(a)  any Security arising pursuant to any mandatory provision of law other than as a result of any
action taken by the Issuer; or

(b)  any Security in existence as at the date of issuance of the Notes; or

(c)  inthe case of any entity which becomes a Subsidiary of any member of the Group after the date
of issuance of the Notes, any Security existing over such entity’s assets at the time it becomes
such a Subsidiary, provided that the Security was not created in contemplation of, or in
connection with, it becoming a Subsidiary and the amounts secured have not been increased in
contemplation of, or in connection with, such acquisitions; or

(d)  any Security securing Project Finance Indebtedness; or

(e) any Security which is created in connection with, or pursuant to, a limited-recourse financing,
securitisation or other like arrangement where the payment obligations in respect of the
indebtedness secured by the relevant Security are to be discharged solely from the revenues
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generated by the assets over which such Security is created (including, without limitation,
receivables) provided that the aggregate book value of the assets over which such Security is
created shall not exceed €400,000,000 or, if greater, 10 per cent. of the consolidated net worth
of the Group; or

(f)  any Security created after the date of issue of the Notes on any asset acquired by the person
creating the Security and securing only Indebtedness incurred for the sole purpose of financing
or re-financing that acquisition provided that the principal amount of such Indebtedness so
secured does not exceed the overall cost of that acquisition.

Person means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association,
organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal
personality;

Project Finance Indebtedness means any present or future Indebtedness incurred in financing the
ownership, acquisition, construction, development, leasing, maintenance and/or operation of an asset
or assets, whether or not an asset of a member of the Group:

(a)  which is incurred by a Project Finance Subsidiary; or

(b)  in respect of which the Person or Persons to whom any such Indebtedness is or may be owed
by the relevant borrower (whether or not a member of the Group) has or have no recourse
whatsoever to any member of the Group (other than a Project Finance Subsidiary) for the
repayment thereof other than:

(1) recourse for amounts limited to the cash flow or the net cash flow (other than historic
cash flow or historic net cash flow) from such asset or assets or the income or other
proceeds deriving therefrom; and/or

(ii))  recourse for the purpose only of enabling amounts to be claimed in respect of such
Indebtedness in an enforcement of any Security given by such borrower over such asset
or assets or the income, cash flow or other proceeds, deriving therefrom (or given by any
shareholder or the like in the borrower over its shares or the like in the capital of the
borrower) to secure such Indebtedness,

provided that (a) the extent of such recourse is limited solely to the amount of any recoveries made
on any such enforcement, and (b) such Person or Persons is/are not entitled, by virtue of any right or
claim arising out of or in connection with such Indebtedness, to commence any proceedings of
whatever nature against any member of the Group (other than a Project Finance Subsidiary).

Project Finance Subsidiary means any Subsidiary of the Issuer either:

(@ @ which is a single purpose company whose principal assets and business are constituted
by the ownership, acquisition, construction, development, leasing, maintenance and/or
operation of an asset or assets; and

(ii))  none of whose Indebtedness in respect of the financing of such ownership, acquisition,
construction, development, leasing, maintenance and/or operation of an asset or assets
is subject to any recourse whatsoever to any member of the Group (other than such
Subsidiary or another Project Finance Subsidiary) in respect of the repayment thereof,
except as expressly referred to in sub-paragraph (ii) of the definition of Project Finance
Indebtedness; or

(b)  atleast 70 per cent. in principal amount of whose Indebtedness is Project Finance Indebtedness.
Security means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge or other security interest;

Subsidiary means, in respect of any Person (the first Person) at any particular time, any other Person
(the second Person):
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4.2

4.3

5.2

5.3

(i)  whose majority of votes in ordinary shareholders’ meetings of the second Person is held by the
first Person; or

(i)  in which the first Person holds a sufficient number of votes giving the first Person a dominant
influence in ordinary shareholders’ meetings of the second Person; or

(iii)  whose accounts are required to be consolidated with those of the First Person pursuant to article
26 of Law 127 of 1991;

(in the case of (i) and (ii) pursuant to the provisions of Article 2359, first paragraph, no. 1 and no. 2,
of the Italian Civil Code).

INTEREST
Interest Rate and Interest Payment Dates

The Notes bear interest from and including 28th October, 2004 at the rate of 4.25 per cent. per annum,
payable annually in arrear on 28th October (each an Interest Payment Date). The first payment
(representing a full year’s interest) and amounting to €42.50 per €1,000 principal amount of Notes)
shall be made on 28th October, 2005.

Interest Accrual

Each Note will cease to bear interest from and including its due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment of the principal in respect of the Note is improperly withheld or refused or
unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment, in which event interest shall continue to
accrue as provided in the Trust Deed.

Calculation of Broken Interest

When interest is required to be calculated in respect of a period of less than a full year, it shall be
calculated on the basis of (a) the actual number of days in the period from and including the date from
which interest begins to accrue (the Accrual Date) to but excluding the date on which it falls due
divided by (b) the actual number of days from and including the Accrual Date to but excluding the
next following Interest Payment Date.

PAYMENTS
Payments in respect of Notes

Payments of principal and interest in respect of each Note will be made against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the Note, except that payments of
interest due on an Interest Payment Date will be made against presentation and surrender (or, in the
case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Coupon, in each case at the specified office
outside the United States of any of the Paying Agents.

Method of Payment

Payments will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro
may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by euro cheque.

Missing Unmatured Coupons

Each Note should be presented for payment together with all relative unmatured Coupons, failing
which the full amount of any relative missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being
made in full, that proportion of the full amount of the missing unmatured Coupon which the amount
so paid bears to the total amount due) will be deducted from the amount due for payment. Each
amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against presentation and surrender
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5.5

5.6

(or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relative missing Coupon at any time before
the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) in respect of the relevant
Note (whether or not the Coupon would otherwise have become void pursuant to Condition 8) but not
thereafter.

Payments subject to Applicable Laws

Payments in respect of principal and interest on the Notes are subject in all cases to any fiscal or other
laws and regulations applicable in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of
Condition 7.

Payment only on a Presentation Date

A holder shall be entitled to present a Note or Coupon for payment only on a Presentation Date and
shall not, except as provided in Condition 4, be entitled to any further interest or other payment if a
Presentation Date is after the due date.

Presentation Date means a day which (subject to Condition 8):
(a) s or falls after the relevant due date;

(b)  is a Business Day in the place of the specified office of the Paying Agent at which the Note or
Coupon is presented for payment; and

(c)  in the case of payment by credit or transfer to a euro account as referred to above, is a TARGET
Settlement Day.

In this Condition, Business Day means, in relation to any place, a day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in
foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in that place and TARGET Settlement Day means
any day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET) system is open.

Initial Paying Agents

The names of the initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out at the end of these
Conditions. The Issuer reserves the right, subject to the prior written approval of the Trustee, at any
time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and to appoint additional or other
Paying Agents provided that:

(a)  there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent;

(b)  there will at all times be at least one Paying Agent (which may be the Principal Paying Agent)
having its specified office in a European city outside the Republic of Italy (Italy) which so long
as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange shall be Luxembourg; and

(c)  the Issuer undertakes that it will ensure that it maintains a Paying Agent in a Member State of
the European Union that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council
Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN
Council meeting of 26th-27th November, 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or
introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes in specified offices will be given to the
Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 11.
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6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE
Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, the Issuer will redeem the
Notes at their principal amount on 28th October, 2014.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons
If the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of the notice referred to below that:

(a)  asaresult of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction
(as defined in Condition 7), or any change in the application or official interpretation of the
laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction, which change or amendment becomes effective
after 26th October, 2004, on the next Interest Payment Date the Issuer would be required to pay
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7; and

(b)  the requirement cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

the Issuer may at its option, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all the
Notes, but not some only, at any time at their principal amount together with interest accrued to but
excluding the date of redemption, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier
than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be required to pay such additional
amounts, were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of
redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by
two Authorised Officers (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer stating that the requirement
referred to in (a) above will apply on the next Interest Payment Date and cannot be avoided by the
Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and an opinion of independent legal advisers of
recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become required to pay such additional
amounts as a result of the change or amendment and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such
certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out
above, in which event they shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the
Couponholders.

Purchases

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (as defined above) may at any time purchase Notes (provided that
all unmatured Coupons appertaining to the Notes are purchased with the Notes) in any manner and at
any price. If purchases are made by tender, tenders must be available to all Noteholders alike.

Cancellations

All Notes which are (a) redeemed or (b) purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its
Subsidiaries will forthwith be cancelled, together with all relative unmatured Coupons attached to the
Notes or surrendered with the Notes, and accordingly may not be held, reissued or resold.

Notices Final

Upon the expiry of any notice as is referred to in paragraph 6.2 above the Issuer shall be bound to
redeem the Notes to which the notice refers in accordance with the terms of such paragraph.

TAXATION
Payment without Withholding

All payments in respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made without withholding
or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
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7.2

charges of whatever nature (Taxes) imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Relevant Jurisdiction,
unless the withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay
such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the
Noteholders and Couponholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts
which would have been receivable in respect of the Notes or, as the case may be, Coupons in the
absence of the withholding or deduction; except that no additional amounts shall be payable in
relation to any payment in respect of any Note or Coupon:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who is liable for such Taxes in respect of
the Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Relevant Jurisdiction
other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who would be able to avoid such
withholding or deduction by making a declaration or any other statement, including but not
limited to a declaration of residence or non-residence, but fails to do so; or

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who would be able to avoid such
withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note and/or Coupon to another Paying
Agent in a Member State of the European Union, but fails to do so; or

presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to
the extent that a holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting
the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day to have been a Presentation Date
(as defined in Condition 5); or

where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual resident outside
Italy and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th-27th
November, 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying
with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

on account of imposta sostitutiva pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1st April,
1996 (Legislative Decree No. 239) and any related implementing regulations as in force on the
date of the issue of the Notes in all circumstances in which the procedures set forth in
Legislative Decree No. 239 have not been met or complied with, except where such procedures
have not been met or complied with due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer or its agents;
or

in the event of payment to a non-Italian resident legal entity or a non-Italian resident individual,
to the extent that interest or other amounts are paid to a non-Italian resident legal entity or a
non-Italian resident individual which is resident in a country which does not allow for a
satisfactory exchange of information with Italy.

Interpretation

In these Conditions:

(a)

(b)

Relevant Date means the date on which the payment first becomes due but, if the full amount
of the money payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee on or
before the due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of the money having been so
received, notice to that effect has been duly given to the Noteholders by the Issuer in
accordance with Condition 12; and

Relevant Jurisdiction means Italy or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect
of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes and Coupons.
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7.3

Additional Amounts

Any reference in these Conditions to any amounts in respect of the Notes shall be deemed also to refer
to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition or under any undertakings
given in addition to, or in substitution for, this Condition pursuant to the Trust Deed.

PRESCRIPTION

Claims for payment in respect of a Note or Coupon will become void unless presentation for payment
is made within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest)
from the Relevant Date in respect of the Notes or, as the case may be, the Coupon, subject to the
provisions of Condition 5.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in
principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Noteholders shall (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction), (but,
in the case of the happening of any of the events described in subparagraphs (c) and (e) to (h)
inclusive, only if the Trustee shall have certified in writing to the Issuer that such event is, in its
opinion, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders) give notice to the Issuer that the
Notes are, and they shall accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at their
principal amount, together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed, in any of the following
events (Events of Default):

(a)  if default is made for a period of 10 days or more in the payment of principal of or any interest
in respect of the Notes or any of them after the due date thereof; or

(b)  if the Issuer shall be adjudicated or becomes insolvent or shall stop payment or announce that
it shall stop payment or shall be found unable to pay all or substantially all of its debts, or any
order shall be made by any competent court or other competent body for, or any resolution shall
be passed by the Issuer for judicial composition proceedings with its creditors or for the
appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver or trustee or other similar official in
insolvency proceedings in relation to the Issuer; or

(c)  if the Issuer fails to pay a final judgment (sentenza passata in giudicato, in the case of a
judgment issued by an Italian court) of a court of competent jurisdiction within 60 days from
the receipt of a notice that a final judgment in excess of an amount equal to the value of a
substantial part of the assets or property of the Issuer has been entered against it or an execution
is levied, enforced upon or sued out against any substantial part of the assets or property of the
Issuer pursuant to any such judgment; or

(d) if the Issuer shall be wound up or dissolved (otherwise than for the purpose of a solvent
amalgamation, merger, de-merger or reconstruction (a Solvent Reorganisation) (i) to be
adopted or implemented pursuant to any mandatory provisions of law or (ii) on terms approved
in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, and (in the case
of (i) and (i1)) under which the assets and liabilities of the Issuer are assumed by the entity
resulting from such Solvent Reorganisation and such entity assumes all the obligations of the
Issuer in respect of the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed and an opinion of an
independent legal adviser of recognised standing in Italy has been delivered to the Trustee
confirming the same prior to the effective date of such Solvent Reorganisation); or

(e)  if the Issuer shall cease or announce that it shall cease to carry on all or substantially all of its
business or shall dispose of all or substantially all of its assets (in each case otherwise than for
the purpose of a Solvent Reorganisation (i) to be adopted or implemented pursuant to any
mandatory provisions of law or (ii) on terms approved in writing by the Trustee or by an
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, and (in the case of (i) and (ii)) under which the
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10.
10.1

10.2

assets and liabilities of the Issuer are assumed by the entity resulting from such Solvent
Reorganisation and such entity assumes all the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes,
the Coupons and the Trust Deed and an opinion of an independent legal adviser of recognised
standing in Italy has been delivered to the Trustee confirming the same prior to the effective
date of such Solvent Reorganisation); or

(f)  if any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the Issuer becomes due and repayable prematurely
by reason of an event of default (however described), or the Issuer fails to make any payment
in respect of any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money on the due date for payment (as extended
by any originally applicable grace period) or default is made by the Issuer in making any
payment due under any guarantee and/or indemnity given by it in relation to any Indebtedness
for Borrowed Money of any other person (as extended by any originally applicable grace
period), provided that no such event shall constitute an Event of Default so long as and to the
extent that the Issuer is contesting, in good faith, in a competent court in a recognised
jurisdiction or before a competent arbitration panel that the relevant Indebtedness for Borrowed
Money or any such guarantee and/or indemnity shall be due or enforceable, as appropriate, and
provided further that no such event shall constitute an Event of Default unless the aggregate
Indebtedness for Borrowed Money relating to all such events which shall have occurred and be
continuing shall exceed €20,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency); or

(g)  any Security (other than any Security securing Project Finance Indebtedness), present or future,
created or assumed on or against all or a material part of the property, assets or revenues of the
Issuer, becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of
possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person), which is not
discharged within 30 days of such enforcement; or

(h)  if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under these Conditions or
the Trust Deed and (except in any case where the Trustee considers the failure to be incapable
of remedy, when no continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the
failure continues for the period of 30 days (or such longer period as the Trustee may permit)
following the service by the Trustee on the Issuer of notice requiring the same to be remedied.

For the purposes of this Condition:

Indebtedness for Borrowed Money means any present or future indebtedness (whether being
principal, premium, interest or other amounts) for or in respect of (i) money borrowed, (ii) liabilities
under or in respect of any acceptance or acceptance credit or (iii) any notes, bonds, debentures,
debenture stock, loan stock or other securities offered, issued or distributed whether by way of public
offer, private placing, acquisition consideration or otherwise and whether issued for cash or in whole
or in part for a consideration other than cash.

ENFORCEMENT
Enforcement by the Trustee

The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, take such proceedings against the
Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons, but
it shall not be bound to take any such proceedings or any other action in relation to the Trust Deed,
the Notes or the Coupons unless (a) it has been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Noteholders or so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of the
Notes then outstanding and (b) it has been indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction.

Enforcement by the Noteholders

No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the
Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails so to do within a reasonable period and the failure
shall be continuing.
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11.

12.

13.

13.1

REPLACEMENT OF NOTES AND COUPONS

Should any Note or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the
specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or the Paying Agent in Luxembourg upon payment by
the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with the replacement and on such terms as to
evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons
must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

NOTICES

All notices to the Noteholders will be valid if published in a leading English language daily newspaper
published in London or such other English language daily newspaper with general circulation in
Europe as the Trustee may approve and, so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, in one leading newspaper of general circulation
in Luxembourg. It is expected that publication will normally be made in the Financial Times and the
Luxemburger Wort or the Tageblatt. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a
manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant
authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed. Any such notice will be deemed to have
been given on the date of the first publication or, where required to be published in more than one
newspaper, on the date of the first publication in all required newspapers. If publication as provided
above is not practicable, notice will be given in such other manner, and shall be deemed to have been
given on such date, as the Trustee may approve. Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to
have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Noteholders in accordance with this paragraph.

MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, MODIFICATION, WAIVER, AUTHORISATION AND
DETERMINATION

Meetings of Noteholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter
affecting their interests, including the modification or abrogation by Extraordinary Resolution of any
of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed. The directors of the Issuer and/or the
Noteholders’ Representative (as defined below) at their discretion may, and if so requested in writing
by the holders of at least 5 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding
shall, convene a meeting. To be validly held, each such meeting must be quorate which shall mean (i)
in the case of a first meeting, there are one or more persons present being or representing Noteholders
holding at least one half in aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding,
(i) in the case of an adjourned meeting, there are one or more persons present being or representing
Noteholders holding more than one third in aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being
outstanding and (iii) in the case of a further adjourned meeting, there are one or more persons present
being or representing Noteholders holding at least one fifth in aggregate principal amount of the Notes
for the time being outstanding. The majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution at any
meeting (including any adjourned meeting) will be one or more persons holding or representing at
least two thirds in aggregate principal amount of the Notes represented at the meeting; provided,
however, that certain proposals, as set out in Article 2415 of the Italian Civil Code (including any
proposal to modify the maturity of the Notes or the dates on which interest is payable on them; to
reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or interest on, the Notes; or to change the currency of
payment of the Notes) may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of
Noteholders (including any adjourned meeting) by one or more persons holding or representing not
less than one half in aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any
Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders,
whether present or not and on all Couponholders.
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13.2

13.3

13.4

13.5

14.

141

Noteholders’ Representative

A representative of the Noteholders (rappresentante comune) (the Noteholders’ Representative)
(who might, subject to the mandatory provisions of Italian law, also be the same legal entity as the
Trustee) may be appointed pursuant to Article 2417 of the Italian Civil Code in order to represent the
Noteholders’ interests under these Conditions and to give effect to resolutions passed at a meeting of
the Noteholders. If the Noteholders’ Representative is not appointed by a meeting of such
Noteholders, the Noteholders’ Representative shall be appointed by a decree of the President of the
Court where the Issuer has its registered office at the request of one or more Noteholders or at the
request of the directors of the Issuer. The Noteholders’ Representative shall remain appointed for a
maximum period of three years but may be re-appointed again thereafter.

Modification, Waiver, Authorisation and Determination

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to any modification
of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of these Conditions or
any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, or determine, without any such consent as aforesaid, that any
Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall not be treated as
such (provided that, in any such case, it is not, in the opinion of the Trustee, materially prejudicial to
the interests of the Noteholders or may agree, without any such consent as aforesaid, to any
modification which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a manifest or (to the
satisfaction of the Trustee) proven error.

Trustee to have Regard to Interests of Noteholders as a Class

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its trusts, powers, authorities and discretions (including,
without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation or determination), the Trustee shall have
regard to the general interests of the Noteholders as a class but shall not have regard to any interests
arising from circumstances particular to individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their
number) and, in particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of any
such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their number) resulting from
their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the
jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and the Trustee shall not
be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer,
the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of
any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders except to the extent already
provided for in Condition 7 and/or any undertaking given in addition to, or in substitution for,
Condition 7 pursuant to the Trust Deed.

Notification to the Noteholders

Any modification, abrogation, waiver, authorisation or determination shall be binding on the
Noteholders and the Couponholders and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, any modification or
substitution shall be notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter in
accordance with Condition 12.

INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TRUSTEE AND ITS CONTRACTING WITH THE ISSUER
Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking action unless indemnified and/or secured
to its satisfaction.
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14.2

15.

16.
16.1

16.2

16.3

17.

Trustee Contracting with the Issuer

The Trust Deed also contains provisions pursuant to which the Trustee is entitled, infer alia, (a) to
enter into business transactions with the Issuer and/or any of the Issuer's Subsidiaries and to act as
trustee for the holders of any other securities issued or guaranteed by, or relating to, the Issuer and/or
any of the Issuer's Subsidiaries, (b) to exercise and enforce its rights, comply with its obligations and
perform its duties under or in relation to any such transactions or, as the case may be, any such
trusteeship without regard to the interests of, or consequences for, the Noteholders or Couponholders,
and (c) to retain and not be liable to account for any profit made or any other amount or benefit
received thereby or in connection therewith.

FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time (but subject always to the provisions of these
Conditions and the Trust Deed) without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders to create
and issue further notes ranking pari passu in all respects (or in all respects save for the issue price and
the first payment of interest thereon), and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single
series, with the Notes.

GOVERNING LAW AND SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION
Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with
English law.

Jurisdiction of English Courts

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably agreed for the benefit of the Trustee, the Noteholders
and the Couponholders that the courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any
disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes or the Coupons and
accordingly has submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts. The Issuer has, in the
Trust Deed, waived any objection to the courts of England on the grounds that they are an
inconvenient or inappropriate forum.

The Trustee, the Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceeding arising
out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes or the Coupons respectively (together referred
to as Proceedings) against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent
Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably and unconditionally appointed Fleetside Legal
Representative Services Limited of 9 Cheapside, London EC2V 6AD as its agent for service of
process in England in respect of any Proceedings and has undertaken that in the event of such agent
ceasing so to act it will appoint such other person as the Trustee may approve as its agent for that

purpose.

RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to
enforce any term of this Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists
or is available apart from that Act.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE REPRESENTED BY
THE GLOBAL NOTES

The following is a summary of the provisions to be contained in the Trust Deed relating to the A Notes (the
A Notes Trust Deed) constituting the A Notes and in the Trust Deed relating to the B Notes (the B Notes
Trust Deed and, together with the A Notes Trust Deed, the Trust Deeds) constituting the B Notes and in the
Temporary Global Notes and the Permanent Global Notes (together, the Global Notes) which will apply to,
and in some cases modify, the Terms and Conditions of the A Notes and the Terms and Conditions of the B
Notes while the Notes are represented by the Global Notes.

1. Exchange

Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for
definitive Notes only:

(a)  upon the happening of any of the events defined in the Trust Deeds as Events of Default; or

(b) if either Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14
days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently
to cease business or does in fact do so and no alternative clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee
is available; or

(c)  if the Issuer would suffer a disadvantage as a result of a change in laws or regulations (taxation or
otherwise) or as a result of a change in the practice of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
which would not be suffered were the Notes in definitive form and a certificate to such effect signed
by two Authorised Officers (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer is given to the Trustee.

Thereupon (in the case of (a) or (b) above), the holder of a Permanent Global Note (acting on the instructions
of one or more of the Accountholders (as defined below)) or the Trustee may give notice to the Issuer and
(in the case of (c) above) the Issuer may give notice to the Trustee and the Noteholders, of its intention to
exchange the Permanent Global Note for definitive Notes on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below).

On or after the Exchange Date the holder of a Permanent Global Note may or, in the case of (c) above, shall
surrender the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. In exchange for the
Permanent Global Note the Issuer will deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal
amount of definitive Notes (having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already
been paid on the Permanent Global Note), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock
exchange requirements and in or substantially in the form set out in the Trust Deeds. On exchange of the
Permanent Global Note, the Issuer will procure that it is cancelled and, if the holder so requests, returned to
the holder together with any relevant definitive Notes.

For these purposes, Exchange Date means a day specified in the notice requiring exchange falling not less
than 60 days after that on which such notice is given, being a day on which banks are open for general
business in the place in which the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent is located and, except in the
case of exchange pursuant to (b) above, in the place in which the relevant clearing system is located.

2. Payments

On and after 7th December, 2004, no payment will be made on either Temporary Global Note unless
exchange for an interest in the relevant Permanent Global Note is improperly withheld or refused. Payments
of principal and interest in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will, subject as set out below, be
made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the
Notes, surrender of such Global Note to the order of the Principal Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent
as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purposes. A record of each payment made will be
endorsed on the appropriate part of the schedule to the relevant Global Note by or on behalf of the Principal
Paying Agent, which endorsement shall be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in respect
of the Notes. Payments of interest on a Temporary Global Note (if permitted by the first sentence of this
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paragraph) will be made only upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership unless such certification
has already been made.

3. Notices

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Notes are held on behalf
of Euroclear and/Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant
notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) for communication to the relative
Accountholders rather than by publication as required by Condition 11, provided that, so long as the Notes
are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, notice will also be given by publication in a daily newspaper
published in Luxembourg if and to the extent that the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so require.
Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the second day after the day on
which such notice is delivered to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) as
aforesaid.

Whilst any of the Notes held by a Noteholder are represented by a Global Note, notices to be given by such
Noteholder may be given by such Noteholder (where applicable) through Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg and otherwise in such manner as the Principal Paying Agent and Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg may approve for this purpose.

4. Accountholders

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Notes are held on behalf
of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as
the holder of a particular principal amount of Notes (each an Accountholder) (in which regard any
certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the principal amount of
such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes) shall be
treated as the holder of that principal amount for all purposes (including but not limited to, for the purposes
of any quorum requirements of, or the right to demand a poll at, meetings of the Noteholders and giving
notices to the Issuer pursuant to Condition 9) other than with respect to the payment of principal and interest
on the principal amount of such Notes, the right to which shall be vested, as against the Issuer and the
Trustee, solely in the bearer of the relevant Global Note in accordance with and subject to its terms and the
terms of the Trust Deeds. Each Accountholder must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg,
as the case may be, for its share of each payment made to the bearer of the relevant Global Note.

5. Cancellation

Cancellation of any Note represented by a Global Note and required by the Terms and Conditions of the
relevant Notes to be cancelled following its redemption or purchase will be effected by endorsement by or
on behalf of the Principal Paying Agent of the reduction in the principal amount of the relevant Global Note
on the relevant part of the schedule thereto.

6. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg

Notes represented by a Global Note are transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time
being of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as appropriate. References in the Global Notes and this
summary to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall be deemed to include references to any other
clearing system approved by the Trustee.

7. Denominations and Minimum Trading Amount

The Notes are in the denominations of €50,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 above €50,000. For so long
as the Notes are represented by a Global Note and the relevant clearing system(s) so permit, the Notes shall
be tradable in such denominations, subject always to the minimum denomination and trading amount of
€50,000. There is no assurance, however, that the relevant clearing system(s) will enforce the minimum
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trading amount. Definitive Notes (if issued) will be printed in denominations of €50,000 and integral
multiples of €1,000 thereafter.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, amounting to approximately €1,392,850,000, after deduction of
the combined management and underwriting commission and selling concession, will be applied by the
Issuer for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of existing indebtedness with Enel S.p.A.
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CAPITALISATION OF THE ISSUER

The following table sets forth the Issuer’s total consolidated capitalisation at 31st December, 2003 and 30th
June, 2004.

As of 30th As of 31st
June, December
2004 2003
Actual Actual
(unaudited) (audited)

(millions of euro)

Cash and cash equivalents, including intercompany pooled funds held

by Enel S.p.A. and restricted amounts™..............ccccceeirininiiiiiiieieeeee e 31.2 340.0
Short-term debt (including current portion of long-term debt) .........ccccecevverieennen. 1,414.8 8.5
Long-term debt (excluding current pOrtion) .......c..cceceeeeereerieerienieeneenieenieeeeseenes 478.7 936.9
Shareholders’ equity®:

Ordinary ShareS .......ceeoiiiiriieiie ettt et ettt 440.0 2,036.1

RESCIVES ..ttt aaaaaaaaaas 1,329.0 930.3

Total shareholders’ eqUIty™ ..........ccccoeiiiiiiiiiiiiieecee e 1,768.8 2,966.4
Total capitaliSAtION ......cc.eeiiiriiriieiiiiieiee ettt 3,662.3 3911.8
(1) The restricted amounts consist of €6.7 million held in a deposit account in favour of Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Economico

e Social (BNDES) as part of the collateral for the loan from BNDES (and which will be reduced over time as corresponding
repayments of principal are made under the BNDES loan).

2) The authorised share capital of the Issuer is €440,000,000. The issued and outstanding share capital of the Issuer is €440,000,000,
fully paid up, divided into 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par value €0.22 each. At 31st December, 2003, the share capital of the
Issuer was €2,036,100,000 divided into 2,036,100,000 ordinary shares of par value €1.00 each.

3) Excluding minority interest of €0.2 million.

There has been no material change in the capitalisation of the Issuer since 30th June, 2004.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER

Overview

T.E.R.NA. — Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. (hereinafter, Terna or the Company) is the
principal electricity transmission company in Italy, and is currently 50 per cent. owned by Enel S.p.A.
(hereinafter Enel). Terna owns a substantial portion of Italy’s electricity transmission grid which, according
to the Italian Energy Authority’s latest estimate of 11th January, 2001, accounts for 94.136 per cent. of Italy’s
transmission capacity (hereinafter, the Terna Grid). As of 30th June, 2004, the Terna Grid consisted of
38,585km of electricity lines, which included five 380kV connections (one of which consists of double-
circuit transmission lines), nine 220kV connections, one 200kV DC connection, one 400kV DC connection
and 295 substations. Through each of TSN — Transmissora Sudeste Nordeste S.A. (hereinafter TSN) and
Novatrans Energia S.A. (hereinafter Novatrans), both of which the Company acquired from Enelpower
S.p.A. (hereinafter Enelpower) on 31st December, 2003, the Terna Group holds two 30-year concessions
from the Brazilian Energy Authority (both of which expire on 20th December, 2030) for the construction,
development and operation and maintenance of 2,328km of 500kV connections and four substations in
Brazil (hereinafter, the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid).

Terna’s principal business is the operation, maintenance and development of the Terna Grid, based on
guidelines and directives of the Italian System Operator, the Gestore della Rete di Trasmissione Nazionale
S.p.A. (hereinafter the Italian ISO) (an entity wholly-owned and controlled by the Ministry of Economy and
Finance), which Terna reports in its financial statements as revenues from regulated activities in Italy. The
Company also offers certain other (unregulated) services in Italy including: (a) engineering, construction and
operation and maintenance services to Enel Group companies and third parties which own or use high and
very-high voltage power systems, (b) remote network management and control services and (c) support
structure and equipment housing services for the fibreoptic infrastructure of Enel Group companies and third
parties in the telecommunications sector. Since 31st December, 2003, the Company has been responsible for
the construction, development and operation and maintenance of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid, the final
portions of which began operations in April and May 2004, respectively.

Terna total consolidated revenues in 2003 were €871.8 million and Terna total pro forma consolidated
revenues in 2003 were €918.6 million. In 2003, the annual fees that the Company received for the operation,
maintenance and development of the Terna Grid (which is reported as revenue from regulated activities in
Italy), accounted for 89.7 per cent. of the total consolidated revenues and 85.2 per cent. of the total pro forma
consolidated revenues. In the same year, Terna’s other activities in Italy accounted for 7.5 per cent. of the
total consolidated revenues and 7.1 per cent. of the total pro forma consolidated revenues. In 2003, 5.1 per
cent. of Terna total pro forma consolidated revenues were represented by the receita anual permitida, the
annual fees Terna receives for the construction, development and operation and maintenance of the Brazilian
Subsidiaries Grid.

For the six-month period ended 30th June, 2004, Terna total consolidated revenues were €518,9 million.
Terna regulated activities in Italy, other activities in Italy and regulated activities in Brazil accounted for 82.6
per cent., 7.4 per cent. and 10.0 per cent. of this amount, respectively.

History and organisation
The Terna Group operates its Italian businesses through Terna.

In 1999, Enel established Terna as a wholly-owned subsidiary and, later in the same year, Enel transferred
to Terna all of its electricity transmission systems and assets that formed the Terna Grid (as it then existed)
while the management and operation of the national electricity transmission grid were entrusted to the Italian
ISO pursuant to Legislative Decree n. 79 dated 16th March, 1999 (hereinafter the Bersani Decree). The
Bersani Decree required the separation of the ownership and management of the national transmission grid.

This structure will change significantly in the near future as a result of the recent Law 290/03, as amended
by Law 239/04, and the implementing measures of the Decree of the President of the Council of Ministers
published on 18th May, 2004 (hereinafter the DPCM). Law 290/03 and the DPCM require the integration
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of the ownership and management of the Italian grid and place certain restrictions on the ownership of the
entity resulting from the integration as well as certain voting rights of the shareholders of the resulting entity.
See “Regulatory Matters—Changes to present regulation and future impact—DPCM”.

On 31st December, 2003, Terna acquired from Enelpower 99.74 per cent. of the issued and outstanding
shares of TSN and all of the issued and outstanding shares of Novatrans.

TSN and Novatrans, which were established in Brazil on 11th October, 2000 and 18th October, 2000,
respectively, have registered offices in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, and are responsible for the construction,
development, operation and maintenance of the part of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid for which each has
been granted a 30-year concession by the Brazilian Energy Authority.

In order to achieve a more efficient management of Terna’s financial structure, on 29th April, 2004, Terna’s
share capital was reduced, pursuant to Article 2445 of the Italian Civil Code, from €2,036.1 million to €440.0
million by means of (i) a return of capital in the amount of €1,200.0 million, (ii) the allocation of €396.1
million to “Other reserves” and (iii) the reduction of the par value of each ordinary share from €1.00 to
€0.22.

As a result of the 23rd June, 2004 initial public offering of Terna ordinary shares to retail investors in Italy
and a private placement with certain institutional investors in accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation S
under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Enel holds 50 per cent. of the outstanding shares
of the Company while the remaining 50 per cent. of Terna is publicly held. Enel, which is controlled by the
Ministry of Economy and Finance, is in a position to control Terna and to appoint the majority of its Board
of Directors, to influence its dividend policies and management and generally to determine the outcome of
any matter put to a vote of its shareholders. Terna is subject to the direction and coordination activity of Enel
pursuant to Article 2497 and subsequent provisions of the Italian Civil Code.

As a consequence of Italian laws and regulations providing for the integration of the ownership and
management of the Italian transmission grid and imposing certain restrictions on the entity that will own and
manage it, Enel is required to reduce its stake in Terna from 50 per cent. to not more than 20 per cent. by 1st
July, 2007. Nevertheless Enel formally announced its intention to reduce its interest in Terna from 50 per
cent. to as little as 5 per cent. by the end of 2005, market conditions permitting.

On 8th September, 2004, Cassa Depositi e Prestiti indicated that it is interested in acquiring a controlling
stake in Terna from Enel.
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BUSINESS

Electricity transmission networks and systems in Italy

Terna operates the electricity transmission business in Italy and is the principal owner of the high voltage
and very-high voltage electricity transmission networks and systems of the Italian grid. Based on the Italian
Energy Authority’s most recent estimate of 11th January, 2001, Terna owns approximately 94.136 per cent.
of the Italian grid.

Terna’s principal activities consist of the operation, maintenance and development of the Terna Grid pursuant
to the terms of the operating agreement entered into by Terna and the Italian ISO on 22nd December, 2000
(the Terna Operating Agreement), which allocates responsibilities as follows:

Italian ISO Terna

° Manages the flow of electricity over the . Owns the Terna Grid and operates the
Terna Grid Terna Grid in accordance with the

° Decides on activities related to the guidelines and directives issued by the

maintenance of the Terna Grid Italian ISO

o Makes proposals to, and implements the
directives of, the Italian ISO regarding the
maintenance of the Terna Grid

° Decides on development projects

o Implements the Italian ISO’s directives for
development project

Pursuant to the Terna Operating Agreement, the Company may engage in all the activities outside the
electricity sector which do not conflict with the conduct of the Terna Group’s principal business.

For its operation, maintenance and development activities, the Company earns revenues through an annual
fee paid to Terna by the Italian ISO. The revenues are derived from tariffs received by the Italian ISO from
producers and distributors. The tariffs received by the Italian ISO are calculated as an amount per kWh of
electricity that is (i) injected in the Terna Grid by the plants where it is generated or, in the case of imported
energy, by the points of acquisition from foreign electricity transmissions grids, and (ii) drawn from the
Terna Grid by distributors in Italy. The Italian ISO deducts an amount for its own costs from the payments
it receives and distributes the balance of the proceeds from the tariffs payments to Terna and other Italian
grid owners in the form of annual fees.

THE TERNA GRID
As of 30th June, 2004, the Terna Grid consisted of:

o approximately 10,900km of 380kV or 400kV (very-high voltage) connections, including those
connecting Italy and Greece;

° approximately 10,112km of 200kV or 220kV (very-high voltage) connections, including those
connecting Sardinia, Corsica and the Italian mainland;

° approximately 18,383km of connections of 150kV, 132kV or less (high voltage);
° 298 substations; and

° certain other fixed assets.
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The electricity transmission networks and systems which comprise the Terna Grid as of 31st December, 2002
and 2003, and as of 30th June, 2004, were as follows:

31st 31st 30th

December December June

Type of facility 2002 2003 2004
Primary transformer/switching substations ............cccccevveenieenieenne 257 277 280
Other substations" .........cccccceeeeeviiiveeeeeeeecnnnen. 18 18 18
Total substations ...............cccocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiicee e 275 295 298
TranSfOrMEIS .....cccveiieirieeeeiee et cete e et e e tee e e eraeeeeaneeeenes 554 565 566
Transforming capacity (in MVA) ...cooiiiiriinieeeeeeeeeeeen 101,493 107,485 108,382
BayS e 3,678 3,864 3,873
380kV (or greater) transmission lNes® ........cccceeveeiieniienneeniieennenn 10,062 10,073 10,090
220KV transmission 1iNES® ........ccccvivieeciieeiiiiee e 10,115 10,155 10,112
150kV (or less) transmission lines 17,406 18,349 18,383
Total transmission lines (in Km) ................ccccocooiiiiiiiiinc, 37,583 38,577 38,585
(1) Facilities owned by Terna which are not included in the Italian grid but connect the Terna Grid with high voltage customers or connect

long-distance overhead lines to underground or underwater cables. Although the Company believes that these substations are
necessary for the optimal performance of the Italian grid, the Company cannot be certain that all of these substations meet the
requirements for their inclusion in the Italian grid. Currently the Company do not receive an annual fee for these facilities. Includes
the 400kV Italy-Greece direct current (“DC”) connection.

2) Includes the 200kV Sardinia-Corsica-Italian mainland DC connection.

3) As of 31st December, 2001, the Italian grid consisted of a total of 42,650km of transmission lines. (Source: Italian ISO’s Report on
its business, April 2002—March 2003).

The general increase in the size of the Terna Grid between 31st December, 2002 and 31st December, 2003
is due mainly to the increase in the approved scope of the entire Italian Grid pursuant to the Ministry of
Industry’s decree of 23rd December, 2002.

The Terna Grid’s 38,585 km of transmission lines consists of, among other things, five 380kV connections
(one of which consists of double-circuit transmission lines), nine 220kV connections, one 200kV DC
connection and one 400kV DC connection. The 200kV DC line connects Sardinia, Corsica and the Italian
mainland, while the 400kV DC line connects the Italian Grid to Greece via the Otranto Channel in the
Mediterranean. Terna constructed the Italy-Greece connection, which is part of the Italian Grid, jointly with
the Athens Public Power Corporation (the Greek national power company). This connection began
operations on 27th June, 2002 and consists of 207km of electricity transmission lines (including 163km of
underwater cable). Terna owns the 400kV DC connection in Italy, underwater cables in Italian territorial
waters, part of the underwater cables in Greek territorial waters and the Arachthos switching station in
Greece. In 2002, Terna established a representative branch office in Greece to administer financial, legal and
tax matters related to this part of the Terna Grid in Greece.

The bonus/penalty mechanism

Pursuant to the Terna Operating Agreement, the quality of Terna service will be subject to a bonus/penalty
mechanism evaluated by the Italian ISO through an index representing the level of availability of the Terna
Grid components. Specifically, the index represents the number of hours per year during which a particular
component is made available to the Italian ISO for the performance of transmission and dispatch activities
compared to the total number of hours per year. The level of availability of the plants owned by Terna was:
for 2002, 99.5 per cent.; for 2003, excluding the blackout in September, 99.1 per cent.; and for the six-month
period ended 30th June, 2004, 99.5 per cent. (source: internal management estimate). However, the
bonus/penalty mechanism has not yet been applied to the Terna Grid (or any other portions of the Italian
grid) pending the definition of some parameters necessary for the application.
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Operation, maintenance and development of the Terna Grid

Operation

Terna operates the Terna Grid in accordance with the procedures and guidelines determined by the Italian
ISO in the following manner:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Plant management and control

The Italian ISO determines the configurations and sequences for the switches, known as “breaker
switches”, that connect the various components of the Italian Grid. Terna is required to take all
necessary actions to implement and maintain the configurations and sequences determined by the
Italian ISO, as applicable to the Terna Grid. Terna does this by managing and controlling the
transmission network and systems of the Terna Grid by the following means:

The plant management and control personnel are located in three management centres: Bari, Dolo
(Venice) and Rondissone (Turin). The plant management and control personnel are able to configure
and control the sequences for the breaker switches at remote locations on the Terna Grid through a
telecommunications network known as SCTI-Net (owned and built by Wind Telecomunicazioni
S.p.A. in collaboration with Terna using a fibreoptic technology platform known as E-Net), which is
supplemented by radio links and, to a limited extent, by connections provided by Telecom Italia
S.p.A.

SCTI-Net is also used to receive and transmit signals, measurements and data regarding the status of
the Terna Grid. This system of continuous monitoring is designed to promptly alert the plant
management and control personnel of any actual or potential malfunctions or failures of any part on
the Terna Grid.

Each of the three management centres is specifically responsible for designated parts of the Terna
Grid as follows:

° Bari: south-central region (Lazio, Umbria, Abruzzo, Campania, Basilicata, Molise, Puglia and
Calabria) and Sicily;

° Dolo (Venice): north-central region (Tuscany, Emilia-Romagna and Marches) and north-
eastern region (Veneto, Friuli Venezia Giulia and Trentino Alto Adige); and

° Rondissone (Turin): north-western region (Lombardy, Piedmont, Valle d’Aosta and Liguria)
and Sardinia.

If any of the management centres is temporarily out of service, the SCTI-Net system, through its
“multisite” software, automatically routes signals, measurements and data from the part of the Terna
Grid for which that management centre is responsible to another management centre which is then
able to remotely monitor and manage that part of the Terna Grid (in addition to those parts of the Terna
Grid for which it is specifically responsible).

Response operations

Terna is required to promptly respond to all hazardous conditions that arise from any failure or
malfunction of any part of the Terna Grid and, if possible, rectify such failure or malfunction.

Temporary placement out of service for maintenance

If a part of the Terna Grid is required to be temporarily placed out of service for maintenance or other
projects, Terna specialist personnel (i) implement certain procedures to create safe conditions for
maintenance or other projects to be conducted, and (ii) implement procedures for resumption of
service.
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(d)  Plant inspections

Terna’s personnel make plant inspections to monitor the technical conditions of the components of the
Terna Grid and to collect current information that is not automatically obtained through SCTI-Net.
These inspections also aim to ensure that the components are not subject to interference from
vegetation, construction by third parties, activities on or near the sites on which Terna networks and
systems exist and other potential hazards or activities that may cause a malfunction of the Terna Grid.
Inspections are conducted on a scheduled basis, and also when failures or malfunctions occur on the
Terna Grid.

Maintenance

Maintenance includes all the actions performed on the Italian grid and its components in order to preserve
or restore their effective and proper operations, without making changes to their technical or functional
characteristics (known as “routine maintenance”) or to renew or extend the useful life of any component by
making changes to its technical (but not functional) characteristics (known as “extraordinary maintenance”).
Terna is required to conduct routine maintenance and extraordinary maintenance of the Terna Grid and its
components in accordance with the Terna Operating Agreement.

Terna must obtain approval from, and follow the procedures determined by, the Italian ISO for:

(i)  routine maintenance activities which require Terna to temporarily remove from service parts of
the Terna Grid, or

(ii))  extraordinary maintenance activities. Before commencing such activities, Terna must present
to the Italian ISO the details of the proposed maintenance and an annual plan specifying which
components of the Terna Grid need to be removed from service and when this is planned to be
done. The Italian ISO decides on the maintenance to be carried out based on such proposals
and plans. If Terna fails to correctly perform the maintenances tasks assigned to it by the Italian
ISO, the Italian ISO may, at Terna’s expense, replace Terna in the performance of such tasks.
The Italian ISO can also impose a penalty that is proportional to the seriousness of such failure
by Terna. On 16th December, 2003, the Italian ISO approved the maintenance proposals and
the related unavailability plan for 2004 which had been submitted to the Italian ISO by Terna
on 24th June, 2003. In 2004, Terna budgeted approximately €67 million to cover the costs of
extraordinary maintenance activities relating to its own assets.

Terna is not required to obtain prior approval from the Italian ISO for maintenance related to safety issues
or routine maintenance that does not require Terna to temporarily remove from service components of the
Terna Grid. In general, Terna is required to temporarily remove from service relevant components of the
Terna Grid before commencing maintenance activities. As a result, Terna has developed methods and
procedures, and is the only company in Italy authorised to implement such methods and procedures, to
perform routine maintenance activities (such as the cleaning or the replacement of isolators or ground wires)
without placing parts of the Terna Grid out of service. Such procedures are known as the “live works”
methods of maintenance.

In the past, Terna conducted all its maintenance activities according to a predetermined schedule regardless
of the condition of particular Terna Grid components. Currently, Terna is gradually replacing this system of
scheduled maintenance with a new system known as “condition-based” maintenance which reduces the need
to temporarily place the Terna Grid or its components out of service by limiting maintenance activities to
situations where, among other things, the Terna Grid or its components have actually deteriorated or
malfunctioned. However, for this system to be effective in minimising maintenance action by Terna,
continuous, real-time updates are required for the status of each component of the Terna Grid. To achieve
this, Terna is gradually phasing in additional on-line monitoring systems and tools, which are already in
operation in its substations and will become operational on its transmission lines by the end of 2004.
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Development

Terna also engages in development activities related to the expansion and upgrade of the Terna Grid and
other parts of the Italian grid. These development activities can be categorised as follows:

Functional requirements and decommissioning The Italian ISO decides on the construction and
installation of new connections and new transformer or switching substations, upgrades of existing
facilities or the decommissioning of existing facilities. If such decisions relate to the Terna Grid, Terna
is directed by the Italian ISO to implement them. If they relate to other portions of the Italian grid,
contracts for such development projects are put out to tender by the Italian ISO. Up to 30th June,
2004, 13 out of 19 such contracts were awarded to Terna. For this type of development activity, Terna
receives an annual fee upon commencement of operations of the facilities which typically last for 20
years, in the case of transformer or switching substations, and 35 years, in the case of high voltage
and very-high voltage electricity transmission lines. In the case of the decommissioning of an existing
plant, the Italian ISO pays Terna an additional indemnity payment which is added to the annual fees
for the existing elements of the Terna Grid. For the 2004—2007 regulatory period, for those
development activities that have been approved by the Ministry of Industry, the Italian Energy
Authority has increased the rate of remuneration of new invested capital by 2 per cent.. This will
ultimately result in an increase of the amount of the remuneration that the Company receives for this
category of development activity. Between January 2002 and 30th June, 2004, Terna and the Italian
ISO signed 115 contracts for this type of development activity. In 2003, the Annual Fees increased by
€33.6 million, due to such development activities that have already been completed.

Legal and regulatory compliance. These are development activities undertaken to comply with legal
and regulatory requirements (including environmental laws such as Law No. 36/01 of 22nd February,
2001 (Law 36/01)) or decisions by governmental authorities. Pursuant to the Terna Operating
Agreement with the Italian ISO, Terna is required to present a plan for the required development
activities to the Italian ISO, and such plan must be approved by the Italian ISO before Terna may
commence such development activities. Each development project will be governed by a contract
between Terna and the Italian ISO, which will specify, among other things, the annual fee for
development activities payable to Terna, in addition to the annual fees for existing elements of the
Terna Grid. However, these annual fees are paid to Terna in monthly installments as an aggregate
payment. See “Regulatory Matters—Regulation under the Bersani Decree— Regulatory structure of
the transmission sector—The Terna Operating Agreement”. Prior to the execution of the Terna
Operating Agreement, Terna had spent €7.3 million on such development activities. From the
execution date of the Terna Operating Agreement to 30th June, 2004, Terna and the Italian ISO had
not entered into any contracts for such development activities as a result of laws or regulations that
have been issued or adopted since the execution of the Terna Operating Agreement.

Operational efficiency. These are development activities that are proposed by Terna and approved by
the Italian ISO. They relate to the upgrading of engineering systems with the objective of improving
the operational efficiency of the Terna Grid. The Italian ISO does not pay any fees to Terna for such
projects, as Terna should theoretically benefit through lower future costs in the operation of the Terna
Grid.

Modifications. These development activities originate from requests by third parties. These are
usually requests for Terna to remove or reduce any interference caused by parts of the Terna Grid to
local authorities or owners (e.g. on roads, highways or buildings). The projects must be approved by
the Italian ISO. The Italian ISO does not pay any fees to Terna for such projects; such projects,
however, may be financed through contributions from the relevant local authorities or owners.

Other businesses

In TItaly, Terna also offers certain unregulated services to third parties (including other Enel Group
companies). The services are provided in the following fields:
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° engineering, construction, operation and maintenance of high voltage and very-high voltage networks
and systems;

° remote systems for network management and control; and
o telecommunications services sector.

The Company reports the revenues from these services under the line item “Revenues from other activities
and other income in Italy”. For the year ended 31st December, 2003, this amounted to €64.8 million on a pro
forma basis, or 7.1 per cent. of Terna total pro forma revenues. The Company received 73.7 per cent. of this
amount from Enel Group companies. For the six-month period ended 30th June, 2004, Terna revenues from
these services amounted to €29.5 million and 5.7 per cent. of Terna total revenues.

Engineering, construction, operation and maintenance

Since the Bersani Decree, the gradual liberalisation of laws and regulations regarding the production and sale
of electricity in Italy has led to greater demand from independent power producers for services relating to
the engineering, construction, operation and maintenance of high voltage and very-high voltage networks
and systems for connection to the Italian grid or for activities designed to increase the connection capacity
of the Italian grid with the electricity systems of neighbouring countries, the so-called “merchant lines”. At
present, it is not clear whether these projects will proceed as they are still under evaluation by the Italian
ISO. If the projects do proceed, Terna will be remunerated by the project sponsor and the owner of the lines
on the basis of agreements executed with the latter.

The Company also provides engineering services both to other Enel Group companies and independent
power producers. Terna is often retained to provide construction services for engineering designs, including
as general contractor on behalf of project sponsors for various new “merchant lines” connecting the Italian
grid to foreign transmission networks.

Terna operations and maintenance services are, for the most part, provided to industrial companies or other
power companies that own high voltage and very-high voltage transmission networks and systems. Terna’s
principal agreement of this type is with Enel Distribuzione S.p.A. (hereinafter Enel Distribuzione), for the
operation and routine maintenance of the high voltage transmission lines owned or used by Enel
Distribuzione. Terna revenues from this agreement were €13.5 million as of 30th June, 2004.

Remote systems for network management and control

The Company plans to offer its know-how and expertise obtained from the remote management and control
of the Terna Grid, to assist companies with the operation and remote control of their electricity, water and
gas networks. In particular, the Company offers its SCTI-Net system and related services to assist such
companies in receiving and transmitting signals, measurements and other data (e.g., voltage or amperage in
the case of electricity networks, or pressure levels in the case of water and gas networks) for the continuous
control and monitoring of their networks from a remote location.

Telecommunication sector services

(a)  Installation, maintenance and development of fibreoptic cable networks

The Company offers to other Enel Group companies and to third parties, services for the installation,
maintenance and development of fibreoptic cables and network infrastructure.

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the Company provides these services to Enel Group
companies, including Enel.Net for the installation, maintenance and development of the fibreoptic
cables and network infrastructure for its E-Net system, as well as the maintenance of fibreoptic cables
and network infrastructure for Enel Distribuzione’s high voltage lines. Terna revenues earned from
these services for the year ended 31st December, 2003 were €5.7 million. For the six-month period
ended 30th June, 2004, Terna revenues from these services amounted to €4.0 million.
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(b)  Support structures and equipment housing

The Company leases out space on the Terna Grid for the installation of support structures (such as
towers, masts, poles, and other supports) for antenna systems and for the installation of
telecommunications housing equipment. The Company currently offers this type of service mainly to
Wind. Revenues earned from these services for the year ended 31st December, 2003 totaled
approximately €1.8 million. For the six-month period ended 30th June, 2004, Terna revenues from
this service amounted to €1.0 million.

Electricity transmission networks and systems in Brazil

Since 31st December, 2003, the Company has operated in the electricity transmission sector in Brazil
through TSN and Novatrans, Terna’s Brazilian subsidiaries.

Each of TSN and Novatrans is responsible for the construction, development and operation and maintenance
of the portion of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid for which it has been granted a 30-year concession by the
Brazilian Energy Authority. Each of the concessions expires on 20th December, 2030.

TSN and Novatrans must operate their respective concessions in accordance with their contrato de prestacao
de servicos de transmissao (contract for transmission services) (CPST) agreements with the Brazilian ISO.
TSN and Novatrans earn their revenues based on the respective annual fees determined by the concession
contract and increased annually to adjust for inflation pursuant to a resolution of the Brazilian Energy
Authority. As of 30th June, 2004, the portion of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid for which TSN holds a
concession, has an aggregate value of €204.6 million and consists of:

° approximately 1,050km of 500kV (very-high voltage) interconnections connecting the state of Goias
(at the Serra da Mesa substation) to the state of Bahia (at the Sapeacu substation); and

° four substations.

Commercial operations for most of the TSN transmission lines began in March 2003 and, for the entire
facility, including a static compensator and some minor 230kV interconnections, in June 2003.

The portion of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid for which Novatrans holds a concession, as of 30th June,
2004, has an aggregate value of €273.3 million and consists of five 500kV (very-high voltage)
interconnections totaling approximately 1,278km, which connect the state of Maranhao (at the Imperatriz
substation) to the Federal District (at the Samambaia substation). All these Interconnections are already in
commercial operation.

The connections on the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid play a major role in Brazil’s electricity sector, as they
connect the southeastern region of Brazil with the northern and north-eastern regions, areas with different
hydrological systems.

TSN and Novatrans both can use their own personnel and subcontractors.

TSN began reporting net revenues almost as soon as its portion of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid began
operations.

For the year ended 31st December, 2003, TSN reported net revenues of R$138 million. Novatrans began
producing revenues when the first segment of its portion of the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid began operations
on 3rd June, 2003. For the year ended 31st December, 2003, Novatrans reported net revenues of R$22.4
million. For the six-month period ended 30th June, 2004, TSN and Novatrans revenues amounted,
respectively to €28.5 million and to €23.2 million.

Research and development

CESI S.p.A. (CESI), one of Terna’s affiliates, maintains Terna’s research and development programme
pursuant to certain research and development agreements. The programme primarily aims to develop
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solutions to improve the efficiency of electricity transmission networks and reduce the environmental impact
of high voltage and very-high voltage transmission networks and systems.

Terna has invested the following amounts in such research and development activities: €0.7 million in 2002
and €1.0 million in 2003.

Terna’s innovative solutions have led to substantial improvements to the Terna business, decision-making
processes, technology and work methods.

Electricity market

The electricity market in Italy

According to provisional data published by the Italian ISO, consumption of electricity in Italy increased by
12.0 per cent. from 267.3 TWh in 1999 to 299.5 TWh in 2003, reflecting a 2.9 per cent. average annual
increase. In 2001, the Italian electricity market was the fourth largest consumer of electricity in the EU after
Germany, France and the United Kingdom. The demand for electricity in Italy in 2003 was 319.7 TWh, an
increase of 2.9 per cent. over 2002.

In the period from 2000 to 2003, the growth of demand for electricity in Italy outpaced the real Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate for Italy, as shown in the following table.

2000 2001 2002 2003

Growth in demand for electricity in Italy® ................ 4.4% 2.1% 1.9% 2.9%

Growth in the real GDP of Italy® .........cccccevveiennennen. 3.0% 1.8% 0.4% 0.3%

(1) Source: management interpretation of the “Italian ISO: statistical data year 1999 —2002” and “Revised data fiscal 2003”. The Italian
State Railroads consumption is excluded.

2) Source: Istituto Nazionale di Statistica (National Institute of Statistics) (“ISTAT”), “General Report on the Country’s Economic

Situation— Year 2002—2003".

In the coming years, the Company expects the growth in demand for electricity in Italy to continue to exceed
the real GDP growth rate, especially in light of the fact that per capita consumption of electricity in Italy is
still below the European average (in 2001, 5,262kWh per capita compared to the EU average of 6,792kWh
per capita). In particular, for the period 2003-2006, the Italian ISO estimates a 3.2 per cent. average annual
growth in demand for electricity in Italy.

Although there are minimal regulatory barriers to entry for the electricity transmission market in Italy, the
cost of major investments in network systems and assets has resulted in a limited number of new market
participants. However, as development projects for the Italian grid are increasingly put out to tender, there
has been, and will continue to be, a gradual increase in market entrants. Nonetheless, Terna’s leadership
position in Italy is unlikely to be threatened in the short to medium-term.

The electricity market in Brazil

The Brazilian electricity market is the largest in Latin America in terms of consumption. During the 1997-
2002 period (the latest period for which official data is available), the growth rate for electricity consumption
was approximately 9 per cent., with an average annual growth rate of 1.8 per cent.. More specifically,
electricity consumption in Brazil:

° in 2000, increased by 5.1 per cent. to 331.6 TWh;

° in 2001, decreased by 7.9 per cent. to 309.7 TWh as a result of a prolonged drought which severely
depleted the hydroelectric plant basin reserves in Brazil; and

° in 2002, increased by 2.5 per cent. to 321.5 TWh.
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From 1997 to 2002, electricity consumption increased from 294.7 TWh to 321.5 TWh. On 31st December,
2002, Brazil depended on hydroelectric generation for approximately 79.2 per cent. of its consumption
(source: Balango Energetico Nacional 2003 “The Ministry of Mining and Energy”). The Brazilian
Subsidiaries Grid is strategically relevant, because of the great distances between production and distribution
points and the different hydrological systems of Brazil’s various regions. The Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid

plays an important role in meeting Brazil’s electricity needs, as it connects the south-eastern region with the
northern and north-eastern regions.
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REGULATORY MATTERS

Supervision and regulation of the Italian electricity industry

The Ministry of Industry and the Italian Energy Authority are the entities in charge of the overall supervision
and regulation of the Italian electricity industry.

The Ministry of Industry is mainly responsible for the management (including the granting and revocation)
of concessions and authorisations as well as for establishing strategic guidelines for the development and
safety of the electricity industry. The Italian Energy Authority’s primary responsibilities include determining
tariff rates and access charges, issuing service quality-control guidelines, and protecting consumers’ interests
through mediation, arbitration, fines or other sanctions. The Italian Energy Authority is independent from the
Italian Government.

Regulation before the Bersani Decree of 1999

Until 1962, the production, transmission and distribution of electricity in Italy were essentially unregulated
activities. On 6th December, 1962, the Italian Government granted almost exclusive rights to produce,
import and export, transport, transform, distribute and sell electricity in Italy to a nationalised entity.

In 1992, the nationalised entity was converted into a joint stock company (societa per azioni) wholly-owned
by the Ministry of Economy and Finance and renamed “Enel S.p.A.” Under the regulatory framework of the
Italian electricity industry at that time:

° the Italian Government had the ultimate authority over the generation, transmission and distribution
of electricity. The government licensed such activities to Enel and to municipal electricity utilities;

° power generation was restricted to authorised producers who could only produce electricity for their
own consumption, for sales to affiliated companies or for sales to Enel; and

o the Italian Energy Authority determined the electricity tariff rates annually on an industry “cost-plus”
basis.

Regulation under the Bersani Decree

The enactment of the EU directive of December 1996 (Electricity Directive) led to further liberalisation of
the electricity industry in Italy. The Bersani Decree and subsequent legislation implemented the principles
contained in the Electricity Directive and sought to liberalise the electricity industry through unbundling the
integrated electricity industry into four different sectors: production, transmission, distribution and supply.
More specifically, the Bersani Decree and subsequent legislation provided for:

° Production. An increase of competition in the power generation sector. Italian legislation currently
prohibits any single company from producing or importing more than 50 per cent. of the total
imported and domestically produced electricity in Italy.

° Transmission. A requirement that each network owner transfers its own transmission assets to a
special purpose subsidiary. In addition, the Italian Energy Authority continued to be responsible for
determining the tariff system pursuant to which each entity owning electricity transmission assets of
the Italian grid is compensated. Also, the Italian ISO was established to act as system operator for the
electricity dispatching and management operations of the Italian grid.

° Distribution. The establishment of a new licensing regime for the distribution of the electricity and
the provision of incentives for the consolidation of electricity distribution networks within each
municipality.

° Supply. The liberalisation of the sale of electricity to consumers that meet certain consumption

thresholds (Eligible Consumers). The threshold level is currently fixed at 0.1GWh. The Eligible
Customers may directly enter into supply agreements with any domestic or foreign producer,
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wholesaler or distributor of electricity. The consumers that cannot meet this eligibility threshold
(Captive Customers), are required to purchase electricity from the distributor serving the area in
which they are located. The distinction between Eligible Customers and Captive Customers will be
valid until 1st July, 2004 (for business customers) and until July 2007 (for residential customers).
From July 2007, all consumers will be able to freely choose their electricity supplier irrespective of
their consumption.

In order to co-ordinate the overall functioning of the electricity market mechanisms following the above
developments, the Bersani Decree and subsequent legislation provided for the creation of several new
entities. In particular, the following entities were created:

The Italian ISO. The Italian ISO was established as a wholly-owned entity of the Ministry of
Economy and Finance, with the purpose of acting as a system operator for the electricity dispatching
and management operations of the Italian grid. Enel contributed to Terna, on a tax neutral basis, the
Terna Grid (as it then existed), to separate the ownership of the Italian grid from the activities of the
Italian ISO.

La Borsa dell’Energia Elettrica (the Power Exchange). The Power Exchange is the institution
through which producers, importers, wholesalers, distributors, the Italian ISO, other Eligible
Customers and the Single Buyer (as defined below) contribute to the determination of wholesale
electricity prices through a competitive bidding process. Since 1st April, 2004, the Power Exchange
has been fully operational.

Il Gestore del Mercato (the Market Operator). The Market Operator is the entity charged with
managing the Power Exchange.

L’ Acquirente Unico (the Single Buyer). The Single Buyer was established as a central purchaser of
electricity from producers on behalf of all Captive Customers. The Single Buyer and Eligible
Customers may freely purchase electricity, either through transactions in the Power Exchange or by
entering into bilateral contracts with individual producers or wholesalers. Since 1st April, 2004, the
Single Buyer has been fully operational.

Regulatory structure of the transmission sector

The Italian ISO

The Italian ISO is a joint stock company wholly-owned by the Ministry of Economy and Finance. Pursuant
to the Bersani Decree and other implementing legislation, the government awarded to the Italian ISO a 30-
year concession starting from 1st April, 2000, for the dispatching and transmission of electricity, including
the management responsibilities for the Italian grid. More specifically, the Italian ISO has the following
powers and responsibilities:

The Italian ISO dispatches electricity, ensuring the co-ordination between the producers, the Italian
grid, the networks connected thereto and of the services auxiliary to the electricity system, in order to
provide optimal control and management, and to ensure the efficiency, adequacy and safety of
electricity supply in Italy.

The Italian ISO establishes objective and non-discriminatory technical regulations regarding the
distribution of electricity, the engineering and operation of the Italian grid generation plants,
distribution networks, connection circuits and other transmission related activities.

The Italian ISO ensures that all users have free access to the Italian grid under equal conditions, in
compliance with the technical rules of the Italian ISO, the requirements of the Italian Energy
Authority and the policies of the Ministry of Industry.

The Italian ISO decides on the Italian grid maintenance and development activities that need to be
performed by the grid owners, in order to ensure the safety and continuity of electricity supply and
the development of the Italian grid. These decisions are made pursuant to a development plan
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prepared by the Italian ISO based on the input of the Italian grid owners and approved by the Ministry
of Industry.

° The Italian ISO imports and exports electricity through cross-border interconnections in compliance
with the directives of the Ministry of Industry and the Italian Energy Authority. The Italian ISO can
sell the imported electricity on the free market.

° The Italian ISO performs other activities such as the following:

° The Italian ISO purchases, sells and manages the bidding procedures for the assignment to the
Eligible Consumers of electricity produced from renewable resources, pursuant to CIP 6/92.
The Italian ISO is reimbursed by a compensation fund (which is ultimately funded by the final
consumers) for the negative difference between the revenues generated from CIP 6/92
activities and costs incurred in respect of such activities. Therefore, CIP 6/92 activities do not
have any net effect on the Italian ISO’s financial statements.

° The Italian ISO ensures that the plants which produce renewable electricity resources comply
with the criteria established by the legislation in force, and issues the appropriate licences and
certificates.

° The Italian ISO manages the ownership interest in the authorised share capital of the Single

Buyer and the Power Exchange.

° The Italian ISO provides the Power Exchange with the necessary information for the proper
performance of the bidding process.

For the year ended 31st December, 2002 (the latest period for which the Italian ISO has published financial
information available on its website, although such website does not form part of this Offering Circular), the
Italian ISO’s revenues were €6,215 million, which included:

o €2,712.5 million from electricity sales;
(] €2,081.9 million from the above-mentioned compensation fund;
° €885.1 million in revenues from tariffs paid by producers and distributors in relation to electricity

transmission operations; and
o €535.5 million from other activities.

Of the €885.1 million amount related to tariffs received by the Italian ISO from producers and distributors,
after retaining a portion to cover for its operating costs, the Italian ISO paid €776.4 million to the owners of
portions of the Italian Grid (including Terna).

For the year ended 31st December, 2002, the Italian ISO’s operating income was €41.3 million, its net
income was €11.2 million, its total shareholders’ equity was €67.8 million and its net invested capital was
negative €196.8 million. Based on a report on the activities of the Italian ISO from April 2002 to March
2003, on average, in 2002 the Italian ISO had 698 employees.

The By-laws of the Italian ISO permit it to:

° acquire interests in companies and businesses that operate in industry sectors that are related to, or
connected with, its business or which would permit a better use of its own resources and/or structures;
and

° enter into transactions or conduct any activities necessary or beneficial to carry out its corporate
purposes.

In order to manage the Italian Grid, the Italian ISO is required to enter into operating agreements with the
owners of the Italian Grid, in each case, based on the “framework agreement” set forth in Article 3,
Paragraph 8 of the Bersani Decree. Pursuant to certain developments described in more detail below, in
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addition to having management responsibilities, the Italian ISO may become owner of all or part of the
Italian Grid. See “Changes to present regulation and future impact” in this section.

The Terna Operating Agreement

The Terna Operating Agreement governs the operation, maintenance and development activities of the Terna
Grid and Terna’s compensation for such activities. Significant provisions of the Terna Operating Agreement
include the following:

Operation. The Italian ISO manages electricity flow through the Terna Grid, prepares operational
plans and gives Terna the switching orders necessary to operate the Terna Grid. Terna owns the Terna
Grid and operates it pursuant to the guidelines and directives of the Italian ISO. Terna may act
independently from the Italian ISO in emergency situations.

Maintenance. Terna prepares annual maintenance plans based on the conditions of the Terna Grid (as
well as the related system component temporary closure plans) and submits them for approval to the
Italian ISO. The Italian ISO issues the annual maintenance plan and Terna updates the Italian ISO on
the progress of its implementation.

Development. The Italian ISO makes decisions related to network investments and upgrades,
including all those relating to the development of the Terna Grid (i.e., changes in transport capacity
and/or geographical coverage, increasing flexibility, decommissioning or temporarily closing parts of
the network components and compliance with applicable regulations). Terna carries out the Italian
ISO’s instructions and performs development activities on the Terna Grid as required by the Italian
ISO. However, Terna must submit a technical and financial proposal for any requested development
activity for the approval of the Italian ISO. Development projects which do not relate to the Terna
Grid are assigned through public tender by the Italian ISO. See “Description of the Issuer—
Business—Electricity transmission networks and systems in Italy—Operation, maintenance and
development of the Terna Grid— Development”.

Indemnification for the decommissioning and the temporary closure of the plants. If parts of the Terna
Grid are decommissioned or temporarily closed, the Italian ISO pays Terna, as part of the annual fee,
indemnities based on the year-end net book value for the last fiscal period prior to 1st April, 1999, less
any subsequently recorded depreciation. Such indemnities are increased for Terna’s eventual costs
related to the decommissioning of the plants (less the amount of proceeds from the sale of the
decommissioned plant, or any component thereof, if applicable).

Remuneration. Terna receives annual fees from the Italian ISO for the operation, maintenance and
development of the Terna Grid. The annual fees are paid to Terna in monthly installments.

Applicable sanctions. If Terna fails to perform any of its functions for which it is responsible, the
Italian ISO may, at Terna’s expense, carry out such functions. The Italian ISO can also penalise Terna
based on the seriousness of such failure. However, the penalty may not exceed 10 per cent. of Terna’s
annual fee. Until the adoption of certain regulations under Law No. 481 dated 14th November, 1995,
any disputes regarding the interpretation and the implementation of the Terna Operating Agreement
may be submitted to an arbitration panel consisting of three members, one to be appointed by each of
Terna and the Italian ISO, and the third to be agreed upon between the parties. If the parties fail to
agree, the President of the Court of Rome shall appoint the third panel member. Once such regulations
under Law No. 481 are adopted, all disputes shall be submitted to the Italian Energy Authority for
resolution.

Changes to present regulation and future impact

The current regulatory structure is likely to change substantially in the future as a result of Law 290/03 as
amended by Law 239/04 and the DPCM (described below), which:

provides for the integration of the ownership and management of the Italian grid; and
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effective from 1Ist July, 2007, prohibits companies (including Enel) that are involved in the
production, importation, distribution and sale of electricity or natural gas, and any company
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the State, operating in the electricity transmission business, from
holding, directly or indirectly, more than 20 per cent. of the share capital of any company that both
owns and manages any part of the Italian grid or gas transmission network.

DPCM

On 11th May, 2004, the Italian Government issued the DPCM (subsequently officially published on 18th
May, 2004), which specifies the following implementing measures for Law 290/03:

@

(i)

(iii)

The Italian ISO must transfer to Terna (either by way of a contribution or a sale and purchase), for
consideration, all of its business, assets, active and passive legal relationships (including agreements
held by the Italian ISO) (the ISO Assets), by no later than 31st October, 2005 (the Transfer), except
for the following:

o any business, assets or employees related to (a) management of the electricity generated by
facilities subject to special incentives pursuant to CIP6/92, and (b) the activity of verifying the
qualifications of the facilities relating to renewable energy sources and issuing so-called “green
certificates” pursuant to the Bersani Decree, as well certain other related activities;

o the ownership interests held in the Market Operator and the Single Buyer; and

° any liabilities incurred by the Italian ISO prior to the Integration. In any event, the Italian ISO
is required to indemnify and hold Terna harmless for such liabilities incurred prior to the
effective date of the Transfer, although Terna has an obligation to mitigate such liabilities.

The Italian ISO and Terna shall agree on the ISO Assets and the consideration to be paid for the
Transfer. However, if the parties fail to agree by 30th April, 2005 on the ISO Assets and the amount
of consideration for the Transfer, and assuming it is to be effected by a sale and purchase (rather than
a contribution), the consideration shall be determined by three independent appraisers (having regard
to the market value). The Company cannot assure that the consideration paid by Terna or the value
attributed to the business, assets and employees that are the subject of the Transfer, will be recognised
in the tariff component related to the value of net invested capital (known as Regulatory Asset Base
or RAB). Also, on the date of the Transfer, Terna shall assume the ownership and the Italian ISO’s
obligations for the management of the Italian grid and each of the Italian ISO and Terna shall change
their respective corporate names.

The Italian ISO is required to prepare by no later than 31st December, 2004, a document entitled
“Network transmission, dispatch, development and safety code” (the Grid Code), which should
contain objective and non-discriminatory rules for the use of, and access to, the Italian grid with
respect to dispatching and management operations of the Italian grid. The Grid Code shall also
provide for the establishment (prior to the integration) of a technical consulting committee for the
users of the Italian grid. This committee will consist of a maximum number of seven members who
have the responsibility for (a) updating the rules and specifications contained in the Grid Code, and
(b) the resolution of any disputes arising from the application of such rules and specifications. The
committee may also express nonbinding opinions on the general criteria for (a) the development of
the Italian grid, (b) the development and operation of connections, and (c) security for the Italian grid.

The Grid Code (including the terms for the appointment and operation of the technical consulting
committee) is subject to the approval (including by acquiescence) of the Ministry of Industry and the
Italian Energy Authority.

The Italian Energy Authority will evaluate the mechanisms (including those related to tariffs) required
to facilitate the acquisition of the remaining portions of the Italian grid not owned by Terna by 30th
April, 2006. The Italian Energy Authority will also evaluate different mechanisms related to the
acquisition of Terna’s (or the resulting entity’s) shares by other owners of the Italian grid.
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(iv)

)

(vi)

The entity resulting from the Integration shall be operated in an objective manner without
distinguishing between users or types of users of the Italian grid. To this end, the By-laws will be
amended (prior to the earlier of Enel losing control of Terna and the integration) to provide for the
following:

° corporate purposes that are consistent with both the ownership and management of the Italian
grid;

o any company that is involved in the production, importation, distribution, sale or transmission
of electricity (or which controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, any such
company) and that owns more than 5 per cent. of shares of the resulting entity shall be
prohibited from voting shares, in the election of the resulting entity’s directors, exceeding five
per cent of the voting share capital in the resulting entity;

o within 60 days of the integration, the shareholders of the resulting entity shall elect a new board
of directors in accordance with the new By-laws and which consists of members that meet
certain standards of integrity and independence, to ensure that the Italian grid will be managed
objectively, without discriminating between users or categories of users. Such duly elected
board of directors shall remain in office until the date Enel reduces its shareholding in Terna to
no more than 20 per cent.; and

° no person except for the Italian Government or state or local authorities (or entities controlled
by any of them) may hold more than five per cent. of Terna’s share capital (which provision
cannot be amended for at least three years from the integration). In any event, a shareholder
who owns, directly or indirectly, shares that in the aggregate constitute more than five per cent.
of Terna’s share capital may not vote in relation to the excess shares. However, according to
Law 474/94, this limitation on holding more than five per cent. of Terna’s share capital does
not apply in the case of a public tender offer that has the purpose of acquiring the entire
outstanding share capital of Terna in accordance with Articles 106 and 107 of the Unified
Financial Act.

Also, prior to the effective date of the Transfer, the Ministry of Industry shall amend the concession
for electricity transmission and dispatching activities in Italy (which is currently held by the Italian
ISO), in order to better ensure the optimal functionality of such concession in light of the interests and
responsibilities acquired by Terna pursuant to the Transfer.

Article 4 of the DPCM provides that the privatisation of the entity resulting from the Integration
should also aim to ensure the stability and continuity of public utility services through the
participation of one or more committed shareholders. To this end, by 1st July, 2007, Enel must reduce
its ownership interest in Terna, or the resulting entity from the Integration, to no more than 20 per
cent. of the total share capital through (a) a demerger of Terna or the resulting entity, (b) the
declaration and payment of a distribution or dividend-in-kind in the form of shares of Terna or the
resulting entity or (c) the direct sale of shares of Terna or the resulting entity, in each case without
compromising the safety and cost objectives of the national transmission system. Upon the
completion of the above transactions, Enel may dispose of the remaining shares it holds in Terna or
the resulting entity, through objective and non-discriminatory procedures which are directed toward
wide distribution of those shares among public investors and/or institutional investors without
compromising the safety and cost objectives of the national transmission system.

The tariff system

Procedures used for calculating the tariff rates and Terna’s remuneration

Under current legislation, the Italian Energy Authority determines the tariff mechanism pursuant to which
the owners of the Italian grid (including Terna) are remunerated. Pursuant to Italian law, the Italian Energy
Authority, after consultation with grid participants, annually calculates the tariff rates based on certain
formulae and criteria it issues every four years (each a four year regulatory period). By law, the regulatory
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periods cannot be less than three years. The tariff rates and the remuneration of the owners of the Italian grid
are determined using the following procedure:

@) the Italian Energy Authority calculates the transmission tariff rates for the first year of each four year
regulatory period (subject to subsequent annual adjustments);

(i1)  the Italian ISO invoices, and Italian electricity producers and distributors pay the Italian ISO, the tariff
due for the transmission and dispatching activities on the Italian grid. A certain portion of the proceeds
from such payments is applied to cover the Italian ISO’s costs; and

(iii)  the Italian ISO distributes the remaining amount to the owners of the Italian grid (including Terna),
by way of the payment of annual fees.

Calculation of the electricity transmission tariff rates for the first year of each four-year regulatory
period and their adjustment in subsequent years

The electricity transmission tariff mechanism is designed to compensate the transmission companies for
costs directly related to their activities. Since the tariff mechanism is applicable to all the companies
operating in such sector, the Italian Energy Authority calculates the tariff rates based on the “allowed costs”
of the transmission sector, which in turn, are based on the average costs of the transmission companies.

In order to calculate the total allowed costs of the transmission sector, the Italian Energy Authority takes into
consideration the operating costs (mainly costs for outside services and work, payroll costs and costs
associated with the purchase of materials), the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and the
remuneration of net invested capital (RAB). Thus, with respect to the first year of each four-year regulatory
period, the Italian Energy Authority calculates the total amount of the allowed costs by determining:

° the amount of the operating costs;

° the amount of depreciation;

° the value of net invested capital (RAB); and

° the rate of return at which RAB is remunerated.

After calculating the total allowed costs, the Italian Energy Authority determines the transmission tariff rates
for the first year of each four year regulatory period in such a way that, based on the estimate of the expected
electricity consumption volume for the first year, the application of the tariff rates results in a tariff which in
the aggregate is equal to the total of the allowed costs of the electricity transmission sector. Finally, also in
the first year of each four year regulatory period, the Italian Energy Authority determines the yearly tariff
rates’ adjustment method which is applied in the second, third, and fourth year of each regulatory period, as
described in more detail below in “Adjustment of the tariff rates in subsequent years”.

Adjustment of the tariff rates in subsequent years

Pursuant to the calculation of the tariff rates for the first year of each four year regulatory period, the Italian
Energy Authority adjusts the tariff rates for each subsequent year by applying an adjustment mechanism (the
“price cap” formula) to certain components of the tariff rates. The price cap is calculated as follows:

P=1-X+Y + Z where:
° “P” is the price cap;

° “I”” is the average annual fluctuation rate of the consumer price index for the families of workers and
office employees recorded by ISTAT for the prior 12 months (i.e., the inflation rate);

o “X” is the annual reduction rate of the allowed costs for the transmission sector established by the
Italian Energy Authority for the entire four-year period (the so-called “productivity recovery factor”);
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° “Y” is the tariff fluctuation rate linked to costs derived from exceptional and unforeseen events,
changes in the regulatory framework and in the obligations related to providing universal service; and

° “Z” is the fluctuation rate linked to measures by the Italian Government designed to control the
electricity demand through the efficient use of resources.

Amounts due to the Italian ISO

Based on these tariff rates, producers and distributors in the Italian electricity industry pay the Italian ISO
for every kWh that is respectively input onto the grid and output from the Italian grid. The Italian ISO then
withholds from the aggregate proceeds of those payments, a certain amount to cover its own costs.

Payment for our services

After withholding the amount to cover its own costs, the Italian ISO pays Terna and the other Italian grid
owners the remainder of the amount that the Italian ISO received from electricity producers and distributors.
Pending execution of the framework agreement with the Italian ISO by all the Italian grid owners and despite
the terms of the Terna Operating Agreement described above, the payment owed to Terna is currently
calculated based on the assumption that Terna owns 94.136 per cent. of the Italian grid, a percentage
estimated by the Italian Energy Authority on 11th January, 2001. Therefore, the Italian ISO pays Terna
94.136 per cent. of the aggregate proceeds of the payments it receives, net of its own costs. However,
following the expansion and development of the Italian grid, this estimate is under review by the Italian
Energy Authority, and the Company expects it will be revised downward to a lower percentage.

When the framework agreement with the Italian ISO is eventually signed by all the Italian grid owners the
terms of the Terna Operating Agreement are likely to apply in lieu of the above method of calculation. These
terms provide for a detailed mechanism to calculate the annual fees for existing elements of the Terna Grid.

The Terna Operating Agreement provides that such fees shall be the sum of:

o a fixed component to cover operating costs, depreciation and remuneration of invested capital
(Terna’s share of the allowed sector costs); and

o a variable component linked to the level of the quality of the service, measured in terms of availability
of the Terna Grid (the bonus/penalty mechanism).

For the purposes of this calculation, the Terna Operating Agreement envisages a complex mechanism which
divides the Italian grid into separate grid elements and identifies such elements based on functional criteria
associated with transmission activity (e.g., the types of transmission line and of power station components).
For the first regulatory period 2000-2003, these grid elements were assigned annual unit fees that were set
by the Italian Energy Authority. These fees are due to be updated shortly for the 2004-2007 regulatory
period. The annual unit fees are intended to compensate Terna for its allowed costs. Therefore, the annual
fee related to the fixed component is theoretically obtained by multiplying the unit fees by the number of
grid elements owned by, or available to, Terna.

In addition, each grid element is then assigned a variable component which is determined by taking into
account the availability criteria established by the Italian Energy Authority. The availability criteria are based
on the number of hours that a grid element should be available during one year, as determined by the Italian
Energy Authority. If Terna in the aggregate outperforms the established criteria (i.e., its grid elements are
available for more hours than that established by the Italian Energy Authority), it receives a bonus. If Terna
underperforms, the variable component actually becomes a penalty which reduces the annual fee. As of the
date of this Offering Circular, the Italian Energy Authority has not yet determined the availability criteria.
As a result, the annual fees for existing elements of the Terna Grid are currently comprised only of the fixed
component.

In addition to the annual fees for existing elements of the Terna Grid, the Company is paid for its activities
in connection with development projects for the Terna Grid that relate to functional requirements and
decommissioning, and to legal and regulatory compliance. For most of these activities, the Company signs
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separate agreements with the Italian ISO, each of which assesses annual fees as compensation for our
services. However, these annual fees are paid to Terna in monthly installments. See “Description of the
Issuer—Business—Operation, maintenance and development of the Terna Grid—Development”.

Pursuant to the terms of the Terna Operating Agreement, Terna’s Annual Fees are subject to an additional
adjustment mechanism. The Terna Operating Agreement prevents the Italian ISO from paying the Italian grid
owners more compensation than the proceeds it has actually received. Therefore, in order to account for
possible discrepancies between the aggregate amount of the annual fee that is due to the various owners and
the overall proceeds that are collected by the Italian ISO, the agreement provides the fees due to Italian grid
owners may be increased or decreased by multiplying them by a coefficient k above or below 1. If the
amount due is greater than the available proceeds, k will be a number smaller than 1 and vice versa. This
adjustment does not apply to the portion of the fees related to development activities awarded through
competitive bidding and the indemnifications related to the plants’ decommissioning.

However, as stated above, the above mechanism for the calculation of the payment due to the Company is
not yet in force and Terna’s remuneration is currently calculated simply based on the assumption that the
Company owns 94.136 per cent. of the Italian grid. On the other hand, the tariff rates for the 2004-2007
second regulatory period were determined based on the formulae described above and based on the
following data.

The first regulatory period 2000-2003

In determining the allowed costs and tariff rates of the transmission sector for the first regulatory period
2000-2003, the Italian Energy Authority used the following criteria and data:

With respect to the calculation of the total allowed costs for the first year of the four year regulatory period:

° Operating Costs. For the purpose of calculating the operating costs, Enel’s operating costs for the
fiscal year ending 31st December, 1997 applied to 100 per cent. of the Italian Grid.

° Depreciation. For the amount of the allowed sector costs relative to depreciation, Enel’s book value
for fiscal year ending 31st December, 1997 applied to 100 per cent. of the Italian Grid.

° RAB. For RAB, the book value that the Italian Energy Authority had for the invested capital made by
Enel in 1997 calculated net of depreciation and certain other adjustments.

o Annual rate of return on RAB. An annual rate of return on RAB (“RR”) of 5.6 per cent.

With respect to the adjustment mechanism of the tariff rates for the subsequent years of the four year
regulatory period, the Italian Energy Authority applied the price cap to all of the components of the tariff
rates using the following data:

° For the years 2001, 2002, 2003, the fluctuation rate related to I was 2.1 per cent., 2.8 per cent. and 2.5
per cent. respectively.

° X. The annual cost reduction rate which had as an objective the reduction of the allowed costs of the
transmission sector was four per cent.

° Y. For 2001, the fluctuation rate of Y was zero. For 2002, the Italian Energy Authority set the rate at
a level to ensure an increase in the allowed costs of the transmission sector which was due to certain
upward changes in Terna’s invested capital which amounted to approximately €31 million. For 2003,
the Italian Energy Authority set the rate at 5.5 per cent., taking into account an increase in allowed
costs because of the enlargement of the Italian Grid, certain costs associated with the execution of
several international agreements regarding cross-border tariffs and certain costs related to expenses
incurred by the Italian Energy Authority in order to consolidate its own structures and organisation.

° Z. The rate for Z was zero throughout the applicable years of the first regulatory period (2001-2003).
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The second regulatory period 2004-2007

The criteria and data that the Italian Energy Authority applied to determine the allowed costs and the tariff
rates for the second regulatory period 2004-2007, are as follows:

With respect to the calculation of the total allowed costs for the first year of the regulatory period:

Operating costs. For the purposes of calculating the “allowed sector costs”, the operating costs will
be the sum of:

° the actual costs for companies operating in the transmission sector during 2001 applied to
2004, adjusted (i) upward, taking into account the percentage fluctuation of the consumer price
index and (ii) downward, by applying X (the annual cost reduction rate); and

° 50 per cent. of the productivity recovery greater than X during 2001 (calculated as the
difference between the average allowed costs and the actual costs for 2001) adjusted for the
amount of electricity demand estimated for 2004 and allocated to all the owners of the Italian
grid (known as “profit sharing”).

Depreciation. After it had performed a reassessment of the value of the Italian grid components and
a revision of their useful life, the Italian Energy Authority determined the depreciation component
used for the calculation of the allowed costs based on the amount of depreciation for year 2001. This
resulted in a reduction of the tariff component relating to depreciation.

The value imputed to RAB. To calculate RAB, the Italian Energy Authority added:

° the net value of the property plant and equipment for year 1997 (appropriately reassessed
utilising the revised useful life relative to depreciation);

° the net investments made in the 1998 —2002 period (appropriately reassessed);
o an appraisal of net investments made in the year 2003; and
° the value of net working capital (conventionally determined as one per cent of the value of net

invested capital) and certain other adjustments.

Based on this method (which resulted in an increase in RAB, and as a result, of the tariff component relating
to RAB), the Italian Energy Authority attributes to the entire Italian grid a value of €5.2 billion of which,
according to the preliminary calculations made by Terna, €4.9 billion can be attributed to the Terna Grid.
However, the above value does not constitute an appraisal of the market value of the Terna Grid.

Annual rate of return on RAB (RR). The Italian Energy Authority determined that the RR applicable
to the electricity transmission sector (before taxes) will be 6.7 per cent.. Furthermore, in order to
encourage the expansion of the Italian grid, the Italian Energy Authority decided that the RR for
development activities related to functional requirements will be two per cent higher (therefore, a total
of 8.7 per cent.). In order to receive this premium remuneration, such development investments must
be completed by 30th June of the preceding year. See “Description of the Issuer—Business—
Operation, maintenance and development of the Terna Grid—Development”.

With respect to the adjustment mechanism applicable in the subsequent years of the four year regulatory
period, the Italian Energy Authority decided that it shall adjust certain components of the transmission tariff
rates by:

applying the price cap only to the tariff rate components related to operating costs and depreciation
of the previous year, and in relation to this:

° setting the annual reduction rate X at 2.5 per cent. (I, Y and Z will be determined annually in
each subsequent year);

deciding that the price cap will not apply to the tariff rate component related to the RR; and
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° applying to the tariff rate component related to RR for the previous year:

o the annual investment deflator published by ISTAT;

o the expected volume of electricity demand in Italy;
° the change in net investments made during the previous year; and
°

the higher remuneration allowed for completed development activities.

In light of the differences listed above between the first and second regulatory period, the Company
estimates that the amount of the payment the Company will receive for 2004 will slightly increase as
compared to the payment the Company received for 2003.

Strategy

The Company goal is to continue to maximise value for Terna shareholders and employees, the end-users of
Terna Group transmission networks (including electricity producers and distributors) and the system
operators of the countries in which Terna Group conducts its business, by pursuing the following strategies:

° continuing to achieve operating excellence in electricity transmission businesses;

° pursuing selected growth opportunities in relation to the engineering, construction, operation and
maintenance of high and very-high voltage infrastructures in Italy and abroad; and

o managing Terna Group capital structure efficiently.

Operating excellence in Terna Group electricity transmission businesses

Terna Group plans to continue to achieve operating excellence in Terna Group electricity transmission
businesses by implementing the three strategic initiatives described below:

Increased efficiency

In order to maximise the efficiency of the Company’s operations, Terna plans to implement a number of
initiatives aimed at optimising the efficiency of the use of its resources, technologies and management
systems.

Resources. The Company plans to minimise its personnel and overhead costs by seeking the right balance
between employed personnel and outsourced services, and to increase the productivity of its employees by
enabling the wider use of information systems and work methods which rely on new and more efficient
technologies. The Company also plan to develop further its core managerial and operating expertise through
ongoing technical and professional training. Finally, the Company is committed to reducing its costs for
materials and services by introducing new technologies to reduce the overall volume of services required,
and through the increased use of e-procurement.

Technologies. The Company also plans to increase the use of cutting-edge technologies for its plant
operations, including digital plant management tools. The Company believes that such technologies can
improve the reliability of its plants and may therefore reduce the maintenance work and, in general, the
overall amount of resources required for its operations.

Management systems. Finally, the Company is working towards continuous quality and efficiency
improvements to its internal management processes, particularly through the use of integrated computer
systems that enable more streamlined decision-making and maintenance activities.

Optimisation of investment activities

The Company is currently in the process of increasing the use of “condition-based” maintenance processes
(instead of scheduled maintenance programmes), which the Company believes will lead to reductions in
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ordinary and extraordinary maintenance expenses and extend the useful life of its assets. Furthermore, the
Company intends to maximise returns on development projects awarded to the same Company by the Italian
ISO by improving cost controls and time-to-completion for its investment activities and efficiently balancing
internal resources and outsourced services for such activities.

Improved availability and reliability of Terna Group services

While the Company intends to achieve the efficiency improvements outlined above, one of its primary
strategic objectives is to maintain the availability and reliability levels on the Terna Grid required by the
Italian ISO and to ensure that the availability and reliability levels on the Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid are in
line with the levels contemplated by Terna Group bids for the Brazilian concessions. To that end, the
Company plans to improve the quality of its services by increasing the use of the “live works” method of
maintenance (which will reduce plant downtime and disconnections) by rationalising its scheduled
maintenance programmes and by continuously monitoring the quality of its service.

Pursuit of selected growth opportunities in Italy and abroad

The Company plans to pursue the following selected growth opportunities in Italy and abroad.

Development of unregulated activities

The Company intends to leverage its core competencies in the engineering, construction, operation and
maintenance of high and very-high voltage transmission networks by exploiting existing and future
opportunities that may arise as a result of the gradual liberalisation of the electricity sectors in Italy and
abroad. One example is the construction, operation and maintenance of transmission lines connecting the
Italian grid with other foreign grids, the so-called merchant lines, in partnership with private investors.

Opportunities arising from the restructuring of the electricity transmission sector in Italy

In light of Law 290/03, the Company believes that potential acquisitions of portions of the Italian grid that
Terna currently does not own, as well as the integration of the ownership and management of the Italian grid,
may generate opportunities for the creation of synergies. The Company considers synergies could be
achieved through, among other things, the rationalisation of fixed costs, the optimal use of the Company’s
territorial presence, greater co-ordination in the operation of the Italian grid and the planning and
implementation of maintenance projects.

Development investments

Furthermore, the Company intends to consolidate its leadership position among the Italian grid owners in
the engineering and construction field by seeking a greater market share of development projects put to
tender by the Italian ISO.

Selected international expansion

In order to leverage its existing assets, the Company plans to monitor closely future development
opportunities in Brazil, where over 12,000km of new lines are expected to be built by 2007. Furthermore,
the Company intends to evaluate projects to develop, and subsequently operate and maintain, electricity
transmission networks in foreign countries undergoing electricity sector privatisation, such as the countries
located in the Balkans region, where the service levels are currently substandard, and the countries located
in the Southern Mediterranean, where low electricity production costs may provide opportunities for the
development of transnational transmission infrastructures and electricity export activities.

Efficient management of Terna Group capital structure

The Company intends to continue managing its capital structure (as expressed by, among other indicators,
its debt-to-equity ratio) as efficiently as possible, also taking into account its expected cash flows from
operating activities, its current and future investment programmes, and the applicable tariff for its regulated
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activities for the period from 2004 to 2007 (as determined by the Italian Energy Authority). To that end,
during the course of the first half of 2004, the Company has increased its leverage in order to reduce its
overall cost of capital and bring its leverage closer to that of comparable companies and to the leverage
assumed by the Italian Energy Authority in its most recent tariff determination.

The Company has obtained from Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s a credit rating equivalent to Aa3 and AA-,
respectively, on a long term basis.

Furthermore, the Company intends to pursue a dividend policy that is in line with the policies of comparable
Italian and European companies operating in highly regulated sectors.

Environmental matters
Italy

The Company has taken the following steps to reduce the environmental impact of its operations and
facilities:

o the implementation of new engineering, planning and construction principles for new electricity
transmission networks and systems that improve the visual impact of its facilities, including the
design and installation of new tubular supports for transmission lines in residential areas;

o the promotion of competitions for designs that are sensitive to environmental concerns;

° the protection of the bird population through the monitoring of nests on its pylons in collaboration
with the Istituto Superiore di Sanita (National Institute of Health);

° the use of aerial topographical maps in evaluating the environmental impact of planned facilities; and

o the use of satellite mapping techniques for electromagnetic fields, in co-operation with CESI, Terna’s
research and development arm.

Brazil

TSN and Novatrans hold all material environmental licences required to carry on their businesses and to
install connections for electrical transmission networks.

As part of the licensing process, TSN and Novatrans are required to take certain measures (including the
provision of an environmental impact study) and to make investments in protected areas to offset the
environmental impact of their operations. The Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos
Naturais Renovaveis (the Brazilian Institute for Environment and Renewable Natural Resources, IBAMA)
determines the amount of the required investment and how and where such investment should be made. The
amount of the investment must be equal to at least 0.5 per cent. of the value of the total investments in a new
development project. As of 31st December, 2003, Novatrans had invested approximately 43 per cent. of its
required investment, while TSN had invested less than 1 per cent. of its required investment. TSN and
Novatrans are awaiting IBAMA’s further directions and specifications for the balance of their required
investments.

Health and safety
In order to protect its employees, Terna has implemented preventive health and safety measures.

Such measures provide for (i) the remote decommissioning of any segment of the Terna Grid and (ii) the
grounding of the transmission line or components, before maintenance or decommissioning projects are
commenced.
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Blackout of 28th September, 2003

On 28th September, 2003, an interruption of the electricity supplied via the Italian grid resulted in a blackout
throughout almost all of Italy which is currently the subject of inquiries in Italy and abroad. This blackout
was one of a number of major power outages in countries in Europe and North America during 2003 and
involved a local or regional imbalance between power production and consumption, with single failures
triggering a cascade-like shutdown of lines and power plants following overload or voltage problems.

On 9th June, 2004, the Energy Authority published a preliminary report that, while not making any definitive
finding regarding responsibility, raised the possibility that the blackout may have been partially attributable
to the conduct of a number of Italian generation, distribution and transmission companies. On 9th
September, 2004, the Energy Authority initiated a formal proceeding to determine whether any of the
companies identified in the report (including Terna) were actually responsible. At the close of the inquiry,
which is currently expected to take approximately five months, the Authority could impose pecuniary
administrative sanctions on, or request undertakings from, operators it holds at fault for the incident. The
Company believes that the blackout, given its intensity and nature, should be considered an unforeseen and
unforeseeable event. As a result, the Company does not believe it may be held liable for this event.

The Company cannot predict the outcome of these inquiries or the actions that may be required to be taken
as a result of related findings. Also the Company cannot predict whether the outcome of inquiries or of any
claim eventually brought against the Company based on such outcome will have a material adverse effect
on its financial condition and results of operation.

Litigation and arbitration proceedings

In the ordinary course of its business, as of 30th June, 2004, Terna is a party to approximately 900 civil and
administrative proceedings (almost 200 of which relate to claims of more than €250,000), both as plaintiff
and defendant, and some criminal proceedings. Terna is not a party to any arbitration proceedings. The
principal civil and administrative proceedings in which Terna is a party fall in the categories of annulment
of authorisations, damage to health and requests for modification of the location or operating conditions of
the Terna Grid, lawsuits related to easements, labour rights and lawsuits regarding non-payment for the
performance of contract work.

The Company has established a provision for litigation and contingent liabilities which, as of 30th June,
2004, totalled €12.2 million. This provision does not cover approximately 440 civil and administrative
claims brought against the Company for which the damages have not been quantified or in relation to which
the plaintiff's prospects are considered by the Company to be remote.

Due to their nature, the Company is not able to predict the ultimate outcome of the proceedings currently
pending against Terna, some of which may be unfavorable to the Company and may require the Company
itself to pay damages to the plaintiff(s), incur costs for modifying parts of the Terna Grid or temporarily
remove parts of the Terna Grid from service. However, the Company does not believe that a negative
outcome in any of these proceedings would compromise the operation of the Terna Grid as a whole and,
taken as a whole, the Company believes its provisions for litigation and contingent liabilities are adequate.

The Company does not expect the outcome of the pending proceedings to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations.
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MANAGEMENT

Terna is managed by a Board of Directors (the Board of Directors) which may delegate some of its powers
to an Executive Committee and/or one of its members. In addition, pursuant to the Italian Civil Code, Terna
has a supervisory body, the Board of Statutory Auditors (the Board of Statutory Auditors).

Board of Directors
General information

Terna’s Board of Directors is responsible for the management of the Company. Pursuant to the By-laws, the
Board must be comprised of not less than seven and not more than 13 members. Pursuant to Italian
privatisation law and Article 6.3 of the By-laws, the Ministry of Economy and Finance, in consultation and
agreement with the Ministry of Industry, may appoint (and, in the event of removal or resignation, replace)
an additional director without voting rights to the Board of Directors. Currently, none of the current directors
has been appointed in such manner.

With the exception of three non-executive independent directors elected on 16th September, 2004 and one
non-executive independent director who became a member of the Board on 12th May, 2004, Terna’s current
Board was elected by Enel at the general shareholders’ meeting held on 3rd March, 2004. Based on the By-
laws, the Board should remain in office until the approval of the financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2006. However, future amendments to the By-laws that will be added pursuant to the DPCM will
provide that, within 60 days of the Integration, the shareholders of the resulting entity will elect a new board
of directors in accordance with the new By-laws and such duly elected board of directors will remain in
office until the date Enel reduces its shareholding in Terna to no more than 20 per cent. of the outstanding
share capital. The directors hold office for three years and may be re-elected for subsequent terms. In
addition, future amendments to the By-laws mandated by the DPCM will prohibit any company (such as
Enel) that is involved in the production, importation, distribution, sale or transmission of electricity (or
which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, any such company), and that owns more
than five per cent. of the shares of the resulting entity from the Integration, from voting shares that exceed
five per cent. of the voting share capital of the resulting entity in the election of the resulting entity’s
directors.

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the Board of Directors is composed of the following ten members:

Name Position with Terna Year of initial appointment
Fulvio Conti ...coocvevviiiniiiiiiiiiniceicee Chairman 2004
Sergio Mobili .....oocceeviiiniiiniiiiciiee, Managing Director 1999
Claudio Machetti .....cccoeveveeerierieniienen. Director 2004
Massimo Romano .........ccceceeveeveenenenen. Director 2004
Paolo Ruzzino .......ccceevevvevvnienienienen, Director 2003
Salvatore Sardo ........cccceeeeevereierieniennene Director 2004
Davide Croff ......ccccoeevievierieiiieeen, Director 2004
Luca Arnaboldi ......cccocvevvevverierienienen. Independent non-executive Director 2004
Paolo Cantarella..........ccocceevercieriennenen. Independent non-executive Director 2004
Salvatore Machi........ccccoecveveneienieniennene Independent non-executive Director 2004

The current compensation committee comprises three members. The current internal audit committee
comprises three members.
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The table below sets forth Terna’s executive officers, who are not also directors, their ages, their positions
and the year they were appointed to such position as of October 2004:

Name Age  Position Employed at Terna since
Paolo Ricci ...cccoeveieiincne 63 Head of Engineering and Facility Maintenance Terna’s incorporation
Diego Bisci ..coceevevenennne. 62 Head of Facility Operation and Monitoring Terna’s incorporation
Fabio Todeschini ................ 44 CFO February 2004
Luciano Di Bacco .............. 48 Head of the Administration and Fiscal Department Terna’s incorporation
Filomena Passeggio ... 52 Head of Legal Department and Corporate Secretary Terna’s incorporation
Alessandro Fiocco .............. 37 Head of Communication, Public and Regulatory Affairs February 2004
Massimo Cioffi ................. 43 Head of Personnel and Organisation December 2003
Luigi Celani .......cccoeeveennee 56 Head of Purchasing and Contracting Terna’s incorporation
Alessandro Karlin 55 Managing Director of TSN and Novatrans April 2004
Fulvio De Luca.......ccccccune 43 Head of Audit February 2004
Pierfrancesco Zanuzzi ........ 34 Head of Business Development February 2004

Pursuant to the Italian Civil Code, Terna’s shareholders are required to elect a Board of Statutory Auditors.

The Board of Statutory Auditors must supervise Terna’s compliance with law and the By-laws, Terna’s
administration, the adequacy of internal controls and accounting reporting systems, as well as the adequacy
of provisions concerning information supply by Terna subsidiaries. At the annual general meeting, called for
the approval of Terna’s financial statements, the Board of Statutory Auditors must inform shareholders of
any irregularities found during the course of its supervision. In addition, the Board of Statutory Auditors
must promptly report all material irregularities to CONSOB, to the shareholders and to the courts. Pursuant
to the By-laws, Terna’s Directors are obligated to keep the Board of Statutory Auditors informed of material
activities and transactions carried out by Terna and its subsidiaries on an ongoing basis. Auditors are elected
at the shareholders’ general meeting for a three-year term, with the right of re-election. The Board of
Statutory Auditors’ remuneration for the entire term is also determined at the shareholders’ general meeting.

The current members of the Board of Statutory Auditors, who were elected by Enel at Terna’s general
shareholder meeting on 12th March, 2002, and will remain in office until the approval of the financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2004, are as follows:

Name Position Year of initial appointment
Giovanni Ferreri .......ccoccevvvveveeeviennennns Chairman 2002
Bruno Franceschetti ...........cccoceevevieennns Auditor 2002
Giancarlo Russo Corvace .........cccueeeneee Auditor 2002
Daniela GallucCi .....c.cocevveviveeciieniieniens Alternate Auditor 2002
Fabrizio Orazi ........ccccceeeevveeecveeeeiieeenns Alternate Auditor 2002

Pursuant to the By-laws, the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors will be elected based on a
cumulative voting system, whereby each shareholder or group of shareholders holding at least one per cent
of the shares with voting rights may propose a list of candidates for nomination to the Board of Statutory
Auditors.

In addition, under Italian securities regulations, the Company’s accounts must be audited by external auditors
appointed by the shareholders. The appointment is communicated to the Commissione Nazionale per le
Societa e la Borsa, or CONSOB. As of the fiscal year 2004, the Company’s external auditors for both
consolidated and non-consolidated accounts is KPMG S.p.A. Under Italian securities laws, listed companies
may not appoint the same auditors for more than three consecutive three year terms. The external auditors
issue an opinion that the Company’s financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects. Their
opinion is made available to the Company’s shareholders prior to the annual shareholders meeting.
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TAXATION

The statements herein regarding taxation are based on the laws and regulations in force in the Republic of
Italy (Italy) and the European Union as at the date of this Offering Circular and are subject to any changes
in law occurring after such date, which changes could be made on a retroactive basis. The following
summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations which may be
relevant to a decision to subscribe for, purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and does not purport to deal
with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers in
securities or commodities) may be subject to special rules.

Italian Taxation

The following is a summary of current Italian law and practice relating to the taxation of the Notes.
Prospective purchasers of the Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisers concerning the overall tax
consequences of their ownership of the Notes. Law No. 80 of 7th April, 2003 for the reform of the Italian tax
system was approved by the Italian Parliament on 26th March, 2003 and authorises the Italian Government,
inter alia, to issue, within two years of the entering into force of such law, legislative decrees introducing a
general reform of the tax treatment of financial income, which may impact the tax regime of the Notes, as
described below. Legislative Decree No. 344 of 12th December, 2003 published in the Italian Official
Gazette of 16th December, 2003, No. 261 (Ordinary Supplement No. 190), effective as of 1st January, 2004
introduced the reform of taxation of corporations and of certain financial income amending the Italian
Income Taxes Consolidated Code.

Tax treatment of the Notes

Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1st April, 1996, as subsequently amended, (Decree 239) provides for the
applicable regime with respect to the tax treatment of interest, premium and other income (including the
difference between the redemption amount and the issue price) from notes falling within the category of
bonds (obbligazioni) or debentures similar to bonds (titoli similari alle obbligazioni) issued, inter alia, by
Italian listed companies, provided that the notes are issued for an original maturity of not less than 18
months.

Italian resident Noteholders

Where an Italian resident Noteholder is (i) an individual not engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which
the Notes are connected (unless he has opted for the application of the risparmio gestito regime — see under
“Capital gains tax”, below); (ii) a non-commercial partnership; (iii) a non-commercial private or public
institution; or, (iv) an investor exempt from Italian corporate income taxation, interest, premium and other
income relating to the Notes, accrued during the relevant holding period, are subject to a tax withheld at
source, referred to as imposta sostitutiva, levied at the rate of 12.5 per cent. If the Noteholders described
under (i) and (iii) above are engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which the Notes are connected, the
imposta sostitutiva applies as a provisional tax.

Where an Italian resident Noteholder is a company or similar commercial entity and the Notes are deposited
with an authorised intermediary, interest, premium and other income from the Notes will not be subject to
imposta sostitutiva, but must be included in the relevant Noteholder’s income tax return and are therefore
subject to general Italian corporate taxation (and, in certain circumstances, depending on the “status” of the
Noteholder, also to IRAP — the regional tax on productive activities).

Under the current regime provided by Law Decree No. 351 of 25th September, 2001 converted into law with
amendments by Law No. 410 of 23rd November, 2001, as clarified by the Italian Revenue Agency through
Circular No. 47/E of 8th August, 2003, payments of interests, premiums or other proceeds in respect of the
Notes made to Italian resident real estate investment funds established pursuant to Article 37 of Legislative
Decree No. 58 of 25th January, 1994 are subject neither to substitute tax nor to any other income tax in the
hands of a real estate investment fund.
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Pursuant to Article 41bis, paragraph 9, of Decree No. 269 (as referred to below), a 12.5 per cent. substitute
tax on proceeds deriving from the participation in real estate investment funds is applicable to participants
qualified as Italian resident taxpayers or non-Italian resident taxpayers that are resident in a country which
does not allow for a satisfactory exchange of information with Italy. Such substitute tax could be applied as
a provisional or a final tax, depending on the status of the taxpayer.

Where an Italian resident Noteholder is an open-ended or a closed-ended investment fund (the Fund) or a
SICAV and the Notes are deposited with an authorised intermediary, interest, premium and other income
relating to the Notes and accrued during the holding period will not be subject to imposta sostitutiva, but to
a 12.5 or to a 5 per cent. annual substitute tax (the Collective Investment Fund Tax). The 12.5 per cent.
substitute tax is calculated on the net result accrued at the end of the tax period. Pursuant to Article 12 of
Law Decree 30th September, 2003, No. 269 (Decree No. 269), the 5 per cent. substitute tax on the net result
accrued at the end of the tax period applies, if: (i) according to the Fund management regulation or to the
SICAV by-laws, the Fund or the SICAV hold a participation of at least two thirds of their portfolio in small
or medium capitalised companies listed on EU Stock Exchanges; and, (ii) following the first year from the
application of this tax regime and during the subsequent years (with certain days of tolerance in each year),
the participation in small or medium capitalised companies is equal at least to two thirds of the portfolio of
the Fund or of the SICAV. For the purpose of Article 12 of Decree No. 269, a small or medium capitalised
company is a company with a market capitalisation not greater than Euro 800,000,000, calculated with
reference to the market price as registered in the last trading day of each quarter.

Where an Italian resident Noteholder is a pension fund (subject to the regime provided for by articles 14, 14-
ter and 14-quater, paragraph 1 of Legislative Decree No. 124 of 21st April, 1993) and the Notes are
deposited with an authorised intermediary, interest, premium and other income relating to the Notes and
accrued during the holding period will not be subject to imposta sostitutiva, but must be included in the result
of the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period, to be subject to an 11 per cent. substitute tax.

Pursuant to Decree 239, imposta sostitutiva is applied by banks, SIMs, fiduciary companies, SGRs,
stockbrokers and other entities identified by a decree of the Ministry of Economy and Finance (each an
Intermediary).

An Intermediary must (i) be resident in Italy or be a permanent establishment in Italy of a non-Italian
resident financial intermediary; and (ii) intervene, in any way, in the collection of interest or in the transfer
of the Notes. For the purpose of the application of the imposta sostitutiva, a transfer of Notes includes any
assignment or other act, either with or without consideration, which results in a change of the ownership of
the relevant Notes or in a change of the Intermediary with which the Notes are deposited.

Where the Notes are not deposited with an Intermediary, the imposta sostitutiva is applied and withheld by
any entity paying interest to a Noteholder.

Non-Italian resident Noteholders

Where the Noteholder is a non-Italian resident, an exemption from the imposta sostitutiva applies provided
that the non-Italian resident beneficial owner is (i) resident, for tax purposes, in a country which allows a
satisfactory exchange of information with Italy; or (ii) an international body or entity set up in accordance
with international agreements which have entered into force in Italy; or (iii) a Central Bank or an entity
which manages, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign State; or (iv) an institutional investor which is
resident in a country which allows a satisfactory exchange of information with Italy, even if it does not
possess the status of a taxpayer in its own country of residence.

The imposta sostitutiva will be applicable at the rate of 12.5 per cent. (or at the reduced rate provided for by
the applicable double tax treaty, if any) to interest, premium and other income paid to Noteholders which are
resident, for tax purposes, in countries which do not allow a satisfactory exchange of information with Italy.

In order to ensure gross payment, non-Italian resident Noteholders must be the beneficial owners of the
payments of interest, premium or other income and (i) deposit, directly or indirectly, the Notes with a
resident bank or SIM or a permanent establishment in Italy of a non-Italian resident bank or SIM or with a
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non-Italian resident entity or company participating in a centralised securities management system which is
in contact, via computer, with the Ministry of Economy and Finance; and (ii) file with the relevant
depository, prior to or concurrently with the deposit of the Notes, a statement of the relevant Noteholder,
which remains valid until withdrawn or revoked, in which the Noteholder declares to be eligible to benefit
from the applicable exemption from imposta sostitutiva. Such statement, which is not requested for
international bodies or entities set up in accordance with international agreements which have entered into
force in Italy or in the case of foreign Central Banks or entities which manage, inter alia, the official reserves
of a foreign State, must comply with the requirements set forth by the ministerial decree of 12th December,
2001.

Early Redemption

Without prejudice to the above provisions, in the event that Notes having an original maturity of at least 18
months are redeemed prior to 18 months from their issue date, the Issuer will be required to pay a tax equal
to 20 per cent. of the interest and other amounts accrued from the relevant issue date up to the time of the
early redemption. Such payment will be made by the Issuer and will not affect the amounts to be received
by the Noteholder by way of interest or other amounts, if any, under the Notes.

Capital gains tax

Any gain obtained from the sale or redemption of the Notes would be treated as part of the taxable income
(and, in certain circumstances, depending on the status of the Noteholder, also as part of the net value of
production for IRAP purposes) if realised by an Italian company or a similar commercial entity (including
the Italian permanent establishment of foreign entities to which the Notes are connected) or Italian resident
individuals engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which the Notes are connected.

Where an Italian resident Noteholder is an individual not holding the Notes in connection with an
entrepreneurial activity and certain other persons, any capital gain realised by such Noteholder from the sale
or redemption of the Notes would be subject to an imposta sostitutiva, levied at the current rate of 12.5 per
cent. Noteholders may set off losses with gains.

In respect of the application of the imposta sostitutiva, taxpayers may opt for one of the three regimes
described below.

Under the tax declaration regime (regime della dichiarazione), which is the default regime for Italian
resident individuals not engaged in entrepreneurial activity to which the Notes are connected, the imposta
sostitutiva on capital gains will be chargeable, on a cumulative basis, on all capital gains, net of any incurred
capital loss, realised by the Italian resident individual Noteholder holding Notes not in connection with an
entrepreneurial activity pursuant to all sales or redemptions of the Notes carried out during any given tax
year. Italian resident individuals holding Notes not in connection with an entrepreneurial activity must
indicate the overall capital gains realised in any tax year, net of any relevant incurred capital loss, in the
annual tax return and pay imposta sostitutiva on such gains together with any balance of income tax due for
such year. Capital losses in excess of capital gains may be carried forward against capital gains realised in
any of the four succeeding tax years.

As an alternative to the tax declaration regime, Italian resident individual Noteholders holding the Notes not
in connection with an entrepreneurial activity may elect to pay the imposta sostitutiva separately on capital
gains realised on each sale or redemption of the Notes (the risparmio amministrato regime). Such separate
taxation of capital gains is allowed subject to (i) the Notes being deposited with Italian banks, SIMs (Societa
di intermediazione mobiliare) or certain authorised financial intermediaries; and (ii) an express election for
the risparmio amministrato regime being punctually made in writing by the relevant Noteholder. The
depository is responsible for accounting for imposta sostitutiva in respect of capital gains realised on each
sale or redemption of the Notes (as well as in respect of capital gains realised upon the revocation of its
mandate), net of any incurred capital loss, and is required to pay the relevant amount to the Italian tax
authorities on behalf of the taxpayer, deducting a corresponding amount from the proceeds to be credited to
the Noteholder or using funds provided by the Noteholder for this purpose. Under the risparmio
amministrato regime, where a sale or redemption of the Notes results in a capital loss, such loss may be
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deducted from capital gains subsequently realised, within the same securities management, in the same tax
year or in the following tax years up to the fourth. Under the risparmio amministrato regime, the Noteholder
is not required to declare the capital gains in its annual tax return.

Any capital gains realised by Italian resident individuals holding the Notes not in connection with an
entrepreneurial activity who have entrusted the management of their financial assets, including the Notes, to
an authorised intermediary and have opted for the risparmio gestito regime will be included in the
computation of the annual increase in value of the managed assets accrued, even if not realised, at year end,
subject to a 12.5 per cent. substitute tax, to be paid by the managing authorised intermediary. Under the
risparmio gestito regime, any depreciation of the managed assets accrued at year end may be carried forward
against increase in value of the managed assets accrued in any of the four succeeding tax years. Under the
risparmio gestito regime, the Noteholder is not required to declare the capital gains realised in its annual tax
return.

Any capital gains realised by a Noteholder which is an Italian open-ended or a closed-ended investment fund
or a SICAV will be included in the result of the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period, to be
subject to the Collective Investment Fund Tax.

Any capital gains realised by a Noteholder which is an Italian pension fund (subject to the regime provided
for by articles 14, 14-ter and 14-quater, paragraph 1, of Legislative Decree No. 124 of 21st April, 1993) will
be included in the result of the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period, to be subject to the 11
per cent. substitute tax.

Capital gains realised by non-Italian-resident Noteholders from the sale or redemption of Notes traded on
regulated markets are not subject to the imposta sostitutiva.

Capital gains realised by non-Italian resident Noteholders from the sale or redemption of the Notes not
traded on regulated markets are not subject to the imposta sostitutiva, provided that the effective beneficiary:
(i) is resident in a country which allows a satisfactory exchange of information with Italy; or (ii) is an
international entity or body set up in accordance with international agreements which have entered into force
in Italy; or (iii) is a Central Bank or an entity which manages, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign
State; or (iv) is an institutional investor which is resident in a country which allows a satisfactory exchange
of information with Italy, even if it does not possess the status of a taxpayer in its own country of residence.

If none of the conditions described above is met, capital gains realised by non-Italian resident Noteholders
from the sale or redemption of the Notes not traded on regulated markets are subject to the imposta
sostitutiva at the current rate of 12.5 per cent.

In any event, non-Italian resident individuals or entities without a permanent establishment in Italy to which
the Notes are connected, that may benefit from a double taxation treaty with Italy providing that capital gains
realised upon the sale or redemption of notes are to be taxed only in the country of tax residence of the
recipient, will not be subject to imposta sostitutiva on any capital gains realised upon the sale or redemption
of the Notes.

Italian gift tax

Italian inheritance tax has been abolished by Law No. 383 of 18th October, 2001 in respect of gifts made or
succession proceedings started after 25th October, 2001. Transfers of the Notes by reason of gift to persons
other than the spouse, siblings, ascendants, descendants or relatives within the fourth degree will be subject
to the transfer taxes ordinarily applicable to the relevant transfer for consideration, if due, in respect of the
value of the gift received by each person exceeding Euro 180,759.91.

Transfer tax

Pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 435 of 21st November, 1997, which partly amended the regime
set forth by Royal Decree No. 3278 of 30th December, 1923, the transfer of the Notes may be subject to the
Italian transfer tax, which is currently payable at a rate between a maximum of Euro 0.0083 and a minimum
of Euro 0.00465 per Euro 51.65 (or fraction thereof) of the price at which the Notes are transferred. Where
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the transfer tax is applied at a rate of Euro 0.00465 per Euro 51.65 (or fraction thereof) of the price at which
the Notes are transferred, the transfer tax cannot exceed Euro 929.62.

However, the transfer tax does not apply, inter alia, to: (i) contracts entered into on regulated markets
relating to the transfer of securities, including contracts between the intermediary and its principal or
between qualified intermediaries; (ii) off-market transactions regarding securities listed on regulated
markets, provided that the contracts are entered into (a) between banks, SIMs or other financial
intermediaries regulated by Legislative Decree No. 415 of 23rd July, 1996, as superseded by Legislative
Decree No. 58 of 24th February, 1998, or stockbrokers; (b) between the subjects mentioned in (a) above, on
the one hand, and non-Italian residents, on the other hand; and (c) between the subjects mentioned in (a)
above, even if non-resident in Italy, on the one hand, and undertakings for collective investment in
transferable securities, on the other hand; (iii) contracts related to sales of securities occurring in the context
of a public offering (offerta pubblica di vendita) aimed at the listing on regulated markets, or involving
financial instruments already listed on regulated markets; or (iv) contracts regarding securities not listed on
a regulated market entered into between the authorised intermediaries referred to in (ii)(a) above, on the one

hand, and non-Italian residents, on the other hand; and (v) contracts for a consideration not exceeding Euro
206.58.

EU Savings Directive

On 3rd June, 2003, the European Council of Economics and Finance Ministers adopted a Directive on the
taxation of savings income under which Member States will be required, from a date not earlier than 1st July,
2005, to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar
income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State, except
that, for a transitional period, Belgium, Luxembourg and Austria will instead be required (unless during that
period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such
transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information
exchange with certain other countries).
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Credit Suisse First Boston (Europe) Limited, J. P. Morgan Securities Ltd., UBS Limited (together, the Joint-
Lead Managers), ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Banca Akros S.p.A. — Gruppo Banca Popolare di Milano, Banca
Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A., Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A., Banco Santander Central Hispano,
S.A., Banc of America Securities Limited, Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG, Bear, Stearns
International Limited, Daiwa Securities SMBC Europe Limited, Deutsche Bank AG London, Dexia Banque
Internationale a Luxembourg, société anonyme acting under the name of Dexia Capital Markets, Dresdner
Bank AG London Branch, DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main,
HSBC Bank plc, ING Belgium SA/NV, Lehman Brothers International (Europe), Mitsubishi Securities
International plc, MPS Finance Banca Mobiliaire S.p.A., Nomura International plc, RASFIN SIM S.p.A.,
Société Générale and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (together with the Joint-Lead Managers, the
Managers) have, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement (the Subscription Agreement) dated 26th October,
2004, jointly and severally agreed to subscribe or procure subscribers for (i) the A Notes at the issue price
of 99.624 per cent. of the principal amount of Notes, less a combined selling concession and management
and underwriting commission of 0.325 per cent. of the principal amount of the A Notes and (ii) the B Notes
at the issue price of 99.968 per cent. of the principal amount of Notes, less a combined selling concession
and management and underwriting commission of 0.225 per cent. of the principal amount of the B Notes.
The Issuer will also reimburse the Managers in respect of certain of their expenses, and has agreed to
indemnify the Managers against certain liabilities, incurred in connection with the issue of the Notes. The
Subscription Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances prior to payment of the Issuer.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S.
tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder.

Each Manager has agreed that, except as permitted by the Subscription Agreement, it will not offer, sell or
deliver the Notes (a) as part of their distribution at any time or (b) otherwise until 40 days after the later of
the commencement of the offering and the Closing Date within the United States or to, or for the account or
benefit of, U.S. persons and that it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells any Notes during the
distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales
of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this
paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Notes within the United
States by any dealer that is not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.

United Kingdom
Each Manager has represented and agreed that, except as permitted by the Subscription Agreement:

(a) it has not offered or sold and, prior to the expiry of the period of six months from the Closing Date,
will not offer or sell, any Notes to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons whose ordinary
activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or
agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and
will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers
of Securities Regulations 1995 (as amended);
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(b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue of the Notes in circumstances in
which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and

(c) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything
done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

The Republic of Italy

Each Manager has represented and agreed that the offering of the Notes has not been cleared by CONSOB
(the Italian Securities Exchange Commission) pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no
Notes may be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of the Offering Circular or of any other document
relating to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except:

(i)  to professional investors (“operatori qualificati”), as defined in Article 31, second paragraph, of
CONSOB Regulation No. 11522 of 1st July, 1998, as amended; or

(i)  in circumstances which are exempted from the rules on solicitation of investments pursuant to Article
100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24th February, 1998 (the Financial Services Act) and Article 33,
first paragraph, of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14th May, 1999, as amended.

Each Manager has further represented and agreed that any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution
of copies of the Offering Circular or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy under
(i) or (ii) above must be:

(a)  made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in the
Republic of Italy in accordance with the Financial Services Act and Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1st
September, 1993, as amended (the Banking Act); and

(b)  in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act and the implementing guidelines of the Bank of
Italy pursuant to which the issue or the offer of securities in the Republic of Italy may need to be
preceded and followed by an appropriate notice to be filed with the Bank of Italy depending, inter
alia, on the aggregate value of the securities issued or offered in the Republic of Italy and their
characteristics; and

(c)  in accordance with any other applicable laws and regulations.

General

No action has been taken by the Issuer or any of the Managers that would, or is intended to, permit a public
offer of the Notes in any country or jurisdiction where any such action for that purpose is required.
Accordingly, each Manager has undertaken that it will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes or
distribute or publish any offering circular, prospectus, form of application, advertisement or other document
or information in any country or jurisdiction except under circumstances that will, to the best of its
knowledge and belief, result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations and all offers and sales
of Notes by it will be made on the same terms.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Authorisation

1. The issue of the Notes was duly authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated
6th September, 2004 and 29th September, 2004 and the final terms of the Notes were approved by a
resolution (determina) of the Managing Director of the Issuer dated 12th October, 2004.

Listing

2. Application has been made to list the Notes on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. A legal notice
relating to the issue of the Notes and the constitutional documents of the Issuer are being lodged with
the Luxembourg trade and companies register (Registre de commerce et des sociétés, Luxembourg)
where such documents may be examined and copies obtained.

Clearing Systems

3. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The
ISIN for the A Notes is XS0203712939 and the Common Code is 020371293. The ISIN for the B
Notes is XS0203714802 and the Common Code is 020371480.

No significant change

4. Save as disclosed in this Offering Circular, there has been no significant change in the financial or
trading position of the Group since 30th June, 2004 and there has been no material adverse change in
the financial position or prospects of the Group since 31st December, 2003.

Litigation

5. Neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group is involved in any legal or arbitration
proceedings (including any proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware)
which may have or have had in the 12 months preceding the date of this document a material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Issuer or the Group.

Accounts

6. The auditors of the Issuer are KPMG S.p.A., who have audited the Issuer’s accounts, without
qualification, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Italy for each of the
financial years ended on 31st December, 2002 and 31st December, 2003.

The financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31st December, 2001 were audited
by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.

U.S. Tax

7. The Notes and Coupons will contain the following legend: “Any United States person who holds this
obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the
limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.”

Documents

8. Copies of the following documents will be available from the specified offices of the Paying Agent
for the time being in Luxembourg so long as any of the Notes remains outstanding:

(a)  the By-laws of the Issuer (with an English translation thereof);
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(b)

(©

(d)

the audited financial statements of the Issuer in respect of the financial years ended 31st
December, 2001, 2002 and 2003 and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer
in respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2003 (with an English translation
thereof). The Issuer currently prepares audited consolidated and non-consolidated accounts on
an annual basis;

the most recently published consolidated and non-consolidated audited annual financial
statements of the Issuer and the most recently published consolidated and non-consolidated
unaudited interim financial statements of the Issuer (with an English translation thereof). The
Issuer currently prepares unaudited consolidated and non-consolidated interim accounts on a
quarterly basis; and

the Subscription Agreement, the A Notes Trust Deed, the B Notes Trust Deed, the Agency
Agreement relating to the A Notes and the Agency Agreement relating to the B Notes.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON TERNA GROUP CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

Report of the independent auditors

To the Board of Directors of
T.E.R.NA.—Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.

1.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione
Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. (“Terna”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) as of 31
December 2003, the consolidated income statement and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and the related accompanying notes to the financial statements (herein collectively
the “Consolidated Financial Statements”). As described in note 2 to the financial statements, the
Consolidated Financial Statements differ from the original Italian consolidated financial statements of
the Group approved by the Board of Directors. These Consolidated Financial Statements are the
responsibility of the management of Terna. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards recommended by CONSOB, the
Italian Commission for Listed Companies and the Stock Exchange. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement and are, as a whole, reliable. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements referred to in paragraph 1 above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2003 and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting principles
described in note 2 to the financial statements.

We draw your attention to the disclosures made by the directors in the notes to the financial statements
on the following matters.

o As indicated in note 30, Terna is a defendant in certain lawsuits and is involved in other
uncertainties relating primarily to environmental and urban related matters, the outcome of
which could result in losses for the Group which at present are not objectively quantifiable.

. Note 14 discloses the effect of accounting for the extraordinary contribution due upon the
cancellation of the Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund, pursuant to Law 488/1999.

Rome, 10th March, 2004
KPMG S.p.A.

Bruno Mastrangelo
Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON TERNA S.P.A.’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS
OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003 AND 2002

To the Board of Directors of
T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.

1. We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete
Nazionale S.p.A. (“Terna” or the “Company”) as of 31 December 2003 and 2002, and the income
statements, the cash flow statements and changes in shareholder’s equity for the years then ended and
the related accompanying notes to the financial statements (herein collectively the “Financial
Statements”). As described in note 2 to the financial statements, the Financial Statements differ from
the original Italian financial statements of the Company approved by the respective shareholders’
meetings. These Financial Statements are the responsibility of the management of Terna. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audits.

2. We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards recommended by CONSOB, the
Italian Commission for Listed Companies and the Stock Exchange. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and are, as a whole, reliable. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

The Financial Statements referred to in paragraph 1 above present comparative data and information
as of and for the year ended 31 December 2001, which have been not audited by us. Accordingly, our
opinion does not extend to such data and information.

3. In our opinion, the Financial Statements referred to in paragraph 1 above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Terna as of 31 December 2003 and 2002 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the accounting principles
described in note 2 to the financial statements.

4. We draw your attention to the disclosures made by the directors in the notes to the financial statements
on the following matters:

. As indicated in note 30, the Company is a defendant in certain lawsuits and is involved in other
uncertainties relating primarily to environmental and urban related matters, the outcome of
which could result in losses for the Company which at present are not objectively quantifiable.

. The useful lives of high and very high power lines were reviewed during the year 2003, with
a consequent modification to the estimates of such lives and the depreciation rates of the assets.
These new rates have been applied from 1 January 2003. The rationale behind such change in
estimate and its effects are described in note 2.

. Note 2 discloses the effect of items recorded solely for fiscal purposes, regarding the
recognition of depreciation in excess of that required to write off assets over their estimated
useful lives, and note 14 discloses the effect of accounting for the extraordinary contribution
due upon the cancellation of the Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund, pursuant to Law
488/1999.

Rome, 10th March, 2004
KPMG S.p.A.

Bruno Mastrangelo
Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON TERNA S.P.A.’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS

OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2001

To the Board of Directors of
T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.

1.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete
Nazionale S.p.A. as of 31 December 2001, the statements of income, cash flows and changes in
shareholder’s equity for the year then ended and the related Notes thereto. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards recommended by CONSOB, the
Italian Commission for listed Companies and the Stock Exchange. Those Standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in paragraph 1 above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. as of
31 December 2001, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the accounting principles described in note 2 to the financial statements.

We draw your attention to the following matters, which are more fully described in the notes to the
financial statements:

(a)  asinprevious years, the Company has applied rates of depreciation within the maximum limits
permitted by tax regulations, which are higher than those necessary to allocate the cost of
tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful lives. The effects of such an accounting
treatment, which is permitted by the Italian regulations related to financial statements, are
described in the accompanying notes;

(b)  as provided for in Law 488 of 23 December 1999, the Company has opted to allocate the
extraordinary contribution due as a result of the cancellation of the Electricity Sector Employee
Pension Fund (“FPE-Fondo Previdenza Elettrici”’) over a period of three years, instead of the
period of twenty years, also provided for by the above law;

(¢)  asof 31 December 2001, the Company was involved in a number of ongoing disputes and other
situations of uncertainty, primarily regarding urban planning and environmental issues linked
to the construction and operation of plants and transmission lines. The settlement of such
disputes may lead the Company to incur charges that are at present not objectively
determinable.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.
Domenico Falcone - Partner

Rome, Italy
1 March 2004
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TERNA S.p.A.

BALANCE SHEETS AS OF 31ST DECEMBER, 2001, 2002 AND 2003
AND
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

ASSETS
Current assets ..........cccooeveevieeiiieeiiene e 650.2 840.4 816.7 608.5
— Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) .........ccceeuenne. 0.1 0.1 0.1 44.1
— Cash restricted for use (note 4) ......cccvveeeeeecnnnnenn.. - - - 6.6
— Intercompany pooled funds held by Enel
(NOLE 5) et 245.8 583.5 289.3 289.3
— Receivables, net:
— Third parties (NOte 6 ) ...ccceeveeevverierienienieeiene 346.1 193.5 182.8 190.7
— Enel Group companies (note 7) ......c.cceeeeneenne 30.9 30.7 20.2 20.2
— Subsidiaries (NOte 8) ....oeeevevrvriieeeeeiiiiieeeeeeenns - - 290.0 -
— Inventory and work in progress (note 9) .............. 15.2 17.2 27.7 34.9
— Accrued income and prepayments (note 10) ........ 8.8 13.6 4.2 4.9
— Other current receivables (note 11) .................... 3.3 1.8 2.4 17.8
Non-current assets.............ccoeeeeeveeeeirereeeireeeeereeeennen. 3,328.1 3,163.1 3,254.9 4,359.2
— Property plant and equipment, net (note 12) ........ 3,258.3 3,122.0 3,051.4 4,195.8
— Investments (note 13) .....ccccooveeeeiiiiiiiieeeceeinee. 1.6 3.5 159.7 3.5
— Intangible assets, net (note 14) ......cccceeveevveennnen. 34.8 - - 115.5
— Deferred tax assets (note 15) ......ccccoeveecvveeeennnnnn. 9.9 13.9 22.3 22.3
— Other receivables (note 16) ........cccceevveeevveeeennennn. 23.5 23.7 21.5 22.1
Total ASSELS.........covvvveeiieeiieiieie et 3,978.3 4,003.5 4,071.6 4,967.7
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TERNA S.p.A.

BALANCE SHEETS AS OF 31ST DECEMBER, 2001, 2002 AND 2003

AND

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)
(millions of euro)
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Short-term liabilities ................coccoooiniininiiniins 395.8 280.5 281.7 319.1
— Current portion of amounts due to banks
(MO 17) oo - - 6.8 8.5
— Current portion of third-party advances
(NOLE 18) oottt 47.1 12.6 17.2 17.2
— Trade accounts payable
— Third parties (note 19) ....cccceevevievienieneeene 124.5 100.4 126.7 148.6
— Enel Group companies (note 20) .......c..c........ 76.7 63.6 29.9 353
— Current portion of amounts due to Enel
(NOLE 21) et 53.0 23.7 21.6 21.6
— Taxes payable (note 22) ......cccceevervvenecneenenneenne. 5.8 48.9 34.7 40.2
— Accrued liabilities and deferred income
(MO 23) ettt 23.9 7.2 6.7 6.7
— Other current liabilities (note 24) ........cccevveeeunen.n. 64.8 24.1 38.1 41.0
Long-term liabilities ................ccccoooiniiiiinini, 1,201.1 1,268.6 1,256.0 1,682.2
— Long-term portion of amounts due to banks
(NOLE 17) oot 325.0 325.0 318.2 480.7
— Long-term portion of third-party advances
(MO 18) oot 28.7 36.3 30.5 30.5
— Trade accounts payable .........ccccoveeverierieneenenenne 1.3 0.8 0.8 0.8
— Long-term portion of amounts due to Enel
(NOLE 21) ettt 478.5 456.2 436.3 436.3
— Accrued liabilities and deferred income
(NOLE 23) ettt 91.0 147.7 142.7 148.0
— Employee termination indemnity (note 25).......... 73.1 75.7 70.7 70.7
— Deferred tax liabilities (note 26) ..........cccveeennen.. 138.3 151.1 159.3 417.2
— Contingent liabilities (note 27) ......cccceevveereeennnen. 65.2 75.8 97.5 98.0
Shareholders’ equity (note 28) ..........ccocceevveevieneennnnns 2,381.4 2,454.4 2,533.9 2,966.4
— Share capital, ......cccceceeeeiierieneneneneeeeeee 2,036.1 2,036.1 2,036.1 2,036.1
— Other IESEIVES .ooiiiveeireeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 283.8 330,0 374.0 374.0
— Retained earnings .........ccccceceeveeverienieneeneeeenn 0.2 0.2 0.3 335.7
— Interim dividend ........ccccoovvveiieiiiiiiee e, (6.7) - - -
— Net INCOME ....oovveiiiiiriiieeciceceececeee e 68.0 88.1 123.5 220.4
— MINOTIty INLETESE ...eevvieriiiaiiieiieeiie et - - - 0.2
Total Liability and Shareholders’ equity ................ 3,978.3 4,003.5 4,071.6 4,967.7
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TERNA S.p.A.

STATEMENTS OF INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED

31ST DECEMBER, 2001, 2002 AND 2003

AND

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

Operating revenues (note 33)

Revenues from regulated activities in Italy ................

Revenues from other activities and other income in

Operating expenses (note 34)

Salaries and benefits ..........ccoceevirviniiiiiiieiciiee
Raw materials and changes in inventories ..................
SEIVICES  oieuiiriiriieieeteete ettt sttt
Rental and lease eXpenses .........ccccceeveeeviienrieenieeninenn
Miscellaneous operating eXpenses ...........cceeceereeeenenn
Capitalized expenditures ..........ccccoceeeeeeieiecienieniennene.

Total operating expenses...............cccocveevieeecreenreennnnn

Gross operating margin .............c.cc.ccoeeeveeeieeiiiennenn.

Amortization, depreciation and other allowances

Amortization of intangible assets .........ccccceeveerieennnen.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(NOLE 35) ittt
Other allowances and write-downs (note 360) ..............

Total amortization, depreciation and other

aAllowances ..........cccoceviiniiniiiieen
Earnings before interest and taxes .........................

Interest iNCOME .....ooveevvreiiriiniienieeieeiereee e
INErest EXPENSE ..cocvverviiriiirieiiieeeeeeeeee et

Net interest income (expense) (note 37) ..................

Income from continuing operations ........................
Extraordinary expenses, net (note 38) .......cccccceeuenee.

Earnings before taxes and other posted items ........
Taxes (NOt€ 39) ..vvivviiieeiieeeee e

Net income before other posted items......................

Additional depreciation of property, plant and

CQUIPIMENT oevitieiieeieieeeeeeieerieeie et e setesieenteeneeeneeseees

Extraordinary contribution due upon cancellation of

FPE oo
Tax effect of other posted items .........cccceveeevieereeennn.

Total net effect of other posted items ......................

Net iNCOME .......oooviiiiiiiiiiiiee e
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2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)
(millions of euro)
738.5 755.0 812.1 806.8
54.2 74.8 65.0 65.0
792.7 829.8 877.1 871.8
164.5 165.9 163.8 163.8
14.4 18.9 14.4 14.4
114.1 99.9 90.4 90.4
15.3 13.8 14.5 14.5
16.9 17.3 15.8 15.8
(12.5) (14.8) (17.4) (17.4)
312.7 301.0 281.5 281.5
480.0 528.8 595.6 590.3
235.4 242.2 139.6 139.6
10.4 6.7 37.1 37.1
245.8 248.9 176.7 176.7
234.2 279.9 418.9 413.6
7.2 11.3 16.1 16.1
(48.8) (50.5) (51.2) (51.2)
(41.6) (39.2) 35.1) 35.1)
192.6 240.7 383.8 378.5
(2.6) 9.2) (15.0) (15.0)
190.0 231.5 368.8 363.5
(70.7) (93.8) (151.8) (143.1)
119.3 137.7 217.0 220.4
47.7) (45.1) (151.4) -
(35.6) (35.4) - -
32.0 30.9 57.9 -
(51.3) (49.6) 93.5) -
68.0 88.1 123.5 220.4




STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2001, 2002 AND 2003

Accelerated
Share Legal depreciation Retained Net
capital reserve reserve earnings income Total

(millions of euro)

Balance at 1st January, 2000.......................... 2,103.1 0.6 157.5 0.2 58.7 2,320.1
Authorized capital reduction due to

Euro conversion ..........ccccceevveevieeiieesireenieenne (67.0) 67.0 — - - -
Allocation of 2000 net income.............cvveen..... - 2.9 55.8 - (58.7) -
NEt INCOME  .veevvieiieeiieeiiecree e e eveeeereesere e - - - - 68.0 68.0
2001 interim dividend ..........cccceeiievieiinienieenns - - - - (6.7) 6.7)
Balance at 31st December, 2001 .................... 2,036.1 70.5 213.3 0.2 61.3 2,381.4
Allocation of 2001 net income...............cu........ - 34 42.8 - (46.2) -
Dividends ........ooeeevviieiiiieieeeeee e, - - - - (15.1) (15.1)
NEt INCOME  ..vevevreereeiieeieeeieeeree e e sereenereeenees - - - - 88.1 88.1
Balance at 31st December, 2002 .................... 2,036.1 73.9 256.1 0.2 88.1 2,454.4
Allocation of 2002 net income..............ccuu....... - 44 39.6 0.1 (44.1) -
Dividends .......ooovieeiiieiiieeiie e - - - - (44.0) (44.0)
NEt INCOME  ..vvveeiriieeciiiee e - - - - 123.5 123.5
Balance at 31st December, 2003 .................... 2,036.1 78.3 295.7 0.3 123.5 2,533.9
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED
31ST DECEMBER, 2001, 2002 AND 2003 AND
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
INEt INCOME ..vveenvieeiieeiieeeiee e erireeieeeieeeeeesaeeseneessne s 68.0 88.1 123.5 220.4
Depreciation and amortization ...........c.cceeceeveereervennen. 283.1 287.3 291.0 139.6
WIIE-AOWNS ..viiiiiiiieciie et 1.0 6.3 - -
Net change in reServes ......covceerieenieeieeerieeniee e 5.9 19.8 18.8 67.9
Net change in termination indemnity .............cceceeeueee.. 6.1 2.6 (5.0) (5.0)
Net loss (gain) on disposal of assets ........cccccceceeennenn. 0.4) 6.2 1.4 1.4

363.7 410.3 429.7 424.3

Change in working capital:
—(Increase) decrease in short-term receivables............ (240.4) 150.4 22.9 22.9
—Increase (decrease) in trade accounts payable and

other payables ......ccocveiivienieiieieeeee e 42.6 5.2) (21.3) (21.3)
—Change in other assets and liabilities ........................ 27.7 11.8 7.8 13.2
Cash flows from operating activities .................... 193.6 567.3 439.1 439.1
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Intangible assets .......occceeviiriiiniiiiiiieeeeeee - - - (115.5)
Property, plant and equipment ..........cccecceeeiierieenen. (190.9) (163.9) (221.8) (221.8)
Long-term invVestments .........cccceevveeereeeerieensueenieenennn 0.9) (1.4) (155.3) 0.8
Acquisition of subsidiaries’ non-current assets .......... - - - (449.3)
Acquisition of subsidiaries’ working capital .............. - - - 5.2
Cash flows used in investing activities .................... (191.8) (165.3) 377.1) (780.6)
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
New short-term 10ans ..........cccccceevveeeeiiieeciiee e, - - (289.8) -
Return of capital .......cccoeceevieniiniiiinienieieeeeeen - - - -
New medium and long-term loans .........cccceeeevvernenen. 250.0 - - 164.3
Repayment of medium and long-term loans .............. (57.0) (49.2) (22.4) (22.4)
Dividends .....c.oocvieiiiieiiieeieeee e (6.7) (15.1) (44.0) (44.0)
Total cash flows from (used in) financing

ACLIVILIES ....oovveiiiiiiccee e, 186.3 (64.3) (356.2) 97.9
Cash flOWS ........coocvvviiiiiiieeece e 188.1 337.7 (294.2) (243.6)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of

PEriod () .ooovviiiiiiieieceeee e 57.8 245.9 583.6 583.6
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period (*¥)

(SEE MOLE 5) .oocvviiiiiiiiccecceee e 245.9 583.6 289.4 340.0

(*) Includes intercompany pooled funds held by Enel
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) General

On 31st May, 1999, Enel established T.E.R.NA.—Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. (“Terna”)
as one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Later in the same year, Enel assigned substantially all of its
electricity transmission systems and assets to Terna, in response to Legislative Decree 79 of 16th March,
1999, “Application of Directive 96/92/EC on the common norms for the domestic electric power markets”
(the “Bersani Decree”). Pursuant to the agreement, Terna acquired the assets and assumed related liabilities
at book value under a neutral taxation regime. Terna owns over 90% of the electricity transmission networks
of the Rete di Trasmissione Nazionale (national transmission grid) (“the Italian Grid”), and is responsible for
the operation, maintenance and development of its portions of the Italian Grid (the “Terna Grid”) in
accordance with its agreement (the “Terna Operating Agreement”) with Gestore delle Rete di Trasmissione
Nazionale S.p.A. (National Grid Manager) (the “Italian ISO”).

On 31st December, 2003, Terna acquired from Enelpower S.p.A. (“Enelpower”), a subsidiary of Enel S.p.A.
(“Enel”), all of the issued and outstanding shares of Novatrans Energia S.A. (“Novatrans”), for €0.7 million,
and 99.74% of the issued and outstanding shares of Transmissora Sudeste —Nordeste S.A. (“TSN”), for
€155.5 million (in each case, including the shares required under Brazilian law to be held by a member of
management). Both TSN and Novatrans operate in the electricity transmission sector in Brazil through their
respective concessions to operate and maintain portions (the “Brazilian Subsidiaries Grid”) of Brazil’s
national electricity transmission grid (the “Brazilian Grid”). As a part of the acquisition, Terna assumed the
loan granted by Enelpower to Novatrans from Enelpower. As of 31st December, 2003, the principal amount
outstanding under that loan was €284.8 million, in addition to interest matured for an amount of €5.1 million.
The purchase price for each of these acquisitions was determined based on independent valuations obtained
by Enelpower and has been adjusted in April 2004 to reflect the net equity of the two subsidiaries at 31st
December, 2003. The resulting price adjustments were €6.0 million for TSN and €4.4 million for Novatrans.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Principles
Basis of presentation

The financial statements of Terna as of and for the years ended 31st December, 2001, 2002 and 2003 and the
consolidated financial statements of Terna and its subsidiaries TSN and Novatrans, presented in this Offering
Circular, have been prepared in accordance with Italian accounting principles. In particular, such financial
statements and such consolidated financial statements are derived from those prepared for statutory purposes
in accordance with Italian regulations governing their preparation, and apply the provisions of the Italian
Civil Code, interpreted and integrated, when necessary, by accounting principles issued by the Consigli
Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei Ragionieri (“Italian GAAP”). These financial statements and
consolidated financial statements differ from the original Italian Financial Statements as of and for the years
ended 31st December, 2001, 2002 and 2003 of Terna approved in the respective meetings of Shareholders
for the respective years, and from the consolidated financial statements of the Group approved by the Board
of Directors, for certain reclassifications, as follows:

o to classify assets and liabilities between current and non-current and short-term and long-term,
respectively;

o to condense certain categories of assets and liabilities and personnel expenses;

° to classify operating revenues by business activities;

° to reclassify capitalized expenditures from operating revenues to operating expenses;

° to reclassify additional depreciation charged by Terna for tax purposes in addition to the depreciation

rates estimated based on the assets’ economic useful lives and up to the allowed depreciation rate for
tax purposes. The additional depreciation charged by Terna was €151.4 million in 2003, €45.3 million
in 2002 and €47.7 million in 2001;
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° to reclassify the annual amounts paid as extraordinary contributions due to the cancellation of the
Electricity Sector Employee Pension Provision (FPE), pursuant to Law No. 488 of 23rd December,
1999, amounting to €35.4 million and €35.6 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, originally
classified as extraordinary items; and

° to reclassify the tax effect related to the reclassified additional depreciation and extraordinary
contribution. The tax effect has been determined by applying the income tax rate (34% IRPEG for
2003, 36% for 2001 and 2002) and the corporate tax rate (4.25% IRAP for 2003, 2002 and 2001) to
the additional depreciation charges and only the income tax (IRPEG) to the extraordinary
contributions (FPE). The tax effect of the above mentioned entries was €57.9 million in 2003, €30.9
million in 2002 and €32.0 million in 2001.

Such reclassifications consist primarily of changes in the format of the balance sheets and income statements
and the elimination of certain nonmaterial information.

Financial statements accounting principles

The accounting principles used in the preparation of the Terna financial statements as of and for the years
ended 31st December, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are consistent. The most significant principles are illustrated
below.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and reflect residual amounts of investments whose economic life spans
over several years. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected economic
useful lives of the assets. Start-up and organization costs are amortized over a five-year period and have been
fully amortized as of 31st December, 2003. The extraordinary contribution paid in 2000, 2001 and 2002 upon
suppression of the Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund, pursuant to Law No. 488 of 23rd December,
1999 (2000 Budget Law) was amortized by Terna over three years, instead of the other option of amortizing
the contribution over 20 years, also permitted by the law.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are recorded at cost of purchase or production cost, inclusive of any additional expense
incurred and of revaluations made by Enel, as transferor of the business unit relating to the Terna Grid, in
accordance with specific laws.

The value of tangible assets excludes costs incurred in maintaining or restoring the state of efficiency and
proper functioning of plants. Since these costs do not affect the magnitude of the actual or potential capacity
of the plants, such costs are expensed as incurred.

In the event of permanent impairment in value, the assets are written-down to their respective recoverable
value. If the circumstances for a write-down no longer exist, the book value is increased to the original
amount, net of depreciation.



Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method over their expected useful lives, as
specified below.

Depreciation rates:

2001 2002 2003 2003

Fiscal

Economic Useful Life Life

Buildings and real estate ...........cccccevviiiiieniienieenn. 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 3.00%

POWer [INeS ...coeevviiiiiiiiiiiiciccece e 2.85% 2.85% 2.50% 4.00%

Switching substation:

— electrical eqUIpMENt .....cccevvevieriieiieieeeeee 5.00% 5.00% 2.38% 7.00%

— other electrical equipment ..........ccceeeeviereeneenenne 5.00% 5.00% 3.13% 7.00%

— automation and control SyStem ...........ccccceeveeenueennne. 10.00% 10.00% 6.70% 10.00%
Central systems for management and control:

— CQUIPIMENL .eeeeiiieiieiieieeitesitentee et e b b 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 9.00%

— electronics/COMPULETS .......cocvevveerieereerierienieenieeienes 20.00% 20.00% 10.00% 20.00%

OLNETS oottt 14.00% 14.00% 14.00% 16.00%

The above rates are reduced by half for assets acquired during the year.

The economic depreciation rates used until 2002 for Terna’s high voltage and very high voltage plants were
determined in 1994 by a special Enel working group.

Recent diagnostic methods, used in conjunction with sophisticated calculation tools, made possible a more
accurate determination of the plants’ technical condition. Therefore, the economic depreciation rates were
revised in order to better reflect the estimated economic useful life of the facilities. The analysis performed,
based on specific factors such as preventive maintenance and improved reliability of the components,
resulted in the extension of the assets’ economic useful lives, specifically with regards to the plants forming
the Terna Grid (lines and stations) and the linked facilities (remote management and control).

The new economic depreciation rates were used starting 1st January, 2003. The revised economic rates
resulted in a €104.2 million decrease in 2003 economic depreciation, gross of the theoretical tax effect of
€39.9 million, compared with the economic depreciation that would have occurred had the prior years’ rates
been applied. The comparability of the tangible assets’ economic depreciation percentages for years 2001,
2002 and 2003 and the amount of future years’ economic depreciation are influenced by this change in the
expected economic useful lives.

In addition, as permitted by applicable law for financial statements, and in application of tax regulations,
Terna depreciates utility plant over prescribed fiscal tax lives which are shorter than the economic useful
lives (“additional depreciation”) and doubles the fiscal depreciation in the first three years an asset is placed
in service (“‘accelerated depreciation”).

In accordance with Accounting Principle No. 25 of the Consigli Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei
Ragionieri, accelerated depreciation is credited directly to a nondistributable shareholders’ equity reserve as
an appropriation of earnings, without impact on the income statement or the carrying amount of plant,
property or equipment, at the time of the annual shareholders’ meeting in the following year, while the
current tax benefit and related deferred tax amount are accrued in the income statement of the period to
which the accelerated depreciation charge relates.

Accelerated depreciation accumulated up to 1999 was reclassified in 2000 to a specific undistributable
reserve, net of the related tax effect. The reserve is progressively transferred to other available equity reserve
upon taxation of the said accelerated depreciation charges.



Financial assets— Equity investments

Equity investments in subsidiaries and in other companies are accounted for under the cost method. The
investment is written-down in the event of a permanent impairment in value and restored in the event that
conditions for such impairment cease to exist. The revaluation is recognized in the income statement as a
write-up.

Inventories

Raw materials, auxiliary and consumption goods used in the operation of plant and equipment are valued at
their purchase price calculated by the weighted average method. Obsolete or slow moving inventories are
written-down to their estimated realizable value.

“Contract work in progress” is valued on the basis of agreed contractual amounts, if those amounts can be
determined with reasonable certainty, according to the “percentage-of-completion” method.

Advances received from customers for contractual work not yet completed are recorded as deferred revenue.

Receivables

Receivables are recorded at their expected net recoverable value and are classified among “Non-current
assets” and “Current assets”, according to their use and to the nature of the debtor.

Accruals and deferrals

Accruals and deferrals are recorded based on the accrual method of accounting.

Contingent Liabilities
Provisions for retirement benefits

The provision includes compensation payable in lieu of notice to existing personnel pursuant to
collective bargaining agreements and union agreements currently in force.

Provisions for risks and charges

These provisions are recorded against known or probable losses and charges for which the amount
and timing is undetermined at the balance sheet date. The amount recorded reflects the best possible
estimate based on available information.

Provision for employee termination indemnities

The provision is in compliance with the law and collective bargaining agreements in force as of the
balance sheet date, and reflects the liability accrued toward employees as of the balance sheet date,
net of advances made, pursuant to law, as well as contributions made to the Fondo Pensioni Gruppo
Enel (“Fondenel”).

Accounts payable

Accounts payable are stated at face value.

Statements of Income

Costs and revenues are recognized on an accrual basis.
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Revenues

Annual fees for the utilization of the Terna Grid are recorded in accordance with the method set forth in the
Terna Operating Agreement with the Italian ISO and determined based on the tariff set by the AEEG, the
Italian Energy Authority (the “Italian Energy Authority”). Specifically, for the operation, maintenance and
development activities performed on the basis of the Terna Operating Agreement, the Italian ISO pays Terna
an annual fee (to cover operating costs and depreciation and as a return on the net invested capital) paid in
monthly installments, as determined by Resolution No. 228/01 of the Italian Energy Authority. In summary,
the amount of the fee paid by the Italian ISO to each owner of a part of the Italian Grid essentially depends
on, other than the percentage owned, two factors: tariffs, determined by the Italian Energy Authority on the
basis of allowed costs (operating costs and depreciation) and the remuneration for invested capital; and
volumes of energy dispatched through the Italian Grid.

Other revenues are recorded at the time services are provided, or when the title of ownership of the goods is
transferred.

Capital grants

For plants operating at 31st December, 2002, grants received for a specific purpose, whose value is recorded
among tangible assets, are recorded as deferred income when legal title to the grant is recognized and the
amount can be reasonably determined. Grants are deferred and recorded in the income statement over the
depreciable life of the assets to which they relate.

Starting in 2003, capital grants related to new plants put into service are recorded as a reduction in the fixed
asset value.

Income taxes

Current income tax for the period is recorded under tax liabilities based on the estimated taxable income
according to the provisions currently in force.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the temporary differences between amounts recognized
for financial purposes and amounts recognized for tax purposes, on the basis of the applicable tax rates at
the time the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are recorded among assets to
the extent that Terna is reasonably certain that such amounts can be recovered. Deferred tax liabilities are
provided to the extent such liability is expected to occur.

Environmental costs

Environmental costs refer to the prevention, reduction and monitoring of the environmental impact of
production activities. Recurring environmental costs are recorded in the statement of income when incurred,
while costs relating to the extension of the useful life, increase in capacity and improvement in the safety of
tangible assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset.

Contingent liabilities are recorded when it is probable or certain that the liability will occur and the amount
can be reasonably estimated.

Financial derivatives
Derivative contracts are entered into in order to hedge against the risk of interest rate fluctuations.

The interest differentials to be received or paid on interest rate swaps at the end of each reporting period are
accrued over the life of the contract and classified as “Financial income (expense)”.
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidation and accounting principles

Consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31st December, 2003, are the first such
statements prepared by Terna. Terna acquired its interest in the two Brazilian subsidiaries TSN and
Novatrans, on 31st December, 2003. Consequently, the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31st December, 2003, does not include the economic results of such subsidiaries.

Consolidation principles

Terna’s consolidated financial statements include Terna and the companies in which it exercises control
directly or indirectly through a majority of voting rights, or through dominant influence as defined in Art.
2359 of the Italian Civil Code, i.e., in this case, TSN and Novatrans.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the two subsidiaries, as approved by the
respective shareholders of the individual consolidated companies. Adjustments are made, as needed, to
eliminate the effect of the tax-basis reporting and to comply with accounting principles adopted by the
controlling company, Terna. Such adjustments take into account, whenever applicable, the corresponding
prepaid or deferred tax effect, recorded under the corresponding items.

The most significant consolidation principles are illustrated below.

The excess of the price paid for the acquisition over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition is recorded as goodwill.

Minority interests in the income and shareholders’ equity of consolidated subsidiaries are recorded in the
income statement and in shareholders’ equity, respectively.

Significant unrealized gains and losses from transactions between Terna and its subsidiaries as well as
receivables and payables, and revenues and expenses generated between consolidated companies are
eliminated.

Dividends distributed within Terna Group are eliminated from the consolidated income statement and
reallocated to the initial shareholders’ equity reserves.

Balance sheet items of consolidated companies that operate in countries not included in the Euro zone are
converted to euros by applying the year-end exchange rate. The income statement is converted using the
average exchange rate for the period. Exchange differences derived from the application of this conversion
principle are shown as a separate line item under shareholders’ equity.

Terna does not currently operate in hyperinflationary economies.

Accounting principles

The accounting principles applied in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31st
December, 2003 are in line with the provisions of Art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code supplemented by the
accounting principles formulated by the Consigli Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei Ragionieri.

The most significant principles are illustrated below.
Balance Sheet Items

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and reflect residual amounts of investments whose economic life spans
over several years. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected economic
useful lives of the assets. Start-up and organization costs are amortized over a five-year period and have been
fully amortized as of 31st December, 2003.
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Goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Brazilian subsidiaries from Enelpower and it is recorded in the
balance sheet when the price paid for the acquisition exceeds the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over 30 years,
which is the period deemed representative of the underlying business value. This criterion is also applied to
consolidated goodwill.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are recorded at cost of purchase or production cost, inclusive of any additional expense
incurred and of revaluations made by Enel, as transferor of the business unit relating to the Terna Grid, in
accordance with specific laws issued by the Italian government.

The value of tangible assets excludes costs incurred in maintaining or restoring the state of efficiency and
proper functioning of plants. Since these costs do not affect the magnitude or potential capacity of the plants,
such costs are expensed as incurred.

In the event of permanent impairment in value, the assets are written-down to their respective recoverable
value. If the circumstances for a write-down no longer exist, the book value is increased to the original
amount, net of depreciation.

Assets are depreciated based on the straight-line method over their expected useful lives, as specified below.

Depreciation rates TERNA Subsidiaries
Buildings and real eState ............ceecuieriieriieiieeiie e 2.50% 4.00%
POWET TINES ..ot 2.50% 2.50—4.50%
Switching substations:

— electrical EQUIPMENT ....cocvevierieiieieeieeereee et 2.38% 2.00—3.00%
— other electrical @qUIPMENt ........ccceiiiuiiiiiiiiieieeeeee e 3.13% 2.80—4.50%
— automation and coONtrol SYSEM .......ccceecueeriiieniienieeiee e 6.70% 5.00—6.70%
Central systems for management and control:

— EQUIPITICTIE ...e.eeiteieeteeit ettt ettt ettt ettt st et ettt sbee bt ebeenees 5.00% N/A
— €leCtrONICS/COMPULETS.....cveeeeeiieiieteeteeitesttenie et eteeiee e eeeeneesaeennes 10.00% N/A

Others 14.00% N/A

The above rates are reduced by half for assets acquired during the year.

In addition, as permitted by applicable law for financial statements, and in application of tax regulations,
Terna depreciates utility plant over prescribed fiscal tax lives, which are shorter than the economic useful
lives (“‘additional depreciation”). Such additional depreciation is eliminated for consolidation purposes, and
the related deferred tax effect is recognized.

In accordance with Accounting Principle No. 25 of the Consigli Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei
Ragionieri, accelerated depreciation is credited directly to a nondistributable shareholders’ equity reserve as
an appropriation of earnings, without impact on the income statement or the carrying amount of plant,
property or equipment, at the time of the annual shareholders’ meeting in the following year, while the
current tax benefit and related deferred tax amount are accrued in the income statement of the period to
which the accelerated depreciation charge relates.

Accelerated depreciation accumulated up to 1999 was reclassified in 2000 as a specific undistributable
reserve, net of the related tax effect. The reserve is progressively transferred to other available equity
reserves upon taxation of the said accelerated depreciation charges.

Financial assets— Equity investments

Equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and in other companies are accounted for under the cost
method. The investment is written-down in the event of a permanent impairment in value and restored in the
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event that conditions for such impairment cease to exist. The revaluation is recognized in the income
statement as a write-up.

Inventories

Raw material, auxiliary and consumption goods used in the operation of plant and equipment are valued at
their purchase price calculated by the weighted average method. Obsolete or slow moving inventories are
written-down to their estimated realizable value.

“Contract work in progress” is valued on the basis of agreed contractual amounts, if those amounts can be
determined with reasonable certainty, according to the “percentage-of-completion” method.

Advances received for contractual work not yet completed are recorded as deferred revenue.

Receivables

Receivables are recorded at their net realizable value and are classified among “Financial assets” and
“Current assets”, according to their use and to the nature of the debtor.

Accruals and deferrals

Accrual and deferrals are recorded based on the accrual method of accounting.

Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for retirement benefits

The provision includes compensation payable in lieu of notice to existing personnel pursuant to
collective bargaining agreements and union agreements currently in force.

Other provisions for risks and charges

Other provisions for risks and charges are recorded against known or probable losses and charges for
which the amount and timing is undetermined at the balance sheet date. The amount recorded reflects
management’s best possible estimates based on available information.

Provision for employee termination indemnities

The provision is in compliance with the law and collective bargaining agreements in force as of the
balance sheet date, and reflects the liabilities accrued toward employees as of the balance sheet date,
net of advances made, pursuant to law, as well as contributions made to the Fondo Pensioni Gruppo
Enel (“Fondenel”).

Accounts payable

Accounts payable are stated at face value.

Income Statement

Costs and revenues are recognized on an accrual basis.

Revenues
Regulated Activities in Italy

Annual fees for the utilization of the Terna Grid are recorded in accordance with the method set forth
in the Terna Operating Agreement with the Italian ISO and determined based on the tariff set by the
AEEQG, the Italian Energy Authority. Specifically, for the operation, maintenance and development



activities performed on the basis of the Terna Operating Agreement, the Italian ISO pays Terna an
annual fee (to cover operating costs and depreciation and as a return on the net invested capital) paid
in monthly installments, as determined by Resolution No. 228/01 of the Italian Energy Authority. In
summary, the amount of the fee paid by the Italian ISO to each owner of a part of the Italian Grid
essentially depends on, other than the percentage owned, two factors: tariffs, determined by the Italian
Energy Authority on the basis of allowed costs (operating costs and depreciation) and the
remuneration for invested capital; and volumes of energy dispatched through the Italian Grid.

Other Activities and Income in Italy

Other activities and income in Italy are recognized when the service is provided or the title of
ownership of the goods is transferred.

Capital grants

For plants operating at 31st December, 2002, grants received for a specific purpose, whose value is recorded
among tangible assets, are recorded as deferred income when legal title to the grant is recognized and the
amount can be reasonably determined. Grants are deferred and recorded in the income statement over the
depreciable life of the assets to which they relate.

Starting in 2003, capital grants related to new plants which began operations are recorded as a reduction in
the fixed asset value.

Income Taxes

Current income tax for the period is recorded under tax liabilities based on the estimated taxable income
according to the provisions currently in force.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the temporary differences between amounts recognized
for financial purposes and amounts recognized for tax purposes, on the basis of the applicable tax rate at the
time the temporary differences will reverse. Deferred tax assets are recorded among assets to the extent that
Terna is reasonably certain that such amounts can be recovered. Deferred tax liabilities are provided to the
extent such liability is expected to occur.

Translation of amounts denominated in foreign currencies

Receivables and payables denominated in currencies other than the euro are translated into euro at the
exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. At the end of the year, amounts denominated in
currencies other than the euro are translated into euro at exchange rates at the balance sheet date and
differences are recorded in the income statement as financial income and expenses, taking into account
possible hedging contracts.

Environmental costs

Environmental costs refer to the prevention, reduction and monitoring of the environmental impact of
production activities. Recurring environmental costs are recorded in the statement of income when incurred,
while costs relating to the extension of the useful life, increase in capacity and improvement in the safety of
tangible assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset.

Contingent liabilities are recorded when it is probable or certain that the liability will occur and the amount
can be reasonably estimated.

Financial Derivatives

Derivative contracts are entered into in order to hedge against the risk of interest-rate and exchange rate
fluctuations.
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The interest differentials to be received or paid on interest rate swaps at the end of each reporting period are
accrued over the life of the contract and classified as “Financial income (expense)”.

Foreign currency hedging instruments are valued at the spot rate at the balance sheet date. Related gains and
losses are recorded in the income statement as exchange rate differences under the “Other financial income
and expenses” item. Premiums and discounts paid or received on such instruments are deferred and recorded
in the income statement over the life of the instrument purchased or sold.

BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheets for the years ended 31st December, 2001, 2002 and 2003 include the accounts of Terna.
The consolidated balance sheet of Terna as of 31st December, 2003 consists of the accounts of Terna and its
Brazilian subsidiaries, TSN and Novatrans, in which interests were acquired on 31st December, 2003. Total
net invested capital of the two subsidiaries as of 31st December, 2003 is €444.4 million.

(3)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consists entirely of available funds held by Terna’s eight regional operating
facilities. At the consolidated level, cash and cash equivalents at 31st December, 2003 also includes €44.0
million of funds held by the two Brazilian subsidiaries.

(4)  Cash restricted for use

At the consolidated level, cash restricted for use at 31st December, 2003, consists of €6.6 million relating to
amounts which are required to be held on a restricted account under the terms of the project financing
granted to TSN by the Brazilian bank Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econdmico e Social (the
“BNDES”). The restriction will be gradually released once repayment commences.

(5)  Intercompany pooled funds held by Enel

Intercompany pooled funds held by Enel includes amounts deposited with Enel according to the centralized
treasury management agreement. The balance at 31st December, 2003 also includes interest earned. Interest
earned in previous years is classified as accrued income. The amounts are considered cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statements.

(6)  Receivables, net

Receivables, net, from third parties, as of 31st December is as follows:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Italian ISO for Annual Fee for the use

of the Terna Grid .......cccceeevvvviviieeeeeeinnen. 329.9 178.9 168.7 168.7
Other ..oviieeiceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 19.0 18.4 15.1 23.0
Allowance for doubtful accounts .............. (2.8) (3.8) (1.0) (1.0)

346.1 193.5 182.8 190.7

The receivables related to fees for the use of the Terna Grid as of 31st December, 2003, primarily relate to
fees for November and December 2003, which become due in 2004. The 2003 consolidated balance sheet
includes €7.9 million of receivables due to the two Brazilian subsidiaries for use of the Brazilian Subsidiaries
Grid.

The significant decrease in receivables from 2001 to 2002 relates to the fact that, prior to 2002, no formal
agreement existed between Terna and the Italian ISO. With the signing of the Terna Operating Agreement,
various operating terms were agreed, including the more timely payment of amounts due.
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Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ending 31st December are shown in the table
below:

2001 2002 2003 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Beginning balance .........cc.cccoooeeiiiiiiincn. 1.1 2.8 3.8 3.8

Bad debt eXpense ........ccceeveeeenieeiieniieeniene 1.7 1.0 - -

Write-offs of accounts receivable .............. — — (2.8) (2.8)
2.8 3.8 1.0 1.0

The 2003 write-offs relate to receivables due from the Italian ISO from 2000. The total amount written off
related to fees earned in 2000 was €5.1 million, however, the residual part of the write-off was provided for
as a contingent loss.

(7)  Receivables from Enel Group companies

Receivables from Enel Group companies, consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Enel Distribuzione S.p.A ...cccoovvriinienenne 11.0 11.1 11.4 11.4
Enelit Sip.A oo 12.1 17.1 0.4 0.4
Enel.Net S.p.A oo - - 5.0 5.0
Wind Telecomunicazioni S.p.A ................ 4.5 1.3 1.1 1.1
Enel Produzione S.p.A ....cccoooiiiiiiiiiniene 1.2 0.4 1.2 1.2
Enelpower S.p.A oo 0.6 0.3 0.2 0.2
Other Enel Group companies .................... 1.5 0.5 0.9 0.9

30.9 30.7 20.2 20.2

The significant decrease at 31st December, 2003 of receivables due from Enel.it S.p.A. (“Enel.it”) relates to
the receipt of the receivables for the sale of the fiberoptic cable for the Italy-Greece connection (€10.8
million at 31st December, 2002) sold in 2002, as well as the transfer during 2003 of the related telecom
business from Enel.it to Enel.Net S.p.A. (“Enel.Net”), which included €2.6 million of trade receivables.
Consequently, the increase in receivables from Enel.Net at 31st December, 2003 is related to services
provided related to fiberoptic cable support, maintenance and development, after the transfer of the telecom
business took place.

Receivables from Enel Distribuzione S.p.A. (“Enel Distribuzione”) relate to high-voltage network operation
and maintenance services, while those from Wind Telecomunicazioni S.p.A. (“Wind”) relate to the supply
of telephony and telecommunication services, including data transmission services by Wind for Terna’s
remote management and control systems.

(8)  Trade receivables from subsidiaries

Trade receivables from subsidiaries at 31st December, 2003 primarily consist of a loan made to Novatrans
pursuant to Terna’s assumption of the intercompany loan originally granted by Enelpower. The loan amount
at 31st December, 2003 includes €5.0 million of accrued interest on amounts owed.
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(9)  Inventory and Work in Progress

Inventory includes raw materials, auxiliary and consumption goods used for plant operation, maintenance
and plant construction activities. In addition, the balance at 31st December, 2003 includes spare transformers
which have been strategically placed throughout Italy in order to be prepared in case of a plant failure.

Work in progress at 31st December, 2003 includes an upgrade to the SCTI-Net control system (€11.0
million), an expansion and upgrade of electricity lines for Ferrovie dello Stato (the national railway
company) (€1.9 million), work relating to the construction of the Chieti electrical bus system for SEAP (€1.5
million) and work relating to the construction of a plant control system for Edipower (€1.8 million).

The consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2003 includes €15.6 million related to inventories held by
the Brazilian subsidiaries.

(10) Accrued income and prepayments

Accrued income and prepayments include the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Accrued income due to financial

Te0) 10151071 1<) 1 O SR 6.8 10.9 - -
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges .... 2.0 2.7 4.2 4.9
8.8 13.6 4.2 4.9

Accrued income due to financial components relates to interest earned on amounts held by Enel in
conjunction with the centralized treasury management agreement. At 31st December, 2003, accrued interest
is recorded as part of cash and cash equivalents. Prepaid expenses include primarily prepaid insurance
premiums and prepaid fees resulting from the assignment of contracts by Enel Distribuzione, the prepaid rent
pursuant to the fiberoptic housing contract with Enel.Net and the prepaid rent for the use of telephone lines
and radio transmission equipment with Wind.

The consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2003 includes €0.7 million related to prepaid expenses of
the Brazilian subsidiaries.

(11) Other current receivables

Other current receivables consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Loans to employees and other items ........ 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
Receivables from others ..........ccceceeeneene 2.9 1.4 2.0 17.4
33 1.8 24 17.8

Other current receivables mainly consists of amounts receivable from Greek Tax Authorities related to
credits for indirect taxes and the current portion of employee loans.

The consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2003 primarily includes €11.9 million related to gains
from hedging contracts related to the foreign exchange risk on the Novatrans loan outstanding as of the
balance sheet date, as well as other minor items relating to the Brazilian subsidiaries.
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Non-current assets

(12)  Property, plant and equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment, net, is as follows at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)
(millions of euro)

Land and buildings........cccccoveevervcnvcnicncns 316.3 313.7 311.7 326.8
Plant and machinery ........c..ccccoecevccnienene 2,502.7 2,513.3 2,410.2 3,419.8
Commercial and industrial equipment ...... 10.6 10.9 10.9 11.0
Other aSSets ......ccecvevvevuerienenenieeeeererennens 1.3 1.0 0.9 1.1
Work in progress and advances ................ 427.4 283.1 317.7 437.1
3,258.3 3,122.0 3,051.4 4,195.8

“Plant and machinery” includes the Terna Grid. In 2003, according to the MAP Decree of 23rd December,
2002, Terna acquired from Enel Distribuzione, Enel Produzione S.p.A. (“Enel Produzione”) and Enel Green
Power S.p.A. (“Enel Green Power”), all Enel Group companies, additional portions of the Italian Grid. The
power lines increased by 874 km and the stations increased by 18, for a total price of €35.4 million.

The consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2003, other than reflecting the effect of the elimination of
the accumulated additional depreciation charges (see note 2), includes property, plant and equipment of

€448.9 million belonging to the Brazilian subsidiaries.
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Changes in property, plant, and equipment, net in the Company’s balance sheet is as follows for the years
ending 31st December:

2001 2002 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company)

(millions of euro)

Initial book Value, NEt.........ccvievuiiiiiiiiiecieccee e 3,349.4 3,258.3 3,122.0
INVESTMENTS  .oiiiiieiiiiiiiieeeiiieee ettt e e e e e e e e sareeeeeeeeaees 190.9 164.0 240.8
Depreciation and write-downs:
Economic depreciation  ........ccocceveeverieneenieenienie e (235.4) (242.2) (139.6)
Additional depreciation ............cocceeverrierieneerieeie e 47.7) (45.1) (151.4)
WIE-AOWIS ...vviiieriieeeiie ettt e et etreeeeareee s - (0.6) -
Disposals and other mOVEmMEents .........cccceeviieniieenieniienieenieeneeene 1.1 (12.4) (20.4)

3,258.3 3,122.0 3,051.4

The increase in additional depreciation for the year ended 31st December, 2003, and the corresponding
decrease in the economic depreciation charge, are related to the revision of the economic depreciation rates
used by Terna in 2003 (see note 2).

In order to illustrate the differences in depreciation generated by the application of tax regulations, in the
Company’s financial statements, depreciation has been broken down to an economic depreciation charge
based on assets’ useful economic lives and an additional depreciation charge that relates to the incremental
depreciation resulting from the application of fiscal depreciation rates.

If depreciation had been charged in the Company’s financial statements based only on economic
depreciation rates, the effect on shareholders’ equity and net income would have been as follows:

Increase (decrease)

2001 2002 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company)

(millions of euro)

Impact on Shareholders’ equity
Lower accumulated depreciation of property, plant and

EQUIPITNICNE uetieniiieiieetieetteeteeeiteesateesieeebeeesbeeebeesabeessaeenneeeneeenbeens 503.0 544.2 690.2
Higher deferred tax liability at the end of the year ..........ccccceeee..e. (202.5) (219.0) (257.9)
Increase in shareholders’ equity at the end of the year .................... 300.5 325.2 432.3

Impact on net income
Lower depreciation charges for the period, net of grant

170 115101015 (0) o NN 47.7 42.9 146.0
Additional deferred tax accrualS .........cccceeeeviiieeiiieeeeiiee e, (19.2) (17.3) (49.1)
INCrease N NEt INCOMIE .....uueeeeeeeieiieieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e 28.5 25.6 96.9

As of 31st December, 2003, the net book value of property, plant and equipment in the Company’s balance
sheet, net of only the accumulated economic depreciation charge (based on economic useful lives and
excluding any additional or accelerated depreciation) would have been €3,428.0 million and the average
residual economic useful life is 28.2 years. The estimated useful life of Terna’s property, plant and equipment
for tax purposes is 12.2 years.

Accelerated depreciation recorded in fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, amounting to €42.8 million, €39.6
million and €36.9 million, respectively, did not impact net income, as the relevant amounts were recorded in
undistributable equity reserve at the time of allocation of earnings made by Terna’s shareholders during the
shareholders’ general meeting for each respective year (see note 2).
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(13) Investments

Investments consist of the following as of 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

SubSIAIATIES .ooovviiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeereeaeeees — — 156.2 —
Other iINVEStMENtS ........ccoeevvvveeeeieiirieeeeenn. 1.6 3.5 3.5 3.5
1.6 3.5 159.7 3.5

On 31st December, 2003, Terna acquired from Enelpower its holdings in two Brazilian companies, TSN and
Novatrans, whose core activities consist of building and maintaining high voltage transmission networks in
Brazil. Details of Terna’s interest in each of the two Brazilian companies is as follows:

Share- Profit

holders' (loss) for Book

equity the year value

at 31 ended 31 Partici- at 31

Share December December pation December

capital 2003 2003 share 2003

(millions (millions (millions (millions
of reais) of euro) of euro) of euro)

g 1. [T 250.0 147.3 102 99.74% 155.5
Novatrans ..........cccoeceveeeveieeeecieeeeiieeens 2.0 3.4 (3.9) 100.00% 0.7

The price originally paid for the acquisition was adjusted in April 2004, for an amount of €10.4 million, of
which €6.0 million relates to TSN and €4.4 million relates to Novatrans. Such adjustments were made in
order to reflect the net equity of both subsidiaries as of 31st December, 2003.

Shares of TSN are deposited with BNDES as a pledge for amounts borrowed. Dividends and voting rights
remain with Terna.

At 31st December, 2003, other investments relate to Sfera S.p.A. (an Enel Group company) and Cesi S.p.A.,
reflecting interests of 4.71% and 15%, respectively. Sfera S.p.A. operates in learning and specialized training
and Cesi S.p.A. operates in the research sector.

(14) Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets, net, consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Electricity Sector Employee Pension
Fund (FPE) Contribution .........c....c......... 34.8 - - -
GOoOdWill....oovveiiiiiiniiniiiecccecccens - - - 115.5

34.8 - - 115.5

The contribution due upon the cancellation of the Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund (FPE), totalling
€100.0 million, was paid in three installments: €29.0 million in 2000; €35.6 million in 2001 and €35.4
million in 2002. The balance recorded as at 31st December, 2001 was completely offset by the liability
representing the residual amount payable to the Social Security Institutions at such date.

Had Terna amortized the contribution over the allowed 20-year period, instead of a three-year period as it
chose to do, as permitted by the 2000 Budget Law, the unamortized balances in the Company’s balance sheet
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would have been €90.0 million, €85.0 million and €80.0, gross of tax effect, at 31st December, 2001, 2002
and 2003, respectively, while in the consolidated balance sheet would have been €80.0 million at 31st
December, 2003.

Goodwill relates to the 31st December, 2003 acquisitions of TSN and Novatrans. The amount represents the
excess of purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition
date and is amortized using the straight-line method over 27 years, which is the residual life of the
government concessions. Amortization will start in 2004.

(15) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Beginning Balance ..........ccccocevinicniincn. 12.9 9.9 13.9 13.9
Accruals and other movements .................. 4.3 5.6 8.4 8.4
USES oottt e (7.3) (1.6) - -

9.9 13.9 22.3 22.3

The increases in the periods shown are essentially caused by taxable provisions for risks and charges made
in the respective years.

(16) Other receivables, non-current

Other receivables, non-current consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Greek VAT receivables ........cccoccevveniennene - 14.2 12.7 12.7

Tax advance on employee termination
indemnities (Law 662/1996) .................... 7.2 6.3 5.3 5.3
Loans to employees and other items ........ 2.6 3.0 3.1 3.1
IRPEG receivables ......c.ccooeveevercicneennene 13.7 - — -
Other IteMS.....ccccveeriierieeee e - 0.2 0.4 1.0
23.5 23.7 21.5 22.1

Greek VAT receivables relate to invoices issued by the Greek branch of Enelpower to the Greek branch of
Terna for the sale of the fiberoptic cable for the Italy-Greece connection.

Tax advance on employee termination indemnities relates to the amount paid to the State in compliance with
specific laws. The same laws allow Terna to recover such advances at the time the termination indemnity is
paid to retired employees. The outstanding value of the tax advance is revalued as the employee termination
indemnity. Decreases during the periods relate to personnel reductions.

Loans to employees and other items relate mainly to loans made to employees at current rates of interest for
the acquisition of their first home and to face exceptional economic needs.
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Non-current liabilities

(17) Amounts due to Banks

Amounts due to banks are as follows at 31st December:

Current Long-term
portion  portion
at 31 at 31

Maturity
Maturity December December
period 2001 2002 2003 2003 2003 2005 2006 2007 2008  beyond
(millions of euro)

EIB (loan n.20271)............ 2004-2014 75.0 75.0 75.0 6.8 68.2 6.8 6.8 6.8 6.8 41.0
EIB (loan n.21159)............. 2005-2016 250.0 250.0 250.0 - 250.0 11.4 22.7 22.7 22.7 170.5
325.0 325.0 325.0 6.8 318.2 18.2 29.5 29.5 29.5 211.5

BNDES ..ot 2005-2016 - - 164.2 1.7 162.5 7.8 8.6 9.4 10.2 126.5
325.0 325.0 489.2 8.5 480.7 26.0 38.1 38.9 39.7 338.0

The €75.0 million loan was granted by the European Investment Bank (“EIB”) on 22nd October, 1999 for
the project “Italy-Greece power grid connection”. The €75.0 million loan, due in 22 semiannual installments
beginning 15th March, 2004, bears interest semiannually deferred, at a floating rate based on Euribor plus
0.15% (2.11% at 31st December, 2003). Pursuant to the loan agreement, EIB has the right to request early
repayment of the €75.0 million loan in the event Enel were to relinquish control of Terna. As of
31st December, 2003, the €75.0 million loan was fully “hedged” against interest rate fluctuations with
financial instruments (interest rate swaps).

The €250.0 million loan was granted on 6th July, 2001 by EIB for the “Planning, construction and
commencement of operation of approximately 200 power transmission plants”. The €250.0 million loan, due
in 22 semiannual installments beginning 15th December, 2005, bears interest semiannually in arrears, at a
floating rate based on Euribor plus 0.25% (2.21% at 31st December, 2003). Pursuant to the €250.0 million
loan agreement, EIB has the right to request from Terna information regarding the possible consequences of
a proposed merger, split or sale, or contribution of a branch and/or Group modifications. If EIB were to
consider these transactions to be detrimental, and the parties fail to agree on possible amendments of the
existing agreement, EIB has the right to request early repayment of the €250.0 million loan. Furthermore,
EIB has the right to request early repayment of the €250.0 million loan if Enel’s medium and long-term debt
rating, or the rating of debt guaranteed by Enel, published by Standard & Poor’s and/or Moody’s Investor
Services, were to be downgraded to a level lower than A and A2, respectively, which EIB may consider likely
to have a negative effect on the creditworthiness of Enel or Terna. Early repayment will not be required if
an agreement is reached within 60 days of EIB’s request and/or Terna provides an alternative guarantee for
the debt. As of 31st December, 2003, the €250.0 million loan was “hedged” with financial instruments
(interest rate swaps), for a nominal value of €217.5 million. Taking into account the hedging, the percentage
of the €250.0 million loan still exposed to interest rate fluctuations is 13%.

Included in the consolidated financial statements, in addition to the debt described above, is the debt of the
subsidiary TSN. The €164.2 million loan was granted to TSN by BNDES in October 2002 for the
construction of the Southeast—Northeast line. Regarding interest terms, the loan for an original amount of
R$556.8 million is divided into two portions. The first portion, R$418.3 million, bears interest at a floating
rate based on TJLP plus 3.50% (TJLP is the cost of long-term debt measured by the central bank of Brazil).
In the event TJLP exceeds 6.00%, the excess portion is capitalized on the loan’s residual amount. The second
portion, R$138.5 million, is denominated in a currency basket (variable, but mostly related to the US dollar)
with a floating rate based on the average cost incurred by BNDES to fund its foreign currency borrowings
plus 3.50%. Interest on both portions is paid monthly in arrears and the principal on both portions is paid in
144 monthly installments starting 15th October, 2004. The debt agreement contains certain covenants
including: maintaining, for the duration of the loan, a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.3; prior
authorization by BNDES for share capital decreases, payment of interest on capital or distribution of
dividends higher than the mandatory minimum required by applicable Brazilian law (25% of distributable
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net income); and prior authorization from BNDES in case of direct or indirect changes of control resulting
from any disposal of shares, opening of new lines of credit and granting of guarantees.

The loan is guaranteed by the pledge of all TSN shares owned by Terna. The amount outstanding at
31st December, 2003 is R$601.5 million, which includes certain capitalized interest.

(18) Third-party advances

Third-party advances include customer prepayments for work in process at 31st December, 2003. The
current portion of third-party advances includes customer prepayments for work expected to be completed
within twelve months from the balance sheet date and primarily relates to amounts received for the
construction of a new integrated control system for the Italian ISO (€9.8 million) and for the construction of
a control system for Edipower’s generating plant (€1.9 million). The significant balance at 31st December,
2001 relates primarily to the construction of the Italy-Greece connection which was completed in July 2002.

The long-term portion of third-party advances at 31st December, 2003 primarily relates to customer
prepayments received for high voltage network connections.

(19) Trade accounts payable to third parties

Trade accounts payable to third parties, both short-term and long-term, consists of invoices received and to
be received with regard to contract work, services received and purchases of inventory and assets. At
31st December, 2003, short-term trade accounts payable to third parties includes €32.8 million (€22.5
million as of 31st December, 2002), which was originally due to third parties. These third parties sold the
receivables due from Terna to Enel.factor under a factoring arrangement. Due to the original transactions
being with a third party, these amounts remain classified as Trade accounts payable to third parties.

The significant balance at 31st December, 2003 relates to higher capital expenditures at year end with respect
to the previous year.

The consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2003 includes, in addition to the above mentioned items,
trade accounts payable owed by the Brazilian subsidiaries to third parties.

(20) Trade accounts payable to Enel Group companies

Trade accounts payable to Enel Group companies is as follows for 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

WIN .o 23.2 10.4 10.7 10.7
Enelpower .....c.cccoeeveeviniiniinieicnicneeene 29.2 35.5 5.1 8.8
Enel Distribuzione ..........cccceeceeveriieneennenne 13.5 5.2 6.2 6.2
Enel Real Estate ......ccccoccevvvevieniiniienienicnne 3.8 4.4 4.3 4.3
Enelit oo 4.6 3.6 2.2 2.1
Other Enel Group companies .................... 2.4 4.5 1.4 3.2

76.7 63.6 29.9 353

The decrease in trade accounts payable to Enelpower in 2003 relates to the final payment in 2003 for the
Italy-Greece connection project. The €5.1 million due to Enelpower at 31st December, 2003 refers to an
adjustment of the loan to Novatrans resulting from the addendum to the share sale agreement between
Enelpower and Terna. In the 31st December, 2003 consolidated financial statements, the amount due to
Enelpower is increased by amounts due under the Engineering Procurement Contract (EPC) by TSN and
Novatrans.
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The decrease in the amount due to Enel.it is partly attributable to lower costs resulting from fewer services
requested, from the conclusion of the SAP project, and also to the spin-off of the telecommunication
activities (fiberoptic) to Enel.Net, which was concluded on 1st July, 2003.

The decrease in 2002 in the amount payable to Wind was mainly due a decrease in Terna’s
telecommunication costs, partially offset by an increase in accounts payables versus Enelpower following
the progress in the completion of the Italy-Greece connection as well as other minor connections.

(21) Amounts due to Enel

Amounts due to Enel are as follows for 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Current portion

Trade accounts payable and others ............ 3.7 1.4 1.7 1.7

Liabilities for the assumption of
medium/long-term loans and financing .. 49.3 223 19.9 19.9
53.0 23.7 21.6 21.6

Long-term portion
Liabilities for the assumption of
medium/long-term loans and financing..... 478.5 456.2 436.3 436.3

Trade accounts payables mainly pertain to amounts owed for assistance and consulting services, in-house
and communications services, marketing, corporate image, purchasing strategy and methods, services and e-
procurement activities and development.

Liabilities for the assumption of medium/long-term loans and financing relate to portions of loans allocated
to Terna as part of the contribution of the business segment from Enel. As part of this arrangement, it was
agreed that Terna would be charged for the proportional cost of the financial expenses incurred on said loans,
and that Terna would also repay the principal at the respective maturity dates. Likewise, the income and
expense accrued on hedging agreements against interest rate fluctuations designated by Enel for such
liabilities, will be allocated to Terna.

Financial liabilities for the assumption of medium/long-term loans and financing is as follows at
31st December, 2003.

2003
2003 Long- Maturity

Maturity Current term

period 2003 portion portion 2005 2006 2007 2008 Beyond
(millions of euro)
Fixed-rate loans .... 2004-2006 87.4 7.2 80.2 79.5 0.7 — — —
Floating-rate

loans ......ccceeennne. 2004-2019 368.8 12.7 356.1 12.5 1.7 11.6 10.6 319.7
456.2 19.9 436.3 92.0 24 11.6 10.6 319.7
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The breakdown of the above debt for the reference currency as of 31st December, 2003, is as follows:

Average
interest rate Balance
as of 31st as of 31st
Maturity December, December,
Period 2003 2003
EUro area CUITeNCY .......cocveiviiiiiiiniiiiiiieiiceecee et 2004-2019 6.65% 452.9
OheT CUITENCY ...eeuiiriiiiieieeieriienit ettt sttt 2004-2006 6.46% 3.3
456.2
(22) Taxes payable
Taxes payable consists of the following at 31st December:
2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)
(millions of euro)
Tax withheld on wages and consulting
INCOME ..oooeiiiiiieeeeeciieeee e e 3.9 3.7 3.9 3.9
VAT charged ......ccooeeviiiniiiniiicieeieee - 12.1 - -
IRPEG for the year .......cccccovveveviiinieenienne 7.6 37.6 75.1 75.1
IRAP for the year .......c.ccceceevveiieiiniincnnns 13.7 16.4 19.0 19.0
IRPEG advances ..........cccccccoevvviiiiiieeeennn, (7.6) “4.1) 47.2) 47.2)
IRAP advances ..........ccccccceviviiiiiiiiieeinnn, (11.8) (13.4) (16.1) (16.1)
Tax advances ......c.cceeeevvveeeeereiivreeeeeeeeirnnnn. - 3.4) - -
Other taX ..ccccvveeeeeeiiiieeee e - - - 5.5
5.8 48.9 34.7 40.2

Italian companies pay a national tax IRPEG) at 34% (36% for year 2001 and 2002) and a local tax on gross
margin, adjusted for personnel costs and other minor items (IRAP) at 4.25%. Terna makes advance payments
during the year, based on estimated net taxable income, which are recorded as an asset within taxes payables
(IRPEG and IRAP advances). When the actual taxes owed are calculated at year end, Terna presents any
remaining obligations or receivables in the line item “taxes payable”. Increase in estimated payments made
in 2003 relates to a change in tax regulation, effective in the same year, requiring Terna to base estimated
payments on current year estimated net taxable income, instead of basing estimated payments on historical

net taxable income as previously required.

Included in the 31st December, 2003 consolidated balance sheet, in addition to amounts described above, are
other taxes payable owed by the Brazilian subsidiaries related to local taxes and social contributions of €5.5

million.
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(23) Accrued liabilities and deferred income

Accrued liabilities and deferred income is as follows at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Accrued INterest .......ccccceeeeeveviveeeeeeeeinnnnn. 7.1 6.1 5.4 5.4
Other unearned INCOME ...........ceeeveeererreeennns 0.4 - - -
Unearned grant received and other minor

ACCOUNLS ..eeuivvireeeeeeeireeeeeeeeeireeeeeeeeeenraeeass 16.4 1.1 1.3 1.3

Total short-term portion of accrued
liabilities and deferred income ............ 23.9 7.2 6.7 6.7

Long-term portion
Unearned grants received and other minor
ACCOUNLS ..ttt eees 91.0 147.7 142.7 148.0

Unearned grant contributions represent amounts received from third parties for grants for construction of
power lines or other specific work, which will be recognized as income in accordance with the depreciation
of the related assets.

The increase in the long-term portion in 2002 relates to the timing of the grants received for the capital
expenditure required for the Italy-Greece connection.

In the 31st December, 2003 consolidated balance sheet, accrued liabilities and deferred income includes €5.3
million resulting from the elimination of the tax interference generated from additional grant contributions
recognized on the income statement, relating to additional depreciation of the corresponding assets.

(24)  Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities consists of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Payables to employees........ccoceeveercieriennenne 22.2 15.5 25.7 25.7
Other current liabilities ..........ccccoeeeereennenne. 0.4 1.3 4.9 7.8
Social security payables ........ccccocceveenne. 42.2 7.3 7.5 7.5

64.8 24.1 38.1 41.0

Amounts payable to employees represent the current portion of the employee leaving indemnity that will be
paid to employees who ceased to be employed during the year, other than personnel incentives and bonuses
accrued in the respective years. The increase in 2003 is due to the increase in terminations.

Social security benefits payable pertain to amounts due to INPS, for December social security contributions
and contributions for personnel incentives to be paid in the following year. The balance at 31st December,
2001 included the third and last installment of the contribution due upon the cancellation of the FPE (€34.7
million), paid in November 2002.

(25) Employee termination indemnity

The amount represents the liability accrued for employee termination indemnity (“TFR”), which is due,
pursuant to Italian law, to each employee upon termination for any reason. The amount recorded represents
Terna’s obligation if all employees were to be terminated as of the balance sheet date.
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Activity for the years ending 31st December is as follows:

(millions of

euro)
Balance at 31st December, 2000 ................oooooviiiiiiiiiiiii e e 66.9
R (615 4 1 -1 F I RSOOSR 19.8
e L 41015 11O OO O P RUOTROPRRPPRP (13.6)
Balance at 31st December, 2000 ............cccooooiiiiiii e e e 73.1
— ACCTUALS 1.eiiiitiieitieeie ettt et et e et e et e e bt e et e e e st e e etbeeeabeebbeestaeesbeeesbaeeaseeetbeeatbeentaeenbaeerbeenaraeers 10.2
e 020211 1S) 11O OO OOUPT RPN (7.6)
Balance at 31st December, 2002 ..o e e s 75.7
R 1615 1 1 -1 F RSOSSN 9.7
— PAYINEIIES ..eeniiiiitieiteete ettt ettt et ettt a e sa e e b et ettt ettt eh et ettt e bt e sabeesateenateeaes 14.7)
Balance at 31st December, 2003 ............ccooooiiiiiiii e e 70.7

Amounts are net of advances granted and portions allocated and paid annually to the Enel Group’s Pension
Fund. Additionally, the amount is also net of the 11% substitute tax on the revaluation of the TFR pursuant
to Legislative Decree No. 47/2000.

The significant decrease in 2003 is due to the termination of employees who participated in the early
retirement program by 31st December, 2003.

(26) Deferred tax liabilities

The changes in deferred tax liabilities are as follows for the years ended 31st December:

(millions of

euro)
Balance at 31st December, 2000 ..............ccccooooiviiiiiiiiiiiieie e 123.9
&1 10 21 USSP 16.8
= USES  eeeeurrreeeeeeeeitereeeeeeeta—eeeeeeeet—tteaeeaaai——eaaeeeaaa—eaaeeeaai—aaaaeeeaattaraaeeaaaa—aaaeeeeaaiarareeeeaatrrraeeeaaaas 2.4)
Balance at 31st December, 2000 ...t 138.3
R 16165 1 1 F:1 F TSRS RRRN 15.1
— USES  teeutreeeetteeeiiteeeeetteeea—ee e e —eeeet—teea—teeee—teeaabaeeaatateeataeeeabeaeeabeeeaarraeeabaeeeataeeeatreeeearreeeerrens (2.3)
Balance at 31st December, 2002 ............cc.oooooiiiiiiiie e e 151.1
%1 10 21 USSP 11.4
= USES  eeeeutrreeeeeeeiiteeeeeeeeea—eaeeeeeet——taaeeaaa————aaeeeaaa—ttaaeeeaai—aaaaeeeaaataraaeeeaaaaaaaaeeeaaiarraaeeeaatrrraaeeaanas 3.2)
Balance at 31st December, 2003 ... 159.3

Deferred tax liabilities as of 31st December, 2003 pertain to deferred taxes related to accelerated
depreciation charged through 31st December, 2002, as well as to the allowance for deferred taxes of €13.8
million for the 2003, which will be recorded under reserves upon the appropriation of profits for 2003. The
balance at 31st December, 2003 also includes the tax reversal of deductible accelerated depreciation for the
period of €3.2 million and the effect of the changes in the tax rate of €2.4 million.

Deferred tax liabilities as of 31st December, 2002 pertains to deferred taxes related to accelerated
depreciation charged through 31st December, 2001, as well as to the allowance for deferred taxes of €15.1
million for 2002, which was recorded under reserves upon the appropriation of profits for 2002. The balance
at 31st December, 2002 also includes the tax reversal of deductible accelerated depreciation for the period
of €2.3 million.
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Deferred tax liabilities as of 31st December, 2001 pertains to deferred taxes related to accelerated
depreciation charged through 31st December, 2000, as well as the allowance for deferred taxes of €16.8
million for 2001, which was recorded under reserves upon the appropriation of profits for 2001. The balance
at 31st December, 2001 also includes the tax reversal of deductible accelerated depreciation for the period
of €2.4 million.

In the consolidated balance sheet as of 31st December, 2003, deferred tax liabilities includes an additional
amount of €257.9 million for the deferred taxes calculated on consolidation adjustments related to additional
depreciation charges recognized by Terna.

(27) Contingent liabilities and loss allowance

Contingent liabilities and loss allowances consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Provision for retirement and related

Obligations .......c..cccceevivininiiiciercee, 0.4 0.8 0.8 0.8
Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund 39.8 38.6 37.5 37.5
Other reserves ..., 25.0 36.4 59.2 59.7

65.2 75.8 97.5 98.0

Provision for retirement and related obligations relates to allowances for indemnities that replace the
advance-notice and additional monthly payments for active personnel with vested right of notice pursuant to
the National Collective Bargaining Agreement for the Electricity Sector and union agreements.

The Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund is a fund for retired management. Pursuant to the agreement
which regulated the transfer of business from Enel to Terna in October 1999, Terna assumed liabilities under
the plan and responsibilities for any future contributions needed.

Other reserves consist of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Reserves for disputes and litigation ............ 10.2 12.1 12.2 12.2

Reserves for contingent liabilities and

Other 10SSES .....ovvevieiiiiiirieicieccreecee 14.6 16.8 47.0 47.5

Reserves for early retirement incentives .... 0.2 7.5 - -
25.0 36.4 59.2 59.7

Reserves for disputes and litigation, based on the opinion of in-house and independent counsel, is intended
to cover potential liabilities existing at year-end that could result from litigation and other proceedings in
progress, related mainly to services provided by suppliers, employees and grid operation matters. The
reserve does not include the impact of litigation that is expected to be resolved in favor of Terna and those
for which the outcome cannot be reasonably quantified or the plaintiffs’ prospects are considered by Terna
to be remote.

Reserves for contingent liabilities and other losses as of 31st December, 2003 includes, among other items,
€18.0 million representing an estimate of liabilities resulting from the adjustments of the annual fee for the
utilization of the Terna Grid, based on more conservative estimates of Terna’s percentage ownership of the
Italian Grid. In addition, at 31st December, 2003, 2002 and 2001, reserves for contingent liabilities and other
losses include allocations for refunds to third parties relating contributions received in the past for
connections to the Terna Grid for higher amount than actually due, for transformer failures and extraordinary
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events pertaining to high voltage plants, and for expenses related to expected decommissioning of plants and
other expenses.

Reserves for early retirement incentives include the estimated allowance for extraordinary expenses
pertaining to the offer to employees for early retirement. During 2003, reserves for early retirement were
liquidated, as all the employees that entered the program were terminated during the period.

(28) Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity consists of the following at 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Share capital .......cceccevveerieniiieiieneeeee 2,036.1 2,036.1 2,036.1 2,036.1
Other 1eServes .....coovvveeecveeeriieeecieeeeeeeeens 283.8 330.0 374.0 374.0
Retained earnings ..........ccoeceeeveeeieenieenieene 0.2 0.2 0.3 335.7
Interim dividend ...........cccooeeeiiieiiiniiieeeeinn, (6.7) - - -
NEt INCOME ..ovvveervieeerieeeeiee e 68.0 88.1 123.5 220.4
MinNOority interest ......ccceevveveerverreerveneeneenns - - - 0.2

2,381.4 2,454.4 2,533.9 2,966.4

Share capital

At the 21st March, 2001 General Shareholders’ Meeting, the Shareholder approved the redenomination of
share capital in Euro, bringing the par value of each share from Lire 1,000 to €0.50. The same meeting
approved a reverse stock split whereby one share with a face value of €1.0 was to be exchanged for every
two shares with a nominal value of €0.50. Pursuant to these transactions, the resulting share capital is
represented by 2,036,050,000 common shares with a nominal value of €1.0 held entirely by Enel. Rounding
led to a decrease in share capital from €2,103.1 million to €2,036.1 million and an additional legal reserve
of €67.0 million (which is approximately 3.1% and therefore within the 5% limit required by Art. 17,
paragraph 6 of Legislative Decree No 213 of 24th June, 1998, as amended by Legislative Decree No. 206 of
15th June, 1999).

Appropriation of 2001 net income

At the 26th March, 2002 General Shareholders’ Meeting, the Shareholder approved the financial statements
and management report as of and for the year ended 31st December, 2001, and allocated the 2001 net income
as follows:

° €3.4 million, equal to 5% of net income, to the legal reserve;
° €42.8 million to the allowance for accelerated depreciation;
o €6.7 million as interim dividends distributed during 2001; and

° €15.1 million as a dividend due to the Shareholder, paid in April 2002.

Appropriation of 2002 net income

At the 13th March, 2003 General Shareholders’ Meeting, the Shareholder approved the financial statements
and management report as of and for the year ended 31st December, 2002, and allocated the 2002 net income
as follows:

° €4.4 million, equal to 5% of net income, to the legal reserve;

o €39.6 million to the allowance for accelerated depreciation;
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° €44.0 million as dividends due to the Shareholder (€0.0216 per share), paid in April 2003; and

° €0.1 million as retained earnings.

Appropriation of 2003 net income

At the 3rd March, 2004, General Shareholders’ Meeting, the Shareholder approved the financial statements
and management report as of and for the year ended 31st December, 2003, and allocated 2003 net income
as follows:

° €6.2 million, or 5% of net income, to the legal reserve;
o €36.9 million to the allowance for accelerated depreciation;
° €80.2 million as dividends due to the Shareholder (€0.0394 per share); and

° €0.2 million as retained earnings.

Other reserves
Other reserves pertain to the legal reserve and the reserve for accelerated depreciation.

The reserve for accelerated depreciation relates to accelerated depreciation from previous fiscal years.
During each year presented, undistributable reserves were provided for the amount corresponding to the
accelerated depreciation from the previous year. During each year presented, €5.2 million, €3.5 million and
€3.6 million for the years ending 31st December, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, have been reclassified
from the undistributable reserve for accelerated depreciation to an available reserve following the tax
recovery of deductible accelerated depreciation for each period presented.

Interim dividend

In compliance with the provisions of Article 2433 bis of the Italian Civil Code, and Article 29.3 of the By-
laws, the Board of Directors met on 28th September, 2001, and, based on Terna’s positive financial
performance and equity position as of 31st August, 2001, declared a 2001 interim dividend. The total
dividend of €6.7 million was paid on 28th September, 2001.

Minority interest

Minority interest represents the amount of the minority shareholder of TSN.

Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity and net income of Terna to consolidated data

The following is a reconciliation of Terna’s net income and shareholders’ equity as of 31st December, 2003
to the Terna group’s net income and consolidated shareholders’ equity, not considering minority interest, as
of 31st December, 2003:

Net income for Shareholders’
the year ended equity as of
31st December, 31st December,

2003 2003

(millions of euro)

TINA S.PA ettt et st 123.5 2,533.9

Equity contributed by consolidated companies ...........ccccoeeeereerieriereennenne - 41.0

Elimination of the book value of consolidated ownership interests............. - (156.2)
Consolidated g0OdWill .......ccciiiiiiiiiiiiie e - 1154

MINOTILY INEETESES ..uveiveeuierieirieenteete et st et ettt st st sbee b ettt e b e - 0.2)
Consolidation adjustment relating to additional depreciation, net of

related CONIIDULIONS ....c..ccueviriiririinieieieieieteerecee et 96.9 4323

2204 2,966.2
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(29)  Commitments

Commitments are as follows as of 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)
(millions of euro)
Guarantees:
Unsecured guarantees given to third
PATTIES woeiieeiieiieeiie ettt 2.0 2.2 7.4 7.4
Other commitments- commitments with suppliers
Sundry SUPPLES .....eevevveeriieiieierieeeeee 188.7 205.7 193.4 193.4
Contract WOrk ......cccceevevenenercrienennenes 93.5 134.3 162.7 162.7

284.2 342.2 363.5 363.5

Guarantees given to third parties are related to performance guarantees on contracts entered by Terna in
conjunction with the services they offer.

Other commitments to suppliers include commitments for purchases of materials and equipment and services
in the ordinary course of business. The increases recorded over the three-year period are due essentially to
the increase in supplies and services needed to conduct operations.

Off-Balance Sheet contingent liabilities and commitments
(30) Litigation

Terna is involved, both as plaintiff and defendant, in a substantial number of civil and administrative
proceedings, including contractual, human resources, environmental and health matters associated with the
construction and operation of a number of power lines. Based on indications given by legal advisors, the
Company believes the possibility of negative outcome to be remote. The effects of an adverse ruling could
include not only the payment of damages to the plaintiff but also the costs for the modification of parts of
the Terna Grid or temporarily remove parts of the same from service. At present, such unfavorable outcomes
may not be quantified and therefore are not included in the “Provisions for risks and charges”.

(31) Interest rate risk management

In order to manage interest rate risk, Terna uses interest rate swaps to reduce the amount of debt subject to
interest rate fluctuations and stabilize the cost of capital.

The nominal amount of the existing contracts, associated with Terna and the Group, at 31st December, 2001,
2002 and 2003 is shown in the table below:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)
Interest rate SWaps .c..cccceeveevvereeriereeneeneenennees 344.5 496.5 534.7 534.7

Terna’s total debt, as of 31st December, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, was €852.8 million (85.0% at
variable rates), €803.5 million (86.7% at variable rates) and €781.2 million (88.8% at variable rates). The
amounts presented as Terna’s total debt include the amount due to Enel related to the assumption of
medium/long-term loans and financing and the amount due to banks, including the current portion.

Considering the interest rate swaps, the percentage of total debt still exposed to the risk of exchange rate
fluctuations is estimated to be 44.0%, 24.9% and 20.4%, respectively, as of 31st December, 2001, 2002 and
2003.

Consolidated long-term debt as of 31st December, 2003, is €945.4 million (including 90.8% at variable
rates). By virtue of the existing hedging contracts as of 31st December, 2003, the portion of debt still exposed
to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations is estimated to be approximately 34.2%.
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(32) Exchange rate risk

Regarding the Brazilian subsidiaries, the Group is exposed to the risk of exchange rate fluctuation, which
could impact the Group’s profitability. Specifically, part of TSN’s and Novatrans’s loans are denominated in
a foreign currency. The exposure to foreign exchange risk of the Group as of 31st December, 2003, was equal
to €330.5 million, of which €289.8 million relates to Novatrans and €40.7 million relates to TSN. This risk
is partially covered through hedges with major financial institutions for a total of €285.7 million, exclusively
pertaining to Novatrans’ loans, which represents 86.4% of the total exposure of the Brazilian subsidiaries.

The risk of exchange rate fluctuation also impacts cash flows coming from Brazil in the form of dividends,
interest or repayment of principal, and any other distribution to Terna in the local currency. It also impacts
the value of assets expressed in the local currency at the time of conversion to Terna’s reporting currency,
which as of 31st December, 2003 represents 12.6% of the Group’s net consolidated invested equity.

INCOME STATEMENT

Terna Group’s 2003 consolidated income statement does not reflect the economic results of the Brazilian
subsidiaries since the companies were acquired on 31st December, 2003.

(33) Operating Revenues

The following table shows comparative data for the years ending December 31:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Revenues from Regulated Activities in Italy:

Annual fees for utilization of the Terna Grid 708.7 730.0 782.3 782.3
Other Regulated Activities .......cc.ccocevenee. 29.8 25.0 29.8 24.5
738.5 755.0 812.1 806.8

Revenues from Other Activities and income in

Italy

From Enel Group companies .........c......... 44.7 63.6 47.9 47.9
From third parties .........ccocceevveviiiineeneennne. 9.5 11.2 17.1 17.1
54.2 74.8 65.0 65.0
792.7 829.8 877.1 871.8

Revenues from Regulated Activities in Italy for the year ended 31st December, 2003 mainly consist of the
annual fees for the utilization of the Terna Grid relating to the remuneration of the operation, maintenance
and development activities of the Terna Grid. The increase in 2003 is due to an increase in electricity demand
causing increased use of the Terna Grid and due to the increase in electricity transportation tariffs revised in
2003 by the Italian Energy Authority Deliberation No. 152/02.

The increase in fees for the utilization of the Terna Grid in 2002 mainly results from the effects of the Italian
Energy Authority Deliberation No. 228/01 that unified electrical transportation fees for eligible and not
eligible customers and provided to Terna additional fees for transmission activity.

Other Regulated Activities revenues mainly result from third-party contributions for connection to the Terna
Grid or development activities related to modifications of lines.

The consolidated revenues for Other Regulated Activities do not include €5.3 million due to the
consolidation adjustment posted to eliminate the grant contribution amounts recognized solely for tax
purposes.

Revenues from Other Activities and income in Italy represents services rendered to Enel Group companies
and services rendered to third parties.
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In the three years presented, services rendered to Enel Group companies consist of revenues from the
maintenance of high voltage lines owned by Enel Distribuzione, housing of fiberoptic cables for Enel.Net
and maintenance and development of such cables (€6.3 million). The higher revenues for the year ended
31st December, 2002, relates to the sale of the underwater fiberoptic cable laid between the Italy and Greece
to Enel.it (€9.4 million).

Revenues from Other Activities and Income in Italy from third parties mainly relates to the operation and
maintenance of high voltage plants owned by third parties and services rendered for plant engineering,
constructions, operations and maintenance activities other than for remote network management and control
services and telecommunication sector services.

(34) Operating Costs

Operating costs are as follows for the years ending December 31:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Salaries and benefits.........c.cccoveevveeriiecriennnenne. 164.5 165.9 163.8 163.8
Raw materials ........ccooeevieiiieiiiinieiiieiecieee 14.4 18.9 14.4 14.4
SEIVICES . .uviiiieiiieiiestterte et 114.1 99.9 90.4 90.4
Rental and lease exXpenses ..........ccceereenuennee. 15.3 13.8 14.5 14.5
Miscellaneous operating eXpenses .................. 16.9 17.3 15.8 15.8
Capitalized expenditures ...........cccccevereenuennen. (12.5) (14.8) (17.4) (17.4)
312.7 301.0 281.5 281.5

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits are as follows for the years ending 31st December:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Wages and salaries .....c...ccceceeveevieriennennen. 115.8 116.9 114.5 114.5
Social security contributions...........ccc.ceue... 31.7 31.5 31.3 31.3
Employee termination indemnities ............ 9.5 9.9 9.7 9.7
Employee pension and similar obligations 1.6 1.3 1.7 1.7
Other COSES .ueeruiiniiiiinienieeieeieneeseeee e 59 6.3 6.6 6.6

164.5 165.9 163.8 163.8

The following table shows the average number of employees of Terna by employment category (as of
31st December) and employees as of 31st December, 2003:

No. of

employees

as of 31st

Average no. of employees December,

2001 2002 2003 2003

MANAZETS ...t 26 28 28 30
OFFICETS ittt 224 219 215 204
EMPIOYEES et 1,531 1,515 1,492 1,422
WOTKETS ettt 1,437 1,433 1,337 1,165
3,218 3,195 3,072 2,821
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Raw materials and changes in inventories

Costs for materials and inventories charges relating to the purchase of materials and spare parts for plants
management and maintenance amount to €14.4 million for the year ended 3 1st December, 2003, 18.9 million
for the year ended 31st December, 2002 and €14.4 million for the year ended 31st December, 2001, net of
change in inventory relating to each year presented.

Services

Services for the years ended 31st December are as follows:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Services rendered from Enel Group

COMPANIES ..eeenvieiiieniieeiieeieeeieesiieesiee e 78.2 56.9 50.4 50.4
Maintenance and repairs .........ccccceeeeerieene 22.8 27.0 21.2 21.2
INSUrance ........ccocccoeveeviieniieie e 3.1 4.3 5.1 5.1
Transport and leasing .........c.ccocoeceevveienicnns 0.6 0.9 0.8 0.8
Other SEIVICES .....coevveruerirenieeieeeeererennenne 94 10.8 12.9 12.9

114.1 99.9 90.4 90.4

Telecommunications costs (services from Wind) and general services’ costs (services from Enel Real Estate
S.p.A. and Enel.it) are included in services rendered from Enel Group companies.

Cost for services rendered by Enel Group companies constantly decreased over the period due to the
reduction in volume required.

Rental and lease expenses

Costs for rental and lease expense relate to rent payable to Enel Group companies and other rent, leasing
costs and miscellaneous fees.

Miscellaneous operating expenses

Miscellaneous operating expenses relate mainly to contributions to the Electricity Sector Employee Pension
Fund, ordinary plants decommissioning write-downs, energy discounts provided to retired employees and
various local taxes.

Capitalized expenditures

Capitalized expenditures for the years ended 31st December are as follows:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Raw materials and other parts...................... 2.7 32 4.3 4.3
Personnel expenditures ............ccoccevveveennene 9.8 11.6 13.1 13.1
12.5 14.8 17.4 17.4
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(35) Amortization and depreciation

Amortization and depreciation for the years ended 31st December are the following:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Amortization of intangible assets ................ - - - -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

— Economic-technical............ccccvvveennn. 235.4 242.2 139.6 139.6
—  Additional .......cceoveiiiiiiiiiieieee, 47.7 45.1 151.4 -
283.1 287.3 291.0 139.6

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31st December, 2003, has been calculated
based on the new depreciation rates, which were revised during 2003 in order to better represent the
estimated useful life of the plants of Terna. Additional depreciation is charged to the extent of ordinary
depreciation rates, as allowed for tax purposes.

(36) Other allowances and write-downs

Other allowances and write-downs for the years ended 31st December are as follows:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Provisions for risks and charges .................. 8.7 5.2 36.1 36.1
Provisions for doubtful debts ...................... 1.7 1.1 1.0 1.0
Write-downs of non-current assets .............. - 0.4 - -

10.4 6.7 37.1 37.1

Provisions for risks and charges for the year ended 31st December, 2003 mainly relate to the estimate of
liabilities resulting from the adjustments of the annual fee for the utilization of the Terna Grid, based on a
conservative estimate of Terna’s percentage ownership of the Italian Grid, in addition to other losses for
refunds to third parties relating to contributions received in the past for connections to the Terna Grid for a
higher amount than that actually due, for transformer failures and extraordinary events pertaining to the high
voltage plants.
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(37) Net interest income (expense)

Net interest income (expense) for the years ended 31st December is as follows:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Interest income:

Interest accrued on tax credits ................ 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2
Other financial income ..........ccccceevveeenee. 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1
Interest on current account with Enel .... 6.8 10.9 15.8 15.8
Total interest income ............c.......cooonne. 7.2 11.3 16.1 16.1

Interest expense:
Interest on loans and medium- and

long-term debt transferred .................. (40.1) (37.3) (37.1) (37.1)
Interest on EIB financing .........c.ccceceeeee (8.7) (11.1) (8.0) (8.0)
Interest on derivatives (SWaps) .............. - 2.1 (6.1) (6.1)

Total interest expense ...............ccceceeveennenne (48.8) (50.5) (51.2) (51.2)
(41.6) (39.2) 35.1) 35.1)

Interest income mainly relates to the interest earned from cash and cash equivalents in the current account
with Enel and constantly increases over the period due to the higher average balances in such account.

Interest expenses remain substantially unchanged since the decrease in the interest on loans and medium to
long-term debt transferred by Enel and on EIB financing has been partially offset by the negative margin
accrued on interest rate hedging contracts (swaps) entered into by Terna in 2002 and 2003.

(38) Net extraordinary income (expense)

Extraordinary income for the year ended 31st December, 2003 amounts to €2.2 million (€3.5 for the year
ended 31st December, 2002 and €0.5 million for the year ended 31st December, 2001) and consists mainly
of higher income taxes withheld over the previous year compared to the actual tax liability as shown on the
tax return (€2.1 million for the year ended 31st December, 2003, €3.4 million for the year ended
31st December, 2002 and €0.5 million for the year ended 31st December, 2001) and from the recovery of
legal expenses for judgments in favor of Terna (€0.1 million for the years ended 31st December, 2003 and
2002).

Extraordinary expenses for the year ended 31st December, 2003 amount to €17.2 million (€48.1 million for
the year ended 31st December, 2002 and €38.7 million for the year ended 31st December, 2001) and refer
mainly to costs paid for the tax amnesty pursuant to Law No. 289/2002 (€2.8 million for the year ended
31st December, 2003), to the temporary offer for early-retirement of employees (€4.3 million for the year
ended 31st December, 2003, €12.7 million for the year ended 31st December, 2002 and €2.6 million for the
year ended 31st December, 2001) and to contractual penalties (€4.0 million for the year ended
31st December, 2003), pertaining to real property leasing contracts, imposed by Enel Real Estate.
Extraordinary expenses for the year ended 31st December, 2003 also include a cumulative adjustment in
order to align the amortization of the grant contributions with the effective useful life of the related plants
(€6.1 million for the year ended 31st December, 2003).

Extraordinary expenses for the year ended 31st December, 2002 and 2001 include the extraordinary
contribution due upon the cancellation of the FPE (€35.4 million for the year ended 31st December, 2002,
and €35.6 million for the year ended 31st December, 2001).
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(39) Taxes

Current, prepaid and deferred taxes for the years ended 31st December are as follows:

2001 2002 2003 2003
(Company) (Company) (Company) (Consolidated)

(millions of euro)

Current taxes:

— IRPEG ..ottt 7.6 37.6 75.1 75.1

— IRAP i 13.7 16.4 19.0 19.0
Total current taxes ...........c..ccceceeveeienuenene 213 54.0 94.1 94.1
Prepaid taxes .....cooveeveerienieniieieeieseeeiee 3.0 4.0) (8.4) (8.4)
Deferred taxes ......ccccoevveverenenieeeieieienens 14.4 12.9 8.2 57.4
38.7 62.9 93.9 143.1

The significant increase in the current taxes for the year ended 31st December, 2003 relates to the higher
income before taxes for the period and the tax benefits of the so called “Tremonti bis Law”, which in 2002
caused a decrease in the taxable amount of €32.2 million (€46.1 million for the year ended 31st December,
2001). The Tremonti bis Law was no longer in force in 2003.

Net allocation for prepaid taxes in 2003 reflects the movement in the provisions for risks and charges of the
period as well as the adjustment of the tax rate following the introduction of the new income taxes (IRES)
which will replace IRPEG.

Deferred taxes reflect the tax benefit related to the accelerated depreciation that will be charged upon the
appropriation of profits by the Shareholder in the following year.

The combined statutory tax rate is 43.2% for the year ended 3 1st December, 2003, 41.7% for the year ended
31st December, 2002 and 36.2% for the year ended 31st December, 2001.

Terna applied the tax amnesty pursuant to Law No. 289 of 27th December, 2002 for its direct taxes for 1999,
2000, 2001 and 2002. Therefore, the open tax position refers only to 2003.

The table below shows the reconciliation between statutory tax rate of Terna and effective tax rate for the
periods.

2001 2002 2003

(millions of euro)

Taxable income as per income statements™ ..........cocceeveeveenennennnen 106.6 151.0 217.4
— Tax benefit as per Law No. 383/01 .....cccevieviiiinienienieenn (46.1) (32.2) -
— Accelerated depreciation............oceereeereeriereeneenieeieseeseenieenns (36.8) (34.1) (28.4)
—  Changes N ProVISIONS .....ccocueerieerieenieeniie e nieeseeeneeesiee e (7.0) 11.5 22.7
—  Other INCIEASES ..vvveererereeerieeeiiieeecreeeeiteeeerreeeerreeesreeeesreeeenns 4.4 8.2 9.4
IRPEG taxable INCOME ......cveeeeiuiieeiiiieeeiieeeeiee et eiee e sveeeeivee e 21.1 104.4 221.1
RaALE oo e a e e e 36% 36% 34%
Tax expense fOr the Year.........coceviivieririiinienieeeeeeeee 7.6 37.6 75.1
(1) Income before taxes as per income statements has been determined reclassifying additional depreciation charge, extraordinary

contribution and related tax effect to the original line items.
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ANNEX A

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ITALIAN GAAP AND
IFRS, AS APPLIED TO THE TERNA GROUP

The consolidated financial statements of Terna included in the Offering Circular are extracted from the
consolidated financial statements that were prepared for Italian statutory purposes in accordance with the
Italian law governing the preparation of consolidated financial statements, as interpreted by, and integrated
with, the accounting principles established by the Consigli Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei
Ragionieri, the Italian accounting profession (collectively, “Italian GAAP”). See note 2 to the audited
financial statements and audited consolidated financial statements included in this Offering Circular for a
more detailed discussion of reclassifications made to the Italian Statutory Financial Statements. Italian
GAAP differs in certain significant respects from International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board. From 2005 onwards, Terna will be required
to prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS.

The differences may be material to the financial information included in this Offering Circular. In making
an investment decision, investors must rely upon their own examination of Terna, the terms of the offering
and the financial information included in this Offering Circular. Potential investors should consult their own
professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between Italian GAAP and IFRS and how those
differences might affect the financial information included in this Offering Circular.

Certain significant differences between Italian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the consolidated financial
statements of Terna are summarized below. However, this summary does not provide a comprehensive
analysis, including quantification of such differences, but rather it is a listing of potential differences in
accounting principles related to the consolidated financial statements of Terna. Terna has not quantified these
differences, nor undertaken a reconciliation of its consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with Italian GAAP to IFRS. Had Terna undertaken any such quantification or reconciliation, other
potentially significant accounting and disclosure differences may have come to its attention which are not
identified below. Accordingly, Terna can provide no assurance that the identified differences in the summary
below represent all the principal differences relating to the consolidated financial statements of Terna.
Regulatory bodies that promulgate Italian GAAP and IFRS have significant ongoing projects that could
affect a future comparison such as this. In addition, no attempt has been made to identify future differences
between Italian GAAP and IFRS resulting from prescribed future changes in accounting standards.

Goodwill
Italian GAAP

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and reflect residual amounts of investments whose economic life spans
over several years. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected economic
useful lives of the assets. Start-up and organization costs are amortized over a five-year period and have been
fully amortized as of 31st December, 2003.

Goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Brazilian Subsidiaries from Enelpower and it is recorded in the
balance sheet when the price paid for the acquisition exceeds the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over 30 years,
which is the period deemed representative of the underlying business value. This criterion is also applied to
consolidated goodwill.

IFRS

Under IFRS, goodwill arises as a residual item after the allocation of the cost of a business acquisition to the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition.
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After initial recognition, the acquirer must recognize goodwill at cost, less any accumulated impairment
losses. After a goodwill impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of goodwill is its new
accounting basis.

Tangible Fixed Assets
Italian GAAP

Tangible assets are recorded at the cost of purchase or production cost, inclusive of any additional expense
incurred and of revaluations made by Enel, as transferor of the business unit relating to the Terna Grid, in
accordance with specific laws issued by the Italian government.

The value of tangible assets excludes costs incurred in maintaining or restoring the state of efficiency and
proper functioning of plants. Since these costs do not affect the magnitude or potential capacity of the plants,
such costs are expensed as incurred.

In the event of permanent impairment in value, the assets are written down to their respective recoverable
value. If the circumstances for a write-down no longer exist, the book value is increased to the original
amount, net of depreciation.

IFRS

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognized at its cost, comprising principally its purchase price,
directly attributable costs and the initial estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the item. After the
initial recognition as an asset, an entity may choose either the cost model or the revaluation model. Under
the cost model as its accounting policy, an item of property, plant and equipment must be carried at its cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Under the revaluation model, an
item of property, plant and equipment is carried at its revalued amount, less any accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. If an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the entire class
of property, plant and equipment to which that asset belongs must be revalued. Depreciation is allocated on
a systematic basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Pension and Employee Termination Accounting
Italian GAAP

The provision is in compliance with the law and collective bargaining agreements in force as of the balance
sheet date, and reflects the liability accrued toward employees as of the balance sheet date, net of advances
made, pursuant to law, as well as contributions made to the Fondo Pensioni Gruppo Enel (“Fondenel”).

The provision also includes compensation to be paid in lieu of notice to existing personnel pursuant to
collective bargaining agreements and union agreements currently in force.

IFRS

Under IFRS, the TFR is accounted for as a defined benefit plan, using actuarial techniques to make a reliable
estimate of benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
The benefit is computed using the projected unit credit method in order to determine the present value of the
defined benefit obligation and the current service cost. Any plan assets are stated at fair value.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Italian GAAP

Derivative contracts are entered into in order to hedge against the risk of interest-rate and exchange rate
fluctuations.
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The interest differentials to be received or paid on interest rate swaps at the end of each reporting period are
accrued over the life of the contract and classified as “Financial income (expense)”.

Foreign currency hedging instruments are valued at the spot rate on the balance sheet date. Related gains and
losses are recorded in the income statement as exchange rate differences under the “Other financial income
and expenses” item. Premiums and discounts paid or received on such instruments are deferred and recorded
in the income statement over the life of the instrument purchased or sold.

IFRS

Derivative financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value, at which date the instrument must be
designated as held for trading or as a hedging instrument.

The subsequent recognition of derivative financial instruments continues to be at fair value. The effect from
changes in the market value of derivatives is either recorded in the statement of income within results from
ordinary operations, for those instruments designated as held for trading, or in equity, if the instrument
qualifies as an effective cash flow hedge. Documentation requirements for applying hedge accounting are
extensive. The ineffective portion of the hedge is recorded through income, and only the effective portion of
qualifying cash flow hedges is recorded as equity.
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ANNEX B

SUMMARY HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA AND UNAUDITED PRO
FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following summary historical financial data as of and for the six-month period ended 30th June, 2004,
have been derived from our interim consolidated financial statements that appear elsewhere in this Offering
Circular. Our independent auditors did not audit our interim consolidated financial statements for the six-
month period ended 30th June, 2004.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial data have been prepared by applying pro forma
adjustments to our historical audited consolidated financial statements and our historical unaudited interim
financial statements, that appear elsewhere in this Offering Circular, and in accordance with the Principles
for the Preparation of Pro Forma Information in CONSOB Resolution DEM/1052803 of 5th July, 2001.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial data do not necessarily reflect our consolidated
financial position and consolidated cash flows as they would have been if transactions or events
contemplated therein actually had occurred on the dates specified below, nor are they indicative of our future
operating results.

You should read the following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial data together with “Unaudited Pro
Forma Consolidated Financial Statements”.

As of and As of and for the
for the six-month period ended
year ended
31st December, 30th June, 30th June,
2003 2003 2004

(pro forma (pro forma, (historical,
consolidated) consolidated) consolidated)

(millions of euro)
Pro forma Income Statement Data:

Revenues from regulated activities in Italy ........cccoocevenininininiiiiiicnncnee 806.8 394.2 428.5
Revenues from other activities and other income in Italy ... 64.8 37.0 38.7
Revenues from regulated activities in Brazil ....................... 47.0 20.6 51.7
Total operating revenues............cocceeevveeeerereenennee 918.6 451.8 518.9
Total operating expenses...... 295.4 143.7 171.4
Gross operating mMargin.........ceceeveeeeeverrererieneneeeenens 623.2 308.1 347.5
Amortization, depreciation and other allowances ..... 187.3 130.8 94.3
Earnings before interest and taxes .......c....cocceeveruenenn. 4359 177.3 253.2
Earning before taxes .......c..coccvcerenuene 304.7 119.6 190.6
INEt INCOME ..eiiiiiiiiic s 172.8 59.3 102.2
Pro forma Balance Sheet Data:
TOLAL ASSELS ..evvvieeerie ettt ettt e et e ettt e et e e et e e e tt e e eateeeaeeeeateeeateeeataeeraeas 4,967.7 4,651.0 4,708.2
— CUITEN e 608.5 618.1 3227
— Cash and cash equivalent 340.0 353.7 31.2
— Trade ReCEIVADIE ......cc.evviiiieiiieieieeee et 210.9 153.1 184.2
= ONET ettt 57.6 111.3 107.3
— Non Current.... 4,359.2 4,032.9 4,385.5
—PP&E oo 4,195.8 3,871.0 4,2353
— INEANGIDIC ..ot 115.5 115.5 113.3
— Other 47.9 46.4 36.9
Total THADILILIES ...v.vevveeiieieiiiieici ettt 3,201.3 3,044.0 2,939.8
= CUITENE ..t 1,519.1 1,652.5 1,887.2
— Current portion of amounts due to banks ... 8.5 34 14.8
— Current portion of amounts due to Enel ..........ccccoccevininnininiincncncnenne 1,221.6 1,213.5 1,408.7
= ONET ettt 289.0 435.6 463.7
— Non Current 1,682.2 1,374.6 1,052.0
— Long-term portion of amounts due to banks ..........cc.ccvevveneenenincneennnn. 480.7 363.8 478.7
— Long-term portion of amounts due to Enel..........ccccocevivinininniincncncnennen. 436.3 456.1 0.0
— Other 765.2 554.7 573.3
SharehOlders” @QUILY .....ccveevieierieeie ettt sttt et esae e eeees 1,766.4 1,607.0 1,769.0
—Share Capital .............cccoiiiiiiic e 440.0 440.0 440.0
— Other reserves and retained earnings ..............c.ccococeveveninieieiienienenenene 1,326.4 1,167.0 1,329.0



UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31st
December, 2003 (the “unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements”), the unaudited pro forma
consolidated interim financial statements as of and for the six-month period ended 30th June, 2003 (the
“unaudited pro forma interim consolidated financial statements”) have been prepared by applying pro forma
adjustments to our historical audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Offering
Circular and our historical unaudited interim financial statements, in accordance with the “Principles for the
Preparation of Pro forma Information” in CONSOB Resolution DEM/1052803 of 5th July, 2001.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and unaudited pro forma consolidated
interim financial statements do not necessarily reflect the consolidated financial position, operating results
and cash flows as they would have been if transactions or events described therein actually occurred on the
dates specified below, nor are they indicative of our future consolidated financial position, operating results
and cash flows.

Unaudited pro forma consolidated income statements

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated income statement for the year ended 31st December, 2003
and the unaudited pro forma consolidated interim income statement for the six-month period ended 30th
June, 2003 include the effect of:

(a)  the results of TSN and Novatrans for the year ended 31st December, 2003 or for the six-month period
ended 30th June, 2003, respectively (the “Brazilian Subsidiaries’ Results”);

(b)  the acquisitions by Terna of TSN and Novatrans (the “Brazilian Acquisitions”) (as described
elsewhere in this Offering Circular) on the financial income or expenses for the periods presented, as
if such acquisitions had occurred on 1st January, 2003 and therefore at the beginning of the periods
presented;

(¢c)  the short-term line of credit for an amount of €1,200.0 million and bearing interest at the three-month
Euribor plus a spread of 25 basis point (the “Enel Line of Credit”) made available on 30th April, 2004,
by Enel to Terna to fund the return of capital pursuant to article 2445 of the Italian Civil Code as
contemplated by Terna’s resolution relating to the reduction of share capital from €2,036.1 million to
€440 million by means of (i) a return of capital in the amount of €1,200 million, (ii) the allocation of
€396.1 million to “Other reserves”, and (iii) the reduction of the par value of each ordinary share from
€1.00 to €0.22 (together, the “Capital Reduction”), as if the Capital Reduction had occurred on 1st
January, 2003 and therefore at the beginning of the periods presented.

Unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheets

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet as of 31st December, 2003 includes (a) the
Capital Reduction, and (b) the Enel Line of Credit as if they had occurred or were made available on the
balance sheet date.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated interim balance sheet as of 30th June, 2003 includes, other
than the relevant consolidation adjustments, (a) the Brazil Acquisitions, (b) the Capital Reduction and (c) the
Enel Line of Credit as if they had occurred or were made available on 30th June, 2003.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

Income statement
Operating Revenues:

Revenues from regulated activities in Italy ........c..cccceeeenee.

Revenues from other activities and other

income in Ttaly ......ocooerinininiiiiiieeeene
Revenues from regulated activities in Brazil .......................
Total operating revenues ................cccccecevveveenereerenceennnns

Operating expenses:

Payroll €XPENSE ....c.ceerueruerieriiniiieieieteteeee et
Raw materials and changes in inventories ..........c.ccocceeuenee.
Services rendered ..o
Rental and lease eXpenses........coceecereerereenereenerieneeneennens
Miscellaneous operating €Xpenses ...........ceeeeveerveereereeneennens
Capitalized eXpenditures ..........coccoveveeevevrereeinenenenenennennenne
Total operating eXpenses.............ccccceeeeverenvenenenenenennenn

Gross operating margin ..............cccoeeeeeeieniienienie e

Amortization, depreciation and other allowances:

Amortization of intangible assets .........ccccecevververienrerenennenn
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ...................
Other allowances and write dOWNS ........ccccceereenericneenncnnn.
Total amortization, depreciation and other allowances ..

Earnings before interest and taxes ..............c..ccoccooeveeenen.
INtErest INCOME .ovvviieiiieeciie et eae e
INterest EXPENSE™ ....cccuiiiiieiieiieeieerie ettt
Net interest income (EXPense).............cccceeveveervercreeneensneenne

Pro forma adjustments

TSN and
Historical Novatrans Pro forma
consolidated results consolidated
for the for the for the
year ended year ended year ended
31st 31st Brazil 31st
December, December,  Acquisi- Capital December,
2003 2003 tions® Reduction®” 2003
(millions of euro)
806.8 - 806.8
65.0 - 0.2) 64.8
_ 47.0 - 47.0
871.8 47.0 0.2) - 918.6
163.8 1.1 -
14.4 0.1 - 164.9
90.4 8.2 0.2) 98.4
14.5 0.2 - 14.7
15.8 4.5 - 20.3
(17.4) - - (17.4)
281.5 14.1 0.2) - 295.4
590.3 329 - - 623.2
- - 4.1 4.1
139.6 6.5 - 146.1
37.1 - - 37.1
176.7 6.5 4.1 - 187.3
413.6 26.4 “.1) - 435.9
16.1 25.7 (10.7) 31.1
(51.2)  (77.1) 123 (31.3) (147.3)
(35.1) (51.4) 1.6 31.3) (116.2)
378.5 (25.0) 2.5) 31.3) 319.7
(15.0) - - - (15.0)
363.5 (25.0) 2.5) (31.3) 304.7
(143.1) (3.1) 3.7 10.6  (131.9)
220.4 (28.1) 1.2 (20.7) 172.8

* Includes interest relating to (i) the loan from BNDES to TSN (€14.5 million), (ii) foreign exchange losses (€10.2 million) and expenses
relating to foreign exchange hedging contracts for short term loans by Enelpower to TSN pending the grant of the BNDES loan (€7.1 million),
(iii) Enelpower’s loan to Novatrans (assumed by Terna pursuant to the acquisition of Novatrans), and (iv) expenses relating to foreign-currency

hedging contracts for the Enelpower loan (€28.1 million)
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED 30TH JUNE, 2003

Pro forma adjustments

TSN and
Novatrans Pro forma
Historical results consolidated
Terna for the for the for the
six month  six month six month
period period Con- period
ended ended Brazil  solidation ended
30th June, 30th June, Acquisi- adjust- Capital 30th June,
2003 2003 tions® ments® Reduction® 2003
(millions of euro)
Income statement
Operating Revenues:
Revenues from regulated activities in Italy .......... 394.2 394.2
Revenues from other activities and other
income in Ttaly ...occeeeeeeriieniiiniiniicieieeeeen 37.0 37.0
Revenues from regulated activities in Brazil........ 20.6 20.6
Total operating revenues ................cccceevvvenueenee. 431.2 20.6 451.8
Operating expenses:
Payroll eXpense ........ccceeoeeverienienienieeeeeeeene (81.8) (0.6) (82.4)
Raw materials and changes in inventories............ (6.0) (1.1) (7.1)
Services rendered ...........cooeeeviiiiiiiieiieeeee e (45.0) 4.3) (49.3)
Rental and lease eXpenses .........ccceeeeveeneeeeeneenne. 6.1) 6.1)
Miscellaneous operating eXpenses .............cc.eev.... 4.8) (3.4) (8.2)
Capitalized expenditures .........cccoceveveeererennennen 9.3 0.1 9.4
Total operating exXpenses ..............cccccceeeeveeennennee. (134.4) 9.3) (143.7)
Gross operating margin................ccocoeevverennnne. 296.8 11.3 308.1
Amortization, depreciation and other
allowances:
Amortization of intangible assets..........cccccecuenene. - (2.0) 2.0)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ....  (145.3) 4.4) 22.9 (126.8)
Other allowances and write downs ...................... 2.0) (2.0)
Total amortization, depreciation and other
AllOWANCES .........ocvveevieiieieeiieceeeee e (147.3) 4.4) (2.0) 229 (130.8)
Earnings before interest and taxes.................... 149.5 6.9 2.0) 22.9 177.3
Interest iINCOME .........eeeeeeiiviiiieeieiiieeee e 8.5 12.2 4.2) 16.5
INterest EXPENSE .....eevveerveerieerieeniieeieeree e (24.4) (36.0) 4.8 (17.4) (73.0)
Net interest incCOMe (EXPENSE) ...veeveveereeerveerueennne (15.9) (23.8) 0.6 (17.4) (56.5)
Income from continuing operations...................... 133.6 (16.9) (1.4) 22.9 (17.4) 120.8
Net extraordinary income (€XpPense) .........c......... (1.4) 0.2 (1.2)
Earnings before taxes .........ccccovvvevvveniieineeneennne. 132.2 (16.7) (1.4) 22.9 (17.4) 119.6
TAXES . cuviecteeere ettt ettt et et e e (56.1) (2.8) 1.4 (8.8) 5.9 (60.3)
Net result for that period .........ccceeveveerveerreennnnnn 76.1 (19.5) 0.0 14.1 (11.5) 59.3
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Note 1 - Pro forma adjustments for Brazilian Subsidiaries’ Results

The following pro forma adjustments have been applied to consolidate the Brazilian Subsidiaries’ Results.
The column for TSN and Novatrans includes the results earned in the period presented by the two Brazilian
subsidiaries, disregarding the minority interest (0.26%) held in TSN by Inepar S.A. The economic results are
presented in accordance with Terna’s accounting principles. TSN commenced full operations in April, 2003
and Novatrans commenced partial operations in June, 2003.

Note 2 - Pro forma adjustments related to the Brazilian Acquisitions

The following pro forma adjustments have been applied to the historical consolidated income statements of
the Terna Group for the year ended 31st December, 2003, and to the historical income statement of Terna for
the six-month period ended 30th June, 2003, to illustrate the effect of the Brazilian Acquisitions as if they
had occurred on Ist January, 2003:

(a)  To adjust “Amortization of intangible assets” to reflect the amortization of goodwill resulting from
the Brazilian Acquisitions. The amortization charge of the goodwill has been calculated based on the
goodwill carrying value as of 31st December, 2003 (€115.5 million), the residual useful life for the
concessions (28 years as of Ist January, 2003) and for the periods presented.

(b)  To adjust “Interest income” to reflect the lower average amount of deposits that would have been held
on current account with Enel (pursuant to the Treasury Services Management Agreement) and,
therefore, the lower amount of interest that would have been earned on such deposits, if the Brazilian
Acquisitions had occurred (and the purchase price was paid) on 1st January, 2003.

Specifically, the adjustment reflects the aggregate payment made by Terna for the Brazilian
Acquisitions (€441.0 million, for which €156.2 million was allocated to the purchase of the ownership
interests and €284.8 million was allocated to the assumption of the Enelpower loan to Novatrans) as
if it was deposited on current account with Enel and the interest that would have been earned on such
deposits was calculated using the average interest rate for the periods presented. The result was a pro
forma decrease in interest income of €10.7 million for the year ended 31st December, 2003 or €4.2
million for the six-month period ended 30th June, 2003.

(¢)  To adjust “Interest expense” to eliminate interest expense of €12.3 million for the year ended 31st
December, 2003 or €4.8 million for the six-month period ended 30th June, 2003 incurred by
Novatrans under its loan from Enelpower. Terna assumed the loan from Enelpower pursuant to the
acquisition of Novatrans. The adjustment treats the interest expense as if Terna had made the loan at
the time it was originally granted by Enelpower.

(d)  To record the theoretical tax effect of the pro forma adjustments, calculated by applying the current
IRPEG rate of 34% to earnings before taxes excluding consolidated goodwill amortization and the
Brazilian Subsidiaries’ earnings. There was no theoretical tax effect on the positive adjustment to
“Interest expense” referred to in Note 2(d) above, since Novatrans incurred a loss for the relevant year.

Note 3 - Pro forma adjustments related to the consolidation

To adjust “Depreciation of property plant and equipments” to eliminate the additional depreciation and the
related additional recognition of grant contributions charged by Terna solely for tax purposes for the six-
month period ended 30th June, 2003.

Note 4 - Pro forma adjustments related to the Capital Reduction

To adjust “Interest expense” to reflect the interest expense of €31.3 million for the year ended 31st
December, 2003, €17.4 million for the six-month period ended 30th June, 2003 on the Enel Line of Credit,
as if the Enel Line of Credit was made available on 1st January, 2003, and therefore at the beginning of the
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period presented. Specifically, the interest expense has been calculated on the original amount of the Enel
Line of Credit of €1,200.0 million, applying the interest rate of the three-month Euribor plus 25 basis points,
applicable in the period, and for the period presented. Also, the theoretical tax effect of this pro forma
adjustment has been recorded. This theoretical tax effect is calculated by applying the current IRPEG rate of
34% to earnings before taxes.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

Historical Pro forma
consolidated adjustments  Consolidated
as of 31st for as of 31st
December, Capital December,
2003  Reduction® 2003
(millions of euro)
Assets
CUrTent ASSELS .......coceeviiiiiiiiiiiiriieeeeeee ettt 608.5 - 608.5
Cash and cash equivalents .........c..ccoceevirviriinienieiencceeeeeen 3334 - 3334
Cash restricted fOr USE ....cceivirviiriinieriieiieiere et 6.6 - 6.6
Trade receivables:
Third PArtis ....c.eeevueeiiiieiiienieete ettt 190.7 - 190.7
Enel Group COmMpanies ..........ccoeeereeeiieiieeniieenieenie et 20.2 - 20.2
Other current receivables ..........coceeiiieiiiiiiiieeee e 17.8 - 17.8
TNVENIOTY w.oeiiiiiiiiiie e 34.9 - 34.9
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges ........c..cccceevevvieviieniencnnennee. 4.9 - 4.9
NON-CUITENE ASSELS ......oooeivviiiiiiieiiiiieeceieeeeeieeeeereeeeereeeeereeeeeareeeenns 4,359.2 - 4,359.2
Other 18CEIVADIES ...ocuviieieiieiiiieeiieeeeee e 44.4 - 44.4
INVESTMENLS ..ottt 3.5 - 3.5
INtangible aSSEts ......ooviieriiiiiieiieeee e 115.5 - 115.5
Property plant and equipment, NEt .........ccccecvereerienierienieneeneeienee 4,195.8 - 4,195.8
TOtAl ASSELS .....ooooevieiiiiieeeceee ettt e 4,967.7 - 4,967.7
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Short-term Labilities.............c.cocoooiiiiiiiiiieeeee 319.1 1,200.0 1,519.1
Current portion of amounts due to banks.........c..ccceceeveveveccncnene. 8.5 - 8.5
Current portion of third party advances ........c...ccccevevveerieneenennnennne. 17.2 - 17.2
Trade accounts payable
Third PArtis .....eeevueeiiiiiiienieee ettt 148.6 - 148.6
Enel group COmMPAnies. .......cccueevueeerieeiiieniienieenieesite et 353 - 353
Current portion of amounts due to Enel...........cccoccoviiiiiiiniinnnne. 21.6 1,200.0 1,221.6
Liabilities to social insSurance agencies ...........ccceceeveeveverueruennennenne. 7.5 - 7.5
Tax HaDIIILIES. ...eeuvereieeeieiieieeieeet e 40.2 - 40.2
Other Habilities ......c.evverieriieiiriecieeee e 33.5 - 33.5
Accrued liabilities and deferred income..........ccoceevvecverienveneenennne. 6.7 - 6.7
Long term liabilities .................ccccoooieiiiiiniieeeeeeen 1,682.2 - 1,682.2
Current portion of amounts due to bank...........ccccevevvienicnienennennne. 480.7 - 480.7
Current portion of third party advances ...........c.ccoceeveeveveceenenennenne. 30.5 - 30.5
Trade accounts Payable........ccceecuevierieniiriinierieeeieee e 0.8 - 0.8
Current portion of amounts due to Enel..........ccccccovvviiniinienenienen. 436.3 - 436.3
Accrued liabilities and deferred income..........ccoceevvecveriienvcneenennne. 148.0 - 148.0
Employee termination indemnity .........c..ccoecveerieenienieeniieenieenieene 70.7 - 70.7
Contingent Habilities. .......coeevueriiriirieriiieree e 515.2 - 515.2
Shareholders’ EQUIty ..........ccccooiiiiiiiniiniiiiecee 2,966.4 (1,200.0) 1,766.4
Share Capital .......cccevviivieriieieeeeeeeee e 2,036.1 (1,596.1) 440.0
OthET TESETVES ...eeeueiiiiiieriiieiieeeite ettt ettt et ettt n 374.0 396.1 770.1
Retained arnings .........cooeeevieriieiiiienieenieee et 335.7 - 335.7
INEE INCOMIE ...ttt ettt ettt et ettt st e st e st eeseeeeees 220.4 - 220.4
MINOTIEY INEETESE .euevieeiieiieeiieeiieeiee st e et eeteeeseeeeteeeabeeseeeseeeseeeenees 0.2 - 0.2
Total Liability and Shareholders’ Equity ...............c.cccceeviiennnnnne. 4,967.7 - 4,967.7
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA INTERIM CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS OF 30TH JUNE, 2003
Pro forma adjustments
Historical Brazilian Pro forma
Terna Subsi- Con- consolidated
as of diaries’ Brazil solidation as of
30th June, Assets and Acquisi- adjust- Capital 30th June,
2003 Liabilities® tions® ments® Reduction® 2003
(millions of euro)
Assets
Current assetS...........coocvvveeiiiiiirieeeeeiieeee e 945.0 124 (339.3) 618.1
Cash and cash equivalents ..........cccccccevcieneniennenne. 0.2 5.2 54
Enel SpA inter-company current account ............ 687.6 (339.3) 348.3
Trade receivables:
Third Parties ........ceceveeveererrienerrieneeeneeenene 131.1 4.2 1353
Enel Group companies.........cccceceevveeveneeeennenn 17.8 17.8
Other current receivables ........ccccocvieiiincnnenne. 71.6 1.2 72.8
INVENTOTY oviiiiiiiieiieceeee e 21.8 1.8 23.6
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges ................ 14.9 14.9
Non-current assets ...............ccceeeeveeeeiieeeneeennen. 3,072.6 263.7 339.3 357.3 4,032.9
Other receivables ..........ccccvieeeiiiieciieeecieeeeee e, 22.8 3.7 183.1 (166.7) 42.9
INVEStMENtS.......ooeeiiiieiieecieeeee e 3.5 156.2 (156.2) 3.5
Intangible asSets .........covevverierienienienieieeeeee 115.5 115.5
Property plant and equipment, net............cc..c....... 3,046.3 260.0 564.7 3,871.0
Total Assets .........cccccocvviiiiiniiiiniiiicceee 4,017.6 276.1 0.0 357.3 4,651.0
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Short-term liabilities ...............c.cccocvvnnininns 427.3 208.2 (183.1) 1200.0 1,652.5
Current portion of amounts due to banks ............
Current portion of third party advances................
Trade accounts payable
Third Parties .......ccceeeveeereereersieerieeeenreeseeseeenn 82.3 15.5 97.8
Enel group companies ..........c..cccceeeecveneeciennnene 26.2 26.2
Current portion of amounts due to Parent
COMPANY vttt 183.1 (183.1) 1,200.0 1,200.0
Liabilities to social insurance agencies ................
Tax lHabilities ....c.ccceevevieveririiiiirerereccncen 55.5 0.3 55.8
Other HHabilities.....c..ccvevveverirveririnirereeereneneeen 106.8 9.3 116.1
Accrued liabilities and deferred income .............. 156.5 156.5
Long term liabilities ..................ccccoocoeiinnie 1,103.7 43.5 244.3 0.0 1,391.5
Long-term portion of amounts due to bank .......... 325.0 42.2 367.2
Long-term portion of third party advances ..........
Trade accounts payable ...........cc.ccceeveviiniecennnnne.
Long-term portion of amounts due to Enel .......... 469.6 469.6
Accrued liabilities and deferred income ..............
Other non-current liabilities..........ccoccvevierrereennnne.
Employee termination indemnity ...............ccc....... 76.8 76.8
Contingent 1iabilities .......c.ccccecevvevvervencnenicncnennes 232.3 1.3 2443 477.9
Shareholders’ Equity ..............ccccooeniiiinnnnne. 2,486.6 24.4 296.0 (1,200.0) 1,607.0
Share capital ........ccccoeevevienieiniiniiiinncce 2,036.1 68.5 (68.5) (1,596.1)  440.0
Other IeSETVES....cceuviieerieeeiiieeieeeeireeeireeenereeeeeeees 374.1 73.4 (73.4) 396.1 770.2
Retained €arnings .........cccevverveeenieniieeneeenieeneene 0.3 (98.0) 418.4 320.7
Net result for the period.........ccccceeveeriecieneeeenenne 76.1 (19.5) 19.5 76.1
MINOTity INEIeSt.....eoveeniiiieiiiieieeieie e
Total Liability and Shareholders’ Equity........ 4,017.6 276.1 357.3 0.0 4,651.0
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Note 1 - Pro forma for the Brazilian Subsidiaries Assets and Liabilities assumed

To reflect the assets acquired and the liabilities existing at 30th June, 2003 and assumed by the
Brazilian Subsidiaries, presented in accordance with Terna’s accounting policies.

Note 2 - Pro forma adjustments related to the Brazilian Acquisitions

To reflect the cash of €339.3 million, of which €156.2 million related to the Brazilian Acquisitions
and €183.1 million related to the loan assumed pursuant to the Brazilian Acquisitions, that would have been
used by Terna if it had made the Brazilian Acquisitions and assumed such loan as at 30th June, 2003.

Note 3 - Pro forma adjustments related to the consolidation

The following pro forma adjustments illustrate the effect of the consolidation adjustments on the
unaudited interim balance sheet as at 30th June, 2003:

(a)  To eliminate €183.1 million relating to the intercompany loan to Novatrans, which was assumed by
Terna pursuant to the acquisition of Novatrans.

(b) To eliminate €156.2 million relating to the carrying value of Terna’s investment in the Brazilian
Subsidiaries against €24.4 million relating to their shareholders’ equity value as at 30th June, 2003,
which results in the recognition of goodwill of €115.5 million as of 31st December, 2003, and to
adjust “Other non-current liabilities” to reflect the amount of €16.4 million to balance the
consolidation adjustment

(¢)  To eliminate €564.7 million of additional depreciation charged by Terna solely for tax purposes and
recognized the related tax effect of €244.3 million.

Note 4 - Pro forma adjustments related to the Capital Reduction

The following pro forma adjustments give effect to the Capital Reduction as if it had occurred on the
balance sheet date:

(@)  To adjust “Share capital” for an amount of €1,596.1 million to reflect the return of capital and the
allocation of €396.1 million to “Other reserves” pursuant to the Capital Reduction.

(b)  To adjust “Short-term liabilities” for an amount of €1,200.0 million to reflect the Enel Line of Credit.
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ANNEX C

CONSOLIDATED HALF YEAR REPORT OF THE TERNA GROUP AT 30TH JUNE, 2004

(I) Report on Operations
(II') Consolidated Financial Statements of Terna Group

( III ) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(D)

Report on Operations
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Consolidated half year report of T.E.R.NA. at 30th June, 2004
Report on operations

Pursuant to article 82 of CONSOB resolution no. 11971/1999, the company intends to benefit from the
provision which relieves it from publishing its quarterly report at 30th June, 2004.

Following the preparation of the consolidated annual report at 31st December, 2003 and as a result of the
acquisition of controlling interests in the Brazilian companies Transmissora Sudeste Nordeste S.A. (“TSN”)
and Novatrans Energia S.A. (“Novatrans”) on 31st December, 2003, Terna S.p.A. has for the first time drawn
up a consolidated half year report. As these equity investments were acquired on 31st December, 2003,
comparative figures are only presented for the consolidated balance sheet at 31st December, 2003.

However, in order to provide further information on the development of operations, key pro forma figures
relating to the same period of the previous year have been disclosed in the section on the performance of the

group.
The main consolidation principles and procedures are described in the notes.

During the first half of 2004, T.E.R.NA. was strongly engaged in activities relating to the placement of 50%
of its share capital, which took place in June.

In preparation of this event, the company made a series of changes in both its organizational and
management structure. The most important were the following:

° Reduction of share capital and restructuring of financial payables due to the ultimate parent
company.

° New organizational structure.

° Adoption of the new corporate by-laws, internal regulations for the management and

disclosure of confidential information and the internal dealing code of conduct.

Reduction of share capital and restructuring of financial payables due to the ultimate parent company

In order to optimize the company’s financial structure, the board of directors proposed to the
shareholders’meeting that Terna’s financial structure should be changed by increasing leverage.

On 28th January, 2004, the shareholders’ meeting approved the reduction of T.E.R.NA. S.p.A.’s share capital
pursuant to article 2445 of the Civil Code, from €2,036,050,000.00 to €440,000,000.00, by repaying capital
of €1,200,000,000.00 and transferring €396,050,000.00 to reserves, subject to the cancellation and
consequent reduction of the number of ordinary shares comprising the share capital from 2,036,050,000 to
2,000,000,000 and the concurrent reduction of their par value from €1.00 (one//00) to €0.22 (zero point two
two) each. This resolution was recorded in the Company Register on 29th January, 2004 and therefore took
full effect from 29th April, 2004, as there were no objections from creditors.

During its meeting held on 17th February, 2004, the board of directors approved the restructuring of the
liabilities that the company had assumed at the time of its establishment by taking on a part of Enel’s debt
as well as the liability in respect of the pension fund for Enel managers, which had also been transferred at
the time of establishment. This transaction became effective on 1st March, 2004 when the two liabilities
were settled with the acquisition of a single loan granted by ENEL and amounting to €493.6 million.

On 13th April, 2004, ENEL and Terna entered into a loan contract worth €1,200 million; this loan was
granted by the ultimate parent company in order to enable Terna to avail of the financial resources required
to repay the share capital, as resolved by Terna’s shareholders’ meeting on 28th January, 2004. This loan was
issued on 30th April, 2004.

Both loans have a 12 months’ term on which Terna has an annual renewal option. These loans bear interest
at the 3-month Euribor plus a 0.25% spread.
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At 30th June, 2004, after the above-mentioned transactions, the company’s gross and net indebtedness
amounted to €1,721.6 million and €1,519.8 million, respectively.

Company’s new organizational structure

The listing process required Terna to make a series of changes in its organization, operations and
management in order to ensure its independence; at the same time, it had to set up adequate coordination
procedures with ENEL and define its personnel structure taking account of the work and services acquired
from other Enel Group companies.

As a result of the above, the company set up a new organizational structure with three new governance
departments:

o Regulatory affairs and external relations
o Audit
° Business development

New additional responsibilities relating to the stock exchange listing were assigned to the other four existing
staff departments (‘Personnel and Organization’, ‘Administration, Finance and Control’, ‘Purchases and
Contract Work” and ‘Legal and Corporate Secretary’s Office’). In particular, two new units, Finance and
Investor Relations, were set up within the Administration, Finance and Control department.

Two new management offices were set up to deal with core activities:
‘Plant engineering and maintenance’ which controls the following departments:

- ‘Power plant technology development’,

- ‘Plant construction’,

- eight local operating facilities dealing with plant control, emergency repairs and maintenance.
‘Plant operation and monitoring” which control the three operation and remote control centers.

The new organizational structure became operative in February.

Adoption of the new corporate by-laws, shareholders’ meeting regulation, internal regulations for the
management and disclosure of confidential information and the internal dealing code of conduct.

The new listed company by-laws approved by the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting held on 3rd March,
2004, with the change in share capital, became effective on 23rd June, 2004, date on which stock trading
activities commenced on the company’s shares, as per Italian Stock Exchange resolution no. 3484 of 21st
June, 2004.

The shareholders’ meeting regulation became effective on the same date, the contents of which are consistent
with the format drawn up by the Italian Joint-stock Companies’ Association (Assonime) and the Italian
Bankers’ Association (ABI); this regulation was approved by the company’s ordinary shareholders’ meeting
held on 3rd March, 2004.

The internal regulations for the management and disclosure of confidential information, including price
sensitive information, as well as the internal dealing code of conduct also became effective on 23rd June,
2004; both of them had been approved with a resolution taken by the board of directors on 2nd April, 2004.
The internal regulations, adopted in compliance with the provisions of the Code of Conduct, contain the
procedures for the disclosure of documents and information concerning the company and its subsidiaries to
third parties, in particular price-sensitive information.

The internal dealing code of conduct, in compliance with the regulatory provisions set by the Italian Stock
Exchange, regulates transparency obligations towards the market regarding significant financial instruments
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transactions of listed companies or their subsidiaries, carried out by persons with relevant decision-making
powers in the company and who have access to price-sensitive information (the relevant persons).

Listing

The listing process was completed during the first half of 2004. Terna placed 870 million shares, equal to
43.5% of the company’ share capital on the market, plus other 130 million shares relating to the greenshoe
option exercised by the global co-ordinators on 29th June, for a total number of one billion shares, equal to
50% of Terna’s share capital. Terna shares were placed with a public offering to all Italian investors and a
concurrent private placement addressed to institutional investors in Italy and abroad.

The final offer price was fixed at €1.7 per share equal to an equity value of €3.4 billion. Terna shares were
listed on the Italian Stock Exchange (MTA) organized and managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. starting from
23rd June.

Terna shared part of the placement costs with Enel S.p.A., namely those which involved benefits for the
company; in particular, costs incurred for the institutional communication campaign, which took place
before the subscription (approximately €9 million during the first half of the year).

Corporate governance and committees

Immediately after the end of the public offering, the company adopted a corporate governance system in line
with the recommendations included in the Code of Conduct prepared by the Italian Stock Exchange; the
purpose was to facilitate the integration of the board of directors with independent members and to set up
the remuneration and internal control committees recommended by the Code itself.

In this respect, the board of directors in its meeting held on 12th May, 2004 resolved, inter alia, to: (i) call
the ordinary shareholders’ meeting on 16th September on first call and 18th September on second call in
order to establish the number of the members of the board of directors and appoint new directors in addition
to those in office; (ii) set up two committees within the board, the former dealing with the remuneration of
the company’s management and key staff and the latter with internal control; the appointment of three
members for each committee was postponed to the next board meeting to be held after the above-mentioned
ordinary shareholders’ meeting.

Regulatory framework governing transmission activities

The regulatory framework governing transmission activities was modified by Law no. 290/03 which
established the re-unification of the ownership and management of the National Transmission Network
(NTN); the criteria and methods for the unification, and the management of the resulting entity, including
the regulation of voting rights and subsequent privatization, were defined later on by a decree of the Prime
Minister (DPCM).

It also established that, effective from 1st July, 2007, no company operating in the production, importing,
distribution and sale of electricity and natural gas, also through subsidiaries, parent companies or companies
controlled by the latter, and no publicly controlled company would be allowed to hold, either directly or
indirectly, more than a 20% stake in the share capital of companies owning or managing national electricity
and natural gas transmission networks.

Prime Minister’s decree of 11th May, 2004

Implementing the general provisions set by Law no. 290 of 27th October, 2003 governing electricity
transmission activities in Italy, the Prime Minister’s decree of 11th May, 2004 defines, inter alia, the criteria,
methods and conditions for the unification of ownership and management of the NTN. In particular, it
establishes that:
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- except for a few exceptions, all activities, tasks, assets and legal relationships attributable to the
Transmission System Operator shall be transferred against consideration to Terna within 31st October,
2005;

- Terna shall assume the title and tasks of the Transmission System Operator, and both of them shall
change their company names;

- the entity resulting from the unification shall be managed on the principles of neutrality and
impartiality, without discriminations among users or user categories.

- The Transmission System Operator shall prepare an integrated document called “Code of
transmission, dispatching, development and safety of the network™ with the technical rules for the
access and use of the NTN, within 31st December, 2004.

The following points are discussed with reference to the management of the Group during the first half of
2004:

- Regulated activities
- Unregulated activities

- Subsidiaries

Regulated activities - Italy
New regulatory period: 2004-2007

Point 7, article 1 quinquies of Law no. 290/03 enacted in October 2003 established that the Electricity and
Gas Authority shall adopt the following criteria when setting the tariffs for the transmission and distribution
networks for the second regulatory period, also to guarantee the development requirements of the electricity
service: infrastructure revaluation; a risk-free rate of return that is at least in line with that of long-term
government securities; and a symmetric distribution between users and operators of the efficiency gains
achieved with respect to the objectives set through the price cap mechanism, applied to those tariff
components intended to cover operating costs and amortization/depreciation.

On the basis of the above-mentioned principles, with resolution no. 5 of 30th January, 2004, the Electricity
and Gas Authority (AEEG) approved the tariff regime for the second 2004-2007 regulatory period. This
resolution updates the tariff parameters set by AEEG resolution no. 220/2001 for 2004; however, it specifies
that the new values apply from February 2004.

The transmission service fee is calculated by the Electricity and Gas Authority on the basis of “recognized
sector costs”, drawn up from the average costs of transmission companies. These costs represent the basis
for calculating the tariff for the first year of each regulatory period. This tariff is then updated annually by
the Electricity and Gas Authority on the basis of different regulatory mechanisms on recognized cost
components, as follows:

- Operating costs and amortization/depreciation are updated for inflation based on the annual index of
consumer prices for the families of workers and employees and an annual reduction rate (productivity
recovery factor) of 2.5%; this cost component may also change if the mechanism implements costs
arising from unforeseeable and exceptional events, changes in the regulatory framework and in
obligations relating to the universal service or costs relating to actions taken to control demand
through the efficient use of resources.

- The regulatory asset base (RAB) is updated starting from the second year of the current regulatory
period based on the following elements: average annual rate of change in the deflator for gross fixed
investments published by the Italian National Statistical Institute (ISTAT); expected rate of change in
the Italian demand for electricity volumes; rate of change related to net investments made within 30th
June of the previous year; rate of change related to greater returns recognized for development
initiatives undertaken.
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The tariffs for the entire transmission sector (Transmission System Operator and all network owners) are
collected according to the following mechanism:

° producers pay a fee per each kWh introduced into the network to the Transmission System Operator,
while distribution companies pay a specific tariff component (CTR), which is transferred to end users
and varies depending on the time bracket (F1, F2, F3 and F4). These time brackets are established by
the above-mentioned resolution no. 5/04, which modifies the provisions set in paragraph b), point 2),
title II of CIP resolution no. 45/90, and apply to electricity withdrawn by distributors from the national
transmission network;

o the Transmission System Operator keeps a portion of the overall amount of the above-mentioned fees
to cover its own operating costs; this portion is recognized through a specific tariff component which
is updated annually according to the same parameters used for the above-mentioned fees;

o the Transmission System Operator pays the residual amount to the owners of the various portions of
the NTN, based on their percentage of ownership and on the provisions of the operating licenses
entered into by the above-mentioned parties.

The following table shows the tariff components paid by distributors and producers and the tariff component
which covers the Transmission System Operator’s costs for 2004 (February-December), first year of the
second regulatory period, compared with those of the first regulatory period (unit amounts):

2nd regulatory 1st regulatory

period period
Fee paid by producers.........ccocieieieieieieienieniesieeeeeees e €/kWh 0.0253 €/kWh 0.0253
Fee paid by distributors per time bracket - F1 ......cccccccevvivvvenvenennen. €/kWh 0.76 €/kWh 0.74
Fee paid by distributors per time bracket - F2 ........cccccociniininnnee. €/kWh 0.49 €/kWh 0.48
Fee paid by distributors per time bracket - F3 ........ccccocccvvinicnenene. €/kWh 0.32 €/kWh 0.33
Fee paid by distributors per time bracket - F4 .........ccccocveveninnnnne. €/kWh 0.14 €/kWh 0.16
Tariff component which covers the Transmission System
OPEIALOI™S COSES uvirvirririirierieeierieiestestessestesseeseeseeseessessessessessessenss €/kWh 0.0336 €/kWh 0.0407

As to fees paid by distributors, with resolution no. 5/04, the Electricity and Gas Authority also modified the
F1, F2, F3 and F4 time brackets for the second regulatory period (effective from April 2004), concentrating
withdrawals subject to the highest tariff components in the summer months.

Following the resolutions taken by the Electricity and Gas Authority, network usage fees for the first quarter
of 2004 have been entirely calculated using time brackets ruling in 2003 with 2003 unit tariffs for January
and 2004 unit tariffs for February and March; network usage fees for the second quarter have been calculated
applying both the new unit tariffs and time brackets.

Therefore, considering the redefinition of the time brackets which inverts the seasonality effect by shifting
the periods with the greatest concentration of high tariff brackets from the winter to the summer months,
network usage fees for the year are expected to increase over 2003.

Unregulated activities

Business activities performed in the field of high-voltage plant operation, maintenance, engineering and
construction for third parties and other Enel Group companies continued following plans already started in
previous years.

Overall revenues from ENEL Group companies amounted to €23.1 million (2003 first half year: €22.8
million); they mainly refer to the contract for the operation and maintenance of high-voltage plant owned by
Enel Distribuzione S.p.A. (€13.5 million; 2003 first half year: €14.5 million) and to a contract for the
maintenance, development and laying of fiber optic cable owned by Enel.net S.p.A. (€5.0 million; 2003 first
half year: €4.3 million).
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Revenues from third parties amounted to approximately €7.1 million (2003 first half year: €6.4 million),
including approximately €3.7 million relating to plant engineering activities and approximately €3.4 million
to the management of high-voltage plant.

Subsidiaries

During the period, Terna carefully defined the organizational structure dealing with activities in Brazil.
Under this structure, employees are organized into five departments which work for both TSN and
Novatrans, are entrusted with specific responsibilities and tasks, subject to the policy setting, co-ordination
and control activities performed by Terna.

Some general and specific information regarding the operations of the two Brazilian subsidiaries,
Transmissora Sudeste Nordeste S.A. (“TSN”) and Novatrans Energia S.A. (“Novatrans”) is provided below.

Brazilian legislative and regulatory context

Law no. 10,848 implementing the new model for the power sector, with effects on generation, distribution
and sales activities, was published on 15th March, 2004. Transmission activities remained unchanged,
except for the specific powers assigned to the Ministry for Mines and Energy and the National Electricity
Regulator (ANEEL) as licensors and for the composition of the executive board of the National System
Operator (ONS).

Resolutions and authorizations of the National Electricity Regulator

On 10th March, with resolution no. 83, ANEEL approved the second addendum to license agreement no.
095/2000 signed with Novatrans, ratifying the transfer of ownership of the company’s share capital to Terna
and extending the contractual date for the beginning of the commercial operation of all the North-South II
line from 8th February, 2004 to 8th April, 2004. This extension was requested due to delays in construction
work caused by events beyond the company’s control. This addendum was signed on 29th April by
Novatrans, Terna and ANEEL.

On 30th June, ANEEL issued resolution no. 70 which establishes the new licensing fees (RAP) effective
from st July, 2004 to 30th June, 2005.

The TSN fee is fixed at R$224,593,053.34 and reflects the adjustment for inflation (based on the IGPM price
index) accumulated from June 2003 to May 2004, equal to 7.030%; similarly, the Novatrans fee is fixed at
R$246,929,725.99. A one-off additional fee of R$279,766.24 is recognized to Novatrans, which reflects the
IGPM accumulated on the late billing of certain elements of the project due to the fact that the ONS
certification (Termos de Liberagdo) confirming the beginning of the commercial operation was missing.

TSN

This company has a 30-year license agreement with ANEEL expiring on 20th December, 2030 for the
operation of the Sudeste-Nordeste line.

This line is 1,080 km long, beginning at the Serra da Mesa substation, in the state of Goias, and ending at
the Sapeacu substation, in the state of Bahia, including other substations at Rio das Eguas, Bom Jesus da
Lapa and Ibicoara; it was operative during the whole period.

Loan contract to Novatrans

On 30th January, 2004 ANEEL approved the terms of a bridge loan granted by the company to Novatrans
Energia S.A., used to finance part of the residual work to complete the North-South II line licensed to
Novatrans. The relevant contract was signed on 2nd February and has the following terms:

° maximum amount: R$135,000,000.00;

o due date: 30th September, 2004 which may be extended to 31st December, 2004;
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° interest on the actual amount disbursed: 110% of the CDI index (now 15.80% p.a.).

Upon the disbursement of the project finance to Novatrans, which should be completed by the end of
October 2004, this bridge loan will be immediately repaid.

Principal and interest amounted to R$125,860,000 and R$3,911,317 respectively at 30th June, 2004.

Loan contract with Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Economico e Social (“BNDES”)

This loan, signed on 23rd October, 2002 and entirely issued by BNDES, amounted to R$650,145,151 at 30th
June, 2004, of which R$482,373,946 referred to tranche A and B, and R$167,771,204 to tranche C; it is
denominated in Brazilian reais adjusted on a daily basis according to the variation of the Brazilian real with
respect to a basket of foreign currencies (75% US dollars, 18% yen, 5% euros and 2% other currencies)
based on BNDES’ funding mix. Interest on tranches A and B is equal to the TJLP rate plus a 3.50% spread
(TJLP is the long-term lending rate published by the Brazilian central bank). Interest on tranche C is equal
to: a floating rate updated quarterly based on the BNDES’ average cost of foreign currency plus 3.50%.
Principal and interest are repaid in 144 monthly installments (12 years) starting on 15th October, 2004 for
tranches A and B and on 15th November, 2004 for tranche C.

All TSN shares owned by Terna have been pledged to secure the loan.

NOVATRANS

This company has a 30-year license agreement with ANEEL expiring on 20th December, 2030 for the
operation of the North-South II line.

The share capital of Novatrans amounted to R$360,750,400.00 at 30th June, 2004 and was made up of
360,750,400 ordinary shares with no par value following the resolutions taken by the extraordinary
shareholders’” meeting held on 19th April; during this meeting, the shareholders resolved to transform the
1,306,000 preference shares in ordinary shares and to increase the company’s share capital from
R$1,959,000 to R$360,750,400. On 29th April, this share capital increase was entirely subscribed by the
shareholder (Terna) through the conversion of receivables due from Novatrans (the shareholder loan) of
R$358,791,400 into ordinary shares, on the basis of ANEEL authorization received on 27th April.

The North-South II transmission line, which has a nominal voltage of 500 kV and is 1,278 km long,
beginning at the Samambaia substation, in the Federal District, and ending at the Imperatriz substation, in
the state of Maranhao, including other substations at Serra da Mesa, Gurupi, Miracema and Colinas became
fully operative during the second quarter of the year; the third and last segment (Miracema — Colinas —
Imperatriz) and relevant substations were completed and certified by ONS (Termos de Liberagdo
Provisorio); this enabled the company to start billing the elements which were not yet operative from the
beginning of April.

Loan contracts

Shareholder loan agreement

On 30th January, 2004, ANEEL approved the transfer of the shareholder loan agreement from Enelpower
S.p.A. to Terna and its addendum which increased the maximum amount of the authorized principal from
€284,784,811.25 to €350,000,000.00. This loan has the following terms:

° maximum amount: €350,000,000.00;
° due date: 31st May, 2005 (the company has the right to make early repayments);

° interest: up to 5.35% above the 6-month Euribor (subject to reductions if it exceeds the rates approved
by the Brazilian Central Bank).

This loan granted by Terna to Novatrans amounted to €173,839,937.35 (principal) and €14,036,958.10
(interest) at 30th June, 2004, also as a result of the partial conversion described above.
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Loan contract with TSN

As described above, TSN granted a bridge loan to Novatrans, the maximum amount of which is
R$135,000,000, used to finance part of the residual work to complete the North-South II line.

Loan contracts with BNDES, and with BANCO ABN AMRO REAL S/A and BANCO ITAU BBA S/A

On 19th April, Novatrans signed two long-term loan contracts under the same terms with Banco Nacional
de Desenvolvimento Economico e Social (“BNDES”) and with BANCO ABN AMRO REAL and BANCO
ITAU BBA. This loan has the following terms:

o maximum amount: R$550,565,000 including: (a) R$431,816,000 as direct loan granted by BNDES;
(b) R$118,749,000 as indirect loan (“repasse”) granted through the following merchant banks: ABN
AMRO REAL (R$45,000,000) and ITAU BBA (R$73,749,000);

° interest: equal to the TJILP Brazilian interest rate plus a 4.5% spread. If the annual TILP is above 6%,
interest due for this excess will be capitalized and repaid according to the repayment plan of the
residual payable;

° repayment period: 12 years with monthly installments starting from 15th November, 2004;

° guarantees issued by Terna S.p.A. (Carta de Fianga), the first one to BNDES and the second one to
ABN AMRO REAL and ITAU BBA up to the completion of the project, i.e. upon receipt of ANEEL
certification confirming the beginning of the commercial operation as well as the achievement of a
series of financial performance ratios;

° maintenance, over the entire duration of the loan, of a debt service coverage ratio equal to at least 1.3
(calculated on a quarterly basis as the ratio between cash flow from operations and interest plus the
portion of the payable due for the period);

o creation of a term reserve account with three months’ principal and interest;

° maintenance for Novatrans, over the entire duration of the loan, of shareholders’ equity (including the
redeemable preference shares) equal to 30% of its total assets (within 31st December, 2004) and
ordinary shares (to be integrated and which have been integrated on 30th April, 2004) equal to at least
30% of its fixed assets.

The residual contracts relating to the BNDES and IDB loan should be signed in the third quarter of the year
and the entire amount should be disbursed by the end of October 2004.

1) PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP

The consolidated half year report at 30th June, 2004 shows net income of €102.2 million, after amortization
and depreciation of approximately €79 million, net financial expense of €48.9 million and income taxes of
€88.4 million.

The consolidated balance sheet shows net fixed assets of €4,359.7 million, net capital employed of €3,631.3
million, of which shareholders' equity covers €1,769.0 million (48.7% compared with 83.0% at 31st
December, 2003) and net indebtedness of €1,862.3 million (51.3% compared with 17.2% at 31st December,
2003).
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Consolidated income statement

The results achieved by the Group during the first half of 2004 may be summarized by the following
reclassified consolidated income statement:

RECLASSIFIED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

2004

first half

year

Millions of

euros

INEtWOTK USAZE FEES ...evieiieiieiieieetee ettt sttt et s e bt et entesaeennes 480.2
Other SAlES ANA SEIVICES ....evtetieuiieiieriieteete ettt et et et et e st e bt et e et e s st e st e st enseeseenseenseenseeneenseenseas 29.5
Change in contract WOrk in PrOZTESS ......eeeureeruiiirieiiiiieiteeite ettt ettt e et e st e ste e st e e sbeeesbeeeanee s -1.0
Other INCOME AN TEVEIUELS .....eeuiiitiiiiieiieetteestee et te ettt eetteestteebeesabeeeteesateesbeeenseeeseesabeesaseenneeanne 10.2
TOLAl FEVEIMUES .......ceeiiiiiiiiieie ettt ettt e et ettt et eetee s bt e snbeesaee e ateebeeeseeenseenn 518.9
PEISONNEL COSLS ...cnviniiiiiiiieti ettt ettt b ettt et sbe e bt e b eseesaeenbes 79.9
Services and use Of third PArty @SSELS ......c.eeouerierieriiriierierieie ettt ettt e i 62.3
IMLALETIALS ... ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e st e st e a e bt e bt enb e es e e st e bt e st e eneeenee bt enteenteeneennes 7.1
ONET COSES ittt ettt ettt ettt e et eea bt e bt e e bt e eabeesabeesbt e e bt e ebeeebeeeabeesabeenbaeebeeeane 31.2
CaPItaAliZEd EXPENSES .eveeriiieniieiiieiterit ettt ettt ettt ettt sb et b e ettt s bbbt s nbes 9.1
Total OPEratilng COSLS .......cc.oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt ettt 171.4
GROSS OPERATING INCOME ..ottt 347.5
AmOrtization and dePrECIAION. .....ceuirieriiertieieeieri ettt ettt ete st et e e e tesaeesbeebeeneesaeennes 79.0
Accruals and WITEE-AOWIS ...ccc.uiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt sttt ettt st e st e st e bt e e beeeree s 15.3
Total amortization, depreciation and write-dOWnS................cccoociviiiiinienieieeee e 94.3
OPERATING INCOME .......cocooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitcteteee ettt sttt ettt st sttt 253.2
Interest expense and other charges due to ultimate parent COmMpany .........ccccceeeeeeeereeneenuenuennes -14.3
Interest income and other revenues due from ultimate parent Company ...........c.cceceeceecvevenenens 3.0
Interest expense on medium to 10NZ-teTmM 10ANS .....cc.evviiriiriiriiiiiierereeeee e -15.5
L0 1115, SO PO P OO PSRRUPTUPRRIOPRRIOY -22.1
INCOME BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND TAXES.......cccccooeninininininieienns 204.3
EXtraordinary TEETNS ........eeiuieriiiitieiieeite ettt ettt et e e et e e siteestteebeeeabeesabeesateesabeesbeeeseesaneens -13.7
INCOME BEFORE TAXES ........ooiiiiiiiteeeee ettt st sbe et ennens 190.6
TIICOIME TAXES .vveeueieeiieeiieetieeite ettt etteeteeeeteesateestbe e teeesteessseeenseessseesseenseesnseesnseesnseensseessesnsaesnseens 88.4

NET INCOME ..ottt 102.2

Revenues amount to approximately €518.9 million and mainly refer to regulated activities (€480.2 million).
In particular, based on calculations resulting from the application of Electricity and Gas Authority (AEEG)
resolution no. 05/04 and taking account of the provisions of the Operating License Agreement signed with
the Transmission System Operator (GRTN S.p.A.), fees received for the use of the network amount to
approximately €428.5 million.

Revenues from regulated activities attributable to Brazilian companies amount to approximately €51.7
million.

Other sales and services attributable to the parent company amount to €29.5 million and mainly refer to the
sale of services to Enel Group companies and third parties.
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Other income and revenues of €10.2 million are mainly comprised of the portion of grants for plant received
for connections to the NTN or the relocation of power lines.

Operating costs amount to €171.4 million (€157.0 million attributable to the parent company and €14.4
million to the Brazilian companies), including €79.9 million for personnel costs (€79.3 million attributable
to the parent company and €0.6 to the Brazilian companies); services and use of third party assets mainly
refer to maintenance costs for maintaining the efficiency of plant and leases/rentals (€56.7 million
attributable to the parent company and €5.6 million attributable to subsidiaries). Materials and equipment
amount to €7.1 million, €6.8 million of which is attributable to the parent company; other costs (€7.9 million
attributable to subsidiaries and €23.3 million to the parent company) are mainly comprised of prior year
items pertaining to the ultimate parent company and relating to the payment of the fee for the usage of the
Italian National Electricity Transmission Network (NTN) for 2002 and 2003 (€16.3 million); they also
include local indirect taxes, charges of the period for the Management Pension Fund and discounts on
electricity supplied to retired personnel. Capitalized expenses of €9.1 million are entirely attributable to the
parent company.

Net extraordinary expense of approximately €13.7 million is mainly attributable to the parent company; it
consists of differences arising from the application of the new company and tax law (elimination of fiscally-
driven entries).

Income taxes for the period amount to €88.4 million, of which €84.6 million is attributable to the parent
company and €3.8 million to the Brazilian companies.
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Consolidated balance sheet

The reclassified consolidated balance sheet at 30th June, 2004 is shown below:'

RECLASSIFIED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31st Variations
30th June, December, for the
2004 2003 period
Millions of euros
Tangible and intangible asSets .........cccccvevieiierienieniieieeieseeeeieeee 4,348.6 4311.3 37.3
Long-term financial assets .........cocceeiviieriiiniiinieeie e 11.1 12.8 -1.7
Total fixed assetS, ML ............cccoevviiiiiiiiiiieie e 4,359.7 4,324.1 35.6
Trade 1€CEIVADIES ... 184.2 226.7 -42.5
TNVENTOTIES .vvvviiiiieiiieiee et e e e e e e eeareeaeeeeeaees 33.5 34.9 -1.4
(11T g T 1 £ SRR 31.4 19.7 11.7
Trade payables ........cooiioriiiiiiiee e 153.5 232.5 -79.0
Taxes payable, NEL........couevieviriiiriinieieieeeee et 39.7 40.1 -0.4
Other HADIIITIES ....vviieeiiieeeeee e 236.8 197.4 394
Net CUrTeNt ASSELS .........ccoovvviieiiieiiiieeeee et eeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaees -180.9 -188.7 7.8
GROSS CAPITAL EMPLOYED .......ooooiiiiiieeeeeeeeee 4,178.8 4,135.4 43.4
Employee termination indemnities ...........ccecvevvereenieerieriieneeneeienne. 63.6 70.7 -7.1
Retirement DENETILS ......ccooeeeeeieiiiiieiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 0.9 38.3 -37.4
Net deferred taXES .oovveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e e 414.2 3949 19.3
Other PrOVISIONS ....veruviriiiiieiieitenitenteete ettt sttt sttt seeens 68.8 59.7 9.1
Total ProviSIONS ...........ccccvieiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e 547.5 563.6 -16.1
NET CAPITAL EMPLOYED .......oooooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeee 3,631.3 3,571.8 59.5
Shareholders’ equity - GIOUP ....cceevvieriieriirieniieieeie e 1,768.8 2,966.2 -1,197.4
Shareholders’ equity - minority iNtErests .........ccoeveeerueenveereerseeennnenn 0.2 0.2 0.0
Total INAEebtedNESS™.......cooiieiiiiii et 1,862.3 605.4 1,256.9
TOTAL ... et 3,631.3 3,571.8 59.5
Total indebtedness*
EIB JOANS. ....uiiiiiiieeeeeiee ettt e et e e e e e eaaes 321.6 325.0 -3.4
Loans granted by ENEL S.p.A. oot 1,400.0 456.2 943.8
BINDES 10A1N ..ccoiiiiiiiiiiieceeeee et 171.9 164.2 7.7
CASN e -31.2 -340.0 308.8
1,862.3 605.4 1,256.9

1 For greater clarity, the main reclassifications are as follows:

¢ Receivables and payables due from/to the ultimate parent company and Group companies have been included under trade receivables

and payables;
¢ Deferred tax assets have been offset against the provision for deferred taxes;

¢ Payables to the ultimate parent company resulting from taking over the Enel Management Supplementary Pension Fund (PIA) have

been posted under retirement benefits (only for 2003).
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Tangible assets refer to:

- TERNA S.p.A.: €3.779.0 million (31st December, 2003: €3,747.0 million)
- TSN: €194.7 million (31st December, 2003: €203.2 million)

- Novatrans: €261.5 million (31st December, 2003: 245.6 million)

Intangible assets of €113.3 million refer to goodwill arising on consolidation following the acquisition of the
Brazilian companies net of amortization for the period.

Net indebtedness rose by €1,256.9 million, mainly due to the raising of a loan in order to repay €1.2 billion
to ENEL following the reduction of Terna’s share capital.
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The statement of cash flows for the first half of 2004 is provided below:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004 2003 Variations
first half first half for the
year year period

Millions of euros

a) OPENING SHORT-TERM NET INDEBTEDNESS(-)

LIQUIDITY () eooteririeniieeneeietceeesienesesie et 340.0 583.6 -243.6
— Cash and banks .......cccceeeeviriiiniinienicee e 50.7 0.1 50.6
— Intercompany current aCCOUNt..........cecveerveeriueenieeniieerieeeeeeneeeenees 289.3 583.5 -294.2
b) CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
NEt INCOME .evvvenriniiieieeiieeeeetee ettt 102.2 220.4 -118.2
Amortization and depreciation .........ccceeeveeveereeneeneerenieneeneenns 79.0 139.6 -60.6
Net write-downs (revaluations) ............coeeevveeeeeeeccinreeeeeeeecneeeeeenn. 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net change in ProviSiONS .........c.eevveerieerieeriieeiee et 50.2 67.9 -17.2
Net change in employee termination indemnities........................ -7.1 -5.0 -2.1
Net loss (gain) on the disposal of assets .......c..cecevvverviereenieenuennes 0.3 1.4 -1.1
Self-financing .............cccoovviieiiierie e 224.6 424.3 -199.7
Change in net current assets:
— (Increase) decrease in current receivables ...........cccceeeeeeeennnnnen.. -5.5 22.9 -28.4
— Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables.............c......... -55.6 -21.3 -34.3
— Changes in other balance sheet captions .......c..ccccceeceeveereennenne -6.2 13.2 -19.4
Total b) - Cash flow from operations ...............cccoceniininnnnennn. 157.3 439.1 -281.8

¢) CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in:

— Intangible aSSEts ......c.eeviieriiiniiiiie e 0.0 -115.5 115.5
— TangIble ASSELS ....veeriieriieiiiieiie ettt -136.6 -240.8 104.2
— Other changes in fixed asSetS.......ccecceevvueerieenieiiieeieeieeeeeene 0.9 19.8 -18.9
— Other long-term financial assets ........cc.coccevverieneenerneneenennn 1.1 -449.3 450.4
— Change in equity INVESIMENLS .....cc.eveereeereereeriieieerieeienieenieenns 0.6 52 -4.6
TOLAL €) ..o -134.0 -780.6 646.6
d) CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New medium to long-term 10ans.........ccccceeveerveenieenieenieeeenen. 1,701.3 164.3 1,537.0
Repayment of medium to long-term 1loans ...........ccceceeevveeceennnen. -753.2 -22.4 -730.8
Dividends and share capital repayment .......c..cccceeveevuereeneennenne -1,280.2 -44.0 -1,236.2
Total d) .....o.ooviiiiiii e -332.1 97.9 -430.0
e) CASH FLOW GENERATED............cccoccoceninininiiicicnene. -308.8 -243.6 -65.2
f) CLOSING SHORT-TERM NET INDEBTEDNESS (-)
LIQUIDITY () oottt 31.2 340.0 -308.8
Cash and banks .......ccccoceeiririiieieieieeee e 17.3 50.7 -33.4
Intercompany current aCCOUNL ........cecvirrueerniierrieenieenieeeiee e 13.9 289.3 -275.4
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Cash flow from operations.
Cash flow from operations amounted to approximately €157 million.

Cash flows in respect of net current assets absorbed approximately €67 million.

Cash flow from investing activities.

During the first half of 2004, cash flows employed in investing activities amounted to approximately €134
million. The use of these resources was mainly associated with the core business of plant development and
renewal; approximately €108.9 million was attributable to the parent company and approximately €27.7
million to the Brazilian companies.

Cash flow for financing activities.

Cash flow for financing activities amounts to approximately - €332 million and is mainly due to the payment
of dividends and partial repayment of the loan to ENEL S.p.A. by the parent company.

Cash flow generated.

Cash flow generated in the period resulted in a net use of funds of approximately €308.8 million.
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2004 half year key figures compared with 2003 half year pro forma figures

Pro forma reclassified figures at 30th June, 2003 have been prepared in order to show the theoretical effects
of the reduction in share capital and acquisition of equity investments in Novatrans Energia S.A.
(“Novatrans”) and Transmissora Sudeste Nordeste S.A. (“TSN”) on the results for the period, as if these
transactions had taken place on 1st January, 2003 and therefore at the beginning of the period to which the
pro forma consolidated income statement refers.

The information contained in the pro forma reclassified consolidated income statement is based on
simulations; therefore, the figures disclosed therein do not necessarily reflect the results which would have
been obtained if the above-mentioned transactions had actually taken place on the relevant date.
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Pro forma consolidated income statement

The results achieved by the Group during the first half of 2004 compared with the 2003 pro forma figures
may be summarized by the following reclassified consolidated income statement:

RECLASSIFIED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

NEtWOrK USAZE FEES..cuviieieiieiiiieeiieeieee et
Other sales and SEIVICES ......ueeecviieiiiieeeiiieeeieeeeeee e e sreeeeeveeeenes
Change in contract Work in Progress ........ceceeveeereeriieeniieenieeeneeennn
Other income and rEVENUES .........cccovveeeeiieeiirieeeciieeeeieeeecreeeeeeneeeenns

TOtAl FEVEIMUES ...

Personnel COSLS ....oouiriiniiniiiiinieeiecieeee et
Services and use of third party assetS........ccvvveveevereierienieenierrienens
IMALETIALS ...ttt
OhET COSES vttt ettt sttt ettt et sreens
Capitalized EXPENSES. ...c..eerueeruiriiriiiniienieeie ettt ettt

Total operating COStS...........ccooouiriiriiiiiiirieeeee e
GROSS OPERATING INCOME ........ccocoovviniiiiniiiinccecnene

Amortization and depreciation ...........oceecveeeeerverienieeienieseeeeeeees
Accruals and WITte-dOWNS ......cceeverienieriinienreieeeeeeeeeeee e
Total amortization, depreciation and write-downs ......................

OPERATING INCOME.........cccoceimiiiniiinieieeneieeseeeeeaenes

Interest expense and other charges due to ultimate parent company
Interest income and other revenues due from ultimate parent

INCOME BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS
AND TAXES ..ottt

EXtraordinary iteImsS......cc.eevueeruerieriieniienieeiesitesieeie et
INCOME BEFORE TAXES .......ccoiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee
TNCOME LAXES ..eennvieniiiiiiieiie ettt

NET INCOME ....ccoccooiiiiiiiiiiicieceeete et

2003
2004 first half Variations
first half year for the
year pro-forma period

Millions of euros
480.2 413.7 66.5
29.5 25.3 4.2
-1.0 2.5 -3.5
10.2 10.3 0.1
518.9 451.8 67.1
79.9 82.4 -2.5
62.3 554 6.9
7.1 7.1 0.0
31.2 8.2 23.0
9.1 94 0.3
1714 143.7 27.7
347.5 308.1 394
79.0 128.8 -49.8
15.3 2.0 13.3
94.3 130.8 -36.5
253.2 177.3 75.9
-14.3 -35.0 20.7
3.0 9.1 -6.1
-15,5 -42.8 27.3
-22.1 12.2 -34.3
204.3 120.8 83.5
-13.7 -1.2 -12.5
190.6 119.6 71.0
88.4 60.3 28.1
102.2 59.3 42.9




2) GROUP CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

A breakdown of capital expenditure by plant type during the first half of 2004 is as follows:

Parent
company Subsidiaries Total
— POWET TINES ...oovviiiiiiieieiee e 57.0 27.7 84.7
— Switching SUbStAtioNS ........cocerierierieriienienienieeieeeeeen 49.7 49.7
0 11115 SRR 2.2 2.2
Total capital expenditure ..............c.cccoevvievveecrienieennn. 108.9 27.7 136.6

3)  GROUPPLANT

The following table shows the number of group installations and extent of the network at 30th June, 2004:

T.E.R.NA TSN NOVATRANS
No. Km No. Km No. Km
StationS........oeeevvveeeeeeeeennns 298 4 -
Transformers ................... 566 14 -
Bays oo 3,873 29 10
LineS...coovvveeeeveeeerieeeeneeene 34,855 1,080 1,278
Double-circuit lines .......... 1,911 38,585 12 1,080 5 1,278

4) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Transactions with related parties refer exclusively to ENEL Group companies and are all covered by specific

contracts.

Contracts with ENEL S.p.A. generating expenses for the parent company relate primarily to:

° loans and treasury management;
° provision of institutional or on-request assistance and consulting services;
° communication services.

As for other Group companies, contracts producing expenses relate primarily to:
o operation of in-house cafeterias (Enel Facility Management S.p.A.);
o rental of buildings (Enel Facility Management S.p.A.);
° luncheon vouchers — (Ape S.p.A.);
o rental of residential buildings (NewReal S.p.A.);

° supply and management of IT services (ENEL.IT S.p.A.);

° supply of telephony and telecommunications services (WIND S.p.A.);

° staff training services (SFERA S.p.A.);

° human resource management services (Ape S.p.A.);

EPC (Engineering Procurement & Construction) with EPower/EPower do Brasil.

Contracts generating revenues relate to:

operation and maintenance of high-voltage network (Enel Distribuzione S.p.A.);

development, laying and maintenance of fiber optics (ENEL.Net S.p.A.).
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The figures for Group companies are reported in the notes.

Relations between the Brazilian companies and other Group companies regard transactions with Enelpower
S.p.A. and Enelpower do Brasil Ltda as part of engineering, procurement and construction contracts (EPC)
for the construction of power lines and the outsourcing of management and administrative tasks.

5) HUMAN RESOURCES AND TRAINING

The workforce of the parent company and subsidiaries at 30th June, 2004 is shown below.

T.E.R.NA. TSN Novatrans Total
TOTAL ..o 2,888 62 2,950
Senior Management..........eeevueeerieerieeneeenieeneenieesieenne 37 37
Middle management ..........ccoceereeeneeiiieinieenieenieeeeen 209 2 211
Office staff........cooeevieriiieee 1,468 60 1,528
WOTKETS ..o ee e e e 1,174 1,174

In order to simplify and standardize the management of personnel, all staff working for the Brazilian
subsidiaries has been gathered under a single company, Novatrans. Under a service contract (“Contrato de
Fruicao”), certain personnel costs (accounting department, treasury department and general services) are
equally allocated on a monthly basis to Novatrans, TSN and Enelpower do Brasil, from which 37 employees
were transferred (most of whom on 1st April, 2004). Other costs (finance department) are equally allocated
to TSN and Novatrans.

6) RESEARCH AND INNOVATION

The Group continued to develop innovative projects with Enel.it and CESI, which are due to become
operative during 2004:

° GIS (network geo-referencing system integrated with SAP — for all management activities - and with
the data base of the Ministry of the Environment for the national mapping system).

° SDSA (advanced station design system - integrated with the budgeting and acquisition of external
resources).

° CMS (advanced system to support the acquisition of external resources integrated with SAP and
SDSA).

o WI-FI Lan (wireless extension of the company’s intranet for the use of palm-top and portable

computers at power stations).

o VTS and SAP WCM (integrated systems to manage safety procedures for work on plant; the former
uses a voice recognition platform for conversations with personnel who is not employed by Terna;
when fully developed, the latter will use palm-top devices used by personnel).

° Maintenance budget analysis and reporting system (system used to budget and analyze actual figures
regarding plant maintenance and renewal activities integrated with SAP, MBI and the service quality
control).

° PLANNING system (for the management of the company’s budget considering all business units —

including second level AOT business units - consistent with the maintenance budget analysis and
reporting system).

° LST (live working methods applied when changing safety cables and cleaning support structure
insulators).
° OCVD (digital power line carrier used to transmit with adequate precision or reroute measures and

signals using power line conductors. Networks in Sicily and Sardinia are already in service).
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Finally, the lines module of the MBI system was completed during the first months of the year.

7) OUTLOOK FOR OPERATIONS IN 2004

Estimated revenues from network usage fees relating to the parent company should drop by approximately
7% compared with those recorded during the first half of 2004; this forecast is based on current energy
volume estimates (up 1.5% over 2003) and in line with the criteria established by resolution no. 05/04.
However, this forecast could be negatively impacted by the effects of the ruling of the Regional
Administrative Court of Lombardy which is described in greater detail in the section below. Revenues
relating to the Brazilian companies should increase mainly as a result of the completion of the new line
owned by Novatrans.

During the second half of the year, the company will focus on consolidating its leading position in the
development and maintenance of the NTN; it will also continue its initiatives designed to ensure network
safety and service quality, as well as the creation of value for shareholders.

8) POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Terna

On 19th July, 2004, the company announced the dates of the meetings during which the board of directors
will examine the balance sheet and income statement figures for their disclosure:

- 6th September, 2004: half year report at 30th June, 2004
- 8th November, 2004: third quarter report at 30th September, 2004

Furthermore, the ordinary shareholders’ meeting of Terna has been called to fix the number of members
making up the board of directors and consequently to appoint additional directors. This shareholders’
meeting is convened for 16th and 18th September, 2004 on first and second call, respectively.

Ruling of the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy

As described in further detail elsewhere in this report, resolution no. 05/2004 had changed the tariff bracket
regime by shifting the hours with highest tariff rates from the winter to the summer period, effective from
April 2004.

On 27th July, 2004, the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy upheld the appeal filed by a number of
electricity consortia and customers against resolution no. 5/2004 (2004-2007 tariffs), in particular the
provisions regarding the introduction of the new consumption time brackets.

On 5th August, as proposed by the Electricity and Gas Authority in its Provisional decree no. 3849/2004, the
Council of State suspended the ruling of the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy and confirmed its
suspension during the collective meeting held on 31st August, 2004; the hearing for discussion of the matter
has been fixed for 21st December, 2004.

Loans to Novatrans

On 8th July, 2004, Novatrans signed a series of loan contracts with Inter-American Development Bank
(661DB”).

The main terms of the IDB loan are:

° maximum amount: US$ 66 million of which (a) US$ 30 million (Loan A) with IDB funds and (b) US$
36 million (Loan B) - issued by IDB and regulated by a single loan contract with funds granted by a
banking syndicate (BBVA, Société Générale);

° fixed interest rate over the entire duration of the loan (12 years for Loan A and 11 years for Loan B)
using the forward swap curve as benchmark. The fixed rate for Loan A applicable from the first
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repayment date (15th November, 2004) is 4.54%. The fixed rate for Loan B will be established within
the first outlay and will be applicable from that date. The fixed rate has an applicable spread
established in the loan contract which increases over time (from 212.5 bps to 537.5 bps for Loan A;
from 200 bps to 525 bps for Loan B);

o half-yearly repayments on 15th May and 15th November of each year starting from 15th November,
2004 through 15th May, 2016 (Loan A) and 15th May, 2015 (Loan B);

o maintenance of an historical and projected debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) of 1.3 (established by
contract) in order to repay shareholders;

° creation of a term reserve account equal to six months of the debt service;
° maintenance of a debt to equity ratio which does not exceed 70/30 (established by contract);

o guarantee provided by Terna S.p.A. to IDB (Sponsor Support Agreement). Terna’s guarantee is
limited to the completion of the project, i.e. upon receipt of ANEEL certification confirming the
beginning of the commercial operation as well as the achievement of a series of financial performance
ratios.

On 9th and 13th July, 2004, Novatrans also signed part of the contracts which are part of the Security
Package shared by IDB, BNDES, ITAU BBA, and ABN AMRO for the loan granted to the same company.

The residual contracts relating to the BNDES and IDB loan should be signed in the third quarter of the year
and the entire amount should be disbursed by the end of October 2004.

The first portions of the BNDES loan were granted on 26th-27th August, 2004 for a total amount of
R$423.,935,050.

Novatrans entirely repaid the intercompany loan received from TSN with the above-mentioned amount.

Rome, 6th September, 2004 The Chief Executive Officer
Sergio Mobili

(signed on the original)
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(II)

Consolidated Financial Statements of Terna Group
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF TERNA GROUP

BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

A- SHARE CAPITAL NOT PAID IN......ccccocvviinienne
B- FIXED ASSETS:

I- Intangible assets

(1) INCOTPOTAtioN COSL ..cuviereiieriiiiiieeiee ittt
(2) research, development and advertising......................
(3) industrial patents and intellectual property rights......
(4) concessions, licenses and trademarks..............c.c.e...
(6) work in progress and advances..........cccceeeeeeerueennenne
(7)) g00dWILL ..ot

II- Tangible assets

(1) land and buildings.........ccceecveevieeiieniiieiieenie e
(2) plant and Machinery ........cccocceeverieneeneeienieneeee
(3) industrial and commercial equipment................c.......
(4) Other ASSELS ...ccccuvvieeeeeeciiiiee e e e e
(5) work in progress and advances..........ccoccceveeeneennieens

III- Financial assets

(1) equity investments in:
(2) SUDSIAIATIES ...cccvveieeiiieeeiiee et
(D) affiliates ..ocovveeereeeceeee e
(C) parent COMPANIES .....cccueerueeereeeniieniieeriieeieeeieenns
(d) OthErS ..o

(2) receivables from:
(2) SUDSIIATIES ...cccvveeeeiiieeeiiee et
(D) affiliates ...cccvveeeeereeeeeee e
(C) parent COMPANIES .......eeeerreervereerreenieerieeeeseeneens
(d) OthErS ..o
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30th June, 31st December,
2004 2003 Variation
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
113.3 115.5 2.2
113.3 115.5 2.2
324.8 326.7 -1.9
3,506.3 3,419.9 86.4
10.9 11.0 -0.1
1.0 1.1 -0.1
392.3 437.1 -44.8
4,235.3 4,195.8 39.5
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
2.9 3.5 -0.6
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
8.2 9.3 -1.1
0.3 0.0 0.3
0.0 0.0 0.0
11.1 12.8 -1.7
4,359.7 4,324.1 35.6




C- CURRENT ASSETS

I- Inventories

(1) raw materialS ........ceeeeeeeiieiieeeeeeieeeeee e
(3) contract WOrk in Progress ........ecceeeeereereereereereenuennns
(5) AdVANCES ..vvveieivieceiiee et

II- Receivables
(1) trade:
— third Parties .......cceeeeeeereeeriieeieereeeree et
— other Enel Group companies...........ccccceeevevenuennenn
(2) SUDSIIATIES ...cvvveeeiiieceieee e e e
(3) affIHALES ...c.vvveeeeeeeeeree et e
(4) parent COMPANIES. ...ccueerueeerureeniieeieeeieesieenieeeieesieenas
(4-DiS) taXAtION ..ecooeeuiriieeeeeeeiieeeeeeeeeteeeeeeeeetaeeeeeeeearaeens
(4-ter) deferred tax ASSELS ...ccvvvveeeeeeeeirreeeeeeeeeiieee e eeeevaeeen
(5) OtREIS ..viiieieieeeee e e
— due beyond 12 MONIAS..........c.occeveecereeieacrieecriannnnnn

III- Short-term investments
(4) other equity INVESIMENLS ......eevveeeiiieriierieeriieeieeeieenns
(6) Other SECUIIIES ....ccvveeerreeeiiieeecreeeeeiee e e

IV- Cash and cash equivalents
(1) bank and post office deposits ........cccceeveereervereenenne
(3) cashonhand ............coeeeviiiiiiiiiiiieec e,

D- ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES
(1) Accrued INCOME .......ceevvrveieeeeeiiiieeeeeeeccireee e eeeraeen
(2) Prepaid expenses:

— 1SSUE diSCOUNL ...ovviieiiieeeiiee e

TOTAL ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID

EXPENSES (D) ...oooviiiiiiiiciccereceeeeeeee
TOTAL ASSETS ..ot
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30th June, 31st December,
2004 2003 Variation
15.2 15.6 -0.4
18.3 19.3 -1.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
33.5 34.9 -14
164.6 190.8 -26.2
19.6 20.2 -0.6
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
14.6 289.3 -274.7
42.4 0.0 42.4
25.8 22.3 3.5
19.7 30.5 -10.8
39.0 0.0 39.0
286.7 553.1 -266.4
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
17.2 50.6 -33.4
0.1 0.1 0.0
17.3 50.7 -33.4
337.5 638.7 -301.2
3.2 0.0 3.2
0.0 0.0 0.0
7.8 49 2.9
11.0 4.9 6.1
4,708.2 4,967.7 -259.5




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF TERNA GROUP

BALANCE SHEET

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

At At
30th June, 31st December,
2004 2003 Variation
A- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
I- Share capital ........coooeeviiiiiiirieeeee e 440.0 2,036.1 -1,596.1
II- Share premium reServe ......cc..ccoveereeeneeeneensieenieennenn 0.0 0.0 0.0
III- Revaluation reServe .........coveerieenieeniieenieeeee e 0.0 0.0 0.0
IV- Legal re€SerVe ..oceeeiiieiieiiieeiieeeeeee e 84.5 78.3 6.2
V- Reserve for own shares .........cccooceeveieniieneeenieesieeen 0.0 0.0 0.0
VI- Statutory TESEIVES....ccveevereieriieniieienienieenieeteeeesieenieens 0.0 0.0 0.0
VII- Other T€SETVES: ..ccveeviieieriieriieniieieeeesieesieeie e sieesieens 0.0 0.0 0.0
— excess depreciation .........ccoceevveenieenieenieenieennenn 421.4 0.0 421.4
— accelerated depreciation ........cc..ccoeceeevieeveenieennnen. 332.6 295.7 36.9
= ORI e 396.1 335.6 60.5
VIII- Retained earnings (losses carried forward).............. -8.0 0.1 -8.1
Net income - Group..........cccocoeveeveeeciieeciieeieenieeeenn 102.2 220.4 -118.2
Consolidated shareholders' equity - Group.................. 1,768.8 2,966.2 -1,197.4
IX- Capital and reserves - minority interests .................... 0.2 0.2 0.0
Consolidated shareholders' equity - Group and
MIinority interests .............ccoccoeviieiiieiieniieie e 1,769.0 2,966.4 -1,197.4
B- PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
(1) retirement benefits........cccceevvvveieiciieeeiiieeeciee e, 0.9 0.8 0.1
(2) taxes, including deferred taxes ..........ccoceeververeennenne 499.4 417.2 82.2
(3) OtheT ..o 68.8 59.7 9.1
TOtAL ..o 569.1 477.7 914
C- EMPLOYEE TERMINATION INDEMNITY ........ 63.6 70.7 -7.1
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D- PAYABLES

€]
(@)
3)
“)

&)
(6)

(7

®)
€))

convertible bonds .........cccoveiiiiiiiiiiiien
due to shareholders for loans ...........cccevceevveniniennne.
bank loans:
— medium and long-term l0ans ........c..ccccceeeerueennnne.
— due beyond 12 MONAS..........ccccocovevveenceianneanan.
— short-term 10ans........c..coceeeerieninnenicncneereeee
Other [0ANS .....cccvieeiieeiieeee e
AAVANCES ..ot
— due beyond 12 MONIAS..........coeeeeveecvieereacrieareannnnnn
trade payables:
— third parties .........ccoceeieerieenieeneeeeee e
— due beyond 12 MONIAS..........cccocoeeeveeieieiaeaneane
— other Enel Group companies..........cccceeeveveenreenenne
payables represented by credit instruments ..............
payables to subsidiaries .........ccccoveveereriieniieneeniene

(10) payables to affiliates .......ccceeveeveeeeereeneeieeieseeee
(11) payables to parent COMPANIES .......ccecveerveeriveenueernueans

— due beyond 12 MONLAS ........ccccoeveeiveiaiiiaeaeiene

(12) taxes payable .......c.cecceeriieriierieeiee et
(13) social security payables..........ccceeerireneeveceenreniennenn
(14) other payables ........ccecervierienieieiieseeeee e

E- ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INCOME

ey
2

Accrued Habilities .......ooouvviiiiiiiieiiiec e
Deferred income:

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY ..ottt

MEMORANDUM AND CONTINGENCY
ACCOUNTS

GUATANLEES ZIVEN .eovviieiiieiieiieeniieeniteeit ettt e

Other COMMIMENTS .....oovvieiiiiiiiiiie et
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At At

30th June, 31st December,
2004 2003 Variation
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
1,400.0 456.2 943.8
493.5 489.2 4.3
478.7 318.2 160.5
0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
42.5 47.7 5.2
26.3 30.5 -4.2
116.8 149.5 -32.7
0.7 0.8 -0.1
28.0 35.3 -7.3
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
8.7 39.2 -30.5
0.0 14.2 -14.2
22.8 40.2 -17.4
7.6 7.5 0.1
10.6 33.5 -22.9
2,130.5 1,298.3 832.2
13.9 6.7 7.2
0.0 0.0 0.0
162.1 148.0 14.1
176.0 154.7 21.3
2,939.2 2,001.3 937.9
4,708.2 4,967.7 -259.5
170.9 7.4 163.5
417.3 356.1 61.2
588.2 363.5 224.7




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF TERNA GROUP

AT 30TH JUNE, 2004
INCOME STATEMENT
Consolidated
figures
TERNA
Group
(A) PRODUCTION REVENUES
(1) revenues from Sales and SEIVICES: ......cciuuririeieeiiiieieeeeeiiireeeeeeeeitreeeeeeeeitreeeeeeeeearreeeeeeannnees
— NEEWOTK USAZE TEES ...eiiiuiieiiiieiiie ettt ettt ettt et e st e st e e it e esaeeeanee s 480.2
— Other Sales AnNd SEIVICES .....ccuiiiiiiiieeeiiie ettt e ettt e et e e et e e eaae e e eareeeeareeeeeaseeeeanns 294
(3)  change in contract WOTK iN PrOZTESS ....ecuverveertirieriieniierieeteeitesitentteee et sieesbeeseessesieeseeenseas -1.0
(4)  CaAPILAlIZEA EXPEIISES .eeuvieuriruieriieiieiieiieeitest ettt et et et et et e s bt e bt e st enteeseesseenseensesneesneenseas 9.1
(5)  oOther iNCOME aNA TEVEMUES: ......vviieieeiiiiiieeeeeeiiiieeeeeeesitreeeeeeeeetareeeeeeeetaaeeeeeeeeassreeeeeasnnnees
— @ANtS fOT PLANT Loouiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e 6.6
0111155 OO R USRS U P TR RUPPPRURPPRRRIRt 3.6
Total Production FEVEIMUES.............c.ooeiiiiiiiieeiieiie et ete ettt steeaeeeteesbeeseeesseeeseeeeseesnseens 527.9
(B) PRODUCTION COST
(6)  TAW MALETIALS ..vvvviiieieecciieeee ettt e e e ettt e e e e e eeae e e e e e eeetaeaaeeeeeetaaeeeeeeeeassreeeseennnees 6.8
(7)) SEIVICES uvvieeeeureeeeitieeeeitee e ettt e e ettt e e ettt e e eetbeeeeaaeeeeabaeeeasseeeassaeeeaaseeeensseeeasaeeeansseeesssaeeeanseeeans 54.9
(8) S Of thild PATLY ASSELS...eiruiirtiertietieiieritentt ettt ettt ettt st e bttt e e site bt e be et saeenaeenseas 7.3
(G I o1 1310 11 1<) OSSOSO PP
— WAZES AN SALATICS ....veeueieiiertietieie ettt ettt ettt et et et e saee st e b e e e sneenneennean 56.1
— social SeCUrity CONIIDULIONS .....ceuiiiiiiiiienieeniteerite ettt ettt se et e st eesbeeeeee s 15.3
— employee termination INAEMNITIES .........ceeouieriiirieeiie ettt saee e 4.6
— TEHIrCMENT DENETILS....cecviiiiiiiii ettt e et e e e ta e e e e aree e areeeeeareeeeanns 0.7
L1 1153 BT 1] £ SRR 3.2
(10) amortization, depreciation and WIite-AOWNS ...........ecveriieriirierieniiesieeieeee st
— INEANZIDIE ASSELS .eeiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt sttt e 2.1
— LANZIDIE @SSEES ..eeiutieietieeiie ettt ettt et e st e et e sateenteeenee s 76.9
— other write-downs Of fiIXed ASSELS .....cccviiiieiiieeiiiee ettt e e 0.0
— write-downs Of CUITENt TECEIVADIES ......cccuviiiiriieeiiieeceieee et etre e e vee e e evae e 0.0
(11)  Change IN INVENLOTIES ...eecverieriieriietiriieriterte ettt st et et et sa b s bt e bt e bt et e sbte bt enbeeasesseenseenseas 0.3
(12) accruals to provisions for risks and Charges ..........cocveveeririiinienierieeeeeeee e 15.3
(13)  OTNET PIOVISIONS ..eeueiiiuiieiiieeiiieeeite ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et e sab e e sateesbt e e bt e ebeesabeesabeesaaeenbeeeane 0.0
(14)  Other OPETAING COSES ....eeiutiiiuiiiriiieiiieet ettt e et et e sttt et e et e st e e et e esateesbeeebeeeabeesabeesaseenneenane 31.2
Total ProduCtion COSE ...........ccieiiiiiiiieiieiee ettt ettt be e e saesaeesseebeensesneenes 274.7
DIFF. BETWEEN PRODUCTION REVENUES AND COST .........coooviiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee 253.2
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(C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE
(15) from equity investments in:

— SUDSIAIATIES .evevientieitieitieiteste ettt ettt sttt ettt ettt ettt s bt enae et e esbeenaeenneen
= AFTIHHALES ettt
— OthET COMPANIES ...eeuviuiiriiiitieieete ettt ettt ettt ettt et ettt et sat e sbe e bt e b eatesbeenbeennees

(16) other financial income:
(a)  from long-term receivables:

— SUDSIAIATIES ..ot e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeesssssssssssasssnnnnnnnnneeees

(b)  from long-term financial ASSELS ........c.eevviierirerieeiieeiee et ere et eiee e
(¢)  from marketable SECUIILIES .........ccviiieireeeeiiee et ettt et eree e e e e erae e e eaaee e

(d)  other income:

— SUDSIAIATIES .oeeiiieiiiiiieeeeecieeee ettt e e e et e e e e e eetteeeeeeeettreeeeeeesasssaeeeesennssaeeeeannes
— AFTTHHALES evvveieei ettt e e e et e e e e e et a e e e e e earbaaaeeeeaas
— PATENE COMPANIES ..uveeeurieeuteeruieariteestteeteeateeateesuteessaeenseeeseesnseesnseesnseesseeenseeanseess
¢ 111 1= SRR

(17) interest and other financial expense:

— SUDSIAIATIES .evvvviiiiiieiieeee ettt e ettt e e e ettt e e e e eeaataeeeeeeeeaaeaeeeeeeessanreeeeeennnanes
Y 81 D21 < OSSPSR
— PATENTE COMPANIES .....veevrerierieiertesteereeteeseeseeseessessessessessessesseeseeseessessesessessessessessesssessessenses

— other Enel Group companies
— other

(D) ADJUSTMENTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(18) revaluations:

() Of eqUILY INVESIMENTS  .oeiiiiiiieiiieiieie ettt ettt ettt ettt be et e saee
(b)  of long-term financial ASSELS ........ceevverrierieriieriieie ettt
(€)  of Marketable SECUITHIES ....cuvvvireieeeiiiieee e ettt e eeeeiee e e eeeetar e e e e e e eeaarreeeeeeearbreeeeeeaas
(19)  WITEE-AOWIIS: ..veiiiiriieiiiieeeiteeeeteee et eeestbeeeetaeeesstaeeesaaaeeeeasseaesssseesssseaeansseeeasssesenssseeennseeenns
(@)  Of €qUILY INVESLMENLS  oueieiieiiieiiieeiteeteestteetee et ee et e st e et e eteeeteeeteesabeesnneesnneenne
(b)  of long-term financial ASSELS .........ccceeviririiiiiriiriiiieeceeeee e
(€)  Of MArketable SECUIILIES ......ccvireieurieeeiireeeeiteeeetee e e e e eeteeeeeteeeeebeeeeeareeeerreeeenneeens

Total adjustments of financial ASSELS ...............c.oooiiiviiiiiiieiieceee e

(E) EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS
(20) income:
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Consolidated
figures
TERNA
Group

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
3.0
24

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0



INCOME BEFORE TAXES ........ocoiiiiiiiiiiieeee e

(22) income taxes ........
— current ..............

— deferred taX INCOIME . ....cooviiiiiii ittt e et e e e et eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesssssssssnannnnnes
— deferred taX ChATZE .......cocueviiiiiiiiiiee ettt

NET INCOME (including minority interests) ..............cccccccevviieriieeriieiieeieecieesre e eeee e

Net income - MINOTItY INTETESES ...........ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecieect et sreesee e streebaeeeree s

NET INCOME - Group
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Consolidated
figures
TERNA
Group

190.6

88.4
62.6
-3.6
294

102.2

0.0
102.2



(1)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated half year report of T.E.R.NA. at 30th June, 2004
Notes to the consolidated half year report

FORM, STRUCTURE AND SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The 2004 consolidated half year report has been prepared in compliance with Accounting Principle 30,
“Interim financial statements”, issued by the Consigli Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei Ragionieri
(the Italian Accounting Profession). It consists of the balance sheet and the income statement, which have
been prepared using the formats envisaged by the relevant legislation, and of the accompanying notes,
supplemented by a number of schedules that are an integral part of the notes and have been prepared in
compliance with the relevant legislation. The report on operations has also been prepared in accordance with
article 2428 of the Civil Code.

Figures relating to the consolidated financial statements at 31st December, 2003 have been duly reclassified
to comply with the new balance sheet format introduced by article 2424 of the Civil Code.

The consolidated statement of cash flows is included in the report on operations.

Reference should be made to the report on operations accompanying the consolidated half year report for
information on Group activities, significant events subsequent to the balance sheet date and transactions with
related parties.

All amounts are stated in millions of euros.

The scope of consolidation includes the parent company, Terna S.p.A., Transmissora Sudeste-Nordeste S.A.
and Novatrans Energia S.A., in which it directly or indirectly holds a majority of voting rights or exercises
control at ordinary shareholders’ meeting as defined by article 2359 of the Civil Code.

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES

The 2004 consolidated half year report has been prepared on the basis of the balance sheets and income
statements as at and for the six months ended 30th June, 2004 of the consolidated companies. Where
necessary, the figures have been adjusted to eliminate fiscally-driven entries in the consolidated financial
statements at 31st December, 2003 and to comply with the accounting policies of Terna S.p.A.. Where
applicable, these adjustments reflect the related tax effect, which is recorded in the appropriate caption.

The main consolidation principles and procedures are as follows:

° the difference between the acquisition cost of the equity investment and the related portion of
shareholders’ equity at the time of acquisition is allocated to a specific asset or liability caption on the
basis of the valuation conducted at the time of purchase or acquisition of control, if obtained as a result
of subsequent acquisitions. Any positive difference is recorded under “goodwill arising on
consolidation”, under intangible assets; negative differences are recorded under ‘“consolidation
reserve”, under consolidated shareholders’ equity;

° minority interests in the income and shareholders’ equity of consolidated subsidiaries are recorded in
a specific caption of the income statement and under shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet;

° significant unrealized gains and losses from transactions between Group companies as well as
receivables and payables, costs and revenues generated between consolidated companies are
eliminated;

° dividends distributed between Group companies are eliminated from consolidated income and

reallocated to initial equity reserves;

° balance sheet captions of the consolidated companies operating in countries not included in the euro-
zone are translated into euros at period end exchange rate (Brazilian real = 3.783820), while income
statement captions are translated at the average exchange rate of the period (Brazilian real =
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3.642758). Exchange rate differences arising from the application of this method are recorded under
a specific shareholders’ equity caption.

Valuation criteria and accounting policies

The valuation criteria and accounting policies adopted in preparing the 2004 consolidated half year report
are in line with those used for the consolidated financial statements at 31st December, 2003 and comply with
article 2426 of the Italian Civil Code, integrated by the accounting principles issued by the Italian
Accounting Profession. Where these are silent, reference is made to IFRS (International Financial Reporting
Standards) issued by IASB.

The most significant policies are illustrated below.

Balance sheet
Intangible assets

Intangible assets are valued at cost and reflect the residual value of deferred charges yet to be amortized.
Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis based on the estimated useful life of the assets.

Goodwill is recognized under assets if acquired for consideration and is amortized on a straight-line basis
over 30 years, a period that is deemed to reflect the future income generating potential of the underlying
business. The same policy applies to goodwill arising on consolidation.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are stated at purchase or production cost, including directly related ancillary charges and
monetary revaluations carried out by Enel S.p.A. pursuant to the applicable law. The above cost is written
down to reflect any permanent impairment in value. If the conditions causing the impairment cease to exist,
the cost value (net of depreciation) is reinstated.

The value of tangible assets excludes costs incurred in maintaining or restoring the efficiency and proper
operation of plant. As these expenses do not modify the magnitude or potential of plant, they are charged to
the year in which the maintenance and repair work is carried out.

Tangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates, which are determined based on
the residual useful life of the assets.

Foreign
Depreciation rates TERNA subsidiaries
Industrial and residential buildings ........ccocceeeeverviniiniiiniiinecee 2.50% 4.00%
POWET TINES ..ot 2.50%  2.50 — 4.50%
Switching substations:
— Electrical eqUIPMENt .........cccceeviiriirieniieieee et 2.38%  2.00 — 3.00%
— Other electrical €qUIPMENt ........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeie e 3.13%  2.80 — 4.50%
— Automation and control SYStEMS ........cccueerueerieeriieenieeiieeiee e 6.70%  5.00 — 6.70%
Centralized systems for the remote monitoring and control of equipment:
—  Electronic eqUIPMEeNt..........ccceerierieriienieeienienieesie ettt 5.00% -
— COMPULLTS .eenerieiiieiieniee ettt ettt ettt st et et esbe e st esateesmeeeneee 10.00% -

Depreciation rates are reduced by 50% for assets acquired during the year.

Pursuant to point 3 of article 67 of Presidential decree no. 917/86, Terna S.p.A. charged accelerated and
excess depreciation directly to specific unavailable shareholders’ equity reserves, determined when
shareholders meet to resolve on the allocation of net income. The related deferred tax is taken to the income
statement, in accordance with Accounting Principle 25 issued by the Italian Accounting Profession.
Accelerated depreciation up to 1999 was reclassified in 2000 to a specific unavailable equity reserve, net of
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the related tax effect. The reserve is transferred to an available shareholders’ equity reserve upon taxation of
the said accelerated depreciation charges.

Financial assets
— Equity investments

Equity investments in other unconsolidated companies are valued at cost. They are written down in the event
of permanent impairment in value. If the factors causing the impairment cease to exist, the value of the
equity investment is reinstated and the revalued amount is recognized in the income statement.

Inventories

Raw material, auxiliary and consumption goods used in the operation of plant and equipment are valued at
their purchase cost using the weighted average cost method. Obsolete and slow-moving inventories are
written down to their estimated realizable value, with the amount posted to a specific provision for the write-
down of inventory.

Contract work in progress is valued at the amounts of the contractually agreed payments, according to the
percentage-of-completion method.

Advances for contract work in progress are recorded under a liability caption.

Receivables

Receivables are stated at their estimated realizable value, determined by setting up a provision for bad debts
shown as a reduction of their nominal value. They are classified under “Financial assets” or “Current assets”,
according to their use and to the nature of the debtor.

Accruals and deferrals

Accruals and deferrals are recorded on an accruals basis.

Provisions for risks and charges
— Retirement benefits

The provision includes compensation payable in lieu of notice to employees who are entitled to the
compensation under the terms of the national labor contracts and union agreements currently in force.

— Other provisions for risks and charges

They are accrued to cover certain or probable losses or liabilities, the amount and date of occurrence of
which are unknown at period end. The accruals reflect the best possible estimate based on the information
available.

— Employee termination indemnity

It represents the amount payable as termination indemnity to all employees at period end. It is net of
advances paid in accordance with current legislation and national labor contracts and Enel Group pension
fund contributions withheld.

Payables

They are stated at nominal value which is held to represent their repayment value.

Memorandum and contingency accounts

Guarantees given consist of performance guarantees and are stated at the contractually-agreed fee.
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Commitments with suppliers are determined on the basis of contracts in force at period end and that do not
fall within the normal operating cycle, limited to the part of the contract not yet performed.

Income statement

Revenues and expenses are recognized in accordance with the prudence and accruals principles.

Revenues
— Regulated activities in Italy

Revenues from the Italian National Electricity Transmission Network (NTN) are recognized in accordance
with the method set forth in the Operating License Agreement entered into with the Transmission System
Operator (GRTN), and calculated based on the tariffs set by the Authority for Electricity and Gas.

— Regulated activities in Brazil

Revenues are calculated on the basis of the fixed fee established in the license for the operation of
transmission lines issued by the Local Energy Authority (ANEEL).

— Other revenues

Other revenues are recorded at the time services are provided or upon transfer of title.

Grants for plant

Grants received for specific works requested by third parties are recorded under tangible assets as deferred
income (for facilities already in operation at 31st December, 2002) and as a decrease of the asset’s book
value (for facilities purchased from 1st January, 2003), when legal title to the grant is recognized and the
amount can be reasonably determined. They are recorded in the income statement under other income and
revenues over the depreciable life of the assets to which they relate.

Advances received are recognized in a separate caption under liabilities.

Income taxes

Current taxes of the period are stated in a tax provision and calculated by applying the related estimated
annual tax rate to the income/(loss) of the period before taxes of each consolidated company.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on temporary differences between the values recognized in
the financial statements and the corresponding values recognized for tax purposes, on the basis of the
applicable tax rate at the time the differences are expected to reverse.

Deferred tax assets are recorded under other receivables only if their recovery is reasonably certain.

Deferred tax liabilities are not provided for when such liability is unlikely to occur.

Translation of foreign currency amounts

Receivables and payables in currencies other than the Euro are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the
date of the related transaction and adjusted at the exchange rate ruling at period end. Exchange rate
differences are taken to the income statement under financial income, taking into account any hedging
contracts.

Environmental costs

Environmental costs refer to the prevention, reduction and monitoring of the environmental impact of
operations. If the costs are recurrent, they are taken to the income statement when incurred. Costs increasing
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the useful life, capacity or safety of tangible assets, are capitalized as part of the costs of the respective assets.
Provisions for risks and charges associated with environmental disputes are accrued when it is probable or
certain that a liability will be incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Hedging contracts

The Group takes out hedging contracts as a protection against the risk of fluctuations in interest rates, both
against specific transactions and its overall exposure.

The interest differentials to be received or paid on interest rate derivatives are recognized under financial
income or expense on an accruals basis, consistently with the charges in respect of the underlying liabilities.
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ASSETS
1) SHARE CAPITAL NOT PAID IN

At 30th June, 2004, this caption had a nil balance (31st December, 2003: it was nil).

2) INTANGIBLE ASSETS - €113.3 million

Intangible assets may be analyzed as follows:

€ 30th June, 2004 31st Dec., 2003
Other:

— goodwill arising on consolidation ............ccceecueerieeniiiinieniieeieeeeee 113.3 115.5
TOLAL ..o 113.3 115.5

“Goodwill arising on consolidation” relates to the acquisition of equity investments in TSN and Novatrans
on 31st December, 2003 and refers to the difference between the price paid and shareholders’ equity. It is
amortized over the residual term of the concession, originally set at 30 years, beginning from this year.

The difference between the balance at 30th June, 2004 and that at 31st December, 2003 is due to the
amortization of the period.

3) TANGIBLE ASSETS - €4,235.3 million

Tangible assets amount to €4,235.3 million (31st December, 2003: €4,195.8). They may be broken down as
follows:

Variation Decreases

31st December, of the Other 30th June,
Millions of euros 2003 Increases period  Depreciation variations 2004
Land and buildings............ 326.7 1.4 39 -5.9 -1.3 324.8
Plant and machinery.......... 3,419.9 9.3 152.9 -69.6 -6.2 3,506.3
Industrial and commercial
eqUIPMENt....coeerevereeeeeennens 11.0 0.9 -1.0 0.0 10.9
Other assets .....cccceeeeeeennnes 1.1 0.2 -0.3 0.0 1.0
Total........ccooovvviiiicieeieeeee, 3,758.7 11.8 156.8 -76.8 -7.5 3,843.0
Work in progress and
advances.......coovvveeeeeeeennns 437.1 124.8 -156.8 0.0 -12.8 392.3
TOTAL ... 4,195.8 136.6 0.0 -76.8 -20.3 4,235.3

“Plant and machinery” includes the electricity transport networks in Italy and Brazil, switching substations
and centralized systems for the remote monitoring and control of equipment.

The Brazilian plant includes the Northeast-Southeast transmission line, which has a nominal voltage of 500
kV and is about 1,062 km long, beginning at the Serra da Mesa substation, in the state of Goias, and ending
at the Sapeacu substation, in the state of Bahia (operations began in March 2003), and the North-South II
transmission line, which has a nominal voltage of 500 kV and is about 1,280 km long, beginning at the
Imperatriz substation, in the state of Maranhao, and ending at the Samambaia substation, in the Federal
District. The first segment of the latter entered service in June 2003, while the remainder was completed in
April 2004.
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The following table shows the book values at 30th June, 2004 of assets subject to depreciation, the related
accumulated depreciation and the resulting net values. It also gives the percentage incidence of accumulated
depreciation with respect to book values:

Percentage

incidence of

Book Accumulated accumulated

in millions of euros value depreciation Net value depreciation

at 30th

June, 2004

Land and buildings ........cccceeeiniienicnnne 527.5 202.7 324.8 38.4%
Plant and machinery:

—  Jtalian asSetS......ccccvvveeeeeeeeeeeeennnnnnn. 6,376.1 3,319.5 3,056.6 52.1%

— Brazilian assets ........ccccccceceenieenne 461.4 11.7 449.7 2.5%

Industrial and commercial equipment.... 37.6 26.7 10.9 71.0%

Other assets .......cceeveervieeriieenieenieeieeee 11.4 10.4 1.0 91.2%

TOTAL....coooiiiiiiciereeceee e 7,414.0 3,571.0 3,843.0 48.2%

As regards work in progress and advances, the main projects for the development and upgrading of the
network at 30th June, 2004 are shown below:

in millions

of euros

ITALY
Power lines:

— KV 380 MATERA — S.SOFTA ...t etee e et naea e 64.2

— KV 380 LAINO — FEROLETO — RIZZICONI........ccoouiiiiiieeeeee e 38.6
380 KV switching substations:

—  VILLAVALLE ..ottt et e e et e e et e e eaaae e etaeeennneaeens 21.6

— CALENZANO ...ttt et e et e et e e e et e e e tae e e eetaaeeeaseeeetaeeennnreeens 16.3
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4) FINANCIAL ASSETS - €11.1 million

Financial assets may be broken down as follows:

in millions of euros 30th June, 2004 31st Dec., 2003

Equity investments:
— 1N OtheT COMPANIES...ccuviruieiieiieiieiiestieteete ettt 29 3.5

Total equity iINVeStMENtS ..............cceooiiiviieiiiieiiecieee e 29 3.5

Receivables from others:
— advance payments of the tax on employee termination indemnities

(Law N0. 602/1996) ......uveeeieeieeeeee e 43 5.3

— loans to employees and Other IemS .........ccceveeveevieriiinienierienienns 3.5 3.6
11 5 1S A 0.4 04
Total receivables from others .................ccoocoviiiiiiiiiiii e, 8.2 9.3
TOLAL ... 11.1 12.8

Equity investments — €2.9 million

Equity investments in other companies total €2.9 million (31st December, 2003: €3.5 million). The €0.6
million decrease is due to the sale of the equity investment in Sfera to Enel S.p.A.. At 30th June, 2004, this
caption was entirely comprised of the equity investment in Cesi S.p.A., accounting for 15% of its share
capital.

Receivables from others — €8,2 million

Receivables from others amount to €8.2 million (31st December, 2003: €9.3 million) and mainly include the
advance payments of the tax on employee termination indemnities of €4.3 million, paid by the parent
company pursuant to Law no. 662/1996 and remunerated at the rate used to adjust employee termination
indemnities, loans to employees (€3.5 million), bearing interest at market rates, for the purchase of principal
residences or serious family needs. The variation for the period of €1.1 million is due to the utilization of the
receivable for tax advances on employee termination indemnities following the resignation of several
employees.

CURRENT ASSETS

5) INVENTORIES - €33.5 million

Inventories may be broken down as follows:

in millions of euros 30th June, 2004 31st Dec., 2003
RaW MAtErialS ......ccooviiiiiiiiieiiee e e 15.2 15.6
Contract WOTK in PrOZIESS ....ecvvervierieeierieniieieetesieesteesteeeesieesreese e saeesneenee 18.3 19.3
TOLAL......oooieeeieeee ettt eeaeaeans 33.5 34.9

“Contract work in progress” (€18.3 million) is down €1.0 million over 31st December, 2003. It refers to
long-term work carried out by the parent company for various clients. The caption includes: contract work
in progress for the Transmission System Operator to upgrade the remote monitoring and control of
equipment system — SCTI (€11.3 million), which is due for completion in 2004; contract work in progress
for Ferrovie dello Stato S.p.A. (the state railway company) involving the upgrading and renovation of
transmission plant (€1.9 million) and contract work in progress for SEAP S.r.1. involving the installation of
an electric bus system in Chieti (€1.5 million). Finished works include, in particular, the project for the
remote control of hydroelectric plant for Edipower S.p.A. (€1.8 million).
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Inventories also include stocks of materials and equipment to be used in the operation, maintenance and
construction of plant of €15.2 million (31st December, 2003: €15.6 million).

6) RECEIVABLES - €286.7 million

Receivables may be analyzed as follows:

in millions of euros 30th June, 2004 31st Dec., 2003
Trade receivables — third Parties ........cecceveereerieeiieniereeie e 164.6 190.8
Trade receivables — other Enel Group companies.........ccccceceeeeeneenicneennenn 19.6 20.2
Parent COMPANIES .......coeevueriiriiniiieitcrteeee et 14.6 289.3
Receivables — Others .......cceiviiiiiiiiiieeee e 87.9 52.8
TOtAL........ooiii e 286.7 553.1

A breakdown of receivables by due date (due before and after five years) is shown in the table at the end of
the analysis of assets.

Trade receivables — third parties — €164,6 million.

These (€137.2 million) mainly include invoices to be issued by the parent company to the Transmission
System Operator (G.R.T.N.) in connection with the usage fee of the national electricity transmission network
for the period.

Specifically, this receivable mainly consists of usage fees for April/May 2004, falling due in July/August
2004. It also includes adjustments relating to credit notes to be issued for settlements to be paid for the
2002/2003 fee (€16,3 million). A total of €52,7 million of these fees were collected in July 2004.

This caption also includes the share of fees pertaining to the operation of the Brazilian lines, both invoiced
and to be invoiced (€15.6 million).

Receivables are stated net of the provision for bad debts, which remained unchanged with respect to
31st December, 2003 (€1.0 million) and covers bad debts.

Trade receivables — other Enel Group companies — €19.6 million

Trade receivables from Enel Group companies are as follows:

Trade Trade

receivables receivables

at 30th June, at 31st Dec.,

in millions of euros 2004 2003
ENEL Distribuzione S.P.A. cc..oo ittt 6.2 11.4
ENelnet S.P.A. e 10.0 5.0
ENEL Produzione S.p.A...c.cooiiiiiiiiiiiieniieeeeeneee et 0.5 1.2
Wind Telecomunicazioni S.p.A. ..oc.eocirieriiiene e 1.0 1.1
ENEL Green POWer S.p.A. oot 0.2 0.8
ENCLIt SiPA . et et sttt s 0.6 0.4
ENCIPOWET S.PL A oo 0.8 0.2
OhET ettt sttt st 0.3 0.1
TOLAL ...ttt 19.6 20.2

Receivables from Enel Distribuzione S.p.A. mainly refer to fees falling due at 90 days for the last three
months of the period under the maintenance contract for lines owned by the latter.

Receivables from Enel.net S.p.A. comprise items not yet due in respect of the contract for the maintenance,
development and laying of fiber optic cable owned by Enel.net on a part of the Terna network.
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Receivables from parent companies — €14.6 million

This caption of €14.6 million (31st December, 2003: €289.3 million) consists of a financial receivable of
€13.9 million relating to the joint account (paying interest of 1.950% at 30th June, 2004) held for the
purposes of centralized treasury management and trade receivables of €0.7 million.

The decrease in the intercompany joint account over 31st December, 2003 is mainly due to the partial
repayment (€293.6 million) to the ultimate parent company of the €493.6 million loan it granted on
Ist March, 2004. Other decreases include the distribution of dividends to Enel S.p.A. (€80.2 million) and the
payment of the advance on employee termination indemnities used by Terna employees to purchase the
company’s shares (€7.3 million).

Receivables — other — €87.9 million

This caption shows a balance of €87.9 million (31st December, 2003: €52.8 million) consisting mainly of
the following amounts:

- tax receivables totaling €42.4 million, €38.6 million of which relates to IRES (€29.5 million) and
IRAP (€7.4 million) paid on account, taxes paid by the Greek branch that the parent company will be
able to deduct from its tax return (€2.5 million) and tax credits on interest paid by Novatrans to the
parent company (€1.1 million);

- deferred tax assets of €25.8 million (31st December, 2003: €22.3 million);

- receivables — others of €19.7 million (31st December, 2003: €15 million) include the receivable from
the Greek tax authorities for indirect taxes (VAT) in relation to the activities carried out by the Terna
branch in Greece (€12.7 million). It also includes other minor items, most of which refer to various
types of advances paid to employees and third parties (€7.0 million).

Deferred tax assets are as follows:

in millions of euros 30th June, 2004 31st Dec., 2003
Taxed provisions for risks and charges ..........c.ccccoovvivieiieceienincncncninnns 25.6 22.1
Other components:

— Depreciation of buildings not used in operations ............c.cceceeeueenene 0.2 0.2
TOLAL ... 25.8 223

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - €17.3 million

This caption of €17.3 million (31st December 31, 2003: €50.7 million) mainly comprises balances on current
accounts held by the Brazilian companies, €6.7 million of which is on a term deposit.

8) ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES - €11.0 million

Accrued income and prepaid expenses may be analyzed as follows:

in millions of euros 30th June, 2004 31st Dec., 2003
ACCIUEA INCOIME ..ecoiiiiiieee et ettt eeete e e e e et e e e e e eeareeeeeeeeanreeeeeeas 3.2 -
Prepaid EXPENSES ...c..eovviiriiriiiiiiieie ettt e 7.8 4.9
TOLAL ... 11.0 4.9

The €3.2 million increase in accrued income over 31st December, 2003 mainly refers to interest accrued on
the parent company intercompany current account during the period.

Prepaid expenses include prepaid insurance premiums, prepaid charges arising from the transfer of contracts
from Enel Distribuzione, fees paid to Enel.net for the lease of fiber optic lines for use by Terna, and fees paid
for the use of telephone lines and radio relays.
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The table below gives a break down of receivables and accrued income by due date.

Within From 2 to Over 5

in millions of euros one year 5 years years Total
LONG-TERM FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES. ............ 0.3 6.7 1.2 8.2
Receivables from others

Total long-term financial receivables ...................... 0.3 6.7 1.2 8.2
CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables — third parties ...........ccocceevveereeenen. 164.6 164.6
Receivables from parent company .........c..cceceevveruennen. 14.6 14.6
Trade receivables — other Enel Group companies ...... 19.6 19.6
SUDSIAIATIES ..vveevveeeeieeiieeiie ettt e ereeeaee e 0.0 0.0
2D 15 () o SRS 42.4 42.4
Deferred tax assetS .......cccceeecvereeiieeeeiieeeereeeeeneee e 0.0 25.8 25.8
Receivables from others ...........ccccceeeveiiieiiieecciieeeee, 6.5 13.2 19.7
Total current receivables ................c..ccoccoveieenineennn. 247.7 39.0 0.0 286.7
Accrued inCOME..............ceevveeriiieiieeieeeiee e 3.2 3.2
Total ... 251.2 45.7 1.2 298.1
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

9) SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - €1,768.8 million

Variations for the period are as follows:

Share Legal Other Retained Net
in millions of euros capital reserve reserves earnings income Total
BALANCE AT
31ST DEC., 2003 .............. 2,036.1 78.3 631.3 0.1 220.4 2,966.2
Allocation of 2003 income:
Legal reserve ........cccc...... 6.2 -6.2 0.0
Other reserves
(accelerated depreciation) 36.9 -36.9 0.0
Retained earnings.............. 0.2 -0.2 0.0
Dividends .........cccovveenneenne -80.2 -80.2
Allocation to other reserves 85.8 -96.9 -11.1
Consolidation differences of
subsidiary and affiliated
COMPANIES....eeenveeeneeeneeannee. -8.3 -8.3
Reduction in share capital -1,596.1 396.1 -1,200.0
Net income for the period 102.2 102.2
BALANCE AT
30TH JUNE, 2004 ............ 440.0 84.5 1,150.1 -8.0 102.2 1,768.8

Share capital — €440.0 million

The shareholders, in their meeting of 28th January, 2004, resolved to reduce the share capital from €2,036.1
million to €440 million, by repaying capital of €1,200 million to Enel S.p.A. and transferring €396,1 to a
reserve, in accordance with article 2445 of the Civil Code. This transaction took place on 29th April, 2004.
Accordingly, T E.R.NA. S.p.A. share capital now consists of 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value
of €0.22 each, 50% of which is held by Enel S.p.A.; the remaining 50% (1,000,000,000 shares) was parceled
out, following the public offer for sale made to the public and institutional investors and concluded on
23rd June, 2004.

Legal reserve — €84.5 million

The legal reserve accounts for 19.2% of the share capital of the parent company.

Other reserves — €1,150.1 million
Other reserves may be analyzed as follows:

Reserve for accelerated depreciation: this includes accruals made by the parent company exclusively for tax
purposes and amounts to €332.6 million (31st December, 2003: €295.7 million); the variation for the period
(€36.9 million) is due to the allocation of 2003 accelerated depreciation to this reserve upon the allocation
of the parent company’s 2003 net income.

Reserve pursuant to Vietti law: this reserve was set up to reflect the elimination of fiscally-driven entries in
the financial statements of the parent company at 1st January, 2004, in accordance with article 2426 of the
Civil Code, implemented by Legislative decree no. 6 of 17th January, 2003 (the so-called Vietti law).
Accordingly, the reserve includes depreciation in excess of the depreciation rates determined by the parent
company until 2003, net of the capital grants and related deferred taxes. At 30th June, 2004, the reserve
amounted to €421.4 million and comprised excess amortisation/depreciation (€695.6 million), net of capital
grants (€22.8 million) and deferred taxes calculated on the basis of the 37.37% rate (€251.4 million).
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Other reserves: these reserves were set up following the above reduction in share capital; they amount to
€396.1 million.

Retained earnings or losses carried forward — €-8.0 million

Variations for the period refer entirely to consolidation differences and are mainly due to the deterioration of
the Brazilian Real exchange ratio during the first six months of the year.

Reconciliation of the shareholders’ equity and net income of the parent company and consolidated figures.

Shareholders’ Shareholders’
Net income equity at Net income equity at
30th June, 30th June, 31st Dec., 31st Dec.,
in millions of euros 2004 2004 2003 2003
Parent company financial statements ......................... 548.6 1,802.3 123.5 2,533.9
Net income (loss) and equity of consolidated
COMPANIES ..covvenreireiieieeteeieeeirenieenbeebeeeeseenreenne (12.6) 117.6 - 41.0
Elimination of book value of consolidated equity
INVESTMENLS ..eeeevveeeeiieeeeieeeeeree e e eereeeeeaeee e - (264.6) - (156.2)
Goodwill arising on consolidation ...................... (1.3) 113.3 - 115.4
MINOTItY INLETESES .eovverereeieiieieeierieeieeie e - 0.2) - 0.2)
Goodwill arising on consolidation in
respect of excess
amortization/depreciation ........cccceeeevveerueneeneenne. (11.1) - 96.9 432.3
Elimination of fiscally-driven entries.................. (421.4)
Other differences ........cccccevevveriienieneeieneneene, - 04
Consolidated financial statements .............................. 102.2 1,768.8 220.4 2,966.2

10) PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES - €569.1 million

in millions of euros Balance at Balance at

31st Dec., 2003 Accruals Utilization ~ 30th June, 2004

Retirement benefitS ..........cccoeeeveevivieeecneeennnne. 0.8 0.6 0.5) 0.9

TAXES cevreeeeieeeeiiieeeetee e e rree e e 417.2 88.7 (6.5) 499.4
Other:

—  [IHZAtION teeeeeiiieiie e 12.2 - 0.1 12.1

—  sundry risks ....oooieiiiiiiii 47.5 15.5 (6.3) 56.7

TOtal oo 59.7 15.5 (6.4) 68.8

Total ...ccoooviiiii 477.7 104.8 (13.4) 569.1

Retirement benefits — €0.9 million

The provision includes accruals made by the parent company for indemnities in lieu of notice and additional
monthly payments to personnel.

Taxes, including deferred taxes — €499.4 million

This caption may be analyzed as follows:

31st Dec., Other 30th June,
in millions of euros 2003 Accruals variations 2004
CUITENT LAXECS 1ovvvveeeirieeeireeeeireeeeireeeeeeeeesreeeeneneeeesnneas - 59.4 - 59.4
Deferred taxes ......cocvvveeeeiieeeiiie e 417.2 29.3 (6.5) 440.0
Total .....oooveeiieee e 417.2 88.7 (6.5) 499.4
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Current taxes refer to the estimated income tax charge for the period (€58.8 million) of the parent company
(€48.6 million and €10.2 million for IRES and IRAP, respectively) and to the estimated tax charge for the
period of subsidiaries (€0.6 million).

Deferred tax liabilities of €440.0 million (31st December, 2003: €417.2 million) include deferred tax
liabilities relating to previous excess amortization/depreciation of €251.4 million (prior to 2004) determined
by the parent company and reclassified to a shareholders’ equity reserve as described above (unchanged with
respect to 31st December, 2003) and to accelerated/excess depreciation determined by the parent company
of €188.6 million (31st December, 2003: €159.3 million). The €29.3 million increase refers to the accrual
for deferred tax liabilities of the current period for accelerated and excess depreciation, net of the related
capital grants.

Provision for litigation — €12.1 million

The provision covers potential liabilities in respect of litigation or other disputes relating mainly to plant
supply, work and operation based on the advice of external and internal legal counsel. It does not include
provisions for litigation for which a positive outcome is expected, nor provisions for which a potential charge
cannot reasonably be quantified. The latter are described under “off-balance sheet items”. This caption
decreased by €0.1 million compared with 31st December, 2003.

Provision for risks and charges — other — €56.7 million

The provision of €56.7 million (31st December, 2003: €47.5 million) has been increased by additional
accruals made to cover the estimated costs of a likely adjustment to the NTN fees based on a recalculation,
underway, of the parent company’s percentage of ownership of the NTN.

The provision was also increased to cover pending disputes with third-party producers relating to grants
received by the parent company for network connections and accruals made against the risk of transformer
breakdown and exceptional events affecting high-voltage power lines, in addition to charges arising from the
retirement of plant.

The net increase of the period (€9.2 million) is mainly due to the above accruals made by the parent company
for the fee due to the Transmission System Operator (GRTN) to use the transmission network; utilization
mainly relates to previous charges repaid to auto producers (€2.7 million) and contractual penalties regarding
the maintenance contract of the lines owned by ENEL Distribuzione S.p.A. (€1.4 million).

11) EMPLOYEE TERMINATION INDEMNITY - €63.6 million

The provision of €63.6 million (31st December, 2003: €70.7 million) decreased by €7.1 million over the
previous period following the net variation during the period of accruals/transfers (€5.2 million) and
utilization (€12.3 million). The provision represents the amount accrued by the parent company in respect of
its employees’ termination indemnity entitlement, net of advances and contributions to Enel Group pension
funds. During the period, the latter increased significantly given the possibility for employees to buy the
parent company shares through their termination indemnity (€7.3 million) as part of the recent public offer
for sale. The amount is carried net of the 11% flat withholding tax on the revaluation of employee
termination indemnities, pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 47/2000.
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12) PAYABLES - €2,130.5 million

Payables may be analyzed as follows:

30th June, 31st Dec.,
in millions of euros 2004 2003
Due to shareholders fOr JOANS.........oevviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e 1,400.0 -
Bank loans — medium and 10Ng-teTM  ......cceeviiriiiriinierieieeieeeeeeeeeeee 493.5 489.2
AQVANCES ...ttt sttt 42.5 47.7
Trade PAYADIES ....cc.eevuiiiieiieieeee e 144.8 184.8
Payables to parent COMPANIES .........ccecveeierieriieniieieeieneenteeieeeeeee st eeeeee e nes 8.7 495.4
Other PAYADIES ......eiiiiieiiieie ettt ettt 41.0 81.2
TOLAL ...ttt st 2,130.5 1,298.3

A breakdown of payables by due date (due before and after five years) is shown in the table at the end of the
analysis of liabilities.

Due to shareholders for loans — €1,400.0 million
This caption refers to two loans granted by the ultimate parent company Enel S.p.A. to the parent company:

. €493.6 million granted on 1st March, 2004 through which T.E.R.NA. S.p.A. settled a previous
payable transferred by Enel S.p.A. on 1st October, 1999 upon contribution of a business activity, of a
residual €456.2 million and a payable, again transferred by Enel S.p.A. as part the same transaction,
of €37.4 relating to the Management Pension Fund; on 31st May, the parent company made an early
repayment of €293.6 million;

. €1,200.0 granted on 30th April, 2004 and used by T.E.R.NA. S.p.A. to repay the share capital to the
ultimate parent company Enel S.p.A. as described in detail in these notes.

Both loans bear interest at the 3-month Euribor rate (+ annual spread of 0.25%); interest is paid on a
quarterly basis and the last repayment date is 1st July, 2007 with the possibility of an early repayment.
Interest rate swaps totaling €500 million have been agreed recently to hedge the risk of fluctuations in
interest rates, specifically: plain vanilla (€100 million), step-up (€200 million) and collar step-up (€200
million); the related contracts are “forward starting”, commencing on January 2005 and expiring on
31st December, 2007. Given the above hedging contracts, the portion still exposed to interest rate
fluctuations is 64.3%.

Medium/long term bank loans — €493.5 million

This caption of €493.5 million (31st December, 2003: €489.2 million) may be analyzed as follows:

Balance at
in millions Repayment 30th June, Current Long-term
of euros period 2004 portion portion 2005 2006 2007 2008 Beyond
BNDES 2002 - 2016 171.9 8.0 163.9 7.1 8.0 8.9 9.9 130.0
EIB no. 20271 2004 — 2014 71.6 6.8 64.8 6.8 6.8 6.8 6.8 37.6
EIB no. 21159 2005 - 2016 250.0 250.0 22.7 22.7 22.7 22.7 159.2
Total 493.5 14.8 478.7 36.6 37.5 384 394 326.8

The BNDES loan, granted to TSN with an original amount of R$ 556.8 million, was agreed on 23rd October,
2002 and fully disbursed in four installments (26th November, 2002; 18th December, 2002; 22nd April,
2003; August 26, 2003). It has the following terms:

- Interest rate: floating rate of TILP + 3.50% on the original amount of R$ 418,3 million (Subloans A
and B) (TJLP is the long-term lending rate published by the Brazilian central bank). If the annual
TILP should rise above 6.00%, the excess will be capitalized. The remaining original amount of R$
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138.5 (Subloan C) is subject to a floating rate based on the BNDES’ average cost of foreign currency
plus 3.50%.

- Interest payments: monthly;

- Repayment of principal: in 144 monthly installments starting on 15th October, 2004 for Subloans A
and B and on 15th November, 2004 for Subloan C.

All the TSN shares owned by the parent company have been pledged to secure the loan.

The EIB loan, of €75 million, was granted on 22nd October, 1999 for the “Italy-Greece electricity network
interconnection” project, and has the following terms:

- Floating interest rate: Euribor + 0.15% (30th June, 2004: 2.080%);
- Interest payments: on a half-yearly basis (15th March and 15th September);

- Repayment of principal: in 20 equal installments paid half-yearly from 15th March, 2004 to
15th September, 2014.

The first installment of €3.4 million was repaid on 31st March, 2004.
The loan is fully hedged against interest rate risk with interest rate swaps.

The second EIB loan, of €250 million, was granted on 6th July, 2001 for the design, building and bringing
into service of around 200 electricity transmission facilities, and has the following terms:

- Floating interest rate: Euribor + 0.25% (at 30th June, 2004: 2.180%)
- Interest payments: on a half-yearly basis (15th June and 15th December)

- Repayment of principal: in 20 equal installments paid half-yearly from 15th December, 2005 to
15th June, 2016.

This loan is hedged by interest rate swaps with a nominal value of €217.5 million, leaving 13% of the total
loan exposed to interest rate risk.

Advances — €42.5 million
Advances include grants for plant received by the parent company for work in progress at 30th June, 2004.

At 31st December, 2003, this caption amounted to €47.7 million. The decrease for the period is mainly due
to the bringing into service of a number of plants; the latter are stated net of the related grants received.

Trade payables — €144.8 million

Trade payables include payables due to third party suppliers (€116.8 million) and payables to other Enel
Group companies (€28.0 million).

Payables due to third party suppliers (31st December, 2003: €149.5 million) decreased by €32.7 million due
to the settlement of invoices relating to works concluded during the last quarter of previous year.

Trade payables regard invoices received and to be received for contracts, services and purchases of material
and equipment.
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Payables to other Enel Group companies may be analyzed as follows:

Trade Trade

payables payables

at 30th June, at 31st Dec.,

in millions of euros 2004 2003
Wind Telecomunicazioni S.P.A. .....ccieiieierieriieieee et 11.0 10.7
ENEL Distribuzione S.P.A. oottt 5.3 6.2
ENCIPOWET S.PLA. ettt ettt sttt ettt nees 3.7 8.8
ENEL Facility Management S.P.A. ..coccooieiieirienierteieeieeeiestesie et 4.9 4.3
ENCLIL SiP AL ettt ettt 1.8 2.1
Enelpower do Brasil.......cocooiiiioriiiiieieeeieeeeeeee s - 1.7
AP S A ettt et et ettt et nae 0.7 0.7
ENEL Produzione S.P.A. ...ttt 0.2 0.3
STETA S.P A ettt sttt et 0.3 0.3
L0 11155 PR SRTS 0.1 0.2
TOLAL ...t 28.0 353

The payables due to Wind Telecomunicazioni refer to costs for transmission and telephony services provided
to the parent company; those due to Enel Distribuzione refer to electricity discounts for employees and
sundry technical services.

The payable due to Enelpower refers to amounts accrued on the EPC contract with TSN and Novatrans.

Payables to parent companies — €8.7 million

The payables to ENEL S.p.A. may be analyzed as follows:

Balance Balance

at 30th June, at 31st Dec.,

in millions of euros 2004 2003
Trade PAYADIES: ..........cocoiiiiiiiiieeeeee e e 8.7 1.1
Financial payables: .............ccooviviiiiiiiiieceeeee e e - 493.6
—  Enel pension fund..........oocerieiiriiiieneeeee e - 37.4

— Loans and fINanCINg ........ccccueeiiiiiiiiiieeieee et - 456.2
SUNAry PAYabBIES ........c.ccciviiiieiieiieeceeee et 0.0 0.7
TOAL ...t e ettt et et e e nneenees 8.7 495.4

Trade payables consist exclusively of costs incurred by ENEL S.p.A. for the flotation of the parent company.

Financial payables are nil following the reclassification of €493.6 million to sums due to shareholders for
loans as described above.

Other payables — €41.0 million
This caption may be analyzed as follows:

- taxes payable of €22.8 million mainly relate to the parent company and include VAT settlement for
June (€8.3 million), withholding taxes (€6.9 million) and the residual amount for the 2002 tax
amnesty (€1.9 million).

- social security payables of €7.6 million (31st December, 2003: €7.5 million) refer to payables of the
parent company to INPS for June 2004.

- sundry payables of €10.6 million (31st December, 2003: €33.5 million) refer to payables to employees
including termination indemnities due from the parent company and to be disbursed to employees
who had left the company at 30th June, 2004; it also includes staff leaving incentives. The significant
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decrease for the period (€22.9 million) is due to the payment of the termination indemnities

representing the payable at 31st December, 2003.

13) ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INCOME - €176.0 million

Accrued liabilities and deferred income may be analyzed as follows:

30th June, 31st Dec.,
in millions of euros 2004 2003
Interest payable On LOANS .........cccoiiviiriiriirieieeieeeeee et 6.7 54
Other accrued Habilities ......c.eeveruieriieiiriesieieeee ettt 7.2 1.3
Deferred income for grants for plant ............cocccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinieeeeeeee 161.4 147.4
Other deferred INCOME ........coouiiiiiiiiieie ettt 0.7 0.6
TOLAL ...ttt ettt et et be b et e ra e teenseennas 176.0 154.7
The following table provides a breakdown of payables and accrued liabilities by maturity:
Within From 2 Over five

in millions of euros one year to 5 years years Total
FINANCIAL PAYABLES TO THIRD PARTIES
Medium and long-term bank loans ...........ccceceenieennee. 14.8 151.9 326.8 493.5
Short-term bank loans
Total financial payables:...............cccoociiiniiiininennnn. 14.8 151.9 326.8 493.5
OTHER PAYABLES
AAVANCES ..ttt 16.2 26.3 0.0 42.5
Trade payables.........ccocvevirierienieieeieseeeeeee e 116.1 0.7 0.0 116.8
Payables to parent companies:

— Financial payables .......cccccooiiiiiiiiiniiinieene. 1,400.0 1,400.0

= OHRET it 8.7 8.7
Total payables to parent companies ............................ 1,408.7 0.0 0.0 1,408.7
Payables to other Enel Group companies..................... 28.0 0.0 0.0 28.0
Taxes payable .......ccccovieviiriiinienieieeeseeee e 22.8 0.0 0.0 22.8
Social security payables ........ccccoeceeriiiniiiiniieniiiiieene 7.6 0.0 0.0 7.6
Other Payables.........cccveeuievierieriieieeieeierie e 10.6 0.0 0.0 10.6
Total — other payables..............ccccooeiiiiiiiniiiiiie 1,610.0 27.0 0.0 1,637.0
Accrued liabilities ..............ccocccoooiiiiniiinnii 13.9 0.0 0.0 13.9
TOAL ..ot 1,638.7 178.9 326.8 2,144.4
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14) GUARANTEES AND OTHER MEMORANDUM AND CONTINGENCY ACCOUNTS

Memorandum and contingency accounts include amounts relating to guarantees, sureties, risks and other
commitments, as detailed below:

30th June, 31st Dec.,
in millions of euros 2004 2003
Guarantees given:
— Sureties given to third Parties.........cccceerieeieeriiieniienie et 14.3 7.4
— Own shares pledged to third Parties........c..cceceeveevereenerrenrieneeneee e 156.6 0
TOTAL <.ttt 170.9 7.4
Other commitments:
— Commitments with suppliers for the purchase of:
SUNATY SUPPIIES ..ottt e e 241.2 193.4
CONTACE WOTK 1ottt ettt et ettt st 176.1 162.7
TOLAL <ottt b ettt ettt b e e bbbt n st e et e tente bt b 417.3 356.1
TOLAL ... 588.2 363.5

Guarantees given refer to TSN shares owned by Terna S.p.A. that have been given as a pledge to BNDES,
and sureties given to third parties in connection with contracts signed for work and services provided by the
company.

Commitments with suppliers refer to the total of orders/contract work commissioned, net of supplies and
services already invoiced.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
Environmental litigation

Environmental litigation involving Terna S.p.A. relates to the installation and operation of electrical plant,
and, especially, the effects of electrical and magnetic fields.

Terna is a defendant in a number of civil and administrative proceedings requesting the relocation of power
lines or changes in operational conditions. The claims are based on the alleged health hazards posed by the
power lines, even though they have been installed in full compliance with regulatory requirements. Only a
very limited number of suits have been filed against the company seeking damages for personal injury
caused by electromagnetic fields.

On 8th July, 2003, a Prime Minister’s Decree was enacted to complete the implementation of the master
agreement no. 36 of 22nd February, 2001. It establishes values for three parameters (exposure limits,
thresholds of concern and quality targets) that electrical plant must meet. The decree had a favorable impact
on pending disputes, because the scope of the framework law was limited to laying down general principles
only.

Only a few adverse rulings have been issued against the company in this area, and these have all been
appealed (the cases are still pending). No claim for damages for personal injury has ever been upheld.

Finally, it should be noted that, in addition to Terna, the Transmission System Operator has increasingly been
called as a defendant in these proceedings, because it is legally responsible for all matters relating to energy
flows transiting on the network owned by Terna.

Legislation governing electrical and magnetic fields

The master agreement on electrical and magnetic fields enacted on 22nd February, 2001 requires the
government to adopt specific provisions setting the parameters (exposure limits, thresholds of concern and
quality targets) with which electrical plant must be compliant.
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In this respect, the master agreement envisages a mechanism for the recovery of related costs in accordance
with criteria determined by the Authority for Electricity and Gas (the “Authority”) pursuant to Law no.
481/1995, since such costs are incurred in the general interest.

On 29th August, 2003 the Prime Minister’s decree of 8th July, 2003 setting “Exposure limits, thresholds of
concern and quality targets for the protection of the public from the effects of electromagnetic fields
generated at network frequency (50 Hz)” and thereby establishing the parameters with which electrical plant
must comply was published in the Official Journal.

The potential impact of the provision on the company is currently being assessed.

A number of regions have proposed bills on this subject that establish tighter limits than those envisaged by
the Prime Minister’s decrees of 1992 or 8th July, 2003.

However, Constitutional Court ruling no. 307 published on 7th October, 2003 declared some regional laws
concerning electromagnetic fields (including the Campania Region’s Law no. 13 of 24th November, 2001)
to be unconstitutional. The ruling states the principle that restrictions based on national legislation cannot be
modified by regional legislation, even if it sets more stringent limits, since health protection must be
safeguarded in a uniform manner throughout the country.

Other pending litigation

A number of legal disputes are pending in relation to urban planning and environmental issues associated
with the construction and operation of a number of transmission lines. Adverse rulings could have negative
repercussions, but since the impact cannot be quantified at present they have not been included under the
provisions for litigation. An assessment of the suits, which included taking advice from external counsel,
suggests that unfavorable rulings are remote, though for a limited number of cases this cannot be ruled out
completely. The effects of an adverse ruling could include not only the payment of damages but also the costs
involved in modifying power lines and the temporary unavailability of the lines.

In any case, an adverse outcome would not jeopardize the operation of the power lines.

INCOME STATEMENT
PRODUCTION REVENUES

This caption may be analyzed as follows:

15) REVENUES FROM SALES AND SERVICES - €509.6 million

They include the following:

in millions of euros First half

of 2004
INEtWOTK USAZE FEES ...eniiiiiiieieeie ettt ettt e 480.2
Other SAlES AN SEIVICES ......ceeiurriieeieeeiiieeeeeeeeeee et e e eeeaee e e e e e eeteeeeeeeeeaaeeeeeeeeestaaeeeeeeeessaneeeeeeenannes 29.4
TOLAL.... ..ot e e e e e e e et e e e ra e e eettaeeeaaraeeetreeeetaeeeerreas 509.6

Revenues from sales and services mainly relate to fees attributable to Terna for the use of the National
Transmission Network (€428.5 million).

Revenues related to Brazilian companies, of €51.7 million, relate to the fixed fee established in the license
for the operation of transmission lines issued by the Local Energy Authority (ANEEL).

Other sales and services amount to €29.4 million and mainly refer to the sale of goods and services to Enel
group companies, including the contract for the maintenance of high-voltage lines owned by Enel
Distribuzione S.p.A. (€14.0 million), and that with Enel.net S.p.A. (€5.0 million) for the laying of fiber optic
lines in its plant, as well as the maintenance and development of the same.
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16) CAPITALIZED EXPENSES - €9.1 million

Capitalized expenses refer to labor costs (€5.7 million) and the consumption of materials and machinery
(€3.4 million) for plant being produced and relating to the parent company.

17) OTHER INCOME AND REVENUES - €10.2 million

Other income and revenues are mainly comprised (€6.6 million) of the portion of capital grants pertaining
to the period, recorded under the liability caption “deferred income”; other revenues mainly regard insurance
indemnities (€1.2 million), rents, penalties charged to suppliers and other revenues.

PRODUCTION COST

18) RAW MATERIALS - €6.8 million

This caption consists of the costs incurred to purchase various materials and equipment used for the
operation and maintenance of facilities mainly relating to the parent company (€6.6 million).

19) SERVICES - €54.9 million

This caption mainly includes maintenance and repairs regarding contracts, works and services for the
ordinary maintenance of plant, totaling €49.5 million.

20) USE OF THIRD PARTY ASSETS - €7.3 million

This caption primarily consists of property rent payable to Enel Group companies and third parties, lease
costs and miscellaneous costs.

21) PERSONNEL - €79.9 million

This caption mainly consists of wages and salaries, social security contributions and other personnel costs,
€79.3 of which relates to the parent company and €0.6 million to the Brazilian companies. These costs can
be broken down as follows:

in millions of euros First half

of 2004
WAEES ANA SALATIES ....veeuveiieiieiieie ettt ettt et ettt et et et e ssee st e bt enbeenaesaeenseenseenaesneenes 56.1
Social SeCUrity CONIIIDULIONS .......eiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt st e sateeniee e 15.3
Employees’ termination iNdEMMNILIES ........cc.eerueerieeriieniieeitieetieeieesteesieeeieeebeesteesteeseseenaeeeseean 4.6
ONET COSES eutiieniieetieeie ettt et teette e bt e e bt este e e teeetteeateeesbeessseanseeenseessseeasseensseenseeanseesnseesnseesnseensnennns 3.9
TOLAL.....c..oiiiiie ettt st 79.9

The number of employees by category of employment at 30th June, 2004 is shown in the table below:

Workforce

at 30th June,

Period 2004

SENIOT MANAZEIMENL ..eeuvieureruiertieteeteettesteesteeteeeesteesteesesaeeseesseeseesesseesseenseensesneens 37
Middle MANAZEMENT ....cc..eiiiiiiiieiiieiie ettt ettt et e e st e s 209
OFFICE SEAfT ..ttt 1,530
WWOTKETS ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e et e et e e et e e e e e e e aaessaseaaeaeaeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 1,174
TOCAL ...ttt sttt 2,950
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22) AMORTIZATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-DOWNS - €79.0 million
Amortization of intangible assets:

This caption amounts to €2.1 million and refers to the amortization of “goodwill arising from consolidation”
recorded in connection with the acquisition of equity investments in TSN and Novatrans.

Depreciation of tangible assets:

This caption amounts to €76.9 million and includes accruals for the period calculated on the basis of the
depreciation rates held to represent the estimated useful economic life of plant. Depreciation relating to the
parent company amounts to €70.6 million.

23) CHANGE IN INVENTORIES - €0.3 million

This shows the net positive change in inventories during the period and entirely refers to the parent company.

24) PROVISIONS FOR RISKS - €15.3 million

This caption includes accruals made at 30th June, 2004 described in the section on the provision for risks
and charges pertaining to the parent company.

25) OTHER OPERATING COSTS - €31.2 million

This caption is mainly comprised of prior year items pertaining to the ultimate parent company and relating
to the payment of the fee for the usage of the Italian National Electricity Transmission Network (NTN) for
2002 and 2003 (€16.3 million). The caption also includes local indirect taxes and charges of the period for
the Management Pension Fund and discounts on electricity supplied to retired personnel. Of this, €7.9
million relates to subsidiaries and €23.3 million to the parent company.

26) FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE - €-48.9 million
Other financial income

Other financial income may be analyzed as follows:

in millions of euros First half
of 2004

Interest accrued current accounts with the parent company

(TTITIA) weeeeei ettt e et e e e ettt e e e e e eetaaaeeeeeeetaaeeeeeeeeassaaaaeeeeeeattsseaeeeenssssseeeeannnnrees 3.0
Other financial iINCOME (TSIN) ....ooiiiiiiiiiiee et eeee e e e e et e e e e eeeaareeeeeeeanees 2.4

1] 721 RN 54

Interest and other financial expense

in millions of euros First half

of 2004

Interest expense from Enel S.p.A. (Terna) .......cccocveviiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeee e 14.3
Interest expense on loans

T L= o 1 T: DO T RS TRRS U UUsUUO  P USROS PP PP PP 7.4

e 1 ) TP SUUR 8.1

Exchange rate 10SSes (SUDSIAIATIES) ...eeervieetieriieiiieiie ettt ettt ettt et et e st eseeeeee s 24.5

TOLAL.... ..o et e e et e et e e e e ba e e e raeeeabaeeeaabaeeeraeeeataeeeanrreas 54.3
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27) EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS - €-13.7 million

Extraordinary income derives from excess income taxes paid in the previous year (€0.8 million);
extraordinary expense relates to the tax amnesty (€2.1 million) pursuant to Law no. 27/2003 and to
temporary early retirement incentives offered to the employees (€1.3 million) of the parent company. It also
includes expenses incurred for the elimination of fiscally-driven entries relating to excess grants for plant
(€11.1 million) that are recorded under shareholders’ equity in the 2003 consolidated financial statements,
given that no specific regulation exists to this regard.

28) INCOME TAXES - €88.4 million

in millions of euros First half
of 2004
Current:
e 1 S = TSRS 48.6
e 1 N SRS 10.2
—  Brazilian COMPANIES......ccuevierieieeie ettt ettt ettt et ate st e b e besnneens 3.8
DeEferred taX IMCOMIC. ... ..uviiiiieeiiiieee ettt eeeetee e e e eeeta e e e e e eetareeeeeeeearaaeeeeeeetsraeeeeesesssseeeeenanrees (3.6)
Deferred tax CharZe .......cocvooieiiiiiiice et 29.4

1] 721 RN 88.4

Income taxes, which account for 46.4% of income before taxes, are composed of current taxes and net
temporary differences for the period.

The reconciliation between expected and effective income tax charge is given below:

Millions of euros 2004
STALULOTY ITICOIMNEC ..euvieuiiiuieiietieteetteeteeteeteeetesttes bt ebeenteeseesseenseenseessesstenseenseenseeseenseenseensesnsenseenseas 633.2
— Elimination of fiscally-driven entries .........ccocccooiiiiiiiiieniieiieeree ettt -421.4
— Accelerated/excess dePreCiation ........c..coeeverierienieenieeieneene ettt -78.6
—  Variation in PrOVISIONS .......cccieiiiiiiiiiiiiienie ettt s 9.6
—  Other INCIeaseS/dECIEASES ......ceveurereiitinienteeiteitetetetetest sttt ettt et sre bt eae e ennene 4.4
IRES taxable amOUNT ....c..coiiiiieieiieieieteenese ettt ettt sttt et ettt sae b sbeebeeseennens 147.2
Tax charge (33%) fOr the PEriod ........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt 48.6

The balance of deferred tax income is represented by accruals for:

- tax recovered amounting to €2.4 million, mainly due to the use of provisions taxed in previous years
to cover early retirement incentives and the settlement of litigation in the period;

- deferred tax income relating to temporary differences of €6.0 million arisen during the period,
following accruals to the provisions for risks and future costs.

Deferred taxes relate to accelerated and excess depreciation, net of the related grants, accrued for tax
purposes. This amount is valued on the basis of the rate ruling in the year in which reversal will take place.

30) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Transactions with Enel Group companies are regulated by specific contracts agreed by the parties.

Contracts signed with the ultimate parent company Enel S.p.A., generating expenses for Terna relate
primarily to:

o financial indebtedness;

o provision of institutional or on-request assistance and consulting services;
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(] communication services;

As for other Group companies, contracts generating expenses relate primarily to:

o the operation of in-house cafeterias (Enel Facility Management S.p.A.);

° rental of buildings (Enel Facility Management S.p.A.);

° luncheon vouchers — (Ape S.p.A.);

° rental of residential buildings (NewReal S.p.A.);

° supply and management of IT services; (ENEL.IT S.p.A.);

° supply of telephony and telecommunications services (WIND S.p.A.);

° staff training services (SFERA S.p.A.)

° human resource management services (Ape S.p.A.)

° EPC (Engineering Procurement & Construction) with EPower/EPower do Brasil.

Contracts generating revenues relate to:
o operation and maintenance of high-voltage network (Enel Distribuzione S.p.A.)
° development, laying and maintenance of fiber optics (ENEL.Net S.p.A.).

The following table shows actual costs and revenues for the period, in millions of euros.

Company Costs Revenues
APE STl ettt 2.4 0.0
ENEL Distribuzione S.P.A. .ottt 2.0 14.2
ENEL Green POWET S.P.A..c..ooiiiiiieeeeeeet ettt 0.0 0.8
ENEL Produzione S.P.A. ..ooeoiioiiiiieeee ettt 0.1 0.8
ENEL Facility Management S.P.A. ..co.eoieiierieieeieeieneenie ettt 2.6 0.0
ENCLAE SiP A ettt ettt et eans 3.6 0.0
ENeLnet S A oo 0.0 5.0
ENCIPOWET S.PLA. ettt et et sttt et e e 0.0 0.3
N {53 ¥ BN I o 1 RPN 0.4 0.0
ENEL SiP. AL ettt st 39.7 3.7
INOVALTANS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et sae st sb et ese st ennenenaesnesuen 0.6 0.1
TSN ettt sttt b ettt et b e bbbt et se st et n et sbesae e 0.1 0.0
INEeW Real S.p.A . ettt et 1.4 0.0
Wind Telecomunicazioni S.P.A. .c..cccieiiriiriinieiieeeereee et 11.1 0.9
L0 11155 RSP TSRR 0.1 0.3
TTOLAL <.ttt 64.1 26.1

31) ELIMINATION OF FISCALLY-DRIVEN ENTRIES

Fiscally-driven entries stated in the half year report of the parent company have been eliminated pursuant to
article 2426 of the Civil Code, implemented by Legislative decree no. 6 of 17th January, 2003 (Vietti law).
Accordingly, excess depreciation was reclassified to a specific reserve, net of the capital grants and related
deferred taxes. At 30th June, 2004, this reserve amounted to €421.3 million and includes excess
amortization/depreciation (€695.6 million), related grants for plant (€22.9 million) and deferred taxes
(€251.4 million), calculated on the basis of the rate ruling in the year in which reversal will take place

(37.37%).
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32) OTHER INFORMATION

The table below outlines the key figures from the latest financial statements approved by the ultimate parent
company (in millions of euros):

ENEL S.p.A. 2003
PrOQUCHION TEVEIIUES ....oeveeeeieeeieeeeeeeee et ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeassssssssesaennnnes 1,142.6
ProdUCHION COST....cuuiiiiiiiiiiieieettee ettt ettt saeenee 915.7
Net financial income (expense) and value adjustments ..........cccceeveueeriiiniieniieniieneeneeee e 215.2
Net extraordinary iNCOME (EXPEIISE) .....eeereerureerueeriieeniteatteateesseesuteanseeaseesseesseesnseessseesseeanseess 432.8
TNCOMIE TAXES .eeeuiiieeeiiiee ettt ettt et e e ettt e e ettt e e ettt e e e ateeesabeeeenteeeenbaeeesanaeesnneeas 267.5
Net income for the PETIOM .....cc.eeviriiiiiiieieeee ettt sttt s aes 607.3
TOTAL ASSELS: ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ae e et eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaaaaaaaaaaaeaanannas 29.521.4

Of WHICKH fINANCIAL ..ottt e 23,398.2
SharehOlderS™ EQUILY ......ootirtertieiirtere ettt ettt ettt ettt sae ettt s enaeennees 11,997.1

Pension fund expense

The charge taken in respect of the extraordinary grant due from the ultimate parent company upon the
suppression of the Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund, which was originally recognized as an
intangible asset, has been nil since 2003 because the company opted to amortize it over three years (2000,
2001 and 2002), in accordance with the provisions of law. If the company had opted to amortize the charge
over 20 years, which was also an option under the law and in line with Group accounting policies, intangible
assets would have shown an additional liability of around €76.3 million at 30th June, 2004.
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REVIEW REPORT RELATING TO CONSOLIDATED HALF YEAR REPORT OF THE
TERNA GROUP AT 30TH JUNE, 2004

(Translation from the Italian original which remains the definitive version)

Review Report

To the shareholders of
T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.

1. We have reviewed the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement and the relative
notes of the T.E.R.NA.—Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale group as at and for the six months
ended 30th June, 2004, which are included in the half year report of T.E.R.NA.—Trasmissione
Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.. We have also reviewed that part of the notes describing the activities
of the group for the period with the sole objective of verifying consistency with the remainder of the
half year report.

2. We conducted our review in accordance with Consob (the Italian Commission for Listed Companies
and the Stock Exchange) guidelines set out in Consob resolution no. 10867 dated 31st July, 1997. The
review consisted primarily of the collection of information relating to the financial data and the
consistency of application of the accounting policies through discussions with group company
management and analytical procedures applied to the financial data presented. The review excluded
such audit procedures as tests of controls and verification or validation of assets and liabilities and is
significantly less than a full scope audit performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. As a consequence, contrary to our report on the annual consolidated financial statements,
we do not express an opinion on the half year report.

3. With regard to the comparative figures relative to the annual consolidated financial statements of the
previous year, reference should be made to our report dated 27th February, 2004.

4. Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications or integrations that should be
made to the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement and relative notes described
in paragraph 1 above for them to be in conformity with Consob guidelines governing the preparation
of half year reports approved with resolution no. 11971 dated 14th May, 1999 and subsequent
modifications and integrations.

5. We draw your attention to the disclosures provided by the directors in the half year report on the
following matters:

° The parent company is a defendant in certain lawsuits and is involved in other uncertainties
relating primarily to environmental and urbanistic matters, the outcome of which could result
in significant losses for the group, at present not objectively quantifiable.

° The notes disclose the effect of accounting for the extraordinary contribution due upon the
suppression of the Electricity Sector Employee Pension Fund, pursuant to Law 488/1999.

Rome, 24th September, 2004
KPMG S.p.A.
(signed on the original)

Bruno Mastrangelo
Director
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ANNEX D

REVIEW REPORT AND EXAMINATION REPORT RELATING TO PRO FORMA
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Translation from the Italian original which remains the definitive version)

Examination report on the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and pro forma consolidated income
statement of Terna and its subsidiaries as at and for the year ended 31st December, 2003

To the board of directors of
T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.:

1

We have examined the pro forma consolidated balance sheet of T.E.R.NA.-Trasmissione Elettricita
Rete Nazionale S.p.A. and its subsidiaries as at 31st December, 2003, and the pro forma consolidated
income statement for the year then ended and notes thereto.

These pro forma financial statements are derived from the historical consolidated financial statements
of T.E.R.NA —Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. and its subsidiaries as at and for the year
ended 31st December, 2003 and the pro forma adjustments thereto which we have examined. We have
audited the consolidated financial statements of T.E.R.NA. — Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale
S.p.A. and its subsidiaries as at and for the year ended 31st December, 2003 with respect to which
reference should be made to our report dated 27th February, 2004.

The pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the assumptions
disclosed in the notes thereto, in order to reflect on a retroactive basis the effects of the capital
reduction resolution and the acquisition of the investments in Transmissora Sudeste Nordeste S.A. and
Novatrans Energia S.A.

The pro forma consolidated balance sheet, pro forma consolidated income statement and notes thereto
as at and for the year ended 31st December, 2003 have been prepared pursuant to the provisions of
article 2.2.1 of the “Regolamento del Mercati Organizzati e Gestiti dalla Borsa Italiana”.

The pro forma consolidated balance sheet and pro forma consolidated income statement have been
prepared with the objective of showing the effects, stated in accordance with accounting principles
and policies consistent with historical data and in compliance with relevant legislation, on the group’s
financial position of the capital reduction resolution approved by the sole shareholder of T.E.R.NA.
—Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A. in the meeting held on 28th January, 2004, as if it had
occurred on 31st December, 2003, and, with respect only to results of operations, the effects of the
above mentioned acquisitions of investments and the capital reduction at the beginning of 2003. Had
the above transactions actually occurred on such date, the outcome may not necessarily have been that
presented.

The pro forma financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the assumptions made and the approach adopted by
management in preparing these pro forma financial statements, as well as on the valuation criteria and
accounting policies adopted.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with the standards recommended by CONSOB in
Communication no. 1061609 dated 9th August, 2001 which regulates the examination of the pro
forma financial information. We have carried out all the procedures which we have deemed to be
necessary for the purposes of our engagement.

In our opinion, the assumptions made by the management of T.E.R.NA. — Trasmissione Elettricita
Rete Nazionale S.p.A. in preparing the pro forma consolidated balance sheet, pro forma consolidated
income statement and notes thereto as at and for the year ended 31st December, 2003 in order to
reflect on a retroactively basis the effects of the acquisitions of investments and the capital reduction
are reasonable and the approach adopted has been correctly applied for the disclosure purposes
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described above. Furthermore, we believe that the accounting principles and policies applied in
preparing the above pro forma consolidated financial statements are appropriate.

Rome, 10th March, 2004
KPMG S.p.A.
(signed in original)

Bruno Mastrangelo
Director
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(Translation from the Italian original which remains the definitive version)

Review Report of the Auditors on the Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 30th June, 2003 and
Pro Forma Consolidated Income Statement for the six month period then ended

To the board of directors of
TERNA - Trasmissione Elettricita Rete Nazionale S.p.A.:

1

We have reviewed the pro forma consolidated balance sheet of TERNA - Trasmissione Elettricita Rete
Nazionale S.p.A. (“Terna”) as of 30th June, 2003, and the pro-forma consolidated income statement
and notes thereto for the six-month period then ended (herein collectively the “Pro-forma
Consolidated Interim Financial Statements™).

These Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements are derived from the historical data
included in the interim financial statements of Terna as of 30th June, 2003 and for the six-month
period then ended and from the pro-forma adjustments thereto which we have reviewed. We have
reviewed the interim financial statements of Terna as of 30th June, 2003 and for the six-month period
then ended.

The review consisted primarily of the collection of information relating to the financial data and the
analysis of the accounting policies adopted through discussions with company management and
analytical procedures applied to the interim financial statements data. The review excluded such audit
procedures as tests of controls and verification or validation of assets and liabilities and is
significantly less than an audit performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
As a consequence, we did not express an opinion on the above interim financial statements.

The Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of the
assumptions disclosed in the notes thereto, in order to reflect on a retroactive basis the effects of the
capital reduction resolution and the acquisition of the investments in Transmissora Sudeste Nordeste
SA and Novatrans Energia SA.

The Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements as of 30th June, 2003 and for the six-month
period then ended have been prepared in order to be included in the Offering Circular relating to the
issuing of Euro 1,400,000,000 Notes.

The Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements have been drawn up with the aim of
reflecting the effects, valued in accordance with accounting policies consistent with historical data
and in compliance with relevant legislation, on Terna’s financial position of the capital reduction
resolution approved by the sole shareholder of Terna in the meeting held on 28th January, 2004 and
of the above mentioned acquisitions of investments as if they had occurred on 30th June, 2003, and,
with respect only to results, at the beginning of 2003. However, had the above transactions actually
occurred on such date, the actual results would not necessarily have been those presented therein.

The Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements are the responsibility of Terna’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the assumptions made and approach
adopted by management in preparing these Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements as
well as on the valuation criteria and accounting policies applied thereto.

We conducted our review in accordance with the auditing standards recommended by Consob in its
Communication no. 1061609 dated 9th August, 2001, regulating the review of pro-forma figures. We
have carried out all the procedures which we have deemed to be necessary for the purposes of our
engagement.

Based on our review, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the basic
assumptions made by the management of Terna in preparing the Pro-forma Consolidated Interim
Financial Statements as of 30th June, 2003 and for the six month period then ended in order to
retroactively reflect the effects of the capital reduction resolution and the effects of the acquisitions of
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investments are not reasonable, that the approach adopted has not been correctly applied for the
disclosure purposes described above or that the valuation criteria and accounting policies applied in
preparing the above Pro-forma Consolidated Interim Financial Statements are not correct.

Rome, 3rd October, 2004
KPMG S.p.A.
(signed in original)

Bruno Mastrangelo
Director of Audit
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